CHARACTERIZATION OF THE MECHANISMS OF TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION BY EWS/FLI IN EWING SARCOMA

by

Savita Sankar

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of The University of Utah in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Oncological Sciences

The University of Utah

August 2013

Copyright © Savita Sankar 2013

All Rights Reserved

The University of Utah Graduate School

STATEMENT OF DISSERTATION APPROVAL

The dissertation of	Savita Sankar	
has been approved by the following su	upervisory committee members:	
Stephen Lessnick	, Chair	4-30-13
		Dute Approved
Bradley Cairns	, Member	4-30-13
		Date Approved
Donald Ayer	, Member	4-30-13
		Date Approved
Alana Welm	, Member	4-30-13
		Date Approved
Michael Engel	, Member	4-30-13
		Date Approved
and by Br	adley Cairns	, Chair of
the Department of	Oncological Sciences	

and by Donna M. White, Interim Dean of The Graduate School.

ABSTRACT

Ewing sarcoma is a highly aggressive pediatric malignancy that is characterized by a chromosomal translocation-derived fusion protein, Ewing sarcoma (EWS)/ Friend leukemia insertion (FLI), EWS/FLI. EWS/FLI is an aberrant transcription factor and its downstream targets contribute to oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma. However, the mechanisms of transcriptional regulation by EWS/FLI and the full complement of direct targets of EWS/FLI were previously unknown. The work documented in this dissertation describes a novel basis for EWS/FLI function in gene activation, and also uncovers a mechanism by which EWS/FLI directly represses a subset of critical targets genes in Ewing sarcoma.

Through the identification of direct *in vivo* targets of EWS/FLI, we made an unexpected discovery that EWS/FLI activates some of its critical target genes, including *NR0B1* and *GSTM4*, by binding to microsatellite repeats. These findings suggest a new paradigm for cancer-relevant gene regulation by EWS/FLI, and perhaps other ETS family members.

In addition to the microsatellite repeats, EWS/FLI regulates some of its target genes through the canonical high-affinity consensus E-26 oncogene (ETS) site. We focused on one such target gene, *GLI1*, and uncovered a novel role for GLI1 and its downstream target, KRT17, in coordinating two cancer-relevant functions: oncogenic transformation and cellular adhesion in Ewing sarcoma.

The functional relationship between wild-type EWS and the EWS/FLI fusion protein in Ewing sarcoma was largely unknown. Through global transcription profiling and mechanistic studies we demonstrated that EWS and EWS/FLI coregulate a subset of genes in Ewing sarcoma and that EWS functions as a cofactor of the REST transcription factor to repress neuronal differentiation genes. These data suggest that EWS, and consequently EWS/FLI, have transcriptional repressive roles in Ewing sarcoma.

We next focused on identifying and characterizing the mechanism underlying EWS/FLI-mediated direct transcriptional repression. We demonstrated that EWS/FLI interacts with the nucleosome remodeling and histone deacetylase (NuRD) corepressor complex to repress critical tumor suppressor genes in Ewing sarcoma. These data identify inhibitors of the NuRD complex components as potentially effective therapeutic agents for the treatment of Ewing sarcoma.

Taken together, the work presented in this dissertation advances our molecular understanding of EWS/FLI-mediated gene regulation in Ewing sarcoma.

This work is dedicated to my father, Ramachandran Sankar and my mother, Usha Sankar for being the source of my inspiration.

I would also like to thank my brother, Sandip Sankar and my best friend, Balaji Viswanathan for making my life so much more enjoyable.

I truly appreciate all that you have done and continue to do.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF TABLES	xii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	xiii
Chapter	
1. INTRODUCTION	1
Ewing sarcoma: Disease and molecular genetics	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
2. PROMISCUOUS PARTNERSHIPS IN EWING'S SARCOMA	
The EWS/FLI fusion in Ewing's sarcoma EWS/FLI fusion subtypes Other EWS/ETS fusions in Ewing's sarcoma TET/ETS fusions in Ewing sarcoma. Non-TET/ETS fusions in "Ewing's-like tumors" EWS/NFATc2.	41 42 43 44 45 45

EWS/POU5F1	45
EWS/SMARCA5	46
EWS/ZSG	47
EWS/SP3	48
Cell-of-origin and cellular context in Ewing's sarcoma	48
Potential mechanisms of chromosomal translocations in Ewing's sarcoma	49
Is is time to revisit the concept that TET/ETS fusions are pathognomonic for	
Ewing's sarcoma?	49
Hypothesis 1: The "coincidence hypothesis"	49
Hypothesis 2: The "common gene-target hypothesis"	50
Hypothesis 3: The "non-gene expression hypothesis"	50
Should we care if non-TET/ETS-containing tumors are Ewing's sarcoma?	50
Summary and conclusions	51
Acknowledgements	51
References	51

3. MICROSATELLITES AS EWS/FLI RESPONSE ELEMENTS IN FWING'S SARCOMA

EWING'S SARCOMA	55
Results	57
Discussion	59
Methods	60
Acknowledgements	61
References	61
Supporting information	62

Conflict of interest	70
Acknowledgements	70
References	70

5. A NOVEL ROLE FOR KERATIN 17 IN COORDINATING ONCOGENIC TRANSFORMATION AND CELLULAR ADHESION IN EWING SARCOMA...72

Abstract	
Introduction	73
Materials and methods	75
Results	79
Discussion	
Acknowledgements	

References	92
Supplemental material	108

6. EWS AND RE1 SILENCING TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR INHIBIT NEURONAL PHENOTYPE DEVELOPMENT A	R ND
ONCOGENIC TRANSFORMATION IN EWING SARCOM	MA118
Abstract	
Introduction	
Results	
Discussion	
Materials and methods	
Acknowledgements	
Declaration of conflicting interests	
Funding	
Note	
References	
Supplementary information	

Introduction1	33
Results1	.33
Discussion1	41
Materials and methods	42
Conflict of interest	43
Acknowledgements1	43
References	43
Supplemental information1	45

8. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	
DNA binding by EWS/FLI	
Transcriptional activity of EWS/FLI	
References	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	<u>Page</u>
1.1 Histology of Ewing sarcoma cells	36
1.2 Schematic of the EWS/FLI fusion protein	37
1.3 Transcriptional activation mutants of EWS/FLI	38
2.1(A) Domain structures of wild-type EWS, wild-type FLI and the EWS/FLI fusion proteins.	41
2.2 Domain structures of TET family of RNA binding proteins: TLS (FUS), EWS, TAF15 and the ETS family of transcription factors: FLI, ERG, FEV, ETV1 and ETV4	43
2.3 Domain structures of wild-type EWS, NFATc2, POU5F1 and SMARCA5 proteins as well as EWS/NFATc2, EWS/POU5F1 and EWS/SMARCA5 fusion proteins	45
2.4 Domain structures of wild-type EWS and Zinc finger proteins, ZSG and SP3	47
3.1 The GGAA microsatellites in the <i>NR0B1</i> and <i>FCGRT</i> promoters are the EWS/FLI response elements	57
3.2 EWS/FLI occupies GGAA microsatellite containing promoters in vivo	58
3.3 Enrichment of GGAA microsatellites in the promoters of EWS/FLI- up-regulated genes	59
3.4 Ability of EWS/FLI to bind and activate via GGAA repetitive regions depends on the number of consecutive GGAA motifs	60
S3.1 Wild-type FLI binds, but does not activate, via GGAA-repetitive regions	62
4.1 <i>GSTM4</i> is regulated by EWS/FLI binding to a GGAA-microsatellite in its promoter in Ewing's sarcoma	66

4.2 GSTM4 is necessary for oncogenic transformation of Ewing's sarcoma cells	67
4.3 Depletion of GSTM4 increases sensitivity of Ewing's sarcoma cells to etoposide (a-c) or fenretinide (e, f), but not doxorubicin (d)	68
4.4 GSTM4 expression in tumors correlates with overall survival in Ewing's sarcoma patients	69
5.1 GLI1 is upregulated by EWS/FLI and is necessary for oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma cells	98
5.2 GLI1 regulates a significant portion of the EWS/FLI transcription profile in Ewing sarcoma cells	99
5.3 KRT17 is regulated by GLI1 in multiple Ewing sarcoma cell lines	101
5.4 KRT17 is necessary for GLI1 mediated oncogenesis in Ewing sarcoma	103
5.5 KRT17 is necessary for AKT phosphorylation mediated cellular adhesion in Ewing sarcoma cells	105
5.6 KRT17 mediated oncogenic transformation is independent of AKT signaling	107
S5.1 GLI1 is an EWS/FLI up-regulated target gene	113
S5.2 Validation of the GLI1 RNA-sequencing data	114
S5.3 Bioinformatics approach to identify direct GLI1 targets from Supplementary Table S5.2 and Supplementary Table S5.3	115
S5.4 KRT17 is a GLI1 target gene in multiple Ewing sarcoma cell lines	116
6.1 Identification of EWS regulated genes and functions in Ewing sarcoma	121
6.2 EWS/FLI differentially regulates EWS regulated genes	122
6.3 EWS and REST repress neural gene expression in Ewing sarcoma cells	123
6.4 EWS physically interacts with REST and binds to chromatin regions at or near NRSE	124
6.5 EWS and REST repress the neural phenotype and oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma cells	125
S6.1 Validation of EWS and REST coregulated genes.	130

S6.2 Functional analysis of EWS and REST	131
7.1 Identification of direct downregulated targets of EWS/FLI	134
7.2 LOX functions as a tumor suppressor in Ewing sarcoma	136
7.3 Structure-function analysis of EWS/FLI-mediated repression	137
7.4 EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional activation and transcriptional repression are required for oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma cells	138
7.5 Transcriptional repression by EWS/FLI is mediated by HDACs	139
7.6 EWS/FLI interacts with the members of the NuRD corepressor complex	140
7.7 Binary-switch model for EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional regulation	141
S7.1 Validation of EWS/FLI direct downregulated genes	146
S7.2 TGFβR2 has tumor suppressive roles in Ewing sarcoma	148
S7.3 Expression and DNA-binding of EWS/FLI deletion mutants	152
S7.4 Expression of EWS/FLI mutant constructs	156
S7.5 Validation of the role of HDACs in EWS/FLI-mediated target gene repression	158
S7.6 Identifying corepressors involved in EWS/FLI-mediated gene repression; validating the role of LSD1 in transcriptional repression by EWS/FLI	161

LIST OF TABLES

Table	<u>Page</u>
2.1 Clinicopathologic features of non-TET/ETS "Ewing's-like tumors"	46
S3.1 Primer sets used for real-time PCR validation of ChIP enrichments	63
S5.1 Primer sequences for qRT-PCR analysis and oligonucleotide sequences for generating shRNAs	108
S5.2 GLI1 RNA-sequencing upregulated gene list	109
S5.3 GLI1 RNA-sequencing downregulated gene list	111
S7.1 Primer sequences for qRT-PCR analysis of RNA and ChIP DNA.	145

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would also like to thank the members of my thesis committee: Brad Cairns, Alana Welm, Don Ayer, and Mike Engel for their guidance and support throughout my graduate education. I have been honored to have Steve Lessnick as my mentor. To my advisor, Steve Lessnick: thank you for being so invested in my education and providing me with valuable insight, guidance, and teaching me everything I know. I am also very lucky to have been surrounded by the exceptional members of the Lessnick lab, past and present. They are an amazing group of people who have made my graduate school experience a memorable one. I have also been fortunate to work with an excellent group of collaborators, in particular members of the Beckerle, Sharma, and Bearss labs at the Huntsman Cancer Institute. I have had the privilege of being part of the HHMI Med to Grad program at the University of Utah. I am thankful to the program for teaching me the value of doing research that has a direct impact on the lives of patients. Heartfelt thanks to my family and friends, particularly my parents and my brother, for their constant love, support and encouragement. This work was supported in part by the Howard Hughes Medical Institute Med into Grad Program at the University of Utah, NIH/NCI grants R01 CA140394 (to Stephen L. Lessnick) and P30 CA042014 (to Huntsman Cancer Institute). We acknowledge use of the DNA sequencing and Genomics core facilities at the Huntsman Cancer Institute.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Ewing sarcoma: Disease and molecular genetics

Ewing sarcoma accounts for one-third of all primary bone tumors in children and young adults and is the second most common bone-associated malignancy in the pediatric population with a peak incidence at about 15 years of age (1, 2). There are approximately 250 newly diagnosed Ewing sarcoma cases in the United States per year (SEER). It is a highly undifferentiated tumor and histologically has a characteristic small-round blue cell appearance as depicted in Figure 1.1. Ewing sarcoma most frequently arises in the bone, but <10% of tumors arise in soft tissues (3). It is a highly aggressive disease and approximately 25% of patients present with overt metastasis at the time of clinical diagnosis (4). In addition, patients with clinically undetectable metastasis likely have micrometastatic disease, because in the absence of systemic chemotherapy most patients relapse with distant metastatic disease (5, 6). The common sites of metastasis include lung, bone and bone-marrow. The propensity to spread leads to poor prognosis for Ewing sarcoma patients with the five year survival rate for localized disease being \sim 70%, which drops to \sim 10% for metastatic disease (7).

Although Ewing sarcoma commonly presents as a bone-associated neoplasm, the cell-of-origin of this tumor is still an area of active debate, since it was first described by

James Ewing in 1921 (8, 9). Several lines of evidence support a neural crest cell of origin for Ewing sarcoma (10). Early studies showed that Ewing sarcomas express cell surface antigens associated with the neuroectodermal lineage (11-13). Later, a gene expression profiling study found that genes expressed in neuronal tissues or during neuronal differentiation are abundantly expressed in Ewing sarcomas (14). Furthermore, ectopic expression of the fusion protein encoded by the Ewing sarcoma gene (EWS) and Friend leukemia insertion gene (FLI), EWS/FLI, in non-Ewing cells including rhabdomyosarcoma, neuroblastoma or human foreskin fibroblast cell lines resulted in an upregulation of genes critical for neural crest development (15-17). Although, these data implicated a role for EWS/FLI in driving the neural phenotype of Ewing sarcoma cells, not much was known about the mechanisms that contributed to the neuronal phenotype and, importantly, the critical factors that prevented full neuronal differentiation of Ewing sarcomas. The work highlighted in Chapter 6 of this dissertation provides new insights in this direction.

In addition to neural crest cells, there is a growing body of recent evidence suggesting that mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are the likely progenitor cells of Ewing sarcoma (18-20). Interestingly, it has also been recently suggested that the two proposed cells of origin, neural crest and MSCs, may not be mutually exclusive (21). Since neural-derived MSCs are present in the bone-marrow (22) and, conversely, neural crest stem cells contain some mesenchymal lineage plasticity (23), it is possible that Ewing sarcomas arise from neural-derived MSCs or from neural crest stem cells with mesenchymal features.

In the mid-1980s it was discovered that 85% of Ewing sarcomas harbored a tumor-specific chromosomal translocation, t(11;22)(q22;q12), generating a fusion protein EWS/FLI, from the in-frame fusion of the amino-terminus of EWS (encoded by *EWSR1*), a member of the TET (TLS/EWS/TAF15) family of RNA-binding proteins, and the carboxyl-terminus of FLI (encoded by FLII), a member of the ETS family of transcription factors, as depicted in Figure 1.2 (24, 25). The reciprocal FLI/EWS translocation is not expressed in Ewing sarcoma tumors and the reciprocal translocated chromosome is sometimes lost from these tumors (26, 27). In addition to the gain of function of EWS/FLI, the t(11:22)(q24:q12) translocation causes loss of one allele of the wild-type EWSR1 and FLI1 genes (26). The untranslocated wild-type FLI allele is not expressed in Ewing sarcomas (27). Therefore, in addition to generation of EWS/FLI the other major consequence of the translocation is the haplo-insufficiency of EWS. Not much was known about the functional consequence of the halo-insufficiency of EWS on Ewing sarcoma oncogenesis. The work described in Chapter 6 of this dissertation has addressed this question. Some insight into the functioning of the EWS/FLI fusion protein also can be gained from knowledge about the wild-type EWS and FLI proteins.

Wild-type EWS

EWS is encoded by the *EWSR1* gene (Ewing's sarcoma rearrangement domain 1), first identified in the context of Ewing sarcoma (25). EWS is a ubiquitously expressed nuclear protein (25, 28). The amino-terminus of EWS included in EWS/FLI is highly unstructured, consists of a repetitive primary sequence with several copies of a degenerate hexapeptide repeat motif (SYGQQS) that resembles the carboxyl-terminal

domain of RNA polymerase II (25), suggesting a potential role for EWS in transcriptional activation. The N-terminal domain of EWS has been shown to interact with the basal transcription factor TFIID, with certain subunits of RNA polymerase II and p300/CBP, providing additional support for the transcriptional activating potential of EWS (29-32). The EWS/FLI fusion protein does not form a stable complex with RNA polymerase II (30) but does interact with the RNA polymerase II subunit RPB7 (29), highlighting a likely conservation in function between wild-type EWS and the EWS/FLI fusion protein in transcriptional activation.

The unstructured nature of the N-terminal EWS domain potentially enables its interaction with several proteins subsequently leading to the pathogenic transcriptional activities of EWS and EWS/FLI (33). As an example, it was demonstrated that wild-type EWS could interact with its oncogenic derivative EWS/FLI to induce mitotic defects and genomic instability and, in doing so, contribute to the transformed phenotype of Ewing sarcoma (34). In support of this are data highlighting a developmental role for EWS in genome surveillance and DNA repair (35, 36). The carboxyl-terminus of EWS, which is not retained in EWS/FLI, is thought to interact with the serine-arginine family of RNA splicing factors as evidenced by the presence of 3 RGG-rich regions (37) (Figure 1.2), suggesting a potential role for wild-type EWS in RNA processing/splicing or export (28).

In addition to the possible roles for EWS in transcriptional activation, DNArepair, and RNA processing, a recent study demonstrated that EWS could repress the expression of a reporter gene it was tethered to, by inhibition of posttranscriptional gene expression (38). Upon DNA-damage signals, the EWS family member TLS has been shown to be recruited to the *CCND1* gene promoter by a tethered ncRNA to inhibit the histone acetyl transferase activity of CBP/p300, leading to transcriptional repression of the *CCND1* gene (39). These studies indicate that TET family proteins including EWS may also function in a repressive capacity. Notably, without evidence that EWS binds to double stranded DNA *in vivo*, EWS is more likely to act as a transcriptional cofactor than as a transcription factor.

Since the EWS/FLI fusion protein has been the main focus of study in the field, very little was known about the role of wild-type EWS in Ewing sarcoma, leaving many unanswered questions: Does EWS function as a cofactor to affect transcription of target genes? What are EWS regulated genes, if any, in Ewing sarcoma and does the EWS transcriptional profile contribute significantly to the EWS/FLI transcriptional profile? Does wild-type EWS have a role in oncogenic transformation? The work presented in Chapter 6 provides new insights into the role of wild-type EWS in Ewing sarcoma.

Wild-type FLI

The other portion of the EWS/FLI fusion is contributed by *FLI1*, which encodes the protein FLI. FLI is a member of the ETS family of transcription factors (40). There are 27 known ETS family members in humans, which may be grouped on the basis of similarities in their ETS domains (41). ETS family members play a prominent role in cancer development because genes encoding ETS factors are often involved in chromosomal translocations that generate oncogenic protein derivatives (41). FLI localizes to the nucleus and functions primarily in megakaryocyte, vascular, and neural crest development (42-44). FLI can also function as an oncogene. The murine *Fli* locus was first identified as the predominant Friend murine leukemia virus (F-MuLV) insertion site, which causes upregulation of the *Fli* gene, and the development of erythroleukemia (45, 46). Exogenous expression of FLI in transforming models like NIH3T3 immortalized murine fibroblasts, however, does not result in oncogenic transformation (47). Therefore, its transforming ability may be limited to the hematopoietic lineage. The amino-terminus of FLI contains a pointed (PNT) domain, which is involved in protein-protein interactions, and functions as a weak transcriptional activation or repression domain (48). However, the PNT domain of FLI is lost in the EWS/FLI fusion protein (refer to Figure 1.2). The carboxyl-terminus of FLI contains a highly conserved ~85 amino acid DNA binding domain (ETS domain) that is both necessary and sufficient for site-specific DNA binding (48). EWS/FLI retains this C-terminal ETS domain of FLI (refer to Figure 1.2).

TET/ETS and non-TET/ETS fusions

EWS/FLI is expressed in ~85% of Ewing sarcoma tumors. In the remaining 10% of cases, translocations resulting in the fusion of EWS [and rarely a related TLS/ETS/TAF15 (TET) family protein] with other ETS family members occur. Thus, EWS/ERG, EWS/ETV1, EWS/ETV4 and EWS/FEV have all been described in Ewing sarcoma, and are all thought to mimic the function of EWS/FLI (25, 49-52). These findings solidified the importance of TET/ETS fusions in the pathogenesis of Ewing sarcoma and have since been used as diagnostic markers for the disease (53).

EWS fusions with non-ETS transcription factor family members have been described in a variety of sarcomas that are distinct from Ewing sarcoma. However, in recent years, a small but increasing number of rare non-TET/ETS rearrangements have been identified in sarcomas called "Ewing's-like tumors" that anatomically and

histologically resemble certain features of Ewing sarcoma (refer to Chapter 2). These findings have complicated both molecular diagnostics as well as the concept that Ewing sarcoma is strictly a TET/ETS fusion driven malignancy. However, due to lack of a molecular understanding of the non-TET/ETS fusions and their mechanisms of action it is difficult to conclude that these fusions drive the same disease as the TET/ETS fusions.

EWS/FLI functions as a fusion oncoprotein

EWS/ETS proteins are characterized as oncoproteins in Ewing sarcoma. However, introduction of EWS/ETS proteins into different cellular models result in diverse outcomes ranging from the induction of cell cycle arrest or apoptosis to transformation and tumorigenicity, and from blocking differentiation to transdifferentiation (9). Thus, the phenotype driven by EWS/ETS proteins depends on the cellular context. Ectopic expression of EWS/FLI is not sufficient to transform many primary cell types, including primary human fibroblasts, primary mouse fibroblasts and immortalized rat fibroblasts (Rat1 cells), and instead results in cell death or growth arrest (17, 54). Expression of EWS/FLI in more primitive cells including primary neural crest progenitor cells (Ncm1) or tumor cell lines like rhabdomyosarcoma (CTR) cells, results in differentiation defects (9). These studies highlight the importance of a permissive cellular background that is necessary for EWS/FLI function and subsequent cellular transformation.

Ectopic expression of EWS/FLI causes oncogenic transformation of NIH3T3 cells (47, 55, 56), indicating that in this cell type perhaps there are unknown cooperating aberrancies or pathways that permit cellular transformation upon EWS/FLI

overexpression. Subsequent studies within a native Ewing sarcoma cellular context have demonstrated that stable knockdown of EWS/FLI in multiple patient-derived Ewing sarcoma cell lines resulted in loss of oncogenic transformation, assessed by anchorageindependent growth in soft agar *in vitro* and xenograft tumor growth *in vivo* in immunodeficient mice (27, 57). Furthermore, reexpression of an RNAi-resistant EWS/FLI cDNA resulted in restoration of the transformed phenotype (58). Therefore, EWS/FLI or other EWS/ETS fusions are presumably the initiating oncogenic events, and their ongoing expression is required for the transformed phenotype of Ewing sarcoma.

Site directed mutagenesis within the DNA binding domain of the FLI portion, or large deletion mutations within the EWS portion of EWS/FLI, result in a complete loss of biologic activity of the EWS/FLI fusion protein (refer to Chapter 7). Therefore, both the EWS and FLI portions of EWS/FLI, and the DNA binding ability of EWS/FLI are essential for oncogenic transformation (47, 55, 56). The N-terminal EWS domain confers a strong transcription activation domain when fused to heterologous DNA-binding domains of other transcription factors (55). These data suggests that the N-terminal EWS domain that is retained in the EWS/FLI fusion protein functions predominantly as a strong transcriptional activation domain.

Although EWS/FLI binds DNA with the same specificity as wild-type FLI, it acts as a more potent transcriptional activator, owing to the replacement of the weak transcriptional activation domain (from wild-type FLI) by the strong transcriptional activation domain of EWS (47, 56). This concept was supported by a study that found that replacement of the EWS domain in EWS/FLI with other strong transcriptional activation domains could rescue oncogenic transformation in NIH3T3 cells, whereas replacement with a weak transcriptional activation domain could not (55) (Figure 1.3). These data suggest that EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional activation drives oncogenic transformation. However, later data from patient-derived Ewing sarcoma cell lines and primary tumors suggested that transcription repression by EWS/FLI is also necessary for oncogenic transformation (27, 57, 59). In fact, as detailed later in Chapter 7, it is the combined effect of EWS/FLI-mediated gene activation and gene repression that causes full oncogenic transformation of Ewing sarcoma cells. Furthermore, EWS/FLI, but not wild-type FLI, transforms NIH3T3 cells, highlighting a gain-of-function of the fusion protein (47). Taken together, these findings indicate that EWS/FLI acts as an aberrant transcription factor, inappropriately regulating the expression of specific repertoires of target genes, thereby orchestrating development of Ewing sarcoma.

DNA binding and regulation by ETS proteins

EWS/FLI retains the ETS-type DNA binding domain of FLI (Figure 1.2). ETS proteins have a characteristic winged helix-loop-helix DNA-binding domain (60, 61). Most ETS family members bind as monomers to sequences of DNA that contain a GGAA (or rarely a GGAT) "core" motif (40, 41, 48); the flanking nucleotides modulate the affinity and specificity of the interaction (62). *In vitro* binding site selection approaches identified a high-affinity consensus ETS binding sequence, ACCGGAAGTG, which acts as a functional binding site for wild-type FLI and for most ETS family members (63). EWS/FLI also binds to this site with high affinity (63).

Genome-wide localization approaches have identified two distinct classes of ETS binding sites *in vivo*: high-affinity (redundant sites), and divergent (specific sites) (64).

The high affinity sites identified were bound by multiple ETS family members *in vivo*, indicating that although there are preferences, the DNA-binding specificity for ETS factors is not stringent. In contrast, the divergent sites consist of partial ETS binding sites overlapping with, or in immediate proximity to, partial binding sites for non-ETS family members. Such binding sites could potentiate gene regulation by cooperative interactions between an ETS protein and another transcription factor. Divergent ETS binding of ETS proteins is modulated by their interactions with other transcription factors (66, 67). Interestingly, ETS family proteins that participate in Ewing sarcoma, including FLI1, ERG, and ETV1, can cooperatively bind DNA with AP1 (Fos-Jun) proteins (68). Importantly, a truncated mutant form of EWS/FLI that failed to cooperatively bind DNA with AP1 proteins failed to transform NIH3T3 cells (68), highlighting the significance of cooperative DNA binding and transcriptional regulation from weak divergent ETS sites in the pathogenesis of Ewing sarcoma.

The presence of the FLI DNA-binding domain in the EWS/FLI fusion protein suggests that EWS/FLI likely binds similar DNA sequences and targets similar genomic sites as does the wild-type FLI protein. However, little was known about the nature of the binding motifs for EWS/FLI in Ewing sarcoma. Work detailed in Chapter 3 of this dissertation identified, for the first time, *in vivo* binding elements of EWS/FLI in Ewing sarcoma and uncovered novel binding sites for the fusion protein.

EWS/FLI target genes in Ewing sarcoma

While the identification of EWS/FLI was an important step forward, progress in understanding the pathogenesis of Ewing sarcoma has been precluded by the lack of knowledge of the cell-of-origin, and therefore the inability to generate genetic models of the disease (9, 69). EWS/FLI functions as an aberrant transcription factor in Ewing sarcoma which implies that EWS/FLI regulated genes are important for oncogenesis. Early studies made use of NIH3T3 cells, but few of the EWS/FLI "targets" identified in this cell type have been validated as being involved in *bona fide* Ewing sarcoma (70-73). The biggest pitfall of these studies was the use of a heterologous cell type requiring the nonphysiologic overexpression of EWS/FLI and a lack of understanding of the background genetic aberrancies in NIH3T3 cells that aid EWS/FLI-mediated transformation. Indeed, our own work has demonstrated that EWS/FLI expression in NIH3T3 cells induces a gene expression pattern that is quite different from the pattern induced in Ewing sarcoma (58, 74), suggesting that EWS-FLI1 may trigger a generic ETS-mediated gene expression pattern and transformation process in NIH3T3 cells, rather than a Ewing sarcoma-specific process. These data underscored the importance of studying EWS/FLI and the target genes it dysregulates within a native cellular context.

To identify EWS/FLI targets within a native cellular context, our lab developed a strategy to knockdown endogenous EWS/FLI expression in patient-derived Ewing sarcoma cell lines using a retroviral-based stable shRNA approach, without drastically affecting the normal growth rate of cells in tissue culture, followed by gene expression profiling (27). The specificity of the RNAi construct against EWS/FLI was validated by a "rescue" approach re-expressing an RNAi-resistant EWS/FLI cDNA (58). Importantly, as

highlighted previously, stable knockdown of EWS/FLI resulted in loss of oncogenic transformation assessed by *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays and rescue with the RNAi-resistant EWS/FLI cDNA restored the transformed phenotype. Therefore, target genes identified using this approach would potentially identify critical downstream mediators of EWS/FLI function in driving Ewing sarcoma oncogenesis.

Using this approach we and others have identified several thousands of genes regulated by EWS/FLI (27, 57, 59, 75). Importantly, target genes identified within the native cellular context have since been validated as *bone fide* targets, important for various aspects of Ewing sarcoma development. Furthermore, identification of the EWS/FLI transcriptome provided us with target genes that could then be used as tools to understand the mechanisms of regulation by EWS/FLI and to identify EWS/FLI response elements. Specifically, *NR0B1 and GSTM4*, among others, were identified as key upregulated EWS/FLI target genes absolutely essential for oncogenic transformation (27). As detailed in Chapters 3 and 4, we utilized the *NR0B1* and *GSTM4* promoters as candidates to identify and characterize EWS/FLI response elements in Ewing sarcoma.

In contrast to the NIH3T3 transcription profile, the most striking observation from the EWS/FLI transcription profile generated in Ewing sarcoma cells was that there were several fold more downregulated target genes than there were EWS/FLI upregulated targets (76). This was intriguing given that EWS/FLI was predominantly characterized as a transcriptional activator, with the exception of a few reports that suggested that target gene repression by EWS/FLI may be important to the tumorigenic phenotype (47, 55, 75, 77). The repressed gene signature for EWS/FLI was also confirmed by a more recent RNA-sequencing experiment (refer to Chapter 6). However, the exact mechanism of EWS/FLI-mediated repression in Ewing sarcoma remained unanswered.

Transcription profiling experiments have identified several thousands of EWS/FLI targets including several critical effectors of oncogenic transformation, but the big unanswered questions in the field were: does the EWS/FLI transcription profile contain direct targets in addition to indirect targets? How does the fusion oncoprotein regulate its critical target genes? Therefore, identification of "direct" EWS/FLI targets (defined by EWS/FLI binding to the promoter and/or enhancer elements of target genes) and a detailed characterization of direct binding sites for EWS/FLI at target gene promoters were necessary to better understand the underlying mechanisms of regulation. Overlapping direct EWS/FLI targets with EWS/FLI up or downregulated genes from the transcription profiles would then identify a "core" set of target genes for further focused mechanistic studies. Work detailed in Chapters 3, 4 and 7 have utilized this approach.

Transcriptional activation in Ewing sarcoma

Among the genes activated by EWS/FLI, our lab has previously demonstrated that *NKX2.2* and *NR0B1* are critical upregulated targets necessary for EWS/FLI mediated oncogenic transformation (27, 57). Interestingly, another EWS/FLI upregulated gene initially identified in our microarray-based transcriptional profiling studies was *GLI1* (Glioma associated oncogene homolog 1) (27). GLI1 is a zinc-finger transcription factor and is the principal effector of the Hedgehog signaling pathway (78). Hedgehog signaling is of critical importance during development for proper cellular differentiation, tissue patterning and stem cell maintenance (78, 79). This signaling pathway is well recognized

to contribute to the development and progression of several cancers (80). The canonical pathway for GLI activation requires ligand-dependent inhibition of the receptor Patched (PTCH), which releases inhibition of the signal transducer Smoothened (SMO), allowing for GLI-dependent transcription of genes that mediate cell proliferation and survival.

We demonstrated that GLI1 was transcriptionally activated in a noncanonical fashion in Ewing sarcoma cells, independent of upstream hedgehog pathway components, by direct EWS/FLI binding to a high-affinity ETS consensus site in the *GL11* promoter. Furthermore, we identified a role for GLI1 in EWS/FLI-mediated oncogenic transformation. While we were working on further characterizing the role of GLI1, several papers were published that highlighted the importance of GLI1 in EwS/FLI directly activated transcription from the GLI1 promoter (81), and that loss-of-function approaches and pharmacological inhibition of GLI1 significantly decreased oncogenic transformation (81-84). However, the mechanism underlying GLI1-mediated oncogenesis and the critical transcriptional network of genes regulated by GLI1 to achieve this function remained unknown. Work detailed in Chapter 5 of this dissertation addresses these critical questions and provides a mechanistic understanding of GLI1-mediated oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma.

Transcriptional repression in Ewing sarcoma

Transcriptional repression is central to the pathogenesis of hematologic malignancies, including acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) and acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). Acute promyelocytic leukemia (APML) is associated with the chromosomal translocation, t(15;17)(q24;q12) encoding the PML/RARα fusion product. The PML/RARα fusion acts as a transcriptional repressor, due to its interaction with Histone Deacetylases (HDACs) which leads to repression of the retinoic acid response genes (85-87). In contrast, chromosomal fusion-driven solid tumor development has largely been attributed to transcriptional activation. For example, the PAX3/FKRH fusion in alveolar rhabdomysosarcoma, TLS/CHOP in myxoid liposarcoma and the EWS/ATF1 fusion in clear cell sarcoma have been characterized predominantly as transcriptional activators (88-90).

Similarly, evidence from early studies in heterologous cell systems had suggested a role for EWS/FLI in transcriptional activation (47, 55). However, as previously highlighted, gene expression profiling studies in Ewing sarcoma cells displayed a predominant signature of EWS/FLI repressed genes (27). This repression may be attributed, in part, to the upregulation of transcriptional repressors by EWS/FLI. This might suggest an indirect repression model, which would still support the concept that EWS/FLI is predominantly a transcriptional activator.

In support of the indirect repression model, previous studies have shown that EWS/FLI activates the expression of Enhancer of Zeste Homolog 2 (EZH2), the enzymatic subunit of the polycomb PRC2 repressor complex, which methylates histone H3 Lys27, and thereby mediates gene repression. Silencing of EZH2 in Ewing sarcoma cells decreased tumor growth and metastasis, and resulted in a generalized loss of methylation on H3 Lys27 and an increase in H3 acetylation, leading to gene activation (91). Previous work from our lab has identified other EWS/FLI upregulated proteins like NKX2.2 and NR0B1 that function predominantly as transcriptional repressors in Ewing

sarcoma and contribute to a small but significant proportion of the EWS/FLI repressed gene signature (76, 92). NKX2.2 mediates repression in Ewing sarcoma through recruitment of HDAC activity. Consequently, treatment with the HDAC inhibitor vorinostat resulted in a reversal of the NKX2.2-mediated repression of target genes and consequently blocked oncogenic transformation (76). These studies highlight the importance of gene repression in Ewing sarcoma oncogenesis and, in addition, suggest a critical role for HDACs and other epigenetic regulator proteins as effectors of transcriptional repression in Ewing sarcoma.

Histone deacetylases (HDACs)

Gene repression is largely achieved by the combinatorial action of various enzymatic complexes, known as corepressor complexes, which are recruited to DNA by transcription factors and act by modifying histone tails and thereby changing the chromatin architecture at target gene promoters. One of the most important processes that mediates transcriptional repression is deacetylation of histone tails facilitated by HDAC proteins (93). In vertebrates, HDACs contain 11 members (HDAC1-HDAC11), which are divided into three classes: class I (HDAC1-3, HDAC8), class II (HDAC4-HDAC7, HDAC9-10) and class IV (HDAC11). Class III HDACs are the sirtuin family of NAD⁺dependent deacetylases (94-97). Acetylation of histone tails is associated with relaxation of the chromatin structure and increased transcriptional activity. At repressed gene promoters, removal of acetyl groups from histone tails results in a condensed DNA structure, preventing gene expression. Class I HDACs are catalytic subunits of multiprotein corepressor complexes that mediate transcriptional repression. HDAC1 and HDAC2 are components of the SIN3A corepressor complex (98, 99), the RE1 silencing transcription factor complex (REST) (100-102) and the Nucleosome remodeling and histone deacetylase complex (NuRD) (103-106). HDAC3 is recruited to promoters by association with the NCoR/SMRT repressor complex (93).

NuRD (Nucleosome remodeling and histone deacetylase) complex

The nucleosome remodeling and histone deacetylase complex (NuRD) is an interesting corepressor complex because it combines several enzymatic activities in one large multiprotein complex. The NuRD complex, also known as Mi-2, is about 2MDa in size and is comprised of HDAC1 and HDAC2, and two histone binding proteins, RbAp46 and RbAp48 (107). In addition to HDACs, the NuRD complex also consists of an ATP-dependent nucleosome remodeling activity due to the presence of the Mi-2/CHD family of proteins which have a chromodomain, a DNA helicase/ATPase domain of the SWI/SNF family, and a PHD domain (107). The NuRD complex also contains MTA family proteins, MTA1 or MTA2, first identified as metastasis associated proteins in carcinomas (108). The MTA proteins have a zinc finger and a SANT domain (both are domains that bind DNA). Additionally, the NuRD complex contains the methyl CpGbinding domain protein, MBD3 (109) as well as a lysine-specific histone demethylase, LSD1 (110). It is, however, important to note that some of the components are not exclusive to the NuRD complex and different combinations of these complex members exist in other corepressor protein complexes. Like most classes of chromatin remodeling complexes, the NuRD complex has important roles in transcription, chromatin assembly, cell cycle progression and genomic stability (111). The NuRD complex is evolutionarily highly conserved and is broadly present in most tissues. The NuRD complex has been shown to associate with oncogenic transcription factors to promote transcriptional repression of downstream targets. As an example, in promyelocytic leukemia, the oncogenic PML/RAR α fusion protein recruits the NuRD complex through direct proteinprotein interactions to target genes including the tumor suppressor gene retinoic acid receptor β 2, to promote gene silencing (112). In cancer, the NuRD complex has been associated with tumor progression or tumor suppression depending on the context (107).

REST (RE1 silencing transcription factor) complex

The RE1 silencing transcription factor, also called Neuron Restrictive Silencing Factor (NRSF) was first discovered as a repressor of neuronal genes containing a 23 bp conserved motif, known as the RE1 repressor element 1 or NRSE (113, 114). REST is critical for embryonic development; perturbations in REST expression or function in developing embryos leads to ectopic expression of neuronal genes in non-neuronal tissues, causing embryonic lethality (115). REST harbors three functional domains: a DNA binding domain containing eight zinc-finger motifs that bind to the NRSE, and two independent repressor domains (116). The amino terminal repressor domain interacts with the mSin3 corepressor that recruits HDACs (117). The carboxyl-terminal repressor domain interacts with the CoREST corepressor that also recruits HDACs. Like the NuRD complex, the REST repressor complex also contains the lysine-specific demethylase, LSD1 (118).

LSD1 (Lysine-specific demethylase)

Histone methylation plays important roles in transcription and epigenetic regulation. LSD1, also referred to as KDM1A, is a flavin-dependent histone demethylase enzyme (119, 120). Identification and characterization of LSD1 demonstrated for the first time that the histone methylation process was a dynamic process. LSD1 functions as part of the NuRD or REST repressor complex, suggesting that DNA binding is essential for stimulating LSD1-mediated nucleosomal demethylation (121). The enzymatic reaction carried out by LSD1 requires the presence of protonated nitrogen on the histone tail to initiate demethylation, therefore limiting it to di-methylated and mono-methylated lysine residues as substrates. In contrast to HDACs, LSD1 functions as both a transcriptional coactivator and a transcriptional corepressor because of its ability to demethylate histone H3 lysine 4 mono or di methyl (H3K4me1/2), a mark of activation, or histone H3 lysine 9 mono or di methyl (H3K9me1/2), a mark of repression. Knockdown or pharmacological inhibition of LSD1 has been shown to reduce proliferation of neuronal progenitor stem cells, suggesting a role for LSD1 in maintaining the balance between self-renewal and differentiation (122). Interestingly, LSD1 has been shown to regulate differentiation of fat and skeletal muscle tissues (123, 124), underscoring the functional importance of LSD1 in tissues of mesenchymal origin (125). LSD1 is highly expressed in sarcomas and, given its function in mesenchymal stem cells, it is likely that LSD1 plays a role in sarcoma pathogenesis (126). In line with this, a recent study demonstrated that Ewing sarcoma primary tumors express high levels of the LSD1 protein (127). LSD1 is also overexpressed in several other cancers and drives their oncogenic growth through

epigenetic mechanisms (128), suggesting that inhibition of LSD1 activity may be a viable and effective therapeutic strategy in multiple cancers.

Dissertation goals

Ewing sarcoma serves as an excellent paradigm for understanding tumorigenesis driven by the expression of chromosomal translocation-derived fusion oncoproteins because of its unique molecular genetics. Most cases of Ewing sarcomas harbor the t(11:22)(q24:q12) translocation encoding the aberrant transcription factor EWS/FLI. Besides the t(11;22), however, these tumors have simple karyotypes with no other demonstrable chromosomal abnormalities. EWS/FLI is therefore considered the central mediator of a hierarchy of transcriptional networks, upregulating and downregulating critical target genes, and leading subsequently to Ewing sarcoma development. The overarching goal of our research is to better understand the biology underlying the pathogenesis of Ewing sarcoma. A mechanistic understanding of how EWS/FLI achieves transcriptional control in Ewing sarcoma, what target genes it directly and indirectly regulates, what DNA motifs EWS/FLI utilizes to achieve this function and what proteins it interacts with will identify key nodes of transcriptional regulation utilized by EWS/FLI to achieve its pathogenic functions. These studies are important to the Ewing sarcoma field as they provide new insights into the mechanistic basis of Ewing sarcoma development and may provide new opportunities for therapeutic intervention. Thus, my thesis work has sought to address several key questions in this context:

1. What are the translocation-based oncogenic fusions that occur in Ewing sarcoma tumors? Chapter 2 is a detailed review article describing the various TET/ETS

fusions that are pathognomonic for the disease. We also discuss rare non-TET/ETS fusions that occur in "Ewing's-like tumors" and highlight important questions that need to be answered to determine the true molecular identities of the "Ewing's-like tumors."

- 2. What are the direct targets of EWS/FLI and what is the EWS/FLI response element on promoters of activated target genes that are critical for maintenance of oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma? We used genomics approaches to identify direct targets of EWS/FLI in Ewing sarcoma. In addition to the previously characterized high-affinity consensus ETS site, we identified GGAA microsatellites as a novel EWS/FLI response element. Using the promoter of *NR0B1*, an EWS/FLI target gene critical for oncogenesis, we validated binding and transcriptional activation by EWS/FLI from the GGAA microsatellites. Bioinformatics approaches further established the specific association of GGAA-microsatellites with upregulated EWS/FLI target genes. This work is detailed in Chapter 3 of the dissertation.
- 3. Can we use the presence of GGAA microsatellites as a tool to identify additional EWS/FLI target genes that are critical for Ewing sarcoma development and/or maintenance? Can the presence of GGAA-microsatellites serve as a prognostic marker for Ewing sarcoma? Chapter 4 details our analysis of another GGAA-microsatellite containing EWS/FLI upregulated target gene, *GSTM4*, as an essential gene required for oncogenesis and for chemotherapeutic resistance in Ewing sarcoma. This chapter further establishes a direct correlation between GSTM4 expression levels and survival outcome.

- 4. What is the role of *GLI1*, a direct upregulated target of EWS/FLI in Ewing sarcoma? What are critical downstream targets of *GLI1* that mediate its function in Ewing sarcoma? Unlike the GGAA microsatellite response element, the *GLI1* promoter harbors the canonical ETS site as the EWS/FLI response element. We demonstrated that GLI1 is necessary for maintenance of oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma. Global transcription profiling studies were performed to identify GLI1 target genes. We identified *KRT17* as a critical GLI1 target gene and characterized a novel role for *KRT17* in coordinating cellular adhesion and oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma by regulating the AKT signaling pathway. These studies are presented in Chapter 5.
- 5. What is the functional relationship between wild-type EWS and EWS/FLI? Does EWS function as a transcriptional cofactor in Ewing sarcoma? What are EWS target genes in Ewing sarcoma? Does the EWS transcription profile contribute significantly to the EWS/FLI transcription profile? Does EWS play a role in regulating cancer-related phenotypes in Ewing sarcoma? Chapter 6 details our analysis of the EWS and EWS/FLI RNA-sequencing-based transcriptional profiles in Ewing sarcoma. From this overlap, we identified a subset of neuronal genes that are repressed by EWS. The promoters of these neuronal genes harbor the response element for the transcriptional corepressor REST. We demonstrate that REST and EWS cooperate to repress the subset of neuronal genes thereby inhibiting full neuronal differentiation and contributing to the transdifferentiated phenotype of Ewing sarcoma cells. Furthermore, we demonstrate that wild-type
EWS functions as a tumor suppressor and, therefore, haploinsufficiency of EWS drives oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma.

6. Although EWS/FLI has previously been characterized largely as a transcriptional activator, does the significantly large EWS/FLI repressed gene signature contain direct repressed targets? Is transcriptional repression functionally significant to the disease biology? What domains within EWS/FLI are necessary for repression? What corepressor proteins does EWS/FLI interact with to directly repress target genes in Ewing sarcoma? Using genomic approaches we first identified a subset of direct repressed EWS/FLI targets. We validated a subset of these genes and identified two interesting candidate genes with tumor-suppressive properties *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Deletion mapping analysis was used to identify domains within EWS/FLI that are necessary and sufficient for direct repression. Using a candidate approach, we identified a role for the NuRD corepressor complex containing HDACs and LSD1 in EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional repression. We further identified LSD1 as a novel target for therapeutic intervention in Ewing sarcoma. This work is detailed in Chapter 7.

Taken together, the work presented in this dissertation highlights the identification of direct targets of EWS/FLI, and novel DNA-binding elements for EWS/FLI in Ewing sarcoma. We uncover a novel role for the EWS/FLI up-regulated target gene *GL11* in Ewing sarcoma oncogenesis. In addition, we unravel a previously unknown role for wild-type EWS in regulating the neural phenotype of Ewing sarcoma. Furthermore, we identify and characterize a less-well understood role for EWS/FLI in direct transcriptional repression of tumor suppressor genes. Finally, through detailed

mechanistic studies we identify HDACs and LSD1 as novel therapeutic targets in Ewing sarcoma.

References

- 1. Grier HE. The Ewing family of tumors. Ewing's sarcoma and primitive neuroectodermal tumors. *Pediatr Clin North Am* 1997; **44**: 991-1004.
- 2. Arndt CA, Crist WM. Common musculoskeletal tumors of childhood and adolescence. *N Engl J Med* 1999; **341:** 342-352.
- 3. Horowitz ME, Malawer MM, Woo SY, Hicks MJ. Ewing's sarcoma family of tumors: Ewing's sarcoma of bone and soft tissue and the peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumors. In: Pizzo PA, Poplack DG (eds). *Principles and Practice of Pediatric Oncology*, third edition edn. Lippincott-Raven Publishers: Philadelphia, 1997, pp 831-863.
- 4. Terrier P, Llombart-Bosch A, Contesso G. Small round blue cell tumors in bone: prognostic factors correlated to Ewing's sarcoma and neuroectodermal tumors. *Semin Diagn Pathol* 1996; **13**: 250-257.
- 5. Wang CC, Schulz MD. Ewing's sarcoma; a study of fifty cases treated at the Massachusetts General Hospital, 1930-1952 inclusive. *N Engl J Med* 1953; **248**: 571-576.
- 6. Dahlin DC, Coventry MB, Scanlon PW. Ewing's sarcoma. A critical analysis of 165 cases. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 1961; **43-A:** 185-192.
- 7. Rodriguez-Galindo C, Spunt SL, Pappo AS. Treatment of Ewing sarcoma family of tumors: current status and outlook for the future. *Medical and Pediatric Oncology* 2003; **40**: 276-287.
- 8. Ewing J. Diffuse endothelioma of bone. *Proceedings of the New York Pathological Society* 1921; **21:** 17-24.
- 9. Kovar H. Context matters: the hen or egg problem in Ewing's sarcoma. *Semin Cancer Biol* 2005; **15**: 189-196.
- 10. Cavazzana AO, Magnani JL, Ross RA, Miser J, Triche TJ. Ewing's sarcoma is an undifferentiated neuroectodermal tumor. *Prog Clin Biol Res* 1988; **271**: 487-498.

- 11. Lipinski M, Braham K, Philip I, Wiels J, Philip T, Dellagi K *et al.* Phenotypic characterization of Ewing sarcoma cell lines with monoclonal antibodies. *J Cell Biochem* 1986; **31:** 289-296.
- 12. Lipinski M, Hirsch MR, Deagostini-Bazin H, Yamada O, Tursz T, Goridis C. Characterization of neural cell adhesion molecules (NCAM) expressed by Ewing and neuroblastoma cell lines. *Internationa Journal of Cancer Journal International du Cancer* 1987; **40:** 81-86.
- Lipinski M, Braham K, Philip I, Wiels J, Philip T, Goridis C *et al.* Neuroectodermassociated antigens on Ewing's sarcoma cell lines. *Cancer Research* 1987; 47: 183-187.
- 14. Staege MS, Hutter C, Neumann I, Foja S, Hattenhorst UE, Hansen G *et al.* DNA microarrays reveal relationship of Ewing family tumors to both endothelial and fetal neural crest-derived cells and define novel targets. *Cancer Research* 2004; **64**: 8213-8221.
- 15. Rorie CJ, Weissman BE. The Ews/Fli-1 fusion gene changes the status of p53 in neuroblastoma tumor cell lines. *Cancer Research* 2004; **64:** 7288-7295.
- Hu-Lieskovan S, Zhang J, Wu L, Shimada H, Schofield DE, Triche TJ. EWS-FLI1 fusion protein up-regulates critical genes in neural crest development and is responsible for the observed phenotype of Ewing's family of tumors. *Cancer Research* 2005; 65: 4633-4644.
- 17. Lessnick SL, Dacwag CS, Golub TR. The Ewing's sarcoma oncoprotein EWS/FLI induces a p53-dependent growth arrest in primary human fibroblasts. *Cancer Cell* 2002; **1**: 393-401.
- Castillero-Trejo Y, Eliazer S, Xiang L, Richardson JA, Ilaria RL, Jr. Expression of the EWS/FLI-1 oncogene in murine primary bone-derived cells results in EWS/FLI-1-dependent, ewing sarcoma-like tumors. *Cancer Research* 2005; 65: 8698-8705.
- 19. Miyagawa Y, Okita H, Nakaijima H, Horiuchi Y, Sato B, Taguchi T *et al.* Inducible expression of chimeric EWS/ETS proteins confers Ewing's family tumor-like phenotypes to human mesenchymal progenitor cells. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2008; **28**: 2125-2137.
- 20. Riggi N, Suva ML, Suva D, Cironi L, Provero P, Tercier S *et al.* EWS-FLI-1 expression triggers a Ewing's sarcoma initiation program in primary human mesenchymal stem cells. *Cancer Research* 2008; **68**: 2176-2185.
- 21. Riggi N, Suva ML, Stamenkovic I. Ewing's sarcoma origin: from duel to duality. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* 2009; **9**: 1025-1030.

- 22. Takashima Y, Era T, Nakao K, Kondo S, Kasuga M, Smith AG *et al.* Neuroepithelial cells supply an initial transient wave of MSC differentiation. *Cell* 2007; **129**: 1377-1388.
- 23. Lee G, Kim H, Elkabetz Y, Al Shamy G, Panagiotakos G, Barberi T *et al.* Isolation and directed differentiation of neural crest stem cells derived from human embryonic stem cells. *Nat Biotechnol* 2007; **25:** 1468-1475.
- 24. Turc-Carel C, Aurias A, Mugneret F, Lizard S, Sidaner I, Volk C *et al.* Chromosomes in Ewing's sarcoma. I. An evaluation of 85 cases of remarkable consistency of t(11;22)(q24;q12). *Cancer Genet Cytogenet* 1988; **32**: 229-238.
- 25. Delattre O, Zucman J, Plougastel B, Desmaze C, Melot T, Peter M *et al.* Gene fusion with an ETS DNA-binding domain caused by chromosome translocation in human tumours. *Nature* 1992; **359:** 162-165.
- 26. Turc-Carel C, Philip I, Berger MP, Philip T, Lenoir GM. Chromosome study of Ewing's sarcoma (ES) cell lines. Consistency of a reciprocal translocation t(11;22)(q24;q12). *Cancer Genet Cytogenet* 1984; **12:** 1-19.
- 27. Smith R, Owen LA, Trem DJ, Wong JS, Whangbo JS, Golub TR *et al.* Expression profiling of EWS/FLI identifies NKX2.2 as a critical target gene in Ewing's sarcoma. *Cancer Cell* 2006; **9:** 405-416.
- 28. Zakaryan RP, Gehring H. Identification and characterization of the nuclear localization/retention signal in the EWS proto-oncoprotein. *J Mol Biol* 2006; **363**: 27-38.
- 29. Petermann R, Mossier BM, Aryee DN, Khazak V, Golemis EA, Kovar H. Oncogenic EWS-Fli1 interacts with hsRPB7, a subunit of human RNA polymerase II. *Oncogene* 1998; **17:** 603-610.
- Bertolotti A, Melot T, Acker J, Vigneron M, Delattre O, Tora L. EWS, but not EWS-FLI-1, is associated with both TFIID and RNA polymerase II: interactions between two members of the TET family, EWS and hTAFII68, and subunits of TFIID and RNA polymerase II complexes. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1998; 18: 1489-1497.
- 31. Bertolotti A, Lutz Y, Heard DJ, Chambon P, Tora L. hTAF(II)68, a novel RNA/ssDNA-binding protein with homology to the pro-oncoproteins TLS/FUS and EWS is associated with both TFIID and RNA polymerase II. *Embo J* 1996; **15**: 5022-5031.
- 32. Araya N, Hirota K, Shimamoto Y, Miyagishi M, Yoshida E, Ishida J *et al.* Cooperative interaction of EWS with CREB-binding protein selectively activates

hepatocyte nuclear factor 4-mediated transcription. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2003; **278:** 5427-5432.

- 33. Lee KA. Ewings family oncoproteins: drunk, disorderly and in search of partners. *Cell Res* 2007; **17:** 286-288.
- 34. Embree LJ, Azuma M, Hickstein DD. Ewing sarcoma fusion protein EWSR1/FLI1 interacts with EWSR1 leading to mitotic defects in zebrafish embryos and human cell lines. *Cancer Research* 2009; **69:** 4363-4371.
- 35. Li H, Watford W, Li C, Parmelee A, Bryant MA, Deng C *et al.* Ewing sarcoma gene EWS is essential for meiosis and B lymphocyte development. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2007; **117:** 1314-1323.
- 36. Azuma M, Embree LJ, Sabaawy H, Hickstein DD. Ewing sarcoma protein ewsr1 maintains mitotic integrity and proneural cell survival in the zebrafish embryo. *PloS One* 2007; **2:** e979.
- 37. Yang L, Embree LJ, Tsai S, Hickstein DD. Oncoprotein TLS interacts with serinearginine proteins involved in RNA splicing. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1998; **273:** 27761-27764.
- 38. Huang L, Nakai Y, Kuwahara I, Matsumoto K. PRAS40 is a functionally critical target for EWS repression in Ewing sarcoma. *Cancer Research* 2012; **72:** 1260-1269.
- 39. Wang X, Arai S, Song X, Reichart D, Du K, Pascual G *et al.* Induced ncRNAs allosterically modify RNA-binding proteins in cis to inhibit transcription. *Nature* 2008; **454:** 126-130.
- 40. Graves BJ, Petersen JM. Specificity within the ets family of transcription factors. *Advances in Cancer Research* 1998; **75:** 1-55.
- 41. Seth A, Watson DK. ETS transcription factors and their emerging roles in human cancer. *Eur J Cancer* 2005; **41:** 2462-2478.
- 42. Bastian LS, Kwiatkowski BA, Breininger J, Danner S, Roth G. Regulation of the megakaryocytic glycoprotein IX promoter by the oncogenic Ets transcription factor Fli-1. *Blood* 1999; **93:** 2637-2644.
- 43. Hart A, Melet F, Grossfeld P, Chien K, Jones C, Tunnacliffe A *et al.* Fli-1 is required for murine vascular and megakaryocytic development and is hemizygously deleted in patients with thrombocytopenia. *Immunity* 2000; **13**: 167-177.
- 44. Melet F, Motro B, Rossi DJ, Zhang L, Bernstein A. Generation of a novel Fli-1 protein by gene targeting leads to a defect in thymus development and a delay in

Friend virus-induced erythroleukemia. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1996; 16: 2708-2718.

- 45. Ben-David Y, Giddens EB, Bernstein A. Identification and mapping of a common proviral integration site Fli-1 in erythroleukemia cells induced by Friend murine leukemia virus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1990; **87:** 1332-1336.
- Ben-David Y, Giddens EB, Letwin K, Bernstein A. Erythroleukemia induction by Friend murine leukemia virus: insertional activation of a new member of the ets gene family, Fli-1, closely linked to c-ets-1. *Genes & Development* 1991; 5: 908-918.
- 47. May WA, Lessnick SL, Braun BS, Klemsz M, Lewis BC, Lunsford LB *et al.* The Ewing's sarcoma EWS/FLI-1 fusion gene encodes a more potent transcriptional activator and is a more powerful transforming gene than FLI-1. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1993; **13**: 7393-7398.
- Sharrocks AD. The ETS-domain transcription factor family. *Nature Reviews* Molecular Cell Biology 2001; 2: 827-837.
- 49. Sorensen PH, Lessnick SL, Lopez-Terrada D, Liu XF, Triche TJ, Denny CT. A second Ewing's sarcoma translocation, t(21;22), fuses the EWS gene to another ETS-family transcription factor, ERG. *Nature Genetics* 1994; **6**: 146-151.
- 50. Jeon IS, Davis JN, Braun BS, Sublett JE, Roussel MF, Denny CT *et al.* A variant Ewing's sarcoma translocation (7;22) fuses the EWS gene to the ETS gene ETV1. *Oncogene* 1995; **10**: 1229-1234.
- 51. Kaneko Y, Yoshida K, Handa M, Toyoda Y, Nishihira H, Tanaka Y *et al.* Fusion of an ETS-family gene, EIAF, to EWS by t(17;22)(q12;q12) chromosome translocation in an undifferentiated sarcoma of infancy. *Genes, Chromosomes & Cancer* 1996; **15:** 115-121.
- 52. Peter M, Couturier J, Pacquement H, Michon J, Thomas G, Magdelenat H *et al.* A new member of the ETS family fused to EWS in Ewing tumors. *Oncogene* 1997; **14:** 1159-1164.
- 53. Arvand A, Denny CT. Biology of EWS/ETS fusions in Ewing's family tumors. *Oncogene* 2001; **20**: 5747-5754.
- Teitell MA, Thompson AD, Sorensen PH, Shimada H, Triche TJ, Denny CT. EWS/ETS fusion genes induce epithelial and neuroectodermal differentiation in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts. *Lab Invest* 1999; **79:** 1535-1543.

- Lessnick SL, Braun BS, Denny CT, May WA. Multiple domains mediate transformation by the Ewing's sarcoma EWS/FLI- 1 fusion gene. *Oncogene* 1995; 10: 423-431.
- 56. May WA, Gishizky ML, Lessnick SL, Lunsford LB, Lewis BC, Delattre O et al. Ewing sarcoma 11;22 translocation produces a chimeric transcription factor that requires the DNA-binding domain encoded by FLI1 for transformation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1993; 90: 5752-5756.
- 57. Kinsey M, Smith R, Lessnick SL. NR0B1 is required for the oncogenic phenotype mediated by EWS/FLI in Ewing's sarcoma. *Mol Cancer Res* 2006; **4:** 851-859.
- Braunreiter CL, Hancock JD, Coffin CM, Boucher KM, Lessnick SL. Expression of EWS-ETS fusions in NIH3T3 cells reveals significant differences to Ewing's sarcoma. *Cell Cycle* 2006; 5: 2753-2759.
- 59. Kauer M, Ban J, Kofler R, Walker B, Davis S, Meltzer P *et al.* A molecular function map of Ewing's sarcoma. *PloS One* 2009; **4:** e5415.
- 60. Donaldson LW, Petersen JM, Graves BJ, McIntosh LP. Solution structure of the ETS domain from murine Ets-1: a winged helix-turn-helix DNA binding motif. *Embo J* 1996; **15**: 125-134.
- 61. Donaldson LW, Petersen JM, Graves BJ, McIntosh LP. Secondary structure of the ETS domain places murine Ets-1 in the superfamily of winged helix-turn-helix DNA-binding proteins. *Biochemistry* 1994; **33**: 13509-13516.
- 62. Szymczyna BR, Arrowsmith CH. DNA binding specificity studies of four ETS proteins support an indirect read-out mechanism of protein-DNA recognition. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2000; **275:** 28363-28370.
- Mao X, Miesfeldt S, Yang H, Leiden JM, Thompson CB. The FLI-1 and chimeric EWS-FLI-1 oncoproteins display similar DNA binding specificities. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1994; 269: 18216-18222.
- 64. Hollenhorst PC, Shah AA, Hopkins C, Graves BJ. Genome-wide analyses reveal properties of redundant and specific promoter occupancy within the ETS gene family. *Genes & Development* 2007; **21**: 1882-1894.
- 65. Hollenhorst PC, Jones DA, Graves BJ. Expression profiles frame the promoter specificity dilemma of the ETS family of transcription factors. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2004; **32:** 5693-5702.

- 66. Rao VN, Reddy ES. A divergent ets-related protein, elk-1, recognizes similar c-ets-1 proto-oncogene target sequences and acts as a transcriptional activator. *Oncogene* 1992; **7:** 65-70.
- Wotton D, Ghysdael J, Wang S, Speck NA, Owen MJ. Cooperative binding of Ets-1 and core binding factor to DNA. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1994; 14: 840-850.
- 68. Kim S, Denny CT, Wisdom R. Cooperative DNA binding with AP-1 proteins is required for transformation by EWS-Ets fusion proteins. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2006; **26**: 2467-2478.
- 69. Lin PP, Wang Y, Lozano G. Mesenchymal Stem Cells and the Origin of Ewing's Sarcoma. *Sarcoma* 2011; **2011**.
- Deneen B, Welford SM, Ho T, Hernandez F, Kurland I, Denny CT. PIM3 protooncogene kinase is a common transcriptional target of divergent EWS/ETS oncoproteins. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2003; 23: 3897-3908.
- 71. Deneen B, Hamidi H, Denny CT. Functional analysis of the EWS/ETS target gene uridine phosphorylase. *Cancer Research* 2003; **63:** 4268-4274.
- 72. Zwerner JP, May WA. PDGF-C is an EWS/FLI induced transforming growth factor in Ewing family tumors. *Oncogene* 2001; **20:** 626-633.
- 73. Braun BS, Frieden R, Lessnick SL, May WA, Denny CT. Identification of target genes for the Ewing's sarcoma EWS/FLI fusion protein by representational difference analysis. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1995; **15**: 4623-4630.
- 74. Hancock JD, Lessnick SL. A transcriptional profiling meta-analysis reveals a core EWS-FLI gene expression signature. *Cell Cycle* 2008; **7:** 250-256.
- Prieur A, Tirode F, Cohen P, Delattre O. EWS/FLI-1 silencing and gene profiling of Ewing cells reveal downstream oncogenic pathways and a crucial role for repression of insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2004; 24: 7275-7283.
- Owen LA, Kowalewski AA, Lessnick SL. EWS/FLI mediates transcriptional repression via NKX2.2 during oncogenic transformation in Ewing's sarcoma. *PloS One* 2008; **3:** e1965.
- 77. Hahm KB, Cho K, Lee C, Im YH, Chang J, Choi SG *et al.* Repression of the gene encoding the TGF-beta type II receptor is a major target of the EWS-FLI1 oncoprotein. *Nature Genetics* 1999; **23**: 222-227.

- 78. Kasper M, Regl G, Frischauf AM, Aberger F. GLI transcription factors: mediators of oncogenic Hedgehog signalling. *Eur J Cancer* 2006; **42:** 437-445.
- 79. Ingham PW, McMahon AP. Hedgehog signaling in animal development: paradigms and principles. *Genes & Development* 2001; **15**: 3059-3087.
- 80. Riobo NA, Lu K, Emerson CP, Jr. Hedgehog signal transduction: signal integration and cross talk in development and cancer. *Cell Cycle* 2006; **5:** 1612-1615.
- 81. Beauchamp E, Bulut G, Abaan O, Chen K, Merchant A, Matsui W *et al.* GLI1 is a direct transcriptional target of EWS-FLI1 oncoprotein. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2009; **284:** 9074-9082.
- Zwerner JP, Joo J, Warner KL, Christensen L, Hu-Lieskovan S, Triche TJ *et al.* The EWS/FLI1 oncogenic transcription factor deregulates GLI1. *Oncogene* 2008; 27: 3282-3291.
- 83. Joo J, Christensen L, Warner K, States L, Kang HG, Vo K *et al.* GLI1 is a central mediator of EWS/FLI1 signaling in Ewing tumors. *PloS One* 2009; **4:** e7608.
- 84. Beauchamp EM, Ringer L, Bulut G, Sajwan KP, Hall MD, Lee YC *et al.* Arsenic trioxide inhibits human cancer cell growth and tumor development in mice by blocking Hedgehog/GLI pathway. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2011; **121**: 148-160.
- 85. Grignani F, De Matteis S, Nervi C, Tomassoni L, Gelmetti V, Cioce M *et al.* Fusion proteins of the retinoic acid receptor-alpha recruit histone deacetylase in promyelocytic leukaemia. *Nature* 1998; **391:** 815-818.
- Guidez F, Ivins S, Zhu J, Soderstrom M, Waxman S, Zelent A. Reduced retinoic acid-sensitivities of nuclear receptor corepressor binding to PML- and PLZF-RARalpha underlie molecular pathogenesis and treatment of acute promyelocytic leukemia. *Blood* 1998; **91**: 2634-2642.
- 87. Minucci S, Pelicci PG. Retinoid receptors in health and disease: co-regulators and the chromatin connection. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* 1999; **10**: 215-225.
- Prasad DD, Ouchida M, Lee L, Rao VN, Reddy ES. TLS/FUS fusion domain of TLS/FUS-erg chimeric protein resulting from the t(16;21) chromosomal translocation in human myeloid leukemia functions as a transcriptional activation domain. *Oncogene* 1994; 9: 3717-3729.
- 89. Sublett JE, Jeon IS, Shapiro DN. The alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma PAX3/FKHR fusion protein is a transcriptional activator. *Oncogene* 1995; **11:** 545-552.

- 90. Fujimura Y, Ohno T, Siddique H, Lee L, Rao VN, Reddy ES. The EWS-ATF-1 gene involved in malignant melanoma of soft parts with t(12;22) chromosome translocation, encodes a constitutive transcriptional activator. *Oncogene* 1996; **12**: 159-167.
- 91. Burdach S, Plehm S, Unland R, Dirksen U, Borkhardt A, Staege MS *et al.* Epigenetic maintenance of stemness and malignancy in peripheral neuroectodermal tumors by EZH2. *Cell Cycle* 2009; **8**: 1991-1996.
- 92. Kinsey M, Smith R, Iyer AK, McCabe ER, Lessnick SL. EWS/FLI and its downstream target NR0B1 interact directly to modulate transcription and oncogenesis in Ewing's sarcoma. *Cancer Research* 2009; **69**: 9047-9055.
- 93. Perissi V, Jepsen K, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG. Deconstructing repression: evolving models of co-repressor action. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 2010; **11**: 109-123.
- 94. Finkel T, Deng CX, Mostoslavsky R. Recent progress in the biology and physiology of sirtuins. *Nature* 2009; **460**: 587-591.
- 95. Martin M, Kettmann R, Dequiedt F. Class IIa histone deacetylases: conducting development and differentiation. *The International Journal of Developmental Biology* 2009; **53**: 291-301.
- 96. Verdin E, Dequiedt F, Kasler HG. Class II histone deacetylases: versatile regulators. *Trends in Genetics: TIG* 2003; **19:** 286-293.
- 97. Yang XJ, Seto E. The Rpd3/Hda1 family of lysine deacetylases: from bacteria and yeast to mice and men. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 2008; **9:** 206-218.
- 98. Zhang Y, Iratni R, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Reinberg D. Histone deacetylases and SAP18, a novel polypeptide, are components of a human Sin3 complex. *Cell* 1997; **89:** 357-364.
- 99. Hassig CA, Fleischer TC, Billin AN, Schreiber SL, Ayer DE. Histone deacetylase activity is required for full transcriptional repression by mSin3A. *Cell* 1997; **89:** 341-347.
- Humphrey GW, Wang Y, Russanova VR, Hirai T, Qin J, Nakatani Y *et al.* Stable histone deacetylase complexes distinguished by the presence of SANT domain proteins CoREST/kiaa0071 and Mta-L1. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2001; 276: 6817-6824.
- 101. You A, Tong JK, Grozinger CM, Schreiber SL. CoREST is an integral component of the CoREST- human histone deacetylase complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2001; **98:** 1454-1458.

- 102. Hakimi MA, Bochar DA, Chenoweth J, Lane WS, Mandel G, Shiekhattar R. A core-BRAF35 complex containing histone deacetylase mediates repression of neuronal-specific genes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2002; **99:** 7420-7425.
- 103. Tong JK, Hassig CA, Schnitzler GR, Kingston RE, Schreiber SL. Chromatin deacetylation by an ATP-dependent nucleosome remodelling complex. *Nature* 1998; 395: 917-921.
- 104. Wade PA, Jones PL, Vermaak D, Veenstra GJ, Imhof A, Sera T *et al.* Histone deacetylase directs the dominant silencing of transcription in chromatin: association with MeCP2 and the Mi-2 chromodomain SWI/SNF ATPase. *Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology* 1998; 63: 435-445.
- 105. Xue Y, Wong J, Moreno GT, Young MK, Cote J, Wang W. NURD, a novel complex with both ATP-dependent chromatin-remodeling and histone deacetylase activities. *Molecular Cell* 1998; **2:** 851-861.
- 106. Zhang Y, LeRoy G, Seelig HP, Lane WS, Reinberg D. The dermatomyositisspecific autoantigen Mi2 is a component of a complex containing histone deacetylase and nucleosome remodeling activities. *Cell* 1998; **95**: 279-289.
- 107. Lai AY, Wade PA. Cancer biology and NuRD: a multifaceted chromatin remodelling complex. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2011; **11**: 588-596.
- 108. Pencil SD, Toh Y, Nicolson GL. Candidate metastasis-associated genes of the rat 13762NF mammary adenocarcinoma. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 1993; **25:** 165-174.
- 109. Marhold J, Brehm A, Kramer K. The Drosophila methyl-DNA binding protein MBD2/3 interacts with the NuRD complex via p55 and MI-2. *BMC Molecular Biology* 2004; 5: 20.
- Wang Y, Zhang H, Chen Y, Sun Y, Yang F, Yu W *et al.* LSD1 is a subunit of the NuRD complex and targets the metastasis programs in breast cancer. *Cell* 2009; 138: 660-672.
- 111. Denslow SA, Wade PA. The human Mi-2/NuRD complex and gene regulation. Oncogene 2007; 26: 5433-5438.
- 112. Morey L, Brenner C, Fazi F, Villa R, Gutierrez A, Buschbeck M *et al.* MBD3, a component of the NuRD complex, facilitates chromatin alteration and deposition of epigenetic marks. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2008; **28**: 5912-5923.

- 113. Chong JA, Tapia-Ramirez J, Kim S, Toledo-Aral JJ, Zheng Y, Boutros MC *et al.* REST: a mammalian silencer protein that restricts sodium channel gene expression to neurons. *Cell* 1995; **80:** 949-957.
- 114. Schoenherr CJ, Anderson DJ. The neuron-restrictive silencer factor (NRSF): a coordinate repressor of multiple neuron-specific genes. *Science* 1995; **267:** 1360-1363.
- 115. Chen ZF, Paquette AJ, Anderson DJ. NRSF/REST is required in vivo for repression of multiple neuronal target genes during embryogenesis. *Nature Genetics* 1998; **20**: 136-142.
- 116. Tapia-Ramirez J, Eggen BJ, Peral-Rubio MJ, Toledo-Aral JJ, Mandel G. A single zinc finger motif in the silencing factor REST represses the neural-specific type II sodium channel promoter. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1997; **94:** 1177-1182.
- 117. Roopra A, Sharling L, Wood IC, Briggs T, Bachfischer U, Paquette AJ *et al.* Transcriptional repression by neuron-restrictive silencer factor is mediated via the Sin3-histone deacetylase complex. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2000; **20**: 2147-2157.
- 118. Shi Y, Lan F, Matson C, Mulligan P, Whetstine JR, Cole PA *et al.* Histone demethylation mediated by the nuclear amine oxidase homolog LSD1. *Cell* 2004; **119:** 941-953.
- 119. Kim KH. Purification and properties of a diamine alpha-ketoglutarate transaminase from escherichia coli. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1964; **239:** 783-786.
- 120. Paik WK, Kim S. Enzymatic demethylation of calf thymus histones. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 1973; **51:** 781-788.
- 121. Klose RJ, Zhang Y. Regulation of histone methylation by demethylimination and demethylation. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 2007; **8:** 307-318.
- 122. Sun G, Alzayady K, Stewart R, Ye P, Yang S, Li W *et al.* Histone demethylase LSD1 regulates neural stem cell proliferation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2010; **30:** 1997-2005.
- 123. Choi J, Jang H, Kim H, Kim ST, Cho EJ, Youn HD. Histone demethylase LSD1 is required to induce skeletal muscle differentiation by regulating myogenic factors. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2010; **401**: 327-332.
- 124. Musri MM, Carmona MC, Hanzu FA, Kaliman P, Gomis R, Parrizas M. Histone demethylase LSD1 regulates adipogenesis. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2010; 285: 30034-30041.

- 125. Bennani-Baiti IM. Epigenetic and epigenomic mechanisms shape sarcoma and other mesenchymal tumor pathogenesis. *Epigenomics* 2011; **3**: 715-732.
- 126. Tan J, Lu J, Huang W, Dong Z, Kong C, Li L *et al.* Genome-wide analysis of histone H3 lysine9 modifications in human mesenchymal stem cell osteogenic differentiation. *PloS One* 2009; **4:** e6792.
- 127. Bennani-Baiti IM, Machado I, Llombart-Bosch A, Kovar H. Lysine-specific demethylase 1 (LSD1/KDM1A/AOF2/BHC110) is expressed and is an epigenetic drug target in chondrosarcoma, Ewing's sarcoma, osteosarcoma, and rhabdomyosarcoma. *Human Pathology* 2012; **43**: 1300-1307.
- 128. Hayami S, Kelly JD, Cho HS, Yoshimatsu M, Unoki M, Tsunoda T *et al.* Overexpression of LSD1 contributes to human carcinogenesis through chromatin regulation in various cancers. *International Journal of Cancer Journal International du Cancer* 2011; **128:** 574-586.
- 129. Thompson AD, Teitell MA, Arvand A, Denny CT. Divergent Ewing's sarcoma EWS/ETS fusions confer a common tumorigenic phenotype on NIH3T3 cells. *Oncogene* 1999; **18**: 5506-5513.



Figure 1.1 Histology of Ewing sarcoma cells. The small round blue cell morphology of Ewing sarcoma tumors. The tumor cells stain blue with hematoxylin and eosin staining. The prevalence of blue staining is because the cells consist predominantly of nucleus, and have little cytoplasm. Figure provided courtesy of Steve Lessnick.



Figure 1.2 Schematic of the EWS/FLI fusion protein. Wild-type EWS protein contains an amino-terminal domain (NTD), an RNA recognition motif (RRM), and three RGG repeat regions. Wild-type FLI protein contains a carboxyl-terminal ETS-type DNA binding domain (DNABD), and an amino-terminal activation domain (ATA) that overlaps a pointed (PNT) domain. The locations of the translocation breakpoints are indicated. EWS/FLI retains the NTD of EWS and the DNABD of FLI. Figure provided courtesy of Steve Lessnick.



Figure 1.3 Transcriptional activation mutants of EWS/FLI. The DNA binding, transcriptional and transforming abilities of full-length EWS/FLI and various mutants generated by the fusion of the carboxyl-terminal FLI DNA binding domain to heterologous activation domains of other transcription factors. These data have been previously published (47, 55, 56). Data on the xenograft forming abilities of these constructs have also been published (129). Figure provided courtesy of Steve Lessnick.

CHAPTER 2

PROMISCUOUS PARTNERSHIPS IN EWING'S SARCOMA

This work is reprinted with the permission of Elsevier Inc. The manuscript was originally published in Cancer Genetics 2011; 204:351-365.



Cancer Genetics 204 (2011) 351-365

Cancer Genetics

REVIEW Promiscuous partnerships in Ewing's sarcoma

Savita Sankar^a, Stephen L. Lessnick^{a,b,c,*}

^a Department of Oncological Sciences, University of Utah School of Medicine, Salt Lake City, UT, USA; ^b Center for Children's Cancer Research at Huntsman Cancer Institute, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, USA; ^c Division of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology, University of Utah School of Medicine, Salt Lake City, UT, USA

> Ewing's sarcoma is a highly aggressive bone and soft tissue tumor of children and young adults. At the molecular genetic level Ewing's sarcoma is characterized by a balanced reciprocal translocation, t(11;22)(q24;q12), which encodes an oncogenic fusion protein and transcription factor EWS/FLI. This tumor-specific chimeric fusion retains the amino terminus of EWS, a member of the TET (TLS/EWS/TAF15) family of RNA-binding proteins, and the carboxy terminus of FLI, a member of the ETS family of transcription factors. In addition to EWS/FLI, variant translocation fusions belonging to the TET/ETS family have been identified in Ewing's sarcoma. These studies solidified the importance of TET/ETS fusions in the pathogenesis of Ewing's sarcoma and have since been used as diagnostic markers for the disease. EWS fusions with non-ETS transcription factor family members have been described in sarcomas that are clearly distinct from Ewing's sarcoma. However, in recent years there have been reports of rare fusions in "Ewing's-like tumors" that harbor the amino-terminus of EWS fused to the carboxy-terminal DNA or chromatin-interacting domains contributed by non-ETS proteins. This review aims to summarize the growing list of fusion oncogenes that characterize Ewing's sarcoma and Ewing's-like tumors and highlights important questions that need to be answered to further support the existing concept that Ewing's sarcoma is strictly a "TET/ETS" fusion-driven malignancy. Understanding the molecular mechanisms of action of the various different fusion oncogenes will provide better insights into the biology underlying this rare but important solid tumor. Keywords Ewing's sarcoma, translocations, fusion proteins © 2011 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Non-random chromosomal translocations are often characteristic features of a number of bone and soft-tissue sarcomas. At the pathophysiologic level, many of these translocations behave as aberrant transcription factor oncogenes that play crucial roles in tumor development by deregulating target gene expression. Ewing's sarcoma is a prototypic example of a solid tumor characterized by the presence of chromosomal translocations (1). Ewing's sarcoma is a highly aggressive primary tumor of the bone with an undifferentiated small round cell phenotype (2,3). The mean age at the time of diagnosis for Ewing's sarcoma is \sim 15 years, making it the second most common bone tumor in children and adolescents following osteosarcoma (4,5). Ewing's sarcoma typically arises in the bone, but a small portion (less than 15%) of patients present with a primary tumor in soft-tissue, termed extraosseous

* Corresponding author.

Ewing's sarcoma (6,7). In addition to bone and soft-tissue Ewing's sarcoma, the Ewing's sarcoma family of tumors also includes Askin's tumors and peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumors, which harbor the same set of translocation fusions (8–11). For the purpose of this review we shall refer to this entire group simply as "Ewing's sarcoma."

Ewing's sarcoma displays a high propensity to metastasize and the most common sites include lung, bone and bone marrow. About 15-25% of Ewing's sarcoma patients present with metastases at the time of diagnosis (12). It is believed that the vast majority of patients harbor micrometastatic disease, as the relapse rate for surgically-resected Ewing's sarcoma in the absence of systemic chemotherapy is on the order of 90% (13–15). Therefore, the current standard of care for Ewing's sarcoma patients is multimodal treatment, including systemic chemotherapy along with either surgery and/or radiation for control of the primary site of disease. Despite aggressive multimodal treatment the 5-year disease free survival rate for patients drops from 60-70% when the disease is localized to a dismal 10-30% when the disease had metastasized (16,17). The overarching goal in the field is

Received June 14, 2011; received in revised form July 18, 2011; accepted July 19, 2011.

E-mail address: stephen.lessnick@hci.utah.edu

^{2210-7762/\$ -} see front matter © 2011 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.cancergen.2011.07.008

S. Sankar, S.L. Lessnick

to better understand the biology underlying the pathogenesis of Ewing's sarcoma with the hope of developing more efficacious therapy for patients afflicted with this disease. Given the central role of chromosomal translocations in this disease, understanding these translocations is likely to allow for a deeper understanding of the biology of Ewing's sarcoma.

The EWS/FLI fusion in Ewing's sarcoma

Karyotypically, Ewing's sarcoma is a relatively simple neoplasm, harboring the main cytogenetic hallmark t(11;22)(q24;q12) translocation (9,18). Approximately 85% of Ewing's sarcoma tumors harbor this characteristic translocation. The t(11;22) rearrangement creates a fusion between the Ewing's sarcoma breakpoint region 1 gene (*EWSR1*) on chromosome 22 and the Friend leukemia virus integration site 1 gene (*FL11*) on chromosome 11 (19) (Figure 1A).

The *EWSR1* gene encodes the EWS protein, which is a member of the TET family of proteins (that includes TLS, EWS, and TAF15). Full-length EWS associates with members of the transcriptional machinery, including RNA polymerase II, TFIID and CBP/p300, indicative of a role in transcription activation (20–23). The *FL11* gene on the other hand encodes for the FLI protein, which normally functions mainly in hematopoietic, vascular and neural-crest development (24–26). FLI is a member of the ETS (E-26 transformation specific) family of transcription factors, which are characterized by a highly-conserved winged helix-loop-helix DNA binding domain known as the ETS domain (27).

The fusion protein EWS/FLI contains the amino-terminus of EWS and the carboxy-terminus of FLI. This in-frame fusion protein acts as an oncogene through its function as an aberrant transcription factor (28–30). The reciprocal FLI/EWS fusion is not expressed in Ewing's sarcoma tumors, and the reciprocal translocated chromosome is sometimes lost from these tumors (9,31).

The amino-terminal domain of the EWS protein, retained in the EWS/FLI fusion product, contains several repeats of the serine-tyrosine-glycine-glutamine rich sequence which resembles transcriptional activation domains seen in other transcription factors. Consequently, when this domain is fused with a heterologous DNA-binding domain the fusion protein functions as a potent transcriptional activator (29,30,32). Subsequent studies have demonstrated that EWS/FLI has a strong repressive capacity at some target genes as well (see below). Understanding the physiologic role of the aminoterminal EWS domain within the context of the wild-type protein has become a growing area of interest since this region is included in similar chromosomal translocations in a variety of different sarcomas (33). The carboxy-terminal domain of FLI, retained in the EWS/FLI fusion product, contains the 85-amino acid ETS DNA binding domain and recognizes purine-rich sequences containing a GGAA/T core motif, similar to other ETS family members (27,34-36).

In addition to encoding the EWS/FLI fusion, the t(11;22) rearrangement has two additional consequences. First, the translocation causes EWS/FLI to be constitutively expressed from the native EWSR1 promoter (FLI1 promoter expression is limited to hematopoietic and neural crest lineages, and is



Figure 1 (A) Domain structures of wild-type EWS, wild-type FLI and the EWS/FLI fusion proteins. SYGQ: serine-tyrosine-glycineglycine rich regions; RRM: RNA-recognition motif; Zn: putative zinc finger; PTD: pointed domain; DNA-BD: DNA binding domain; Pro: proline-rich activation domain. Arrows indicate breakpoints in wild-type EWS and FLI included in commonly observed subtypes of the EWS/FLI fusion protein. (B) Genomic structures of the *EWSR1* and *FL11* genes. Breakpoints in the *EWSR1* and *FL11* genes occur in many introns. Following splicing, the exons join together to generate various subtypes of EWS/FLI. Some of the previously described EWS/FLI fusion subtypes are depicted here.

non-functional in Ewing's sarcoma cells) (19,29,31,37). The second consequence is that one wild-type copy of *EWSR1*, and one wild-type copy of *FLI1*, are disrupted in the tumor (9). This likely is of no importance for *FLI1* since it is not expressed (31). However, the contribution of hap-loinsufficiency of *EWSR1* is not well-understood at this time.

The EWS/FLI fusion protein is known to be a potent oncogene based on its ability to transform NIH3T3-immortalized murine fibroblast cells (28). Furthermore, sustained expression of EWS/FLI is necessary to maintain the oncogenic phenotype of Ewing's sarcoma cells. This has been demonstrated by a number of different studies, where inhibition of endogenous EWS/FLI function or expression in patientderived Ewing's sarcoma cell lines demonstrated a reduction of oncogenic transformation both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (31,38–44). Structure-function analysis demonstrated that the amino-terminal EWS transactivation domain and the carboxyterminal ETS-type DNA-binding domain are both required for efficient transformation by the fusion oncogene (28,30). Furthermore, in addition to the amino-terminal transactivation

Ewing's sarcoma translocations

domain of EWS, the carboxy-terminal proline-rich domain of FLI has been shown to enhance the transcriptional activity of the fusion protein (45). Thus, it is well accepted that EWS/FLI acts as an aberrant transcription factor and that downstream target genes of the fusion protein contribute to the process of oncogenesis in Ewing's sarcoma. It is also possible that potential non-transcriptional functions of the fusion also contribute to its oncogenic activity, but these have not been well-documented or substantiated at this time.

Utilization of RNA-interference (RNAi) based approaches combined with microarray technology has enabled the identification of a large number of target genes dysregulated by EWS/FLI in Ewing's sarcoma (31,42,44,46). Some of the upregulated target genes of EWS/FLI, including NR0B1, NKX2.2 and GLI1, have been demonstrated to be critical for the process of EWS/FLI mediated oncogenic transformation (31,44,47,48). Other target genes of EWS/FLI have been implicated in processes that are necessary for sustained tumorigenesis, such as cell proliferation, evasion of apoptosis, drug-resistance, cell cycle control, evasion of growth inhibition, immortalization, angiogenesis, adhesion and maintenance of pluripotency, including CCND1, IGFBP3, GSTM4, p21, TGFBRII, hTERT, VEGF, CAV and EZH2 respectively (42,49-56). The growing list of target genes suggests that EWS/FLI modulates a whole network of downstream effector genes to achieve the various hallmarks of oncogenesis. Some of these genes represent direct targets of EWS/FLI, whereas, others are modulated indirectly. The mechanism by which EWS/FLI regulates target genes in Ewing's sarcoma is a growing area of research in the field. Some studies have suggested that EWS/FLI contributes to oncogenesis both in a DNA-binding dependent and independent manner (57,58). However, that the DNA-binding property of EWS/FLI is indispensable to its oncogenic potential has been clearly demonstrated in patient-derived Ewing's sarcoma cells by the inability of DNA-binding mutant versions of EWS/FLI to rescue transformation when endogenous EWS/FLI is down-regulated via an RNAi approach, as well as the lack of any identified Ewing's sarcoma patient tumor sample expressing a DNAbinding deficient form of EWS/FLI (30).

ETS proteins bind to sequences containing a GGAA/T core motif, and flanking sequences further define the binding affinity and specificity for each ETS factor (27). Whole genome localization studies (chromatin immunoprecipitation followed by microarray analysis, or ChIP-chip) in Ewing's sarcoma cell lines revealed that EWS/FLI binds the high affinity ETS-site ACCGGAAGTG, validating previous in vitro site selection approaches (27,35,59,60). In addition to regulating some target genes by binding to bona fide motifs used by ETS factors, EWS/FLI was also found to bind GGAA-microsatellite repeat sequences in promoters of target genes. Some of these genes (NR0B1, CAV1, and GSTM4) are necessary for EWS/FLI mediated oncogenesis, highlighting the importance of transcriptional regulation via microsatellite repeats in the pathogenesis of Ewing's sarcoma (61). These findings were independently validated using next-generation ChIPsequencing technology (62). Identification of microsatellite repeats in EWS/FLI-bound chromatin is clearly an example of how advances can be made in unraveling the mechanism of disease pathogenesis using high-throughput genomic approaches (63). From a mechanistic standpoint, studies using multimers of the GGAA core motif have demonstrated 353

that longer GGAA-repeat containing sequences have a higher potential to be activated, possibly by increasing the number of EWS/FLI molecules that bind (64). In addition to the "promoter-proximal" class of GGAA microsatellite response elements, some distant "enhancer regions" have also been reported to harbor EWS/FLI-bound GGAA repeat sequences (62). The mechanism of gene regulation by EWS/FLI bound several hundred kilobases away at these "enhancer microsatellites," however, still needs to be defined.

In addition to its transcriptional activation function, EWS/ FLI also represses many downstream target genes in Ewing's sarcoma, Indeed, comprehensive gene expression profiling studies in Ewing's sarcoma cell lines, as well as in primary tumors, suggest that EWS/FLI may repress as many, if not more, genes than it upregulates (31,42,44,46,65). Some repressed targets of EWS/FLI have also been shown to be important contributors to the process of transformation, cell survival and cellular proliferation, further demonstrating the importance of target gene repression in Ewing's sarcoma oncogenesis (42,53,54). In contrast to upregulated target genes, EWS/FLI downregulated target genes do not harbor GGAA-microsatellite response elements in their promoters. The mechanism of repression by EWS/FLI in Ewing's sarcoma is still largely unknown. Understanding this seemingly opposite function of the EWS/FLI transcriptional activator will not only help in furthering our knowledge of EWS/ FLI as a molecule, but will also help to identify novel opportunities for therapeutic intervention.

EWS/FLI fusion subtypes

"EWS/FLI" is not a single molecular entity, but rather includes a set of highly related isoforms or subtypes. This diversity is a result of differences in genomic breakpoints in the EWSR1 and FLI1 genes. Breakpoints have been observed in a variety of introns in these genes (66-68). In each case, the resultant fusion is really in the introns of the genes, and through typical splicing processes of the transcribed RNA, fusion mRNAs are generated containing 5' exons derived from EWSR1 fused to 3' exons derived from FLI1 (19,67,68). The nomenclature for such fusions has not been welldefined. However, the most common subtype (originally called a "type I" fusion) consists of EWSR1 exons 1-7 fused to FLI1 exons 6-10 (19,67). The second most common subtype (originally called a "type II" fusion) fuses exon 7 of EWSR1 to exon 5 of FLI1 (19) (Figure 1B). Many investigators simply refer to the subtypes on the basis of which exons are fused to one-another. Thus, the type I fusion is also called a "7/6" fusion, and the type II fusion is called a "7/ 5" fusion. Regardless of the details, all the subtypes of EWS/ FLI retain the amino-terminal strong transactivation domain of the EWS protein and the carboxy-terminal ETS DNA binding domain contributed by FLI (67). Whether these finestructure details have functional importance is somewhat unclear. There are data to suggest that the EWS/FLI type 1 fusion has reduced transactivation potential in Ewing's sarcoma cell lines in comparison to the other fusion subtypes and that this may have prognostic significance (69). In support of this notion, two independent retrospective studies reported that Ewing's sarcoma patients with localized tumors harboring type I EWS/FLI had a better overall and event-free

survival in comparison to patients with non-type I translocations (70,71). However, recent studies from large cooperative group trials concluded that fusion subtypes no longer have prognostic significance (72,73). This could be due to the earlier studies demonstrating a statistical anomaly, or alternately, could be due to more intensive therapeutic regimens that have effectively "treated away" any differences in outcome. Regardless of the reason, EWS/FLI fusion subtype is no longer considered a prognostic marker for patients with Ewing's sarcoma.

Other EWS/ETS fusions in Ewing's sarcoma

The ETS family of proteins is comprised of transcription factors that are characterized by the presence of a highly conserved 85 amino acid ETS domain that mediates sequence-specific DNA binding (27). In many cases, ETS proteins function as signal-dependent transcriptional regulators controlling cellular differentiation and proliferation (74,75). Many different members of the ETS family have been shown to be involved in oncogenesis, predominantly, by chromosomal translocations that fuse ETS members to a variety of amino-terminal partners. As mentioned above, $\sim\!85\%$ of cases of Ewing's sarcoma have the classic t(11;22) translocation encoding EWS/FLI. Interestingly, in Ewing's sarcoma tumors lacking the EWS/FLI fusion, alternate translocation fusions are present. These alternate translocations result in fusions of the EWSR1 gene with one of four different ETS genes including ERG (ETS-related gene), ETV1 (ETS-variant gene 1), ETV4 (ETS variant gene 4, also called E1AF) or FEV (fifth Ewing sarcoma variant) (76-80) (Figure 2). Despite their genetic diversities, the alternate fusions are structurally very similar to EWS/FLI. In each case, the amino-terminal transcriptional activation domain of EWS and an ETS DNA binding domain are retained. These fusions (including EWS/FLI) might be generally referred to as "EWS/ETS fusions." The alternate fusions have not been as extensively studied as EWS/FLI itself. However, the similarity in structure suggests that these chimeric proteins function as aberrant transcription factors as well, and thus contribute to Ewing's sarcoma oncogenesis by deregulating key oncogenic target genes (81-84). Indeed, the few studies that have looked specifically at these alternate fusions support this notion.

The most common of the alternate translocations is the t(21;22)(q22;q12), found in approximately 10% of Ewing's sarcoma tumors. This chromosomal translocation encodes the EWS/ERG fusion protein (67,76). ERG shares 68% overall amino acid identity with FLI and 98% identity within their ETS DNA-binding domains (76,85). Considering the structural similarities of EWS/FLI and EWS/ERG fusions, it is likely that the two proteins function to dysregulate similar target genes in Ewing's sarcoma. Tumors expressing the EWS/ERG fusion lack expression of EWS/FLI, further suggesting that EWS/ERG possess the ability to activate similar oncogenic pathways crucial to Ewing's sarcoma pathogenesis thus generating nearly identical tumors. In fact, a retrospective study comparing 30 EWS/ERG Ewing's sarcoma cases with 106 EWS/FLI cases revealed no significant differences in clinical presentation, age of diagnosis, sex, primary site, metastasis at diagnosis and overall as well

S. Sankar, S.L. Lessnick



ETS family of proteins



Previously Described Fusions

EWS/ERG 7/6 fusion EWS/ERG 7/7 fusion EWS/ERG 7/9 fusion

EWS/FEV 7/2 fusion EWS/ETV1 7/11 fusion EWS/ETV4 7/9 fusion

TLS/ERG 6/9 fusion TLS/ERG 7/8 fusion TLS/FEV 10/2 fusion

Figure 2 Domain structures of the TET family of RNA binding proteins: TLS (FUS), EWS, TAF15 and the ETS family of transcription factors: FLI, ERG, FEV, ETV1 and ETV4. AD: Activation domain; Ala-rich: Alanine-rich region involved in transcriptional repression. Arrows indicate breakpoints in wild-type EWS, TLS, FLI, ERG, FEV, ETV1 and ETV4 included in TET/ETS fusions in Ewing's sarcoma. Breakpoints occur in the introns of the wild-type genes but following splicing exons are joined to generate various TET/ETS chimeric fusions.

as event-free survival. This study further supported the existing notion that EWS/FLI and EWS/ERG fusion proteins function similarly to drive the process of oncogenesis in Ewing's sarcoma (86). Like the EWS/FLI subtypes in Ewing's

sarcoma, different EWS/ERG fusions have been described in the literature, varying in their breakpoints across different introns in the *EWSR1* and *ERG* genes (Figure 2).

The EWS/ETV1, EWS/ETV4 and EWS/FEV fusions each occur in <1% of Ewing's sarcoma tumors (77-80). FLI, ERG and FEV share 87% identity and 98% similarity in their DNAbinding domains. Therefore, they constitute one subgroup within the 27 known ETS members in the human genome. Based on their structural similarities, one might expect a significant overlap in the repertoire of downstream targets for EWS/FLI, EWS/ERG and EWS/FEV. ETV1 and ETV4 on the other hand, are more closely related to each other and share 96% identity and 100% similarity in their DNA binding domains, thus creating a different subtype in the ETS family. Another ETS protein in this subtype that is highly homologous to ETV1 and ETV4 is ETV5 (also known as ERM) (87). This raises the conceptual possibility that as yet undiscovered cases of Ewing's sarcoma may harbor EWS/ETV5 fusions. However, if EWS/ETV5 fusions do exist they are expected to be extremely rare since more than 99% of Ewing's tumors have already been demonstrated to carry one of the other previously described EWS/ETS fusions.

Although the carboxy-terminal ETS fusion partners have varied tissue-restricted expression patterns, tumor-specific expression of the fusions is accomplished by the strong *EWSR1* gene promoter. This allows for the disruption of the normal gene-expression patterns driven by the full length carboxy-terminal DNA binding counterparts and sets up a new dysregulated gene expression program that drives tumorigenesis. Furthermore, ETS proteins share cooperative DNA binding with AP1 (FOS-JUN) proteins. This cooperative interaction has been established for ETS1-AP1, ERG-AP1 and also for EWS/FLI-AP1, further supporting the idea that various EWS/ETS fusions dysregulate a common target gene pool in Ewing's sarcoma (88–90).

A recurring feature of the various translocation fusions in Ewing's sarcoma is their mutual exclusivity, suggesting that these chimeric proteins can replace each other in the oncogenic pathways leading to Ewing's sarcoma. Whether there are important molecular differences in activity between these alternate fusions is unknown, but some functional differences have been observed. For example, while EWS/FLI, EWS/ ERG, and EWS/FEV all efficiently induce oncogenic transformation of NIH3T3 cells (as measured by their ability to grow as colonies in anchorage-independent conditions in soft agar), EWS/ETV1 and EWS/ETV4 were unable to induce this aspect of oncogenic transformation in the same system (84). All five fusions, however, did cause NIH3T3 cells to form tumors when injected into immunodeficient mice. The molecular reasons for these differences are unknown.

Another potential difference between these proteins may be the location of tumors bearing the different fusions. One study found that 11 of 12 cases (92%) of Ewing's sarcomas harboring EWS/FEV, EWS/ETV1, or EWS/ETV4 presented with extraosseous tumors (91). Whether this represents a unique aspect of the tumor biology of the rare EWS/ETS variants, or whether this represents a reporting bias, is unknown at this time. Future research aimed at understanding the impact of different translocation fusions on pathways that impinge on the tumor microenvironment may shed more light on this interesting feature of Ewing's tumors. An alternate hypothesis is that the different fusions occur in different cell types or different developmental stages in the same cell type, due to differences in gene expression, chromatin structure, or other poorly understood characteristics. These differences in origin might then determine if the tumor will be bone-associated or located at extraosseous sites.

TET/ETS fusions in Ewing's sarcoma

To further add to the complexity of Ewing's sarcoma, non-EWS fusions have been identified in rare cases of the disease. As discussed above, EWS is a member of the TET (TLS/EWS/TAF15) family of proteins. Gene fusions have been identified between the TET family member TLS (also called FUS) and two different ETS family members. ERG and FEV (Figure 2). TLS/ERG and TLS/FEV fusion proteins are found in <1% of Ewing's sarcoma cases. Conceptually, again, these "TLS/ETS" fusions are likely to functionally recapitulate the EWS/FLI fusion by creating generic "TET/ ETS" fusion proteins. Indeed, identification of TLS/ERG and TLS/FEV translocation fusions supports the concept that all possible combinations of TET/ETS fusions might contribute to the development of Ewing's sarcoma (92,93). This further implies that in the years to come Ewing's sarcoma tumors expressing TLS/FLI, TLS/ETV1, and TLS/ETV4 fusions await discovery. One can also imagine the identification of novel TAF15/ETS fusions in Ewing's sarcoma. since members of the TET family of proteins behave in a similar fashion by contributing a strong amino-terminal transactivation domain when fused to members of the ETS family of transcription factors. If such fusions do exist they will be rare. However, they would create a problem for the molecular pathologist, because current diagnostic methodologies used to identify the common fusion proteins (RT-PCR for EWS/FLI and occasionally EWS/ERG, or break-apart FISH probes for EWSR1) will not identify these rare variants. Indeed, it is possible that current "diagnostically-challenging" cases of Ewing's sarcoma (that are challenging because an EWS/FLI or EWS/ERG translocation cannot be identified) may have one of the already-described rare variants.

While the molecular mechanisms of EWS/FLI function have been extensively studied, it seems clear that there is a great deal of additional function to understand. Furthermore, it is generally assumed that all of the TET/ETS fusions function in a similar manner, although this has not been rigorously tested, in part because all of the functions of EWS/ FLI are not understood. For example, the amino-terminus of EWS functions as a strong transcriptional activation domain (29). It has been demonstrated that in some analyses, the equivalent domain of TLS has weak transcriptional activation function, while in other settings it is equivalent to the EWS domain (30). The molecular basis for this difference is not known. Similarly, the mechanistic basis for transcriptional repression is not understood, and so whether different TET/ETS fusions exhibit similar activity in this respect is not known. Finally, while most investigators believe that the primary function of TET/ETS fusions is to bind DNA and transcriptionally-regulate target genes via interaction with the transcriptional machinery, other modes of action may also contribute to gene regulation. For example, it is possible that TET/ETS fusions also regulate gene expression by interfering with the normal function of TET family members or

S. Sankar, S.L. Lessnick

ETS family members via a "dominant-negative" mechanism. Thus, EWS/FLI might inhibit wild-type EWS function via protein-protein interactions and block its (poorly understood) normal activity. Similarly, EWS/FLI might bind to some genomic loci and prevent other ETS family members from binding to those sites and thus block their ability to properly regulate target genes.

Regardless of our lack of comprehensive understanding of how TET/ETS fusions function, there is general agreement that fusion of a TET family member to an ETS family member creates a fusion protein that mimics the domain structure of EWS/FLI. Thus, the entire group of fusion proteins is thought to function in a similar fashion, including binding to ETS target sites in the human genome and regulating gene expression through that binding. This is a very satisfying model. However, this working model has been challenged in recent years by the discovery of non-TET/ETS fusions in "Ewing's-like tumors."

Non-TET/ETS fusions in "Ewing's-like tumors"

EWS/NFATc2

In 2009 there was a report on the identification of a new translocation partner of the *EWSR1* gene, *NFATc2* (nuclear factor of activated T-cells, cytoplasmic, calcineurindependent 2 also known as *NFAT1* or *NFATp*), in "Ewing'slike tumors" (94). In all cases identified, an in-frame chimeric fusion between exon 8 of *EWSR1* and exon 3 of the *NFATc2* gene was identified (Figure 3). The EWS/NFATc2 fusion harboring solid tumors were diagnosed in four male patients who were 16, 21, 25 and 39 years of age. Histologically, the tumors stained strongly positive for CD99, a classic marker for Ewing's sarcoma (95) and stained negative for desmin, the latter being a marker for desmoplastic small round cell tumor (DSRCT; a tumor which harbors EWS/WT1 translocations) (Table 1). These features were consistent with these tumors being highly-similar to Ewing's sarcoma.

NFATc2 is a member of the NFAT transcription factor family. The *NFATc2* gene plays a key role in T-cell development and in neuronal development (96) and is normally regulated by calcium signaling (97). Dephosphorylation of the wild-type protein causes functional activation and nuclear translocation, which then results in formation of a complex between NFATc2 and AP1 proteins (FOS and JUN) (98,99). Interestingly, cooperative DNA binding with AP1 proteins is a shared feature of NFAT and ETS proteins, including ETS1, ERG, and EWS/FLI (88–90,98). In the case of the EWS/ NFATc2 fusion, the normal tissue-restricted expression pattern of *NFATc2* is overcome by fusion with the constitutively active *EWSR1* gene promoter, as is the case for EWS/ ETS fusions.

Intriguingly, the ETS and NFAT gene families recognize sequences that share a core GGAA/T motif, raising the possibility that EWS/ETS and EWS/NFATc2 fusion proteins may be able to bind and regulate a similar pool of target genes, potentially in cooperation with AP1 proteins. Ewing's sarcoma cell lines expressing EWS/FLI demonstrated no detectable expression of NFATc2 but cell lines expressing the EWS/ERG translocation expressed low levels of





EWS/SMARCA5



Figure 3 Domain structures of wild-type EWS, NFATc2, POU5F1 and SMARCA5 proteins as well as EWS/NFATc2, EWS/POU5F1 and EWS/SMARCA5 fusion proteins. TAD-N: amino-terminal transactivation domain; Reg domain: Regulatory region containing multiple conserved phosphorylation sites; POU: POU-specific domain; POU HD: POU homeodomain; SNF₂: domain with helicase activity for chromatin unwinding and transcriptional regulation; SrmB: domain found in DNA and RNA helicases, harbors an ATP binding site; SANT: domain involved in DNA-binding. Arrows indicate breakpoints observed in wildtype EWS, NFATc2, POU5F1 and SMARCA5 that are included in the resulting fusion proteins observed in "Ewing's-like" tumors.

NFATc2, suggesting that the EWS/ERG fusion either directly or indirectly may be able to regulate NFATc2 expression in Ewing's sarcoma cells (94). EWS/NFATc2-expressing tumors may represent a variant of Ewing's sarcoma, but additional work is needed to fully validate this concept.

EWS/POU5F1

In addition to the EWS/NFATc2 fusion, fusions between EWS and other transcription factors have been described in "Ewing's-like tumors." For example, in 2005 a t(6;22) (p21;q12) was identified in an undifferentiated bone tumor of the pelvis in a 39 year old woman (100). This translocation created an EWS/POU5F1 chimeric protein through fusion of exon 6 of EWSR1 with part of exon 1 of POU5F1 (Figure 3).

Ewing's sarcoma translocations

Fusion type	No. of patients	Age/Sex	Location of turnor	Immunostaining
EWS/NFATc2	4	16/M 21/M 25/M 39/M	Right femur Right thigh Right femur Right humerus	All 4 tumors were: CD99 + Vimentin + Desmin – NSE – S100 –
EWS/POU5F1	1	39/F	Right pelvic bone	CD99 – Vimentin + S100 + NSE +
EWS/SMARCA5	1	5/F	Lumbosacral spinal canal	CD99 + Vimentin + NSE + SYN + Desmin -
EWS/ZSG	1	16/M	Extraskeletal chest wall	CD99 – Desmin + SYN + Neurofilament –
EWS/SP3	1	16/M	Forehead, lungs and right kidney	CD99 Neurofilament and NSE showed focal staining

Table 1 Clinicopathologic features of non-TET/ETS "Ewing's-like tumors"

Abbreviations: M, Male; F, Female; +, Positive staining; -, Negative staining; NSE, Neuron specific enolase; SYN, Synaptophysin

POU5F1 is a member of the POU homeodomain transcription factor family, and is often referred to by its alternate name OCT4 (101). POU5F1 expression is restricted predominantly to embryonic stem cells and germ cells, and it has clear roles in regulating pluripotency/stemness (102,103). The resulting EWS/POU5F1 fusion protein is thought to function as an aberrant oncogenic transcription factor via its amino-terminal transactivation domain (from EWS) and its carboxy-terminal DNA-binding domain (from POU5F1). *POU5F1* has a tissue restricted expression pattern, but as is the case for EWS/ETS fusions, constitutive expression of the EWS/POU5F1 transcript is driven by the native *EWSR1* promoter.

Histopathologically, tumor cells harboring the EWS/ POU5F1 fusion displayed a highly undifferentiated phenotype, stained positive for vimentin and neuron specific enolase (resembling some features of Ewing's sarcoma), but were negative for CD99 staining (100) (Table 1). The predicted structure of the EWS/POU5F1 protein (amino-terminal EWS transactivation domain and carboxy-terminal POU5F1 DNA-binding domain) suggests that it may function as a transcriptional regulator that modulates target genes similar to other EWS chimeric fusion proteins identified in Ewing's sarcoma. Therefore, despite the older age of diagnosis and the negative CD99 staining it is still formally possible that EWS/POU5F1 expressing tumors may represent a variant of Ewing's sarcoma, but further consideration of this issue is needed.

EWS/SMARCA5

The non-TET/ETS fusions found in Ewing's-like tumors have been fusions between EWS and other DNA-binding transcription factors. A recently described translocation in a Ewing's-like tumor, t(4;22)(q31;q12), encodes for a somewhat different type of fusion (104). In this case, the *EWSR1* gene is fused to the chromatin remodeling gene *SMARCA5*. This chimeric fusion is generated by the fusion of exon 7 of *EWSR1* and exon 8 of the *SMARCA5* gene (Figure 3). Similar to many of the rare TET/ETS fusions and the non-TET/ETS fusions described, the location of the EWS/ SMARCA5 expressing tumor was extraskeletal. The EWS/ SMARCA5 fusion was identified in an extraskeletal tumor in a 5 year old female. Immunohistochemical studies performed on the tumor demonstrated positive staining for CD99, vimentin, synaptophysin, neuron specific enolase and negative staining for desmin, resembling some features of Ewing's tumors (Table 1).

The SMARCA5 protein (also called SNF2H) is the ATPase component of various ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complexes, including CHRAC, NoRC, RSF, WICH, ACF/BAZ-like and NuRD (105–109). SMARCA5 shares a great deal of similarity at the amino acid level with the ISWI family of chromatin remodelers in *Drosophila*, which function mainly in organized spacing of nucleosomes along DNA, and thereby modulate accessibility of chromatin for transcription factor binding (110).

The EWS/SMARCA5 fusion protein retains the aminoterminal EWS transactivation domain fused with a carboxyterminal chromatin remodeling domain. One key difference between the previously identified TET/ETS fusions and the EWS/SMARCA5 fusion is the lack of site-specific DNA binding. The assumption here is that EWS/SMARCA5 indirectly causes transcriptional deregulation by altering accessibility of DNA for transcription factor binding. Whether there is specificity to this activity for specific oncogenic gene loci, and whether this specificity is altered by the presence of the EWS domain in the fusion is not known.

EWS/SMARCA5 is an oncoprotein because NIH3T3 cells transduced with the fusion exhibit anchorage independent transforming potential similar to that seen with NIH3T3 cells expressing EWS/FLI (104). While this is an important indicator of oncogenic potential, it appears that NIH3T3 cells expressing EWS/ETS fusions are a poor mimic of Ewing's sarcoma, as the gene expression pattern induced by the fusions in those cells does not recapitulate the gene expression pattern of *bona fide* Ewing's sarcoma (84). This suggests that although NIH3T3 cells are transformed by the EWS/SMARCA5 fusion, the molecular pathways leading to transformation could be different from those used in Ewing's sarcoma.

Considering the structural and functional disparities between EWS/ETS and EWS/SMARCA5, an important underlying question is whether the EWS/SMARCA5 fusion gives rise to Ewing's sarcoma, or does it give rise to a different tumor type that bears some resemblance to Ewing's sarcoma at the histopathological level, but is a completely different tumor at the molecular level?

Of interest to this discussion, atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors (AT/RT) are highly malignant tumors that affect children typically in infancy and early childhood. The gene responsible for the initiation of AT/RT is *SMARCB1*, a core component of the SWI/SNF ATP-dependent chromatinremodeling complex (111,112). Similar to SMARCA5, SMARCB1 functions to displace nucleosomes and in turn regulates transcription by modulating chromatin structure. This regulation has been shown to control proliferation and affect cell cycle progression (113). In AT/RT, loss of the *SMARCB1* gene causes aberrant cell cycle progression, partly via the downregulation of p16INK4a, a tumor suppressor (114). Furthermore, SMARCB1 binds the promoter of Cyclin D1 and regulates its overexpression (113).

SMARCB1 encodes for the protein SMARCB1 (also called SNF5 or INI1). AT/RTs exhibit inactivation of this gene. While the EWS/SMARCA5 fusion gene is an oncogene, it is at least formally possible that its oncogenic function is dependent on a "dominant-negative" activity that inhibits the function of the remaining free wild-type SMARCA5 as well as protein complexes containing wild-type SMARCA5. Perhaps any inactivation of the ISWI or the SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complexes can cause tumorigenesis.

EWS/ZSG

Mastrangelo et al. (2000) presented the first report of an intrachromosomal rearrangement by a paracentric inversion of chromosome 22 (22q12) in a tumor that initially was thought to histologically resemble a peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumor (ie, a Ewing's sarcoma) (115). This inversion results in the fusion of the 5' portion of the *EWSR1* gene to a newly identified zinc finger sarcoma gene (*ZSG*). The EWS/ZSG fusion was identified in an extraskeletal chest wall primary tumor in a 16 year old male patient.

ZSG encodes for a novel Cys₂-His₂ motif containing zincfinger protein. This zinc finger protein shares a high level of similarity with the human myc-associated zinc finger protein (MAZ), a transcription factor that binds the *c-MYC* promoter and regulates its transcription (116), suggesting that ZSG may also function as a transcription factor. The translocation

S. Sankar, S.L. Lessnick

produces a chimeric fusion protein as a result of an in-frame fusion of EWSR1 exon 8 with part of exon 1 of ZSG, due to the creation of an acceptor splice site within exon 1 of ZSG (Figure 4). As has been documented for the EWS/FLI fusion, expression of the reciprocal ZSG/EWS fusion rearrangement could not be detected. Additional analysis of the tumor from which this fusion was identified revealed a rearrangement of the second ZSG allele (in addition to the primary translocation), leading to complete loss of wild-type ZSG expression. This suggests that wild-type ZSG might function as a tumor suppressor gene. The EWS/ZSG expressing primary tumor was localized to the chest wall, similar to the Askin's tumor variant of Ewing's sarcoma. Immunophenotyping showed positive staining for desmin, a feature more typical of DSRCT and negative staining for CD99 protein (a classic hallmark of Ewing's sarcoma) (Table 1).

Structurally, the EWS/ZSG fusion protein retains the carboxy-terminal DNA-binding domain of the wild-type zinc finger protein but lacks the amino-terminal POZ domain which typically functions as a transcriptional repression domain. This is an interesting finding in light of another zinc finger protein involved in transcriptional repression, WT1, which is fused to EWS in DSRCT (117). Hence, the chimeric products EWS/WT1 and EWS/ZSG share similarities of being zinc finger proteins, lacking amino-terminal repression domains as a result of the translocations, and each occurs in tumors that lack CD99 expression. Thus, both of these fusions may convert zinc-finger transcriptional repressive proteins into transcriptional activators.





EWS/SP3



Figure 4 Domain structures of wild-type EWS and Zinc-finger proteins, ZSG and SP3. The resultant EWS/ZSG and EWS/SP3 chimeric fusions are non-TET/ETS fusions in "Ewing's-like" tumors. A/T: A-T hook DNA binding motif, a minor groove tether; Zn finger: Cys₂-His₂ zinc fingers; ID: Inhibitory domain. Arrows indicate breakpoints observed in wild-type EWS, ZSG and SP3 included in the EWS/ZSG and EWS/SP3 fusions in "Ewing's-like" tumors. One important question is what disease do tumors harboring EWS/ZSG represent? Is this a variant of DSRCT? Is this a rare variant of Ewing's sarcoma? Is this an entirely new entity?

EWS/SP3

In 2007, one sarcoma case was reported with a fusion of the EWSR1 gene with SP3, a gene of the Sp zinc-finger family. The EWS/SP3 fusion was identified in a 16 year old Caucasian male who presented with disseminated disease of the forehead, bones, right kidney and lungs. The tumor expressed an in-frame fusion of EWSR1 exon 7 with exon 6 of SP3 (Figure 4) (91). A second longer chimeric EWS/SP3 fusion was also detected in the tumor, generated by the fusion of EWSR1 exon 8 and SP3 exon 6 with a 31 nucleotide sequence insertion to restore the reading frame. The longer EWS/SP3 "8/6" fusion transcript, however, was less abundant in comparison to the shorter EWS/SP3 "7/6" fusion transcript. Immunophenotyping showed weak focal staining for CD99, neuron specific enolase and neurofilament (Table 1). Similar to the rare EWS/ETS fusions EWS/ETV1, EWS/ETV4 and EWS/FEV. the EWS/SP3 expressing tumor was found in an extraskeletal primary site. The wildtype SP3 protein possesses an inhibitory domain (ID) which is lost in the EWS/SP3 fusion protein. Loss of a repression domain in the context of the translocation fusion protein is a feature that EWS/SP3 shares with EWS/ZSG and EWS/WT1. This finding further highlights the importance of transactivating functions driven by aberrant fusion oncogenes in sarcomas and suggests that the EWS/zinc-finger fusion proteins participate in tumorigenesis through transcriptional deregulation. As was the question with the EWS/ ZSG fusion discussed above, the question here again is whether EWS/SP3 fusions give rise to variant-small round cell tumor (SRCTs) or do they cause Ewing's-like tumors that share phenotypic resemblances, but are molecularly distinct, from Ewing's sarcoma?

Cell-of-origin and cellular context in Ewing's sarcoma

One important aspect that is crucial to understanding the biology of Ewing's sarcoma is the identification and characterization of the cell-of-origin for the disease. Currently there is no resolution to this issue. On the one hand, there is a growing body of work suggestive of a mesenchymal stem or progenitor cell as the precursor cell type for Ewing's sarcoma (118–122). On the other hand, several observations are consistent with a neural crest cell-of-origin (123–125). Interestingly, a new idea that has been recently put forth encompassing both the above mentioned cell types suggests that Ewing's sarcoma may arise from a neural crest stem cell exhibiting mesenchymal features or from a mesenchymal stem cell that is neural derived (126,127).

Given the enigma surrounding the cell-of-origin of Ewing's sarcoma, the cellular context most appropriate to study EWS/ FLI and other variant translocation fusions also remains unresolved. Expression of EWS/FLI in a variety of different cell types including primary human fibroblasts, mouse embryonic fibroblasts, immortalized rat fibroblasts, neural crest progenitor cells and rhabdomyosarcoma cells results in growth arrest (33,128). Although NIH3T3 cells display a transformed phenotype when transduced with EWS/FLI, the gene expression pattern of these cells is markedly different from that found in the *bona fide* disease (84).

The importance of cellular context is further highlighted by a number of recent attempts to generate a mouse model for Ewing's sarcoma. Since constitutive expression of EWS/FLI in mice leads to embryonic lethality, one attempt at making a Ewing's mouse was based on a strategy in which EWS/FLI was knocked-in at the Rosa-26 locus. EWS/FLI expression was then targeted to bone marrow progenitor cells by crossing to mice expressing an Mx1-cre driver (129). However, these mice did not develop sarcomas and developed myeloid/ erythroid leukemias instead, likely due to the preferential expression of EWS/FLI in hematopoietic precursors driven by the Mx1-cre recombinase. In another study, expression of EWS/ERG in mice driven by Rag-1 cre resulted in the generation of T-cell lymphomas likely due to the fact that the Rag-1 cre recombinase is preferentially expressed in lymphocytes (130,131). Although it was surprising that EWS/FLI and EWS/ ERG expression gave rise to leukemias and lymphomas but not sarcomas, it is important to note that TLS/ERG, a related TET/ETS chromosomal translocation, is a recurrent genetic abnormality associated with poor prognosis in human acute myeloid leukemia (AML), secondary AML associated with myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS), and chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) (132-134). Furthermore, there are rare reports that support the findings that expression of EWS/FLI and other EWS/ETS fusion proteins occur in isolated cases of leukemias and biphenotypic sarcomas exhibiting features of myogenic and neural differentiation (135,136). This suggests that EWS/FLI and other TET/ETS fusions can trigger oncogenic transformation in cell types different from precursors that gives rise to Ewing's sarcoma.

In an attempt to avoid expression of EWS/FLI in the hematopoietic compartment, conditional expression of EWS/ FLI in the primitive mesenchyme of the early limb bud (mesoderm-derived tissues) was achieved by crossing with the Prx-1 cre driver (137). This model also did not give rise to sarcomas spontaneously and did so only when the Tp53 gene was simultaneously mutated. The tumors that were generated were described as "undifferentiated sarcomas." The authors did not specifically claim that these were true Ewing's sarcomas. This model further underscores the significance of cellular context and brings up an important concept that additional mutations may be required to cooperate with EWS/ FLI in order to give rise to Ewing's sarcoma. This concept is further supported by the inability of human mesenchymal stem cells expressing EWS/FLI to form tumors when injected into immunodeficient mice, likely due to the lack of critical cooperating mutations required for transformation (121). Hence, the tumors that arise due to the expression of an EWS/ETS translocation fusion, whether it is Ewing's sarcoma, a variant Ewing's-like tumor, or a leukemia, depends on the cellular background in which the translocation occurs and its interplay with cooperating mutations.

One highly speculative hypothesis is that differences in gene regulation by EWS/FLI via GGAA-microsatellites is the primary reason why no organisms except for humans (with the exception of a possible single case in a carnel (138)) have ever been reported to develop Ewing's sarcoma. For example, NR0B1 is required for the oncogenic phenotype of Ewing's sarcoma. The human *NR0B1* promoter harbors a GGAA microsatellite that is critical for upregulation of this gene by EWS/FLI. In contrast, the mouse *Nr0b1* promoter lacks the GGAA-microsatellite, and cannot be induced by EWS/FLI in murine NIH3T3 cells (59). This suggests that even if the EWS/FLI fusion were expressed in mice via genetic engineering it would be unable to upregulate critical microsatellite-containing target genes like *NR0B1*, *CAV1*, and *GSTM4*. Without upregulation of these critical targets, Ewing's sarcomas could not form.

Potential mechanisms of chromosomal translocations in Ewing's sarcoma

There is relatively little known about the mechanism of generation of TET/ETS (and non-TET/ETS) chromosomal translocations in Ewing's and Ewing's-like tumors, but a few hypotheses have been advanced since the discovery of EWS/FLI nearly 20 years ago. Homologous recombination at site-specific sequences has been suggested as the potential mechanism of chromosomal translocations in human hematological malignancies such as lymphoid neoplasms (139). In contrast, analysis of 113 interchromosomal junctions of the t(11;22) translocation from 77 Ewing's sarcoma tumors and cell lines demonstrated that generation of the EWS/FLI fusion does not rely on site-specific recombination because translocations were initiated independently on each chromosome (11 and 22) in regions that lacked homology. This study suggested that the generation of chromosomal translocations in Ewing's sarcoma may be mediated by a mechanism of illegitimate recombination that initiates the translocation event independently on each chromosome before interchromosomal joining (66).

Another emerging concept in the field is related to nuclear architecture and chromosomal positioning. This hypothesis is based on the idea that actively transcribed genes are found in euchromatin, and these regions tend to cluster together near the center of the nucleus (140). Given their close proximity in three-dimensional nuclear space, occasional spontaneous DNA breakage may lead to fusion of nonhomologous chromosomes (potentially because of regions of micro-homology or because of illegitimate recombination) resulting in chromosomal translocation (141). In support of this hypothesis, it has been shown that the derivative chromosomes (11 and 22) involved in the translocation exhibit shifted positions in Ewing's sarcoma cell nuclei in comparison to the native non-aberrant *EWSR1* and *FL11* loci (142).

A newer hypothesis is that DNA strand breaks occur specifically at sites of active transcription. It has been shown that topoisomerase II β (TOP2B) is recruited to sites of active transcription by nuclear hormone receptors (143,144). TOP2B enables transcription by relieving topological strain on the DNA by cleaving and re-annealing double stranded DNA. Interestingly, it was recently suggested that the generation of the TMPRSS2-ERG translocation in prostate cancer is mediated by androgen signaling induced androgen receptor-TOP2B activity (144). The details of transcriptional regulation of *EWSR1* and *FLI1* in a "precursor" Ewing's sarcoma cell are unknown. However, given the peak

S. Sankar, S.L. Lessnick

incidence of Ewing's sarcoma during puberty, with its associated elevated hormonal signaling, it is tempting to speculate that a similar nuclear hormone receptor-TOP2B double strand break mechanism also mediates translocation development in Ewing's sarcoma.

Is it time to revisit the concept that TET/ETS fusions are pathognomonic for Ewing's sarcoma?

The initial discovery of EWS/FLI and the demonstration that this fusion functions as an aberrant transcription factor to mediate oncogenesis in Ewing's sarcoma provided a simple model for Ewing's sarcoma tumorigenesis: EWS/FLI sits at the top of a transcriptional hierarchy to dysregulate a set of target genes that together mediate tumor formation. The discovery of the EWS/ERG fusion, with its highly conserved domain structure to EWS/FLI, provided additional support for this hypothesis. Indeed, a number of downstream gene targets of EWS/FLI have been identified that participate in the oncogenic phenotype of Ewing's sarcoma. Identification of additional examples of EWS/ETS and TLS/ETS fusions further supported this notion. Indeed, many investigators have suggested that Ewing's sarcoma could be molecularly defined by the presence of a TET/ETS fusion. While the vast majority of Ewing's sarcomas would harbor EWS/FLI fusions, the ongoing identification of other TET/ETS fusions provided some support that "non-EWS/FLI containing Ewing's sarcomas" simply had one of the rare TET/ETS variants instead

This straightforward hypothesis, however, now has to be revisited. The "alternate" EWS-based fusions, including EWS/NFATc2, EWS/POU5F1, EWS/SMARCA5, EWS/ZSG, and EWS/SP3, are unlikely to bind and regulate exactly the same set of target genes as EWS/FLI and the other TET/ ETS fusions. Furthermore, it is unclear whether tumors harboring these alternate fusions are similar enough to Ewing's sarcoma to be considered the same tumor type. At least EWS/ZSG and EWS/SP3-containing tumors have some similarity to DSRCTs. The others, though, have more similarity to Ewing's sarcoma, at least on a histological basis.

If we assume that these alternate fusions arise in tumors that are similar to Ewing's sarcoma, we can reason that there are at least three different hypotheses to explain such findings. These hypotheses are not necessarily mutually exclusive.

Hypothesis 1: The "coincidence hypothesis"

This hypothesis states that it is simply coincidence that the non-TET/ETS containing tumors are histologically similar to Ewing's sarcoma, but they have no significant similarities to that disease in their underlying molecular biology. In this scenario, the non-TET/ETS fusions are indeed oncogenic, but they regulate a different set of target genes than the TET/ETS fusions do. These fusions could occur in the same (currently unknown) precursor cell that is also the cell-of-origin for Ewing's sarcoma, and so may have histological similarities because of a similar cell-of-origin. Alternately, they may arise in distinct cell types, but cause a similar cell morphologic and

marker pattern to Ewing's sarcoma by chance alone. One conceptual possibility is that the various TET/ETS and non-TET/ETS fusions give rise to sarcomas that bear phenotypic resemblance but may occur in different cell types.

An alternate version of this hypothesis is that the non-TET/ETS fusions are simply "passenger" mutations. Although EWS/FLI has been formally shown to function as a "driver" mutation (for example, through model systems that "knock-down" EWS/FLI expression in patient-derived Ewing's sarcoma cells), a similar level of analysis has not been performed for the other fusions. Thus, although unlikely, it is possible that there are yet-to-be-discovered "driver" mutations in the Ewing's-like tumors that mediate oncogenesis. Similarities between these tumors and EWS/ ETS-containing tumors would then simply be coincidental as described above.

Hypothesis 2: The "common gene-target hypothesis"

This hypothesis states that although the TET/ETS and the non-TET/ETS fusions have vastly different DNA binding domains (or in the case of EWS/SMARCA5, a chromatinremodeling ATPase domain), they would have significant overlap in target genes that are dysregulated. The common overlap might include a small group of "core" regulators of the Ewing's sarcoma oncogenic program. For example, these might include genes such as NR0B1, NKX2.2, and GL11, which have been shown to be absolutely essential for oncogenic transformation in Ewing's sarcoma (31,44,48). Alternately, the common overlap might include a broader array of EWS/FLI target genes that contribute to various other aspects of tumor growth and progression, such as IGFBP3, GSTM4, CDKN1A, TGFBRII, VEGF, and CAV1 (42,52-55). Some of these genes represent direct targets of EWS/FLI, while others are indirectly regulated by the fusion. The non-TET/ETS fusions may also regulate these target genes via other transcription regulatory sites (ie, non-ETS binding sites), or alternately, the non-TET/ETS fusions may regulate one or more ETS-family transcription factors that subsequently regulate transcription of some/many/all EWS/ FLI target genes. This would effectively recapitulate the oncogenic transcriptional program of Ewing's sarcoma.

An alternate form of this hypothesis is that some of the requisite transcriptional patterns might be normally expressed by the tumor cell-of-origin. Thus, the non-TET/ETS fusions might modulate the expression of a limited set of genes, while other required genes might be "contributed" by the tumor cell-of-origin. Some required genes might even be activated or repressed through somatic mutations in the tumor. Other mechanisms to recapitulate the TET/ETS gene expression pattern could also be envisioned, such as contribution by unique tumor microenvironments, specific signaling milieu, etc.

Hypothesis 3: The "non-gene expression hypothesis"

This hypothesis would suggest that although gene regulatory function is likely to be important in oncogenesis by both TET/ ETS and non-TET/ETS fusions, there may be a significant contribution by non-DNA binding-dependent activities of the fusion proteins. As noted earlier, there is some evidence that EWS/FLI may have DNA binding independent function (57,58). While the molecular details of these alternate functions are not known, they could be related to a dominant-negative function of EWS/FLI blocking the normal function of wild-type EWS. Non-TET/ETS fusions still contain the amino-terminus of EWS, and so if that domain is important for non-DNA binding functions, it could contribute to the oncogenic activity in a similar manner in the non-TET/ETS fusions. Similarly, it is at least formally possible that EWS-based fusion proteins participate in signaling cascades required for oncogenesis. The non-TET/ETS fusions may also be able to participate productively in such signaling pathways and thus contribute to "Ewing's-like" oncogenesis.

Should we care if non-TET/ETS-containing tumors are Ewing's sarcoma?

Ewing's sarcoma itself is a rare tumor, with approximately 250 new cases occurring in the United States each year (145). If each of the rare TET/ETS and non-TET/ETS fusion variants occurs in 1% of cases or less, these will contribute to a very small portion, and a very small total number of tumors. Are these an important set of tumors to understand?

We would suggest that these are indeed important tumors to understand. In the first place, patients will develop tumors harboring these rare fusion variants. If they turn out to be similar or identical to Ewing's sarcoma in their response to therapies, then it is important to make a definitive diagnosis so that physicians may provide the best possible treatments for these patients. In contrast, if these tumors do not respond in a manner similar to Ewing's sarcoma, then we are providing ineffective therapies for these patients by simply lumping them together with other Ewing's sarcoma patients. Indeed, this is a major consideration for all rare tumors, where the likelihood of gathering adequate numbers of patients to perform well-powered clinical trials is slim at best.

In the second place, we believe that understanding these tumors may provide unique opportunities to understand the specifics of Ewing's sarcoma development. For example, if the non-TET/ETS tumors harbor specific mutations that inactivate important tumor suppressors, such observations may allow researchers to determine whether these tumor suppressors are inhibited by a TET/ETS fusion in Ewing's sarcoma. Indeed, one significant problem in understanding the oncogenic program mediated by EWS/FLI and other TET/ETS fusions is that there are hundreds to thousands of genes dysregulated by the fusion. Understanding which of these are important to oncogenesis is a Herculean task. Rare non-TET/ETS fusions may be extremely helpful in this understanding.

In the third place, even if such rare non-TET/ETS Ewing'slike tumors do not provide a better understanding of Ewing's sarcoma itself, they may provide unique insights into the underlying mechanisms of tumorigenesis. Such an understanding may have general applicability, or at least applicability to some other types of tumors. Furthermore, understanding rare tumor types has often allowed for a deeper understanding of basic cell biology and molecular processes. 362

Summary and conclusions

Ewing's sarcoma is an enigmatic cancer driven by chromosomal translocation derived fusion oncodenes. TET/ETS proteins are undoubtedly the central mediators in the pathogenesis of Ewing's sarcoma. In particular EWS/FLI, the most common gene rearrangement in Ewing's sarcoma, is widely used as a molecular diagnostic marker for the disease. However, recent identification of an increasing number of similar TET/ETS as well as non-TET/ETS rearrangements has further complicated molecular diagnostics for Ewing's sarcoma. Large scale genomic approaches followed by detailed molecular and functional studies could be performed to dissect out the shared, as well as the divergent, mechanisms driven by the rare non-TET/ETS fusions. Such studies will help in characterizing the nature of the non-TET/ ETS fusion harboring tumors and in deciphering if these tumors are in fact Ewing's sarcoma. The knowledge gained may help shed more light on the mechanisms that drive the pathogenesis of Ewing's sarcoma and may translate into new targeted therapies for patients afflicted with this aggressive disease. Ultimately, the improved molecular insights may advance our understanding of other cancers that are driven by the dysregulation of the TET and ETS family of proteins.

Acknowledgments

S.S. is a University of Utah Howard Hughes Medical Institute Med into Grad Program Scholar. S.L.L. is supported by the NIH (R21 CA138295, R01 CA140394), the Terri Anna Perine Sarcoma Fund, the University of Utah Department of Pediatrics and Huntsman Cancer Institute/Huntsman Cancer Foundation. S.L.L. also acknowledges support to the Huntsman Cancer Institute (grant P30 CA042014). We would like to thank our reviewers for suggesting changes that allowed for a more comprehensive review of the field, but we also apologize to authors of work that was not included due to space restrictions. We would also like to thank Tetyana Forostyan for suggesting the possibility of a TOP2B mechanism for Ewing's sarcoma translocation development.

References

- Janknecht R. EWS-ETS oncoproteins: the linchpins of Ewing tumors. Gene 2005;363:1–14.
- Ewing J. Diffuse Endothelioma of Bone. Proceedings of the New York Pathological Society 1921;21:17-24.
- Stiller CA, Bielack SS, Jundt G, et al. Bone tumours in European children and adolescents, 1978-1997. Report from the Automated Childhood Cancer Information System project. Eur J Cancer 2006;42:2124–2135.
- Denny CT. Ewing's sarcoma—a clinical enigma coming into focus. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 1998;20:421–425.
- Paulussen M, Frohlich B, Jurgens H. Ewing tumour: incidence, prognosis and treatment options. Paediatr Drugs 2001; 3:899–913.
- Horowitz ME, Malawer MM, Woo SY, et al., Ewing's Sarcoma Family of Turnors: Ewing's Sarcoma of Bone and Soft Tissue and the Peripheral Primitive Neuroectodermal Turnors, in Principles and Practice of Pediatric Oncology, P.A. Pizzo and

S. Sankar, S.L. Lessnick

D.G. Poplack, editors. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven, 1997; pp. 831-863.

- Kimber C, Michalski A, Spitz L, et al. Primitive neuroectodermal tumours: anatomic location, extent of surgery, and outcome. J Pediatr Surg 1998;33:39–41.
- Grier HE. The Ewing family of tumors. Ewing's sarcoma and primitive neuroectodermal tumors. Pediatr Clin North Am 1997;44:991–1004.
- Turc-Carel C, Philip I, Berger MP, et al. Chromosome study of Ewing's sarcoma (ES) cell lines. Consistency of a reciprocal translocation t(11;22)(q24;q12). Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1984;12:1–19.
- Whang-Peng J, Triche TJ, Knutsen T, et al. Chromosome translocation in peripheral neuroepithelioma. N Engl J Med 1984;311:584–585.
- Kovar H. Ewing's sarcoma and peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumors after their genetic union. Curr Opin Oncol 1998;10:334–342.
- Terrier P, Llombart-Bosch A, Contesso G. Small round blue cell tumors in bone: prognostic factors correlated to Ewing's sarcoma and neuroectodermal tumors. Semin Diagn Pathol 1996;13:250–257.
- Wang CC, Schulz MD. Ewing's sarcoma; a study of fifty cases treated at the Massachusetts General Hospital, 1930-1952 inclusive. N Engl J Med 1953;248:571-576.
- Dahlin DC, Coventry MB, Scanlon PW. Ewing's sarcoma. A critical analysis of 165 cases. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1961; 43-A:185–192.
- Lahl M, Fisher VL, Laschinger K. Ewing's sarcoma family of tumors: an overview from diagnosis to survivorship. Clin J Oncol Nurs 2008;12:89–97.
- Randall RL, Lessnick SL, Jones KB, et al. Is There a Predisposition Gene for Ewing's Sarcoma? J Oncol 2010;2010: 397632.
- Linabery AM, Ross JA. Childhood and adolescent cancer survival in the US by race and ethnicity for the diagnostic period 1975-1999. Cancer 2008;113:2575–2596.
- Turc-Carel C, Aurias A, Mugneret F, et al. Chromosomes in Ewing's sarcoma. I. An evaluation of 85 cases of remarkable consistency of t(11;22)(q24;q12). Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1988;32:229–238.
- Delattre O, Zucman J, Plougastel B, et al. Gene fusion with an ETS DNA-binding domain caused by chromosome translocation in human tumours. Nature 1992;359:162–165.
- Araya N, Hirota K, Shimamoto Y, et al. Cooperative interaction of EWS with CREB-binding protein selectively activates hepatocyte nuclear factor 4-mediated transcription. J Biol Chem 2003;278:5427–5432.
- Bertolotti A, Melot T, Acker J, et al. EWS, but not EWS-FLI-1, is associated with both TFIID and RNA polymerase II: interactions between two members of the TET family, EWS and hTAFII68, and subunits of TFIID and RNA polymerase II complexes. Mol Cell Biol 1998;18: 1489–1497.
- Petermann R, Mossier BM, Aryee DN, et al. Oncogenic EWS-Fil1 interacts with hsRPB7, a subunit of human RNA polymerase II. Oncogene 1998;17:603–610.
- Rossow KL, Janknecht R. The Ewing's sarcoma gene product functions as a transcriptional activator. Cancer Res 2001;61: 2690–2695.
- Hart A, Melet F, Grossfeld P, et al. Fli-1 is required for murine vascular and megakaryocytic development and is hemizygously deleted in patients with thrombocytopenia. Immunity 2000;13:167–177.
- Melet F, Motro B, Rossi DJ, et al. Generation of a novel Fli-1 protein by gene targeting leads to a defect in thymus development and a delay in Friend virus-induced erythroleukemia. Mol Cell Biol 1996;16:2708–2718.

Ewing's sarcoma translocations

- Brown LA, Rodaway AR, Schilling TF, et al. Insights into early vasculogenesis revealed by expression of the ETS-domain transcription factor Fli-1 in wild-type and mutant zebrafish embryos. Mech Dev 2000;90:237–252.
- Seth A, Watson DK. ETS transcription factors and their emerging roles in human cancer. Eur J Cancer 2005;41: 2462–2478.
- 28. May WA, Gishizky ML, Lessnick SL, et al. Ewing sarcoma 11;22 translocation produces a chimeric transcription factor that requires the DNA-binding domain encoded by FLI1 for transformation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993;90: 5752–5756.
- May WA, Lessnick SL, Braun BS, et al. The Ewing's sarcoma EWS/FLI-1 fusion gene encodes a more potent transcriptional activator and is a more powerful transforming gene than FLI-1. Mol Cell Biol 1993;13:7393–7398.
- Lessnick SL, Braun BS, Denny CT, et al. Multiple domains mediate transformation by the Ewing's sarcoma EWS/FLI-1 fusion gene. Oncogene 1995;10:423–431.
- Smith R, Owen LA, Trem DJ, et al. Expression profiling of EWS/FLI identifies NKX2.2 as a critical target gene in Ewing's sarcoma. Cancer Cell 2006;9:405–416.
- Ohno T, Rao VN, Reddy ES. EWS/Fli-1 chimeric protein is a transcriptional activator. Cancer Res 1993;53:5859–5863.
- Kovar H. Context matters: the hen or egg problem in Ewing's sarcoma. Semin Cancer Biol 2005;15:189–196.
- Ben-David Y, Giddens EB, Letwin K, et al. Erythroleukemia induction by Friend murine leukemia virus: insertional activation of a new member of the ets gene family, Fli-1, closely linked to c-ets-1. Genes Dev 1991;5:908–918.
- Sharrocks AD. The ETS-domain transcription factor family. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2001;2:827–837.
- Graves BJ, Petersen JM. Specificity within the ets family of transcription factors. Adv Cancer Res 1998;75:1–55.
- Aman P, Panagopoulos I, Lassen C, et al. Expression patterns of the human sarcoma-associated genes FUS and EWS and the genomic structure of FUS. Genomics 1996;37:1–8.
- Ouchida M, Ohno T, Fujimura Y, et al. Loss of tumorigenicity of Ewing's sarcoma cells expressing antisense RNA to EWSfusion transcripts. Oncogene 1995;11:1049–1054.
- Kovar H, Aryee DN, Jug G, et al. EWS/FLI-1 antagonists induce growth inhibition of Ewing tumor cells in vitro. Cell Growth Differ 1996;7:429–437.
- Tanaka K, Iwakuma T, Harimaya K, et al. EWS-Fli1 antisense oligodeoxynucleotide inhibits proliferation of human Ewing's sarcoma and primitive neuroectodermal tumor cells. J Clin Invest 1997;99:239-247.
- Toretsky JA, Connell Y, Neckers L, et al. Inhibition of EWS-FLI-1 fusion protein with antisense oligodeoxynucleotides. J Neurooncol 1997;31:9–16.
- Prieur A, Tirode F, Cohen P, et al. EWS/FLI-1 silencing and gene profiling of Ewing cells reveal downstream oncogenic pathways and a crucial role for repression of insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3. Mol Cell Biol 2004;24: 7275–7283.
- Chansky HA, Barahmand-Pour F, Mei Q, et al. Targeting of EWS/FLI-1 by RNA interference attenuates the tumor phenotype of Ewing's sarcoma cells in vitro. J Orthop Res 2004;22: 910–917.
- Kinsey M, Smith R, Lessnick SL. NR0B1 Is Required for the Oncogenic Phenotype Mediated by EWS/FLI in Ewing's Sarcoma. Mol Cancer Res 2006;4:851–859.
- Arvand A, Welford SM, Teitell MA, et al. The COOH-terminal domain of FLI-1 is necessary for full tumorigenesis and transcriptional modulation by EWS/FLI-1. Cancer Res 2001;61: 5311–5317.
- Kauer M, Ban J, Kofler R, et al. A molecular function map of Ewing's sarcoma. PLoS ONE 2009;4:e5415.

- Zwerner JP, Joo J, Warner KL, et al. The EWS/FLI1 oncogenic transcription factor deregulates GLI1. Oncogene 2008;27: 3282–3291.
- Beauchamp E, Bulut G, Abaan O, et al. GLI1 is a direct transcriptional target of EWS-FLI1 oncoprotein. J Biol Chem 2009; 284:9074–9082.
- Siligan C, Ban J, Bachmaier R, et al. EWS-FLI1 target genes recovered from Ewing's sarcoma chromatin. Oncogene 2005; 24:2512–2524.
- Richter GH, Plehm S, Fasan A, et al. EZH2 is a mediator of EWS/FL11 driven tumor growth and metastasis blocking endothelial and neuro-ectodermal differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009;106:5324–5329.
- Ohali A, Avigad S, Cohen IJ, et al. Association between telomerase activity and outcome in patients with nonmetastatic Ewing family of tumors. J Clin Oncol 2003;21:3836–3843.
- Luo W, Gangwal K, Sankar S, et al. GSTM4 is a microsatellitecontaining EWS/FLI target involved in Ewing's sarcoma oncogenesis and therapeutic resistance. Oncogene 2009;28: 4126–4132.
- Nakatani F, Tanaka K, Sakimura R, et al. Identification of p21WAF1/CIP1 as a direct target of EWS-Fli1 oncogenic fusion protein. J Biol Chem 2003;278:15105–15115.
- Hahm KB, Cho K, Lee C, et al. Repression of the gene encoding the TGF-beta type II receptor is a major target of the EWS-FL11 oncoprotein. Nat Genet 1999;23:222–227.
- 55. Tirado OM, Mateo-Lozano S, Villar J, et al. Caveolin-1 (CAV1) is a target of EWS/FLI-1 and a key determinant of the oncogenic phenotype and tumorigenicity of Ewing's sarcoma cells. Cancer Res 2006;66:9937–9947.
- Fuchs B, Inwards CY, Janknecht R. Vascular endothelial growth factor expression is up-regulated by EWS-ETS oncoproteins and Sp1 and may represent an independent predictor of survival in Ewing's sarcoma. Clin Cancer Res 2004;10:1344–1353.
- Jaishankar S, Zhang J, Roussel MF, et al. Transforming activity of EWS/FLI is not strictly dependent upon DNA-binding activity. Oncogene 1999;18:5592–5597.
- Welford SM, Hebert SP, Deneen B, et al. DNA binding domainindependent pathways are involved in EWS/FLI1-mediated oncogenesis. J Biol Chem 2001;276:41977–41984.
- Gangwal K, Sankar S, Hollenhorst PC, et al. Microsatellites as EWS/FLI response elements in Ewing's sarcoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008;105:10149–10154.
- Mao X, Miesteldt S, Yang H, et al. The FLI-1 and chimeric EWS-FLI-1 oncoproteins display similar DNA binding specificities. J Biol Chem 1994;269:18216–18222.
- Gangwal K, Lessnick SL. Microsatellites are EWS/FLI response elements: genomic "junk" is EWS/FLI's treasure. Cell Cycle 2008;7:3127–3132.
- Guillon N, Tirode F, Boeva V, et al. The oncogenic EWS-FLI1 protein binds in vivo GGAA microsatellite sequences with potential transcriptional activation function. PLoS ONE 2009;4: e4932.
- Braun BS, Lessnick SL. Pediatric malignancies: update on sarcomas and leukemia development in children. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2009;19:92–96.
- Gangwal K, Close D, Enriquez CA, et al. Emergent properties of EWS/FLI regulation via GGAA-microsatellitesin Ewing's sarcoma. Genes Cancer 2010;1:177–187.
- Hancock JD, Lessnick SL. A transcriptional profiling metaanalysis reveals a core EWS-FLI gene expression signature. Cell Cycle 2008;7:250–256.
- Zucman-Rossi J, Legoix P, Victor JM, et al. Chromosome translocation based on illegitimate recombination in human tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:11786–11791.
- Zucman J, Melot T, Desmaze C, et al. Combinatorial generation of variable fusion proteins in the Ewing family of tumours. Embo J 1993;12:4481–4487.

S. Sankar. S.L. Lessnick

- Zucman J, Delattre O, Desmaze C, et al. Cloning and characterization of the Ewing's sarcoma and peripheral neuroepithelioma t(11;22) translocation breakpoints. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 1992;5:271–277.
- Lin PP, Brody RI, Hamelin AC, et al. Differential transactivation by alternative EWS-FLI1 fusion proteins correlates with clinical heterogeneity in Ewing's sarcoma. Cancer Res 1999;59: 1428–1432.
- de Alava E, Kawai A, Healey JH, et al. EWS-FLI1 fusion transcript structure is an independent determinant of prognosis in Ewing's sarcoma. J Clin Oncol 1998;16:1248–1255.
- Zoubek A, Dockhorn-Dworniczak B, Delattre O, et al. Does expression of different EWS chimeric transcripts define clinically distinct risk groups of Ewing tumor patients? J Clin Oncol 1996;14:1245–1251.
- 72. van Doorninck JA, Ji L, Schaub B, et al. Current treatment protocols have eliminated the prognostic advantage of type 1 fusions in Ewing sarcoma: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:1989–1994.
- Le Deley MC, Delattre O, Schaefer KL, et al. Impact of EWS-ETS fusion type on disease progression in Ewing's sarcoma/ peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumor: prospective results from the cooperative Euro-E.W.I.N.G. 99 trial. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:1982–1988.
- Seth A, Ascione R, Fisher RJ, et al. The ets gene family. Cell Growth Differ 1992;3:327–334.
- Watson DK, Ascione R, Papas TS. Molecular analysis of the ets genes and their products. Crit Rev Oncog 1990;1:409–436.
- Sorensen PH, Lessnick SL, Lopez-Terrada D, et al. A second Ewing's sarcoma translocation, t(21;22), fuses the EWS gene to another ETS-family transcription factor, ERG. Nat Genet 1994;6:146–151.
- Jeon IS, Davis JN, Braun BS, et al. A variant Ewing's sarcoma translocation (7;22) fuses the EWS gene to the ETS gene ETV1. Oncogene 1995;10:1229–1234.
- Kaneko Y, Yoshida K, Handa M, et al. Fusion of an ETS-family gene, EIAF, to EWS by t(17;22)(q12;q12) chromosome translocation in an undifferentiated sarcoma of infancy. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 1996;15:115–121.
- Peter M, Couturier J, Pacquement H, et al. A new member of the ETS family fused to EWS in Ewing tumors. Oncogene 1997;14:1159–1164.
- Urano F, Umezawa A, Hong W, et al. A novel chimera gene between EWS and E1A-F, encoding the adenovirus E1A enhancer-binding protein, in extraosseous Ewing's sarcoma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1996;219:608-612.
- Teitell MA, Thompson AD, Sorensen PH, et al. EWS/ETS fusion genes induce epithelial and neuroectodermal differentiation in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts. Lab Invest 1999;79:1535–1543.
- Thompson AD, Teitell MA, Arvand A, et al. Divergent Ewing's sarcoma EWS/ETS fusions confer a common tumorigenic phenotype on NIH3T3 cells. Oncogene 1999;18:5506–5513.
- Deneen B, Welford SM, Ho T, et al. PIM3 proto-oncogene kinase is a common transcriptional target of divergent EWS/ETS oncoproteins. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23:3897–3908.
- Braunreiter CL, Hancock JD, Coffin CM, et al. Expression of EWS-ETS fusions in NIH3T3 cells reveals significant differences to Ewing's sarcoma. Cell Cycle 2006;5:2753–2759.
- Prasad DD, Rao VN, Lee L, et al. Differentially spliced erg-3 product functions as a transcriptional activator. Oncogene 1994;9:669–673.
- Ginsberg JP, de Alava E, Ladanyi M, et al. EWS-FL11 and EWS-ERG gene fusions are associated with similar clinical phenotypes in Ewing's sarcoma. J Clin Oncol 1999;17: 1809–1814.
- Monte D, Coutte L, Baert JL, et al. Molecular characterization of the ets-related human transcription factor ER81. Oncogene 1995;11:771–779.

- Thomas RS, Tymms MJ, McKinlay LH, et al. ETS1, NFkappaB and AP1 synergistically transactivate the human GM-CSF promoter. Oncogene 1997;14:2845–2855.
- Verger A, Buisine E, Carrere S, et al. Identification of amino acid residues in the ETS transcription factor Erg that mediate Erg-Jun/Fos-DNA ternary complex formation. J Biol Chem 2001;276:17181–17189.
- Kim S, Denny CT, Wisdom R. Cooperative DNA binding with AP-1 proteins is required for transformation by EWS-Ets fusion proteins. Mol Cell Biol 2006;26:2467–2478.
- Wang L, Bhargava R, Zheng T, et al. Undifferentiated small round cell sarcomas with rare EWS gene fusions: identification of a novel EWS-SP3 fusion and of additional cases with the EWS-ETV1 and EWS-FEV fusions. J Mol Diagn 2007;9: 498-509.
- Shing DC, McMullan DJ, Roberts P, et al. FUS/ERG gene fusions in Ewing's tumors. Cancer Res 2003;63: 4568–4576.
- Ng TL, O'Sullivan MJ, Pallen CJ, et al. Ewing sarcoma with novel translocation t(2;16) producing an in-frame fusion of FUS and FEV. J Mol Diagn 2007;9:459–463.
- 94. Szuhai K, Ijszenga M, de Jong D, et al. The NFATc2 gene is involved in a novel cloned translocation in a Ewing sarcoma variant that couples its function in immunology to oncology. Clin Cancer Res 2009;15:2259–2268.
- Kovar H, Dworzak M, Strehl S, et al. Overexpression of the pseudoautosomal gene MIC2 in Ewing's sarcoma and peripheral primitive neuroectodermal turnor. Oncogene 1990;5: 1067–1070.
- Macian F. NFAT proteins: key regulators of T-cell development and function. Nat Rev Immunol 2005;5:472–484.
- Rao A, Luo C, Hogan PG. Transcription factors of the NFAT family: regulation and function. Annu Rev Immunol 1997;15: 707-747.
- Macian F, Lopez-Rodriguez C, Rao A. Partners in transcription: NFAT and AP-1. Oncogene 2001;20:2476–2489.
- Chen L, Glover JN, Hogan PG, et al. Structure of the DNAbinding domains from NFAT, Fos and Jun bound specifically to DNA. Nature 1998;392:42–48.
- Yamaguchi S, Yamazaki Y, Ishikawa Y, et al. EWSR1 is fused to POU5F1 in a bone tumor with translocation t(6;22)(p21;q12). Genes Chromosomes Cancer 2005;43:217–222.
- Okamoto K, Okazawa H, Okuda A, et al. A novel octamer binding transcription factor is differentially expressed in mouse embryonic cells. Cell 1990;60:461–472.
- Nichols J, Zevnik B, Anastassiadis K, et al. Formation of pluripotent stem cells in the mammalian embryo depends on the POU transcription factor Oct4. Cell 1998;95: 379–391.
- Rosner MH, Vigano MA, Ozato K, et al. A POU-domain transcription factor in early stem cells and germ cells of the mammalian embryo. Nature 1990;345:686-692.
- Sumegi J, Nishio J, Nelson M, et al. A novel t(4;22)(q31;q12) produces an EWSR1-SMARCA5 fusion in extraskeletal Ewing sarcoma/primitive neuroectodermal tumor. Mod Pathol 2010; 24:333–342.
- Bochar DA, Savard J, Wang W, et al. A family of chromatin remodeling factors related to Williams syndrome transcription factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000;97:1038–1043.
- Bozhenok L, Wade PA, Varga-Weisz P. WSTF-ISWI chromatin remodeling complex targets heterochromatic replication foci. Embo J 2002;21:2231–2241.
- Percipalle P, Farrants AK. Chromatin remodelling and transcription: be-WICHed by nuclear myosin 1. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2006;18:267–274.
- Strohner R, Nemeth A, Jansa P, et al. NoRC-a novel member of mammalian ISWI-containing chromatin remodeling machines. Embo J 2001;20:4892–4900.

Ewing's sarcoma translocations

- LeRoy G, Loyola A, Lane WS, et al. Purification and characterization of a human factor that assembles and remodels chromatin. J Biol Chem 2000;275:14787–14790.
- Aihara T, Miyoshi Y, Koyama K, et al. Cloning and mapping of SMARCA5 encoding hSNF2H, a novel human homologue of Drosophila ISWI. Cytogenet Cell Genet 1998; 81:191–193.
- Wilson BG, Wang X, Shen X, et al. Epigenetic antagonism between polycomb and SWI/SNF complexes during oncogenic transformation. Cancer Cell 2010;18:316–328.
- Roberts CW, Biegel JA. The role of SMARCB1/INI1 in development of rhabdoid tumor. Cancer Biol Ther 2009;8:412–416.
- 113. Isakoff MS, Sansam CG, Tamayo P, et al. Inactivation of the Snf5 tumor suppressor stimulates cell cycle progression and cooperates with p53 loss in oncogenic transformation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005;102:17745–17750.
- Betz BL, Strobeck MW, Reisman DN, et al. Re-expression of hSNF5/INI1/BAF47 in pediatric tumor cells leads to G1 arrest associated with induction of p16ink4a and activation of RB. Oncogene 2002;21:5193–5203.
- Mastrangelo T, Modena P, Tomielli S, et al. A novel zinc finger gene is fused to EWS in small round cell tumor. Oncogene 2000;19:3799–3804.
- 116. Bossone SA, Asselin C, Patel AJ, et al. MAZ, a zinc finger protein, binds to c-MYC and C2 gene sequences regulating transcriptional initiation and termination. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992;89:7452–7456.
- 117. Madden SL, Cook DM, Morris JF, et al. Transcriptional repression mediated by the WT1 Wilms tumor gene product. Science 1991;253:1550-1553.
- Tirode F, Laud-Duval K, Prieur A, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell features of Ewing tumors. Cancer Cell 2007;11:421–429.
- Riggi N, Cironi L, Provero P, et al. Development of Ewing's sarcoma from primary bone marrow-derived mesenchymal progenitor cells. Cancer Res 2005;65:11459–11468.
- Meltzer PS. Is Ewing's sarcoma a stem cell tumor? Cell Stem Cell 2007;1:13–15.
- Riggi N, Suva ML, Suva D, et al. EWS-FLI-1 expression triggers a Ewing's sarcoma initiation program in primary human mesenchymal stem cells. Cancer Res 2008;68:2176–2185.
- 122. Miyagawa Y, Okita H, Nakaijima H, et al. Inducible expression of chimeric EWS/ETS proteins confers Ewing's family tumorlike phenotypes to human mesenchymal progenitor cells. Mol Cell Biol 2008;28:2125–2137.
- Cavazzana AO, Magnani JL, Ross RA, et al. Ewing's sarcoma is an undifferentiated neuroectodermal tumor. Prog Clin Biol Res 1988;271:487–498.
- Lipinski M, Braham K, Philip I, et al. Neuroectoderm-associated antigens on Ewing's sarcoma cell lines. Cancer Res 1987;47: 183–187.
- 125. Staege MS, Hutter C, Neumann I, et al. DNA microarrays reveal relationship of Ewing family tumors to both endothelial and fetal neural crest-derived cells and define novel targets. Cancer Res 2004;64:8213–8221.
- von Levetzow C, Jiang X, Gwye Y, et al. Modeling initiation of Ewing sarcoma in human neural crest cells. PLoS One 2011;6: e19305.
- Riggi N, Suva ML, Stamenkovic I. Ewing's sarcoma origin: from duel to duality. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 2009;9:1025–1030.
- Lessnick SL, Dacwag CS, Golub TR. The Ewing's sarcoma oncoprotein EWS/FLI induces a p53-dependent growth arrest in primary human fibroblasts. Cancer Cell 2002;1:393–401.

- Torchia EC, Boyd K, Rehg JE, et al. EWS/FLI-1 induces rapid onset of myeloid/erythroid leukemia in mice. Mol Cell Biol 2007; 27:7918–7934.
- Codrington R, Pannell R, Forster A, et al. The Ews-ERG fusion protein can initiate neoplasia from lineage-committed haematopoietic cells. PLoS Biol 2005;3:e242.
- 131. McCormack MP, Forster A, Drynan L, et al. The LMO2 T-cell oncogene is activated via chromosomal translocations or retroviral insertion during gene therapy but has no mandatory role in normal T-cell development. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23: 9003–9013.
- 132. Hiyoshi M, Koh KR, Yamane T, et al. Acute non-lymphoblastic leukaemia with t(16;21): case report with a review of the literature. Clin Lab Haematol 1995;17:243-246.
- Pereira DS, Dorrell C, Ito CY, et al. Retroviral transduction of TLS-ERG initiates a leukemogenic program in normal human hematopoietic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95: 8239–8244.
- 134. Marcucci G, Baldus CD, Ruppert AS, et al. Overexpression of the ETS-related gene, ERG, predicts a worse outcome in acute myeloid leukemia with normal karyotype: a Cancer and Leukemia Group B study. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:9234–9242.
- Hawkins JM, Craig JM, Secker-Walker LM, et al. Ewing's sarcoma t(11;22) in a case of acute nonlymphocytic leukemia. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1991;55:157–162.
- Sorensen PH, Shimada H, Liu XF, et al. Biphenotypic sarcomas with myogenic and neural differentiation express the Ewing's sarcoma EWS/FLI1 fusion gene. Cancer Res 1995;55: 1385–1392.
- Lin PP, Pandey MK, Jin F, et al. EWS-FLI1 induces developmental abnormalities and accelerates sarcoma formation in a transgenic mouse model. Cancer Res 2008;68: 8968–8975.
- Weiss R, Walz PH. Peripheral primitive neuroectodermal turnour in a lumbar vertebra and the liver of a dromedary camel (Camelus dromedarius). J Comp Pathol 2009;141:182–186.
- Finger LR, Harvey RC, Moore RC, et al. A common mechanism of chromosomal translocation in T- and B-cell neoplasia. Science 1986;234:982–985.
- Cremer T, Cremer C. Chromosome territories, nuclear architecture and gene regulation in mammalian cells. Nat Rev Genet 2001;2:292–301.
- Cremer M, Kupper K, Wagler B, et al. Inheritance of gene density-related higher order chromatin arrangements in normal and tumor cell nuclei. J Cell Biol 2003;162:809–820.
- 142. Taslerova R, Kozubek S, Lukasova E, et al. Arrangement of chromosome 11 and 22 territories, EWSR1 and FLI1 genes, and other genetic elements of these chromosomes in human lymphocytes and Ewing sarcoma cells. Hum Genet 2003;112: 143–155.
- 143. Ju BG, Lunyak VV, Perissi V, et al. A topoisomerase libetamediated dsDNA break required for regulated transcription. Science 2006;312:1798–1802.
- 144. Haffner MC, Aryee MJ, Toubaji A, et al. Androgen-induced TOP2B-mediated double-strand breaks and prostate cancer gene rearrangements. Nat Genet 2010;42:668–675.
- 145. Gurney JG, Swensen AR, and Bulterys M, Malignant Bone Tumors, in Cancer incidence and survival among children and adolescents: United States SEER Program 1975-1995, L.A.G. Ries, et al., editors. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute, SEER Program, NIH Pub. No. 99-4649. 1999; pp. 99-110.

CHAPTER 3

MICROSATTELITES AS EWS/FLI RESPONSE ELEMENTS

IN EWING'S SARCOMA

This work is reprinted with the permission of PNAS. The manuscript was originally published in Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105(29):10149-54.

Microsatellites as EWS/FLI response elements in Ewing's sarcoma

Kunal Gangwal*[†], Savita Sankar*[†], Peter C. Hollenhorst*[†], Michelle Kinsey*[†], Stephen C. Haroldsen[†], Atul A. Shah[†], Kenneth M. Boucher*[†], W. Scott Watkins[‡], Lynn B. Jorde[‡], Barbara J. Graves*[†], and Stephen L. Lessnick*^{†§¶}

*Department of Oncological Sciences, [†]Huntsman Cancer Institute, [‡]Department of Human Genetics, [§]Huntsman Cancer Institute Center for Children, and [¶]Division of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT 84112

Edited by Robert N. Eisenman, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, Seattle, WA, and approved May 3, 2008 (received for review February 4, 2008)

The ETS gene family is frequently involved in chromosome translocations that cause human cancer, including prostate cancer, leukemia, and sarcoma. However, the mechanisms by which oncogenic ETS proteins, which are DNA-binding transcription factors, target genes necessary for tumorigenesis is not well understood. Ewing's sarcoma serves as a paradigm for the entire class of ETS-associated tumors because nearly all cases harbor recurrent chromosomal translocations involving ETS genes. The most common translocation in Ewing's sarcoma encodes the EWS/FLI oncogenic transcription factor. We used whole genome localization (ChIP-chip) to identify target genes that are directly bound by EWS/FLI. Analysis of the promoters of these genes demonstrated a significant over-representation of highly repetitive GGAA-containing elements (microsatellites). In a parallel approach, we found that EWS/FLI uses GGAA microsatellites to regulate the expression of some of its target genes including NROB1, a gene required for Ewing's sarcoma oncogenesis. The microsatellite in the NROB1 promoter bound EWS/FLI in vitro and in vivo and was both necessary and sufficient to confer EWS/FLI regulation to a reporter gene. Genome wide computational studies demonstrated that GGAA microsatellites were enriched close to EWS/FLI-up-regulated genes but not down-regulated genes. Mechanistic studies demonstrated that the ability of EWS/FLI to bind DNA and modulate gene expression through these repetitive elements depended on the number of consecutive GGAA motifs. These findings illustrate an unprecedented route to specificity for ETS proteins and use of microsatellites in tumorigenesis.

ChIP-chip | transcription | gene regulation | ETS | NROB1

E TS proteins are extremely important in human tumor development. The first ETS gene, *v-ets*, was initially identified as part of the E26 avian erythroblastosis virus and corresponded to the human *ETS1* protooncogene (1, 2). Based on the presence of a DNA-binding ETS domain, 27 unique human ETS family members have been identified (3). ETS family members are frequently dysregulated and/or mutated in human cancers through dysregulated and/or mutated in human cancers through of prostate cancers harbor translocations between ETS genes (*ERG*, *ETV1*, or *ETV4*) and androgen-responsive genes indicates that ETS gene rearrangements may be the most common chromosomal abnormalities in human cancer (4, 5).

Most members of the ETS family bind to DNA sequences containing a GGAA (or in some cases, GGAT) core motif, with sequences flanking the GGAA core contributing to the affinity and specificity of the interaction (3, 6, 7). Because most cell lines examined express multiple ETS family members simultaneously, and because ETS factors in many cases are not functionally redundant, there are likely mechanisms to allow for gene-specific regulation by different ETS proteins (8). Indeed, recent whole genome localization studies have supported this concept by demonstrating that *in vivo* ETS-binding sites may be grouped into two classes (9): *(i)* high-affinity binding sites found close to transcription start sites and *(ii)* lower-affinity binding sites found in close proximity to low affinity binding sites for other transcription factors that allow for cooperative DNA binding.

Ewing's sarcoma was the first tumor in which ETS family members were shown to be involved in chromosomal translocations and serves as a paradigm for ETS-driven cancers (10). Ewing's sarcoma is a highly malignant solid tumor of children and young adults that usually harbors a recurrent chromosomal translocation, t(11;22)(q24;q12), that encodes the EWS/FLI fusion oncoprotein (10). The oncoprotein consists of a transcriptional activation domain from EWS, joined, in frame, to a region of the ETS transcription factor FLI harboring a DNAbinding domain (10–12). EWS/FLI functions as an aberrant transcription factor that regulates genes involved in the tumorigenic phenotype of Ewing's sarcoma (11–15).

EWS/FLI plays a critical role in establishing and maintaining the tumorigenic phenotype of Ewing's sarcoma cells (13, 15–18). Thus, EWS/FLI regulates its downstream target genes nonredundantly with other coexpressed ETS factors in Ewing's sarcoma (13, 15, 18). EWS/FLI gene expression signatures include genes that are important for Ewing's sarcoma oncogenesis, such as NROB1 (13). EWS/FLI up-regulates NROB1 in Ewing's sarcoma cells, and this up-regulation is required for their transformed phenotype (13). Whether NROB1 is regulated by EWS/ FLI directly, or through other intermediary proteins, is unknown. Indeed, the transcriptional response elements that EWS/FLI uses to regulate its target genes are largely unknown.

One difficulty in the study of EWS/FLI is that the human cell of origin of Ewing's sarcoma is not currently known. Thus, some studies of EWS/FLI function have relied on heterologous cell types as model systems, but results from these systems may not be applicable to the human disease (19, 20). We recently developed a system that allows for the study of EWS/FLI in a relevant model system: in Ewing's sarcoma itself (13, 15, 17, 20). To understand the mechanisms by which EWS/FLI regulates its target genes in Ewing's sarcoma itself, we undertook two parallel approaches, including a genome wide analysis of fusion proteinbinding sites in patient-derived Ewing's sarcoma cells and a directed analysis of EWS/FLI-regulated promoters. We found that EWS/FLI uses GGAA-containing microsatellites to regulate some of its target genes, including its key oncogenic target NR0B1. This demonstrates a new role for microsatellites in human cancer and suggests a unique mechanism for ETS transcription factor regulation of target genes.

Author contributions: K.G., S.S., M.K., and S.L.L. designed research; K.G., S.S., P.C.H., M.K., S.C.H., and W.S.W. performed research; S.C.H., A.A.S., K.M.B., and L.B.J. contributed new reagents/analytic tools; K.G., S.S., P.C.H., S.C.H., K.M.B., W.S.W., L.B.J., B.J.G., and S.L.L. analyzed data; and K.G., P.C.H., B.J.G., and S.L.L. wrote the paper.

The authors declare no conflict of interest. This article is a PNAS Direct Submission

To whom correspondence should be addressed at: Huntsman Cancer Institute, 2000 Circle of Hope, Room 4242, Salt Lake City, UT 84112. E-mail: stephen.lessnick@hci.utah.edu

This article contains supporting information online at www.pnas.org/cgi/content/full/ 0801073105/DCSupplemental.

^{© 2008} by The National Academy of Sciences of the USA

Results

EWS/FLI functions as an aberrant ETS-type transcription factor in Ewing's sarcoma to regulate genes involved in tumorigenesis (11). To identify genes that are direct EWS/FLI targets, we performed genome wide localization studies ("ChIP-chip") of the endogenous fusion protein in patient-derived A673 Ewing's sarcoma cells. Because wild-type FLI protein is not expressed in these cells, the anti-FLI antibody used for these studies only immunoprecipitates EWS/FLI in this context (15). Agilent 244k promoter microarrays were used, which interrogate ~17,000 human promoters from -5.5 kb to +2.5 kb relative to the transcriptional start site. Approximately 900 genes were identified that were directly bound by EWS/FLI [supporting information (SI) Dataset S1 (XLS)]. These included previously identified direct targets, such as TGFBR2, CAV1, and IGFBP3 (18, 21, 22).

Of importance, the gene whose promoter was most highly enriched in the ChIP-chip dataset was NR0B1. NR0B1 is regulated by EWS/FLI in Ewing's sarcoma cells and is absolutely required for the oncogenic phenotype of Ewing's sarcoma (13). This earlier study was not able to determine whether NR0B1 was a direct or indirect target of EWS/FLI. The ChIP-chip data demonstrate that NR0B1 is bound by EWS/FLI and suggest that it may be regulated directly by the fusion oncoprotein. Inspection of the promoter did not reveal any sequences matching the previously identified *in vitro* high-affinity ETS-binding site, which also binds FLI and EWS-FLI with high affinity (ACCG-GAAG/aT/c; data not shown; ref. 23). We, therefore, sought to understand the regulation of this key target to understand how EWS/FLI might function in the absence of a high-affinity binding site.

We cloned ≈ 1.6 kb of the *NR0B1* promoter upstream of the luciferase cDNA and used this reporter construct to test for EWS/FLI responsiveness. Knock down of endogenous EWS/FLI (using the EF-2-RNAi retroviral construct) (15) showed that this promoter fragment was responsive to the fusion protein (Fig. 1A). This promoter fragment was also EWS/FLI-responsive in a heterologous cell type (293EBNA; Fig. 1B). These data support the notion that *NR0B1* is a direct EWS/FLI target gene.

To identify the EWS/FLI response element in the NR0B1 promoter, a series of deletion constructs were tested in the luciferase reporter assay. We found that EWS/FLI responsiveness was contained within the -1.6 to -1.1 kb promoter region (Fig. 1B). This 500-bp region was also sufficient to confer EWS/FLI responsiveness to a minimal promoter derived from SV40 (data not shown).

Whereas the 500-bp *NR0B1* promoter region did not contain high-affinity ETS-binding elements (ACCGGAAG/aT/c) (23), it did contain a 102-bp microsatellite consisting of 25 GGAA repeats (as well as two single base insertions; Fig. 1C). Because ETS family members, including EWS/FLI, bind with high affinity to consensus sequences containing a GGAA core element (9), we hypothesized that the GGAA microsatellite might represent a previously unrecognized *in vivo* EWS/FLI-binding element. We cloned the 102-bp GGAA microsatellite into a luciferase reporter construct that contained a minimal promoter derived from SV40. The microsatellite was sufficient to mediate EWS/ FLI responsiveness in heterologous 293EBNA cells (Fig. 1D). Thus, the GGAA microsatellite is the EWS/FLI response element in the *NR0B1* promoter.

In a parallel approach to identify potential EWS/FLI binding and response elements, we used an unbiased computational approach [multiple Em for motif elicitation (MEME)] (24) to identify sequence motifs that were enriched near the most highly EWS/FLI-bound DNA fragments identified in the ChIP-chip experiment. The MEME analysis identified a sequence (ACCG-GAAGTG; E value = 1.4×10^{-40}) that perfectly matched the



Fig. 1. The GGAA microsatellites in the NROB1 and FCGRT promoters are the EWS/FLI response elements. (A) TC71 Ewing's sarcoma cells cotransfected with a 1.6-kb NR0B1 promoter luciferase vector and either EF-2-RNAi (targeting EWS/FLI) or ERG-RNAi (negative control). The "control vector" does not contain NROB1 promoter elements. The error bars the figure indicate SDs, and asterisks indicate P < 0.05. (B) 293EBNA cells cotransfected with the indicated NROB1 promoter luciferase vectors (containing the indicated amount of promoter sequence upstream of the transcriptional start site) and an EWS/FLI (or empty control) cDNA expression vector. The control vector does not contain NROB1 promoter elements. (C) NROB1 promoter with GGAA microsatellite indicated. The microsatellite contains 25 GGAA repeats. (D) Luciferase assays in 293EBNA cells with the full 102-bp NROB1 microsatellite upstream of a minimal promoter element. The control vector does not contain the microsatellite, but does contain the minimal promoter element. (E and F) Luciferase reporter assays by using 293EBNA cells and either the indicated FCGRT promoter deletion constructs or the isolated FCGRT GGAA microsatellite upstream of a minimal promoter, respectively. Of note, the FCGRT microsatellite is present at approximately -1.6 kb upstream of the transcriptional start site.

previously described high-affinity ETS-binding element (23). However, the most highly enriched sequence identified by MEME was a repetitive GGAA motif (that corresponded to the microsatellite sequence in the *NR0B1* promoter; GGAAG-GAAGGAAGGAA; *E* value = 1×10^{-173}). The GGAArepetitive sequence element was identified in 12 of the 134 top EWS/FLI-bound gene promoters (9%) that were used for this analysis. There was virtually no overlap between promoter elements that harbored GGAA microsatellites vs. those that contained the high-affinity ETS-binding elements (data not shown).



Fig. 3. Enrichment of GGAA microsatellites in the promoters of EWS/FLI-up-regulated genes. (A) Cumulative portion of microsatellites (GGAA or GGAT) plotted as a function of distance between the microsatellites and the closest 5' gene edge. (B) Correlation between EWS/FLI-up- and -down-regulated genes (in red and blue, respectively) and microsatellite distance analyzed by Fisher's exact test in the A673 Ewing's sarcoma cell line. Significant correlations cross over the "Bonferroni line" (see Methods). N.B., only up-regulated genes vs. GGAA microsatellites can be seen at the scales used.

fragments bearing five, six, or seven repeats. Similar results were obtained with highly purified, recombinant FLI-derived protein (data not shown). These *in vitro* binding studies demonstrated direct binding and strongly suggested that *in vivo* occupancy detected by ChIP experiments was attributable to sequence-specific DNA binding between EWS/FLI and the microsatellite repeats and did not require other cellular proteins. Interestingly, nuclear extract containing 3xFLAG-FLI also showed a similar binding pattern with these variable repeats oligonucleotides (Fig. S1.4).

Promoter fragments with the same set of synthetic GGAA repeats were tested for transcriptional activity in the context of the minimal SV40 promoter. Transcriptional activity required at least five consecutive GGAA repeats and exhibited increased activity with six and seven repeats (Fig. 4C). Similar results were observed with DNA probes representing the endogenous *NR0B1* microsatellite (data not shown). Wild-type FLI, on the other hand, was not able to regulate reporter gene activity via the *NR0B1* microsatellite (Fig. S1B). Taken together, although both EWS/FLI and FLI are capable of binding GGAA microsatellites, only EWS/FLI is able to transcriptionally activate via these elements.

Discussion

Our findings demonstrate that EWS/FLI uses GGAAcontaining microsatellites as specific response elements for a subset of fusion protein-up-regulated genes. The use of microsatellites as cancer-relevant genetic elements has not been previously demonstrated. Up-regulation of the EWS/FLI target gene NR0B1 has been shown previously to be necessary for the transformed phenotype of patient-derived Ewing's sarcoma cells (13). The present report demonstrates that the regulation of NR0B1 by EWS/FLI depends on the GGAA microsatellite in the NR0B1 promoter. Similarly, a second EWS/FLI-regulated gene, CAV1, which also contains a GGAA microsatellite in its promoter, has also been shown to be involved in the tumorigenic phenotype of Ewing's sarcoma (22). Although the cancerrelevant protein p53 has been shown to use a microsatellite as a response element at one of its target genes, *PIG3*, no functional role for PIG3 has been defined in tumorigenesis (26). Thus, the data presented in this report suggest a new role for microsatellites in human cancer development.

Experimental analysis of DNA probes and promoter fragments with variable numbers of repeats indicated that at least four to five consecutive GGAA motifs are required for DNA binding and gene activation and that the efficiency of these processes increased with increasing numbers of repeats. These results suggest interactions between multiple binding events. We speculate that protein-protein interactions may mediate cooperative DNA binding or that the presence of multiple sites affects the local effective concentration of active protein. Both phenomena could explain the use of suboptimal binding sequences within the GGAA-repetitive elements. The relatively high ChIP signal from the in vivo occupancy study and direct ChIP experiment is consistent with a mechanism that enhances the binding affinity of EWS/FLI to the microsatellites. Whereas eukaryotic promoters are often characterized by multiple transcription factor binding sites in close proximity, these findings indicate that the GGAA repetitive elements have emergent properties and do not simply represent a collection of independent binding sites.

In addition to the length-dependent interaction between EWS/FLI and GGAA microsatellites, other features may contribute to the selection of certain microsatellites as EWS/FLIbinding targets. Indeed, only \approx 30% of GGAA microsatellites that could be detected by the Agilent promoter microarray used in our studies were bound by EWS/FLI (S.C.H., K.G., and S.S., unpublished observations). Furthermore, we have been unable to detect binding of endogenous wild-type FLI to GGAA microsatellites in Jurkat T cells (K.G., unpublished observation), nor have we observed enrichment of GGAA microsatellite binding in previously published ChIP-chip data of three other ETS transcription factors, ETS1, ELF, and GABP α (P.C.H., unpublished observation; ref. 9). Additional features that may contribute to ETS protein binding to microsatellites *in vivo* include local chromatin structure, nucleosome positioning, and
А	0 repeats	gtacggcagggaggcaggcagggaggcagggagatc
	1 repeats	gtacggaagggaggcaggcagggaggcagggagatc
	2 repeats	gtacggaaggaaggcaggcagggaggcagggagatc
	3 repeats	gtacggaaggaaggaaggcagggaggagatc
	4 repeats	gtacggaaggaaggaaggaagggaggcagggagatc
	5 repeats	gtacggaaggaaggaaggaaggaaggcagggagatc
	6 repeats	gtacggaaggaaggaaggaaggaagggagatc
	7 repeats	gtacqqaaqqaaqqaaqqaaqqaaqqaaqatc



Fig. 4. Ability of EWS/FLI to bind and activate via GGAA repetitive regions depends on the number of consecutive GGAA motifs. (A) Sequences of the oligonucleotides used for these analyses. The GGAA repeats are underlined. (B) Left shows an EMSA with a DNA duplex containing seven consecutive GGAA motifs. A specific EWS/FLI band is present when 3xFLAG-EWS/FLI from nuclear extracts is included. This specific band is supershifted with anti-FLAG antibody and competed with DNA duplex (I) containing a high-affinity ETS site but is not competed with DNA duplex (II) containing a PU.1 site that does not bind EWS/FLI (14). A control extract that does not contain EWS/FLI produces only nonspecific binding (indicated by "ns"). Right shows EMSA with DNA duplexes containing the indicated number of consecutive GGAA motifs and 3xFLAG-EWS/FLI. The positions of specific EWS/FLI-bound complexes are indicated. (C) Luciferase assays in 293EBNA cells with 36-bp sequence containing the indicated number of consecutive GGAA motifs (as indicated in A) upstream of a minimal promoter. The error bars indicate SDs, and asterisks indicate P < 0.05.

the presence of other bound proteins at these sites, all of which may modulate the accessibility of the microsatellite for ETS protein binding. Minor sequence variations could also play a role in binding affinity to these sites. Additionally, although EWS/ FLI can bind to microsatellite sequences *in vitro* without the assistance of other proteins (K.G., unpublished observations), it is possible that other proteins are required for binding *in vivo*. We demonstrated that both EWS/FLI and wild-type FLI bind to GGAA microsatellites with similar efficiency *in vitro*, but only EWS/FLI is capable of activating a microsatellite-containing reporter construct (Fig. S1). This suggests that activation of genes through these microsatellites, but not microsatellite binding, is a neomorphic function of the EWS/FLI fusion protein. Whereas these data suggest that the use of microsatellites by EWS/FLI may be a unique function of the fusion protein in Ewing's sarcoma, additional work will be required to fully address this question.

One interesting implication of this work is that differences in microsatellites (e.g., size, sequence, or location) could result in differences in Ewing's sarcoma susceptibility. Ewing's sarcoma is ~10 times more prevalent in Caucasian populations than in African American populations (27). It may be that some microsatellites that regulate cancer-relevant EWS/FLI target genes are polymorphic between populations. Five microsatellites (including the *NR0B1* microsatellite) were analyzed for length polymorphisms in genomic DNA from groups of individuals of defined ethnic backgrounds (CEPH reference panel) (28). Whereas we did not detect any significant length polymorphism differences between African and European populations in this small series (W.S.W. and L.B.J., unpublished observations), a more comprehensive analysis is needed to fully evaluate this hypothesis.

Ewing's sarcoma has only been observed in humans. Thus, no other organism develops Ewing's sarcoma spontaneously, nor have genetically engineered mouse models of Ewing's sarcoma been reported. We speculate that at least part of this difference in susceptibility is related to differences in GGAA microsatellites between organisms. For example, there is no GGAAcontaining microsatellite in the Mus musculus Nr0b1 promoter, even though there are thousands of such microsatellites in the murine genome (data not shown). Murine Nr0b1 is not induced by EWS/FLI in NIH 3T3 cells (M.K., unpublished observation). Similarly, the GGAA microsatellites found in the EWS/FLI target genes FCGRT and CAV1 are also absent in the murine orthologs (data not shown). This suggests that even if the EWS/FLI fusion were expressed in mice, either spontaneously or via genetic engineering, it would not up-regulate critical genes required for oncogenic transformation, and thus tumors would not form (13, 22). This has important implications for the development of a genetically engineered mouse model of Ewing's sarcoma and may explain why Ewing's sarcoma development is limited to humans.

Methods

DNA Cloning. The 3xFLAG-EWS/FLI MSCV-hygro retroviral expression construct and the EF-2-RNAi retroviral construct have been described previously (15, 19). 3xFLAG-FLI was prepared by using standard molecular biology approaches and was cloned into the MSCV-neo retroviral plasmid. Full-length and 5' deleted *NR0B1* and *FCGRT* promoters were cloned into the pGL3-Basic luciferase reporter vector (Promega Corporation). Constructs without promoter elements (e.g., the 500 bp *NR0B1* microsatellite region, isolated microsatel lites, and constructs containing varying numbers of GGAA motifs) were cloned into the pGL3-Promoter vector (Promega Corporation).

Cell Culture. TC71, A673, and 293EBNA cells were cultured as described previously (13, 15, 29).

Luciferase Assays. 293EBNA or TC71 cells were transfected with each firefly reporter, *Renilla* plasmid, and cDNA or RNAi plasmids. Firefly luciferase activity was normalized to *Renilla* luciferase activity to control for transfection efficiency. Two-tailed Student's t tests were used for statistical comparisons.

EMSA. Nuclear extracts were prepared from 293EBNA cells transfected with 3xFLAG-EWS/FLI, 3xFLAG-FLI, or empty vector control expression plasmids. Twenty milligrams of nuclear extract protein, 5 nM [³²P]-labeled probes, and 1× Gel Shift Binding Buffer (Promega Corporation) were used in each reaction. DNA duplex (I) (500 nM) (containing a high-affinity EWS/FLI-binding site, called "ETS2 probe" in ref. 12) and 500 nM DNA duplex (II) (bearing a variant

To test whether other genes use their GGAA microsatellites as EWS/FLI response elements, we analyzed the *FCGRT* promoter. *FCGRT* was also identified as an EWS/FLI-bound target in the ChIP-chip analysis and contains a GGAA microsatellite at approximately -1.6 kb relative to its transcriptional start site. A 2-kb region of the *FCGRT* promoter was EWS/FLI-responsive in luciferase reporter assays (Fig. 1*E*). Deletion analysis of the promoter demonstrated that the GGAA microsatellite containing region was necessary for EWS/FLI responsiveness (Fig. 1*E*). Furthermore, the GGAA microsatellite was sufficient to confer EWS/FLI responsiveness to a reporter containing a minimal SV40 promoter (Fig. 1*F*). These data provide an independent confirmation of the role of GGAA microsatellites as EWS/FLI response elements.

To further validate *in vivo* occupancy of GGAA microsatellites by EWS/FLI, directed ChIP experiments were performed at six microsatellite-containing genes: *NR0B1*, *FCGRT*, *CAV1*, *CACNB2*, *FEZF1*, and *KIAA1797*. Each of these genes contain GGAA microsatellites within 5 kb of their transcriptional start sites. We found that EWS/FLI bound to each of these GGAA microsatellite-containing promoters *in vivo* but not to control *TP53* or *RPS26* promoters, neither of which contain GGAA microsatellites (Fig. 2). None of the six microsatellite-containing promoters was significantly occupied by two other members of the ETS family, ETS1 or ELK1 (Fig. 2). Thus, binding of these promoters appears to be specific to EWS/FLI.

To determine whether EWS/FLI regulation through microsatellites is a generalized phenomenon in Ewing's sarcoma, we asked whether there was a correlation between the presence of a GGAA-containing microsatellite and EWS/FLI responsiveness. All 2,577 GGAA microsatellite-containing genes in the human genome were mapped, and the distances between the microsatellites and the transcriptional start sites were determined. As a control, all 942 GGAT microsatellite-containing genes were similarly identified and mapped. The distribution of GGAA and GGAT microsatellites relative to adjacent genes was similar (Fig. 3A). Genes were rank-ordered by distance between the microsatellite and the transcriptional start site. Fisher's exact test was then performed reiteratively to determine whether there was an over-representation of EWS/FLI-up- or -down-regulated genes at each rank position. The very conservative Bonferroni correction was applied to control for multiple hypothesis testing. A dataset derived from A673 cells showed significant enrichment of EWS/FLI-up-regulated genes within 5 kb of GGAAcontaining microsatellites (Fig. 3B). EWS/FLI-down-regulated genes were not enriched, and there was no enrichment of EWS/FLI-regulated genes when compared to GGAT-containing microsatellites (Fig. 3B). A second independent EWS/FLI dataset derived from two other Ewing's sarcoma cell lines (TC71 and EWS502) showed a similar pattern of enrichment of EWS/FLIregulated genes close to GGAA, but not GGAT, microsatellites (data not shown).

A series of controls that included either randomly sampled gene sets or published "cancer gene neighborhood" gene sets [group C4 from the Molecular Signature Database (MsigDB version 2, January 2007 release; http://www.broad.mit.edu/gsea/ msigdb/msigdb_index.html)] were tested in the same analyses. The A673 and TC71/EWS502 Ewing's sarcoma datasets were significantly enriched over the randomly sampled gene sets (P = 0.0005 and P = 0.0001, respectively) and were also significantly enriched as compared to the "cancer gene neighborhood" gene sets (P = 0.005 and P = 0.007, respectively). These data strongly suggest that the use of GGAA microsatellites as EWS/FLI response elements for gene up-regulation is not limited to *NR0B1* and *FCGRT* but is more widespread.

The *in vivo* occupancy and direct ChIP experiments suggested direct binding between the ETS domain of EWS/FLI and the microsatellite repeat. However, the GGAA tandem repeats are



Fig. 2. EWS/FLI occupies GGAA microsatellite containing promoters *in vivo*. Chromatin immunoprecipitation of the indicated promoters from A673 Ewing's sarcoma cells by using antibodies against FLI (which recognizes EWS/FLI), ETS1, or ELK1. Data are plotted as fold enrichment for each region compared to the average enrichment of two negative control genes. The error bars indicate SEMs of two to five independent experiments.

spaced too closely for each to be used as a binding site for an ETS domain. Site size requirement experiments indicate that an ETS domain requires at least 15 bp of DNA duplex, although only 9-10 bp show sequence preference (25). Furthermore, the GGAA flanks surrounding the GGAA core of a microsatellite/ repetitive element do not create a sequence similar to the selected consensus site for FLI (23). To evaluate the binding properties of the repetitive elements, we performed electrophoretic mobility shift assays with DNA probes bearing variable number of repeats (Fig. 4A). Initially, nuclear extract from cells expressing recombinant 3xFLAG-EWS/FLI were used. EWS/ FLI-specific DNA complexes were detected as confirmed by supershifts with anti-FLAG antibodies and competition experiments (Fig. 4B). A minimum of four repeats was necessary to detect binding (Fig. 4B). This result indicated that the 9- to 10-bp sequence centered within three repeats, GAAGGAAGGA, does not create a strong binding site and suggested that the affinity of EWS/FLI for the microsatellite might be enhanced by multiple binding events possible with additional repeats. Indeed, the mobility of the shifted complex was reduced with added number of repeats suggesting multiple binding events on the ETS motif, which binds the ETS protein PU.1, but not EWS/FLI, called "PU.1 probe" in ref. 12) were used as specific and nonspecific unlabeled competitors for protein binding, respectively.

ChIP and Whole Genome Localization Studies (ChIP-chip). ChIP from A673 cells was performed as previously described (9), by using anti-ETS1, anti-ELK1, or anti-FL1-1 antibodies (sc-350, sc-355, or sc-356, respectively; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc.). Quantitative PCR was performed with NR0B1, FCGRT, CAV1, CACNB2, FEZF1 (LOC389549), KIAA1797 (hsa-mir-491), RPS26, or TP53 primers and with ALB and BCL21 primers (as normalization controls). See Table S1 for sequences. For ChIP-chip, anti-FLI immunoprecipitated genomic DNA samples from A673 cells (two independent biological replicates) were processed and hybridized to Agilent 244k promoter microarrays, as described (9). These microarrays interrogate ~17-kb human promoters from -5.5 to +2.5 kb relative to the transcriptional start site. Initial analysis of the datasets was performed by using the Agilent ChIP Analytics software (version 1.3.1) to average both replicates as previously described (9).

MEME. After processing the ChIP-chip data via the Agilent ChIP Analytics software, the most highly enriched DNA probe for each gene was identified. In some cases, the software package identified two enriched segments, suggesting that there were two separate EWS/FLI-binding sites in that gene. In each case, the genomic DNA sequence for the region surrounding the most enriched probe(s) (including the adjacent proximal and distal probes) were downloaded from the University of California at Santa Cruz Genome Browser (http://genome.ucsc.edu) by using the May 2004 Human genome assembly. Because of input data size limitations of the web-based MEME application (http://meme.sdsc.edu/meme/meme.html; version 3.5.7), only 60 kb of sequence could be used as input data (24). This corresponded to sequences from the 134 most highly enriched promoter fragments. The data were analyzed with the following parameters: any number of repetitions, minimum width of eight bases, maximum width of 16 bases, and identify two motifs.

Genome Wide in Silico Analysis. For the purposes of this study, microsatellites were defined as sequence elements that contained at least 20 GGAA (or GGAT)

- Nunn MF, Seeburg PH, Moscovici C, Duesberg PH (1983) Tripartite structure of the avian erythroblastosis virus E26 transforming gene. Nature 306:391–395.
- de Taisne C, Gegonne A, Stehelin D, Bernheim A, Berger R (1984) Chromosomal localization of the human proto-oncogene c-ets. Nature 310:581–583.
- Seth A, Watson DK (2005) ETS transcription factors and their emerging roles in human cancer. Eur J Cancer 41:2462–2478.
- Tomlins SA, et al. (2006) TMPRSS2:ETV4 gene fusions define a third molecular subtype of prostate cancer. Cancer Res 66:3396–3400.
- Tomlins SA, et al. (2005) Recurrent fusion of TMPRSS2 and ETS transcription factor genes in prostate cancer. Science 310:644–648.
- Sharrocks AD (2001) The ETS-domain transcription factor family. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2:827–837.
- Szymczyna BR, Arrowsmith CH (2000) DNA binding specificity studies of four ETS proteins support an indirect read-out mechanism of protein-DNA recognition. J Biol Chem 275:28363–28370.
- Hollenhorst PC, Jones DA, Graves BJ (2004) Expression profiles frame the promoter specificity dilemma of the ETS family of transcription factors. *Nucleic Acids Res* 32:5693–5702.
- Hollenhorst PC, Shah AA, Hopkins C, Graves BJ (2007) Genome-wide analyses reveal properties of redundant and specific promoter occupancy within the ETS gene family. *Genes Dev* 21:1882–1894.
- Delattre O, et al. (1992) Gene fusion with an ETS DNA-binding domain caused by chromosome translocation in human tumours. Nature 359:162–165.
- May WA, et al. (1993) Ewing sarcoma 11;22 translocation produces a chimeric transcription factor that requires the DNA-binding domain encoded by FLI1 for transformation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90:5752–5756.
- May WA, et al. (1993) The Ewing's sarcoma EWS/FLI-1 fusion gene encodes a more potent transcriptional activator and is a more powerful transforming gene than FLI-1. Mol Cell Biol 13:7393–7398.
- Kinsey M, Smith R, Lessnick SL (2006) NR0B1 is required for the oncogenic phenotype mediated by EWS/FLI in Ewing's sarcoma. *Mol Cancer Res* 4:851–859.
- Lessnick SL, Braun BS, Denny CT, May WA (1995) Multiple domains mediate transformation by the Ewing's sarcoma EWS/FLI-1 fusion gene. Oncogene 10:423–431.
- Smith R, et al. (2006) Expression profiling of EWS/FLI identifies NKX2.2 as a critical target gene in Ewing's sarcoma. Cancer Cell 9:405–416.

For A673 cells, previously published "stable knockdown" data consisting of 320 EWS/FLI-up-regulated and 1,151 EWS/FLI-down-regulated genes were used (15). For TC71 and EWS502, the 1,610 EWS/FLI-up-regulated and 436 EWS/FLI-down-regulated gene sets derived from a similar stable knockdown experiment were used (13). ProbeIDs were mapped to their Ensembl identifiers by using the HG-U133A.na21.annot.csv and HG-U133A.2.annot.csv (September 2005 release) annotation files from Affymetrix. Probes without associated Ensembl identifiers were masked from further analysis.

For the Fisher's exact test analyses, the microsatellite-neighboring genes were rank-ordered based on distance between the microsatellite and the gene. Fisher's exact test was performed at each position of the rank-ordered list by using the following two-by-two table: genes with microsatellites at or closer than a particular distance (where the distance increases with each iteration of the analysis) vs. those greater than that particular distance and genes that are EWS/FLI-regulated vs. those that are not. EWS/FLI-up- or -down-regulated genes from A673 cells or TC71/EWS502 cells were considered in separate analyses (13, 15). The total number of genes analyzed was the intersection between genes containing microsatellites that were also present on the U133A microarray (Affymetrix). The Bonferroni correction was calculated by dividing 0.05 by the total number of genes in each analysis.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS. We thank Don Ayer for critical reading of the manuscript, Bradley Cairns and members of the laboratory of S.L.L. for helpful discussions, and Whitney Tolpinrud for technical assistance. This work was supported by funds awarded to S.L.L. from the National Cancer Institute (K08 CA96755), Hope Street Kids, the Liddy Shriver Sarcoma Initiative, Primary Children's Medical Center Foundation, the Terri Anna Perine Sarcoma Fund, and Huntsman Cancer Institute/Huntsman Cancer Foundation. We also acknowledge support from the National Institutes of Health to the Huntsman Cancer Institute (Grant P30 CA 42014), to B.J.G. (Grant R01 GM38663), and to L.B.J. (Grant R01 GM59290 and R01 HL070048).

- Ouchida M, Ohno T, Fujimura Y, Rao VN, Reddy ES (1995) Loss of tumorigenicity of Ewing's sarcoma cells expressing antisense RNA to EWS-fusion transcripts. Oncogene 11:1049–1054.
- Owen LA, Lessnick SL (2006) Identification of target genes in their native cellular context: An analysis of EWS/FLI in Ewing's sarcoma. Cell Cycle 5:2049–2053.
- Prieur A, Tirode F, Cohen P, Delattre O (2004) EWS/FLI-1 silencing and gene profiling of Ewing cells reveal downstream oncogenic pathways and a crucial role for repression of insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3. *Mol Cell Biol* 24:7275–7283.
- Braunreiter CL, Hancock JD, Coffin CM, Boucher KM, Lessnick SL (2006) Expression of EWS-ETS fusions in NIH3T3 cells reveals significant differences to Ewing's sarcoma. Cell Cycle 5:2753–2759.
- Hancock JD, Lessnick SL (2008) A transcriptional profiling meta-analysis reveals a core EWS-FLI gene expression signature. Cell Cycle 7:250–256.
- Hahm KB, et al. (1999) Repression of the gene encoding the TGF-beta type II receptor is a major target of the EWS-FLI1 oncoprotein. Nat Genet 23:222–227.
- Tirado OM, et al. (2006) Caveolin-1 (CAV1) is a target of EWS/FLI-1 and a key determinant of the oncogenic phenotype and tumorigenicity of Ewing's sarcoma cells. Cancer Res 66:9937-9947.
- Mao X, Miesfeldt S, Yang H, Leiden JM, Thompson CB (1994) The FLI-1 and chimeric EWS-FLI-1 oncoproteins display similar DNA binding specificities. J Biol Chem 269:18216–18222.
- Balley TL, Elkan C (1994) Fitting a mixture model by expectation maximization to discover motifs in biopolymers. Proc Int Conf Intell Syst Mol Biol 2:28–36.
- Gillespie ME (1998) A structural and genetic investigation of DNA binding by the murine Ets-1 Ets domain, a winged HTH transcription factor. PhD thesis. (University of Utah, Salt Lake City).
- Contente A, Dittmer A, Koch MC, Roth J, Dobbelstein M (2002) A polymorphic microsatellite that mediates induction of PIG3 by p53. Nat Genet 30:315–320.
- Gurney JG, Swensen AR, Bultenys M (1999) Malignant bone tumors. Cancer Incidence and Survival Among Children and Adolescents: United States SEER Program 1975–1995, eds. Ries LAG, et al. (Natl Cancer Inst, SEER Program, Bethesda, MD), DHHS Publ No (NIH) 99-4649, pp 99–110.
- Dausset J, et al. (1990) Centre d'etude du polymorphisme humain (CEPH): Collaborative genetic mapping of the human genome. Genomics 6:575–577.
- Lessnick SL, Dacwag CS, Golub TR (2002) The Ewing's sarcoma oncoprotein EWS/FLI induces a p53-dependent growth arrest in primary human fibroblasts. Cancer Cell 1:393–401.

Supporting Information

Gangwal et al. 10.1073/pnas.0801073105



Fig. S1. Wild-type FLI binds, but does not activate, via GGAA-repetitive regions. (A) EMSA with DNA duplexes containing the indicated number of consecutive GGAA motifs and 3xFLAG-FLI. The positions of specific FLI-bound complexes are indicated. Nonspecific binding is indicated by "ns". (B) Luciferase assays in 293EBNA cells with a reporter construct containing the NR0B1 GGAA-containing microsatellite upstream of a minimal promoter (+) or an "empty" reporter construct that does not contain the microsatellite (-). Cells were transfected with either 3xFLAG-EWS/FLI, 3xFLAG-FLI or an empty vector control. Error bars indicate SDs, and asterisks indicate P < 0.05. Of note, 3xFLAG-FLI was expressed at similar levels to 3xFLAG-EWS/FLI, as determined by Western blot (data not shown).

www.pnas.org/cgi/content/short/0801073105

Table S1. Primer sets used for real-time PCR validation of ChIP enrichments

Locus	Forward primer	Reverse primer
NR0B1 primer set	GATTCTGTATCAGCTGGTATATACC	GCATCAGGAAGCCTGGATCC
FCGRT primer set	GAAAGCAGATGAATGGTTGCCAGG	CTGTCACCTCTATCCGAGTTCC
CAV1 primer set	GGTTCAAGAGTACATGTGCAGG	GGGAGTAGGCTTTGTAGCTGG
CACNB2 primer set	GCAAGACTGTAAGCCCCATGG	CTAGGACACATTCAGAATCTGGC
FEZF1 primer set	GTGCGGCTAACCTGTTCTACG	GGTCTGGCTCCTGTGTGC
KIAA1797 primer set	GTAGGTGACCTAGAGGGCC	GAAGGCAGGTGGTAAAGCAGG
RPS26 primer set	CAGCAGAAATGCTGAATGTAAAGG	CATGAGATCCCTACGCGGAC
TP53 primer set	GCCTATATCAGTGCTGGGTAG	ACCTCTTCTGCATCTCATTCTC
ALB primer set	GGTATGCCTGGCCCAAGTACTC	CTCCTTATCGTCAGCCTTGC
BCL2L1 primer set	CACTCCCAGTCCAAATGTCC	GAGGCCATAAACAGCTCTGG

Other Supporting Information File

Dataset S1 (PDF)

www.pnas.org/cgi/content/short/0801073105

Additional supporting information can be found: http://www.pnas.org/content/105/29/10149/suppl/DCSupplemental 2 of 2

CHAPTER 4

GSTM4 IS A MICROSATELLITE-CONTAINING EWS/FLI TARGET INVOLVED IN EWING'S SARCOMA ONCOGENESIS AND THERAPEUTIC

RESISTANCE

This work is reprinted with the permission of Oncogene. The manuscript was originally published in Oncogene 2009; 28(46):4126-4132.

www.nature.com/onc

SHORT COMMUNICATION

GSTM4 is a microsatellite-containing EWS/FLI target involved in Ewing's sarcoma oncogenesis and therapeutic resistance

W Luo^{1,2}, K Gangwal^{1,2}, S Sankar^{1,2}, KM Boucher¹, D Thomas³ and SL Lessnick^{1,2,4}

¹Department of Oncological Sciences, University of Utah School of Medicine, Salt Lake City, UT, USA; ²The Center for Children's Cancer Research, Huntsman Cancer Institute, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, USA; ³Department of Pathology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA and ⁴Division of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology, University of Utah School of Medicine, Salt Lake City, UT, USA

Ewing's sarcoma is a malignant bone-associated tumor of children and young adults. Most cases of Ewing's sarcoma express the EWS/FLI fusion protein. EWS/FLI functions as an aberrant ETS-type transcription factor and serves as the master regulator of Ewing's sarcoma-transformed phenotype. We recently showed that EWS/FLI regulates one of its key targets, NR0B1, through a GGAAmicrosatellite in its promoter. Whether other critical EWS/FLI targets are also regulated by GGAA-microsatellites was unknown. In this study, we combined transcriptional analysis, whole genome localization data, and RNA interference knockdown to identify glutathione S-transferase M4 (GSTM4) as a critical EWS/FLI target gene in Ewing's sarcoma. We found that EWS/FLI directly binds the GSTM4 promoter, and regulates GSTM4 expression through a GGAA-microsatellite in its promoter. Reduction of GSTM4 levels caused a loss of oncogenic transformation. Furthermore, reduction of GSTM4 resulted in an increased sensitivity of Ewing's sarcoma cells to chemotherapeutic agents, suggesting a role for this protein in drug resistance. Consistent with this hypothesis, patients with Ewing's sarcoma whose tumors had higher levels of GSTM4 expression had worse outcomes than those with lower expression levels. These data show that GSTM4 contributes to the cancerous behavior of Ewing's sarcoma and define a wider role for GGAA-microsatellites in EWS/FLI function than previously appreciated. These data also suggest a novel therapeutic resistance mechanism, in which the central oncogenic abnormality directly regulates a resistance gene.

Oncogene (2009) 28, 4126-4132; doi:10.1038/onc.2009.262; published online 31 August 2009

Keywords: Ewing's sarcoma; EWS/FLI; GSTM4; transformation

E-mail: stephen.lessnick@hci.utah.edu

Most cases of Ewing's sarcoma harbor recurrent chromosomal translocations, the most common of which encodes the EWS/FLI fusion oncoprotein (Delattre et al., 1992). EWS/FLI requires both its strong transcriptional activation domain (derived from EWS) and its ETS-type DNA-binding domain (derived from FLI) for oncogenic function (May et al., 1993a, b). A variety of studies have identified a large number of EWS/FLI-regulated genes (Prieur et al., 2004; Smith et al., 2006). However, only a handful of these genes have been shown to participate in Ewing's sarcoma oncogenesis. It seems likely that other EWS/FLIregulated genes will be involved in oncogenic transformation or other cancer-relevant phenotypes, such as invasion, migration, angiogenesis or drug resistance. One of the challenges, however, for identifying which EWS/FLI targets participate in cancer-relevant phenotypes is the complexity of assays required to assess many of these phenotypes, which precludes the development of high-throughput screening approaches. An alternate approach, then, is to limit the number of gene products to be assessed in a lower-throughput screening assays, for example, by comparing microarray profiles across multiple different experiments (Kinsey et al., 2006; Hancock and Lessnick, 2008), or by identifying which genes are 'direct' EWS/FLI targets (Gangwal et al., 2008).

We recently showed that EWS/FLI uses a GGAAmicrosatellite to regulate *NR0B1*, a gene that is required for oncogenic transformation in Ewing's sarcoma cells (Kinsey *et al.*, 2006; Gangwal *et al.*, 2008). During the course of these studies, we identified thousands of GGAA-microsatellite-containing genes, suggesting that at least a portion of these might be regulated by direct binding of EWS/FLI to their promoters. We further hypothesized that other GGAA-microsatellite-containing genes might also be required for oncogenic transformation, or other cancer-relevant phenotypes (Gangwal and Lessnick, 2008).

To evaluate this hypothesis, we now compare three data sets we had previously generated to identify genes that might be directly regulated by EWS/FLI though GGAA-microsatellites. These data sets included (i) the transcriptional profile of EWS/FLI in Ewing's sarcoma cells (produced by comparing patient-derived Ewing's

Correspondence: Dr SL Lessnick, Center for Children's Cancer Research, Huntsman Cancer Institute, 2000 Circle of Hope, Room 4242, Salt Lake City, UT 84112, USA.

Received 25 March 2009; revised 20 July 2009; accepted 28 July 2009; published online 31 August 2009

sarcoma cells with retroviral-mediated RNA interference (RNAi) constructs targeting EWS/FLI with those harboring control constructs; Kinsey *et al.*, 2006; Smith *et al.*, 2006), (ii) genome-wide localization data of EWS/ FLI in Ewing's sarcoma cells (produced by 'ChIP-chip' experiments; Gangwal *et al.*, 2008) and (iii) comprehensive mapping data of GGAA-microsatellites in the human genome (produced computationally; Gangwal *et al.*, 2008). Through these cross-platform comparisons, we identified genes that have all of the characteristics we sought. These genes include previously identified EWS/ FLI targets such as *NR0B1*, *FCGRT* and *CAV1* (Tirado *et al.*, 2006; Gangwal *et al.*, 2008). In addition, we identified glutathione S-transferase mu 4 (*GSTM4*) as a potential new EWS/FLI target gene in Ewing's sarcoma.

Glutathione S-transferases (GST) are detoxification enzymes which inactivate a variety of endogenous and exogenous reactive compounds by conjugation to glutathione. At present, eight distinct classes (alpha, kappa, mu, omega, sigma, theta, pi and zeta) of soluble and six membrane-bound GSTs have been identified. GSTM4 belongs to the mu class of soluble forms. GSTM4 has a high level of amino-acid sequence identity, but distinct physiochemical properties and tissue distributions, as compared with other GSTMs (Comstock *et al.*, 1993, 1994). GSTM4 does not show comparable activity with the standard GST substrate and its specific substrates have yet to be identified. *GST* genes are known to be highly polymorphic to accommodate an increasing number of foreign compounds (Hayes and Strange, 2000). This polymorphism can change an individual's susceptibility to disease and responsiveness to therapeutic drugs. For instance, a T2517C polymorphism in *GSTM4* was shown to associate with an increased risk of developing lung cancer (Liloglou *et al.*, 2002). The mechanistic basis for this association is currently unknown.

To evaluate the role of EWS/FLI in regulating GSTM4, we first extracted the GSTM4 data from our transcriptional profiling studies (Kinsey et al., 2006; Smith et al., 2006). In these studies, two different retroviral RNAi constructs targeting the 3'-UTR of endogenous EWS/FLI (EF-2-RNAi and EF-4-RNAi) were introduced into patient-derived Ewing's sarcoma



Figure 1 GSTM4 is regulated by EWS/FLI binding to a GGAA-microsatellite in its promoter in Ewing's sarcoma. (a) GSTM4 transcriptional profiling data extracted from Smith et al., 2006. EF-2-RNAi is a retroviral construct targeting EWS/FLI, while luc-RNAi is a negative control construct. In this and subsequent panels, columns indicate the mean of triplicate samples; error bars indicate the s.d.; asterisks indicate P < 0.05. (b) Quantitative reverse transcription–PCR results for GSTM4 RNA levels from A673 Ewing's sarcoma cells infected with the indicated retroviral RNAi constructs and selected in puromycin (primer sequences available upon request). (c) Partial sequence of GSTM4 promoter with GGAA-microsatellite indicated. (d) Luciferase assays using a pGL3-promoter luciferase vector (Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, USA) containing the GSTM4 GGAA-microsatellite, or an empty control vector, co-transfected into TC71 Ewing's sarcoma cells with the EWS/FLI RNAi construct (EF-2-RNAi). Luciferase activities were determined as previously described (Gangwal et al., 2008). (e) Luciferase sus a pGL3-promoter luciferase vector containing the GSTM4 GGAA-microsatellite, or an empty control vector, co-transfected into TC71 Ewing's sarcoma cells with the EWS/FLI RNAi construct (EF-2-RNAi), or a negative control construct (ERG-RNAi). Luciferase activities were determined as previously described (Gangwal et al., 2008). (e) Luciferase vector containing the GSTM4 GGAA-microsatellite, or an empty control vector, co-transfected into HEK293 cells with an EWS/FLI cDNA expression vector, or an empty negative control construct (Gangwal et al., 2008). (f) Chromatin immunoprecipitation of the GGAA-microsatellite-containing region of the GSTM4 promoter from A673 cells was carried out by using antibodies against FLI (which recognizes EWS/FLI), ETS1 or ELK1 (see Gangwal et al., 2008 for experimental details; primer sequences available upon request). Data are plotted as the fold enrichment with respect to the average enrichment of two negat

4127

4128

cell lines A673, TC71 and EWS502, and were compared with a similar RNAi construct targeting the luciferase gene (luc-RNAi) as a negative control (which is not present in the cells used). We found that knock down of EWS/FLI resulted in the reduced levels of GSTM4 mRNA levels in Ewing's sarcoma cell lines (Figure 1a, data not shown). This result was confirmed using quantitative reverse transcription–PCR, in which knock down of EWS/FLI resulted in an approximately 80% decrease in GSTM4 expression (Figure 1b). Unfortunately, we were unable to assess protein levels as the currently available antibodies were inadequate for western blot experiments.

Direct inspection of the GSTM4 promoter revealed the presence of a GGAA-microsatellite, consisting of 18 GGAA repeats (Figure 1c). We have previously shown that a GGAA-microsatellite regulates the NR0B1 gene in Ewing's sarcoma cells, and that EWS/FLI is capable



Figure 2 GSTM4 is necessary for oncogenic transformation of Ewing's sarcoma cells. (a) Quantitative reverse transcription-PCR results for GSTM4 RNA levels from A673 Ewing's sarcoma cells infected with the indicated retroviral RNAi constructs targeting GSTM4 (GSTM44-RNAi and GSTM4-5-RNAi) or a negative control construct (luc-RNAi) and selected in puromycin (primer sequences available upon request). Columns indicate the mean of triplicate samples; error bars indicate the s.d.; asterisks indicate P < 0.05. (b) Growth assays (3T5 assays; Lessnick *et al.*, 2002) of Ewing's sarcoma cells (A673 or EWS502) infected with the indicated retroviral RNAi constructs and selected in puromycin. (c) Soft agar assays (Kinsey *et al.*, 2006) using the indicated Ewing's sarcoma cell lines infected with the indicate the rowiral RNAi constructs and selected in puromycin. Columns indicate the mean of duplicate samples; error bars indicate the s.d.; asterisks indicate P < 0.05.

of binding GGAA-microsatellites in vitro as well as in vivo (Gangwal and Lessnick, 2008; Gangwal et al., 2008). To determine whether the GGAA-microsatellite in the GSTM4 promoter is an EWS/FLI-response element, we cloned this element upstream of a minimal promoter and a luciferase reporter cDNA. This construct was EWS/FLI responsive in TC71 Ewing's sarcoma cells, as shown by relatively high levels of luciferase activity when co-transfected with an ERG-RNAi negative control vector, and an $\sim 85\%$ reduction in luciferase reporter activity when EWS/FLI was knocked down with an EWS/FLI RNAi construct (EF-2-RNAi; Figure 1d). In complementary experiments, we found that co-transfection of the luciferase reporter with an EWS/FLI cDNA in HEK293 cells resulted in an ninefold stimulation as compared with cotransfections with an empty vector negative control construct (Figure 1e).

To determine whether EWS/FLI occupied the GSTM4 promoter in vivo, we carried out directed chromatin immunoprecipitation experiments (ChIP) using antibodies and conditions we previously validated (Gangwal et al., 2008). We found that immunoprecipitation of EWS/FLI pulled down the GSTM4 microsatellite region, whereas immunoprecipitation of two other ETS family members, ETS1 and ELK1, did not (Figure 1f). Taken together, these data support our hypothesis that GSTM4 is upregulated in Ewing's

sarcoma cells by direct binding of EWS/FLI to the GGAA-microsatellite in the GSTM4 promoter.

We next sought to determine whether GSTM4 has a functional role in Ewing's sarcoma. First, we investigated whether GSTM4 is required for maintaining oncogenic phenotype of Ewing's sarcoma through a loss-of-function approach. We designed small hairpin RNAs against the 3'-UTR of GSTM4 and cloned these into retroviral constructs (called GSTM4-4-RNAi and GSTM4-5-RNAi). Polyclonal-infected and -selected populations of A673 Ewing's sarcoma cells showed an efficient reduction of endogenous GSTM4 mRNA levels as assessed by quantitative reverse transcription-PCR. as compared with cells infected with the negative control luc-RNAi retrovirus (Figure 2a). We found that cells in which GSTM4 was knocked down grew slightly more slowly than control cells in tissue culture (Figure 2b). Importantly, decreased GSTM4 expression resulted in a significant reduction in oncogenic transformation, as shown by diminished anchorage-independent growth in soft agar experiments (Figure 2c). The fact that two different retroviral RNAi constructs showed nearly identical phenotypes in two different patient-derived Ewing's sarcoma cell lines suggested that these results are specific to reduced GSTM4 expression, and were not 'off-target' effects. These results show that ongoing GSTM4 expression is required for the transformed phenotype of Ewing's sarcoma.



Figure 3 Depletion of GSTM4 increases sensitivity of Ewing's sarcoma cells to etoposide (a-c) or fenretinide (e, f), but not doxorubicin (d). The indicated Ewing's sarcoma cells were seeded at a density of 2×10^4 cells/well in 24-well plate on day 0. On day 1, cells were incubated with varying concentrations of the indicated drugs for 3 days before MTT cell proliferation assays (Cayman Chemical Company, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Error bars indicate the s.d. of triplicate samples in a representative experiment. The same trend was seen in three independent biological replicates. Asterisks indicate P < 0.05.

4129

4130

To determine whether GSTM4 is required for oncogenic transformation in other tumor types, we depleted GSTM4 from U2OS osteosarcoma cells and found that neither cell growth nor colony formation in soft agar was changed (data not shown). Furthermore, knockdown of GSTM4 in RH28 rhabdomyosarcoma cells did not alter cell growth in tissue culture, but as these cells did not form colonies in soft agar at baseline, the effects of GSTM4 loss on oncogenic transformation could not be assessed (data not shown). These data indicate that a role for GSTM4 in proliferation and oncogenic transformation is likely specific to Ewing's sarcoma.

Therapeutic approaches to Ewing's sarcoma consist of either surgery and/or radiation therapy to the primary site of disease, along with intensive systemic chemotherapy to eradicate micrometastatic disease. We reasoned that because GST enzymes detoxify various reactive compounds, including therapeutic drugs, GSTM4 might contribute to the resistance profile of Ewing's sarcoma to chemotherapeutic agents. To test this possibility, we prepared Ewing's sarcoma cells with either wild-type (luc-RNAi) or reduced levels (GSTM4-4-RNAi) of GSTM4, and treated them with increasing dosages of chemotherapeutic drugs that are currently used to treat patients with Ewing's sarcoma, including etoposide, doxorubicin and melphalan, and tested cell survival using an MTT assay. We found that knockdown of GSTM4 resulted in an increase in sensitivity to etoposide as compared with luc-RNAi-infected cells in three different patient-derived Ewing's sarcoma cell lines (A673, TC71 and EWS502; Figure 3a-c). This effect was specific for etoposide among the initial agents tested, as there were no differences in sensitivity to doxorubicin or melphalan following GSTM4 knockdown (Figure 3d, data not shown).

The synthetic retinoid derivative fenretinide (4-hydroxy(phenyl) retinamide) has been reported to induce high levels of cell death in Ewing's sarcoma cell lines in vitro and to delay growth of Ewing's sarcoma xenografts in vivo (Magwere et al., 2008; Myatt and Burchill, 2008). Interestingly, it was recently reported that depletion of glutathione by pretreatment with l-buthionine (S,R)sulphoximine-sensitized Ewing's sarcoma cells to the toxic effects of fenretinide (Magwere et al., 2008). This suggested that fenretinide toxicity is modulated by glutathione-dependent functions in Ewing's sarcoma cells. On the basis of these observations, we next investigated whether the function of a glutathionedependent enzyme (GSTM4) would alter the sensitivity of Ewing's sarcoma cells for fenretinide. We found that Ewing's sarcoma cells with reduced GSTM4 levels (through the GSTM4-4-RNAi construct) were more sensitive to fenretinide than cells containing a control RNAi construct (luc-RNAi; Figures 3e and f). Because fenretinide is known to generate reactive oxygen species in Ewing's sarcoma cells (Magwere et al, 2008), we tested whether GSTM4 depletion in A673 cells caused alterations in reactive oxygen species production using a cell permeable dye (5-(6)-chloromethyl-2',7'dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate acetyl ester).

We found that there were no significant changes in reactive oxygen species production following reduction of GSTM4 levels with the GSTM4-4-RNAi construct (data not shown). Taken together, the drug-sensitivity data show that the reduction of GSTM4 levels confer increased sensitivity to some cytotoxic agents in Ewing's sarcoma, and further suggest that inhibition of GSTM4 activity might be used in combination with chemotherapy to increase therapeutic responses in Ewing's sarcoma. Because GSTM4 modulates Ewing's sarcoma oncogenic transformation and therapeutic resistance, we





Figure 4 GSTM4 expression in tumors correlates with overall survival in Ewing's sarcoma patients. Analysis was performed following the Institutional Review Board approval. Forty four cases of morphologically confirmed Ewing's sarcoma pretreatment primary tumor samples (from the University of Michigan Medical Center Department of Pathology) included on a tissue microarray (TMA) were analysed by double immunofluorescence staining for both CD99 (which marks Ewing's sarcoma tumor cells; Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA, Ab-27271, rabbit polyclonal antibody, 1:100) and GSTM4 (Abcam, ab-49484, mouse monoclonal antibody, 1:80). The AQUA system was used for the automated image acquisition and analysis. Briefly, images of each TMA core were captured with an Olympus BX51 microscope at different extinction/emission wavelengths. Within each TMA spot, the area of tumor was distinguished from stromal and necrotic areas by creating a tumor-specific mask from the CD99-staining pattern, which was visualized using the Alexa Fluor 555 signal. Within the masked region, the fluorescence pixel intensity of the GSTM4 protein/antibody complex was obtained from the Cy5 signal and reported as pixel intensity from 0 to 3000. In cases where multiple primary pretreatment tumor samples were present, the average of the values from each sample was used. Patients were stratified into two groups, those with relatively low-level GSTM4 expression (0-1000; n = 10), and those with relatively high-level GSTM4 expression (1000-3000; n = 34). These data were plotted with stratified Kaplan-Meier curves using the outcome data from the University of Michigan. Cox proportional hazards models were fit using the counting process formulation of Andersen and Gill, 1982. Goodness of fit was tested using the method presented in Grambsch and Therneau, 1994. All statistical analysis was performed using R 2.8.0 statistical software (Copyright 2008, The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria). The 'survival' package in R was used for the survival analysis.

GSTM4 in Ewing's sarcoma

W Luo et al

hypothesized that patients whose tumors exhibited higher levels of GSTM4 expression would have a worse outcome than patients whose tumors expressed lower levels of the protein. To test this hypothesis, we stained tissue microarrays containing Ewing's sarcoma tumor specimens for GSTM4 protein, using immunohistochemistry, and read out the results in a semiquantitative manner using an AQUA system (HistoRx, New Haven, CT, USA) (Camp et al., 2008). As anticipated by our hypothesis, we found that patients with higher GSTM4 levels in their primary tumors had lower overall survival rates, although this result did not reach statistical significance due to a small sample size (P=0.054 by likelihood ratio test; Figure 4). These data support the notion that higher GSTM4 levels are correlated with therapeutic resistance and worse outcome in Ewing's sarcoma.

The data in this report show that GSTM4 is a direct target gene of the EWS/FLI oncoprotein and is required for oncogenic transformation and therapeutic drug resistance in Ewing's sarcoma cells. These findings show the utility of combining transcriptional profiling, ChIP-chip and computational promoter analyses in the identification of target genes that are involved in oncogenesis and other cancer-relevant phenotypes, such as drug resistance. Indeed, our observation that GSTM4 has a role in resistance to therapeutic agents in this disease suggests a new paradigm for drug resistance: that key oncogenic events involved in tumorigenesis may directly regulate drug resistance programs, in addition to their more widely recognized role in promoting oncogenic transformation. This has

References

Andersen PK, Gill RD. (1982). Cox regression model for counting processes: A large sample study. Ann Stat 10: 1100-1120.

- Camp RL, Neumeister V, Rimm DL. (2008). A decade of tissue microarrays: progress in the discovery and validation of cancer biomarkers. J Clin Oncol 26: 5630-5637.
- Comstock KE, Johnson KJ, Rifenbery D, Henner WD. (1993). Isolation and analysis of the gene and cDNA for a human Mu class glutathione S-transferase, GSTM4. J Biol Chem 268: 16958-16965.
- Comstock KE, Widersten M, Hao XY, Henner WD, Mannervik B. (1994). A comparison of the enzymatic and physicochemical properties of human glutathione transferase M4-4 and three other human Mu class enzymes. Arch Biochem Biophys 311: 487-495.
- Delattre O, Zucman J, Plougastel B, Desmaze C, Melot T, Peter M et al. (1992). Gene fusion with an ETS DNA-binding domain caused by chromosome translocation in human tumours. Nature 359: 162-165.
- Dubois SG, Krailo MD, Lessnick SL, Smith R, Chen Z, Marina N et al. (2008). Phase II study of intermediate-dose cytarabine in patients with relapsed or refractory Ewing sarcoma: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. Pediatr Blood Cancer 52: 324-327.
- Gangwal K, Lessnick SL. (2008). Microsatellites are EWS/FLI response elements: genomic 'junk' is EWS/FLI's treasure. Cell Cycle 7: 3127-3132.
- Gangwal K. Sankar S. Hollenhorst PC, Kinsev M, Haroldsen SC, Shah AA et al. (2008). Microsatellites as EWS/FLI response elements in Ewing's sarcoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105: 10149-10154.
- Grambsch PM, Therneau TM. (1994). Proportional hazards tests and diagnostics based on weighted residuals. Biometrika 81: 515-526.

important implications for the design of molecularly targeted agents. We would predict that agents targeting EWS/FLI (such as cytarabine or RNAi-based approaches; Dubois et al., 2008; Hu-Lieskovan et al., 2005; Kinsey et al., 2006; Owen et al., 2008; Stegmaier et al., 2007) might be most effective when combined with standard cytotoxic agents. In this way, the loss of the key oncoprotein will reduce both oncogenic transformation and drug resistance, thereby allowing the tumor to be more effectively treated with standard chemotherapies. Conversely, inhibitors of GSTM4, if developed, may also be combined with standard chemotherapeutics to provide more efficacy in tumor kill by these agents.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgements

We thank Andrea Bild and Matt Topham for critical reading of the manuscript; Nikko Ronquillo, Mohan Kaadige and Kym Zumbrennen for technical assistance; and Elizabeth Leibold and members of the Lessnick laboratory for helpful discussions. This work was supported by funds awarded to SLL from the Terri Anna Perine Sarcoma Fund, the Liddy Shriver Sarcoma Initiative, the Sunbeam Foundation and Huntsman Cancer Institute/Huntsman Cancer Foundation, and by a grant to WL from the Alex's Lemonade Stand Foundation. We also acknowledge the NIH support to the Huntsman Cancer Institute (P30 CA042014).

- Hancock JD, Lessnick SL. (2008). A transcriptional profiling metaanalysis reveals a core EWS-FLI gene expression signature. Cell Cycle 7: 250-256.
- Hayes JD, Strange RC. (2000). Glutathione S-transferase polymorphisms and their biological consequences. Pharmacology 61: 154-166.
- Hu-Lieskovan S, Heidel JD, Bartlett DW, Davis ME, Triche TJ. (2005). Sequence-specific knockdown of EWS-FLI1 by targeted, nonviral delivery of small interfering RNA inhibits tumor growth in a murine model of metastatic Ewing's sarcoma. Cancer Res 65: 8984-8992
- Kinsey M, Smith R, Lessnick SL. (2006). NR0B1 is required for the oncogenic phenotype mediated by EWS/FLI in Ewing's sarcoma. Mol Cancer Res 4: 851-859.
- Lessnick SL, Dacwag CS, Golub TR. (2002). The Ewing's sarcoma oncoprotein EWS/FLI induces a p53-dependent growth arrest in primary human fibroblasts. Cancer Cell 1: 393-401.
- Liloglou T, Walters M, Maloney P, Youngson J, Field JK. (2002). A T2517C polymorphism in the GSTM4 gene is associated with risk of developing lung cancer. Lung Cancer 37: 143-146.
- Magwere T, Myatt SS, Burchill SA. (2008). Manipulation of oxidative stress to induce cell death in Ewing's sarcoma family of tumours. Eur J Cancer 44: 2276-2287.
- May WA, Gishizky ML, Lessnick SL, Lunsford LB, Lewis BC, Delattre O et al. (1993a). Ewing sarcoma 11;22 translocation produces a chimeric transcription factor that requires the DNAbinding domain encoded by FLI1 for transformation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90: 5752-5756.

70

npg 4131

- May WA, Lessnick SL, Braun BS, Klemsz M, Lewis BC, Lunsford LB et al. (1993b). The Ewing's sarcoma EWS/FLI-1 fusion gene encodes a more potent transcriptional activator and is a more powerful transforming gene than FLI-1. Mol Cell Biol 13: 7393-7398.
- Myatt SS, Burchill SA. (2008). The sensitivity of the Ewing's sarcoma family of tumours to fenretinide-induced cell death is increased by EWS-Fli1-dependent modulation of p38(MAPK) activity. Oncogene 27: 985–996.
- Owen LA, Kowalewski AA, Lessnick SL. (2008). EWS/FLI mediates transcriptional repression via NKX2.2 during oncogenic transformation in Ewing's sarcoma. PLoS ONE 3: e1965.
- Prieur A, Tirode F, Cohen P, Delattre O. (2004). EWS/FLI-1 silencing and gene profiling of Ewing cells reveal downstream oncogenic

pathways and a crucial role for repression of insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3. *Mol Cell Biol* 24: 7275-7283.

- Smith R, Owen LA, Trem DJ, Wong JS, Whangbo JS, Golub TR et al. (2006). Expression profiling of EWS/FLI identifies NKX2.2 as a critical target gene in Ewing's sarcoma. Cancer Cell 9: 405-416.
- Stegmaier K, Wong JS, Ross KN, Chow KT, Peck D, Wright RD et al. (2007). Signature-based small molecule screening identifies cytosine arabinoside as an EWS/FLI modulator in Ewing sarcoma. PLoS Med 4: e122.
- Tirado OM, Mateo-Lozano S, Villar J, Dettin LE, Llort A, Gallego S et al. (2006). Caveolin-1 (CAV1) is a target of EWS/FLI-1 and a key determinant of the oncogenic phenotype and tumorigenicity of Ewing's sarcoma cells. Cancer Res 66: 9937–9947.

CHAPTER 5

A NOVEL ROLE FOR KERATIN 17 IN COORDINATING ONCOGENIC TRANSFORMATION AND CELLULAR ADHESION IN EWING SARCOMA

In review process at Molecular and Cellular Biology as: Sankar S, Tanner JM, Bell R, Chaturvedi A, Beckerle MC and Lessnick SL. (2013) A novel role for Keratin 17 in coordinating oncogenic transformation and cellular adhesion in Ewing sarcoma.

Abstract

Oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma is caused by EWS/FLI, an aberrant transcription factor fusion oncogene. Glioma-associated oncogene homolog 1 (*GL11*) is a critical target gene activated by EWS/FLI, but the mechanism by which GLI1 contributes to the transformed phenotype of Ewing sarcoma was unknown. In this work we identify Keratin 17 (*KRT17*) as a direct downstream target gene upregulated by GLI1. We demonstrate that KRT17 regulates cellular adhesion by activating AKT/PKB (Protein Kinase B) signaling. In addition, KRT17 is necessary for oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma and accounts for much of GLI1-mediated transformation function but via a mechanism independent of AKT signaling. Taken together, our data reveal previously unknown molecular functions for a cytoplasmic intermediate filament protein KRT17 in coordinating EWS/FLI and GLI1 mediated oncogenic transformation and cellular adhesion in Ewing sarcoma.

Introduction

Ewing sarcoma is a highly aggressive bone and soft tissue associated malignancy that affects children and young adults (1). The vast majority of these tumors are characterized by a t(11;22)(q24;q12) chromosomal translocation, that generates a fusion oncogene, *EWS/FLI* (2). Persistent expression of EWS/FLI is necessary for maintenance of the transformed phenotype in Ewing sarcoma (3-5). Previous studies demonstrate that Ewing sarcoma tumors have a relatively low frequency of mutations in known oncogenes and tumor suppressors, supporting the concept that EWS/FLI is largely responsible for oncogenic transformation (6, 7). EWS/FLI functions as an aberrant transcription factor

and dysregulates the expression of myriad target genes (8-10). Over the years, several critical EWS/FLI target genes have been identified that are all necessary for maintenance of oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma; however, no target gene alone has proven to be sufficient for EWS/FLI mediated oncogenic transformation (3, 4). These findings highlight the unique biology of Ewing sarcoma and its sole reliance on a single oncogenic transcription factor, EWS/FLI, as the central regulator of a hierarchy of transcriptional networks.

Hedgehog signaling is of critical importance during development in regulating tissue patterning and stem cell maintenance (11, 12). This signaling pathway is inappropriately activated in a diversity of cancers (13-22). GLI1 is a zinc-finger transcription factor and is the principal effector of the Hedgehog signaling pathway (11). Previous microarray studies and a recent RNA-sequencing (RNA-seq) experiment have identified *GLI1* as an EWS/FLI upregulated target gene in Ewing sarcoma (3, 10), (Sankar *et al.*, submitted). EWS/FLI has been shown to bind and directly activate transcription from the GLI1 promoter (23). Furthermore, loss-of-function approaches and pharmacological inhibition have demonstrated that GLI1 is necessary for EWS/FLI mediated oncogenic transformation (23-25). These studies highlight the importance of GLI1 in Ewing sarcoma development.

However, the mechanism underlying GLI1 mediated oncogenesis in Ewing sarcoma and the critical transcriptional network of genes regulated by GLI1 to achieve this function were unknown. Here, we sought to define the mechanistic role of GLI1 in Ewing sarcoma, and in doing so, identified a unique target gene, *KRT17* that has novel

functions in coordinating parallel functions of cellular adhesion and oncogenic transformation.

Materials and methods

Ethics statement

Patient tumor specimens were used in a deidentified way, and were therefore deemed "non-human subject research" by the University of Utah Institutional Review Board via protocol IRB_00035414. Animal experiments were performed following approval from the University of Utah Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

Constructs and retroviruses

The Luciferase-RNAi (Luc-RNAi), EWS/FLI-RNAi (EF-2-RNAi), 3x-FLAG EWS/FLI and 3x-FLAG NKX2.2 cDNA have been described previously (3, 10, 26). The GLI1 and KRT17 shRNAs were designed to target the cDNA and 3'UTR, respectively, and cloned into the pMKO.1 retroviral vector. 3x-FLAG GLI1, 3x-FLAG KRT17 and 3x-FLAG S44A KRT17 cDNAs were generated and subcloned into the Murine Stem Cell Virus (MSCV) retroviral vector (Clontech). One kilobase KRT17 promoter including the 5'UTR was cloned into the pGL3 basic vector (Promega), immediately upstream of the luciferase reporter gene. The constitutively active (myristoylated) AKT in the MSCV retroviral vector has been described previously (27).

Cell culture

Ewing sarcoma cell lines (A673, TC-71, TC-32, SK-N-MC and EWS502) and HEK293 EBNA cells were infected with retrovirus, and polyclonal populations were grown in the appropriate selection media, as previously described (4, 28). Growth assays (3T5) were performed as previously described (28).

Soft agar and methylcellulose assays

Soft agar assays were performed as described previously (28). Methylcellulose assays were performed by plating 1×10^5 cells in 2% methylcellulose mixed with an equal volume of appropriate growth media as described previously (29).

Quantitative reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR)

Total RNA was extracted using an RNAeasy kit (Qiagen). Total RNA from cells was then amplified and detected using SYBR green fluorescence for quantitative analysis. Normalized fold enrichment was calculated by determining the fold-change of each condition relative to the control (either Luc-RNAi or Luc-RNAi re-expressing an empty vector). The data in each condition was then normalized to internal housekeeping control genes GAPDH and RPL19. Primer sequences used to amplify target genes by qRT-PCR are provided in Supplemental Data (Table S5.1).

Luciferase reporter assays

A one kilobase promoter region including the 5'UTR of *KRT17* was cloned into the pGL3 basic vector (Promega) immediately upstream of the luciferase reporter gene. Luciferase reporter assays were performed in HEK293 EBNA as previously described (30).

Xenograft and intratibial injection assays

A673 cells infected and selected with a control ERG-RNAi or KRT17-RNAi were injected into the flanks of nude mice at 1×10^{6} cells per flank or 2.5 x 10^{5} cells into the tibia of NOD/SCID mice. For the xenograft tumor assay, four mice were injected subcutaneously with control knockdown cells and five mice were injected subcutaneously with KRT17 knockdown cells. Both flanks of each mouse was injected subcutaneously, therefore, eight and ten tumors were measured for the two groups, respectively. For the intratibial tumor assay, five mice were each injected in the right tibia; therefore, five tumors were measured per group. Tumors were measured using digital calipers and threedimensional tumor volumes were calculated using the equation (Length x Width x Depth)/2. The mice in each group were sacrificed once their tumors reached a size limit of 2 cm for the subcutaneous injection model and 1.5 cm for the intratibial injection model. The data from both assays are plotted as Kaplan-Meier survival curves using GraphPad Prism.

Antibodies and reagents

The following antibodies were used for immunodetection: M2-anti-FLAG (HRP; Sigma A8592), anti-FLI-1 (Santa-Cruz sc-356X), antiα-Tubulin (Calbiochem CP06), anti-KRT17 (Abcam ab-53707) and anti-phospho AKT (S473) (Cell Signaling # 9271S), anti-AKT (pan) (Cell Signaling # 4691S), anti-GLI1 (Cell Signaling # 2643S). The

isozyme selective AKT inhibitor (Akti1/2) was obtained from Millipore Cat. No.124017. The inhibitor was used at a final concentration of 2 μ M. At this concentration it inhibits all three forms of AKT (AKT1, AKT2 and AKT3). Cells were treated with the inhibitor for twenty four hours before they were used for experiments.

Adhesion and migration assays

Ewing sarcoma cells infected and selected with different constructs were seeded at 5×10^5 cells per well in a non-ECM coated 24-well plate. Cells were allowed to adhere for two hours at 37°C and then were processed as previously described (31). Cells that adhered were stained with Toluidine Blue and O.D. was measured at 620nm as previously described. Cell migration was measured using the Boyden Chamber haptotactic cell migration assay as previously described (31).

Immunofluorescence assays

Sterile coverslips were coated with 10 μ g/ml fibronectin in 12-well plates overnight at 4°C. 75 x 10³ cells/well were seeded, allowed to adhere for twenty four hours, fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde as described previously (31). Cells were stained with anti-paxillin antibody (1:100) for one hour at 37°C and then with AlexaFluor secondary antibody (1:200) and AlexaFluor-phalloidin and were imaged using a Zeiss Axioskop2 mot plus microscope with a 40x objective as previously described (31).

RNA sequencing analysis, GSEA and Venn overlaps

RNA from A673 cells stably infected and selected for expression of a control Luc-RNAi or the KRT17-RNAi was extracted using the RNAeasy kit (Qiagen) with an on-column DNAse digestion protocol. Libraries for deep-sequencing were prepared according to the manufacturer's instructions (Illumina) and sequenced on an Illumina Hi-Seq with 50 cycles of single end reads. Sequences were aligned to the human genome build hg19. Raw sequence reads can be found in the NCBI SRA #121863. The USeq analysis package was used to identify differentially expressed genes. Significance parameters were set to a two-fold or four-fold change in expression and an FDR of 0.1 (10%) or 1.0×10^{-10} .

Overlaps between the different gene sets were performed using the VennMaster program. Statistical significance of the overlaps was determined using Chi square analysis. Gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) was performed using GSEA v2.0.10 program. Functional annotation analysis was performed by Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery (DAVID) analysis. Identification of potential direct GLI1 target genes was performed by Find Individual Motif Occurrences (FIMO) analysis.

Results

GLI1 is a downstream target of EWS/FLI and is necessary for oncogenic transformation

Previous studies using loss of function approaches have identified GLI1 as an upregulated target of EWS/FLI (24, 25). To further demonstrate that GLI1 is specifically

regulated by EWS/FLI, we used a retroviral-based stable knockdown/rescue approach in A673 cells (a patient-derived Ewing sarcoma cell line). We found that reduction of EWS/FLI resulted in a significant reduction in GLI1 expression, which was restored by reexpression of an RNAi-resistant EWS/FLI cDNA (Figure 5.1A, S5.1A). This result demonstrated that GLI1 is specifically upregulated by EWS/FLI and is not an off-target or other nonspecific RNAi effect. EWS/FLI did not regulate GLI2 or GLI3 (Figure S5.1B). GLI1 is not the sole downstream effector of EWS/FLI-mediated oncogenic transformation because GLI1 expression (Figure 5.1B) failed to rescue oncogenic transformation following knockdown of EWS/FLI (Figure 5.1C).

To test the necessity of GLI1 in Ewing sarcoma oncogenesis, we performed GLI1 knockdown/rescue experiments (Figure 5.1D, S5.1C). In comparison to a control knockdown (Luc-RNAi) GLI1 knockdown did not affect monolayer growth of cells in tissue culture but significantly reduced colony growth in soft agar (Figures 5.1E, 5.1F). This is not an "off-target" effect because reexpression of GLI1 rescued the loss of transformation induced by GLI1 knockdown (Figure 5.1D-5.1F). These results demonstrated that GLI1 is necessary for maintenance of oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma cells.

GLI1 has been shown to transcriptionally activate NKX2.2 (25). NKX2.2 is a critical target of EWS/FLI that is necessary for oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma (3). We therefore asked if NKX2.2 could rescue GLI1-knockdown mediated loss of transformation. Interestingly, we found that NKX2.2 (Figure S5.1D) was unable to rescue the loss of transformation mediated by GLI1-knockdown (Figure 5.1F), indicating

that other GLI1 target genes are necessary for full oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma.

Determining the transcriptional signature of GLI1 in Ewing sarcoma

We next sought to identify the full-complement of genes regulated by GLI1 in Ewing sarcoma. We performed an RNA-seq experiment in A673 cells comparing genome-wide transcripts from cells expressing a control or GLI1-RNAi constructs (Figure 5.2A, Table S5.2). Venn master analysis was used to generate overlaps of the upregulated and downregulated genesets obtained from the GLI1 RNA-seq and the EWS/FLI RNA-seq (Sankar et al., submitted). Of the 1796 genes upregulated by EWS/FLI, 327 genes were also upregulated by GLI1 (p=3.19 x 10⁻¹⁶²; Figure 5.2B), and of the 2227 genes repressed by EWS/FLI, 319 genes were also repressed by GLI1 $(p=1.01 \times 10^{-170})$; Figure 5.2B), demonstrating that GLI1 contributes significantly to the EWS/FLI transcriptional profile in Ewing sarcoma cells. Using very stringent cutoffs of a four-fold change and an FDR of 1.0×10^{-10} we limited the list to 86 genes upregulated and 55 genes downregulated by GLI1 (Table S5.2). We used this stringent set of genes to perform Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) against EWS/FLI-regulated genes to better determine the relationship between the EWS/FLI and GLI1 transcriptional profiles. We found that the GLI1 upregulated genes clustered strongly with the most highly upregulated EWS/FLI genes (NES=2.0; p<0.001) and vice-versa (NES=-1.8; p<0.001) (Figure 5.2C), indicating that GLI1-regulated genes make up a significant portion of the EWS/FLI transcriptional signature. We performed similar analyses using microarray datasets generated from TC71 and EWS502 Ewing sarcoma cells and again found significant correlations between GLI1 and EWS/FLI in gene regulation (Figure S5.2A and S5.2B). We also validated a subset of GLI1-regulated genes identified in the RNA-seq data by quantitative reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) (Figure S5.2C).

To gain further insight into the functional significance of the differentially expressed genes from the GL11 RNA-seq, we used the functional annotation tools from the Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery (DAVID). We found that the most significant classes among the GL11 upregulated genes corresponded to neuronal development and cell cycle regulation (Figure 5.2D), which is consistent with the well-studied role of GL11 in neuronal development (32) and its ability to transcriptionally regulate cell cycle proteins (33). Interestingly, neuronal features have previously been noted in Ewing sarcoma (34, 35), and thus the RNA-seq data suggests that GL11 and its downstream target genes may contribute to the neuronal phenotype of Ewing sarcoma. Among the downregulated geneset, the most significant classes were related to signaling and membrane activity (Figure 5.2D).

Identification of KRT17 as a direct downstream target of GLI1

To further investigate the role of GLI1 target genes identified from the RNA-seq analysis, we focused on *KRT17*, which is the second most upregulated GLI1 target gene (Figure 5.2A) and is also regulated by EWS/FLI (Figure 5.2B, 5.2C, S5.2A, S5.2B). qRT-PCR analysis demonstrated that both GLI1 and EWS/FLI upregulate KRT17 in multiple Ewing sarcoma cell lines (Figure 5.3A, 5.3B, and 5.3C). Western blot analysis revealed that the KRT17 protein is expressed at detectable levels in all Ewing sarcoma

cell lines tested, albeit, at varying levels (Figure 5.3D), and KRT17 RNA is expressed in five independent Ewing sarcoma primary tumors (Figure 5.3E). These results demonstrate that KRT17 is an up-regulated target of GLI1 in Ewing sarcoma.

The GLI1 RNA-seq analysis does not distinguish direct from indirect targets. GLI1 is a well-studied transcription factor, and previous work has identified and characterized a conserved 10-base pair motif as the preferred binding site (GACCACCCAC/A) for GLI1 on target gene promoters (36, 37). To predict potential direct targets of GLI1, we used Find Individual Motif Occurrences (FIMO) (38), by combining a previously published weighted matrix for binding affinity and a weighted matrix for activation potential of GLI1 at the 10-base pair motif, to search for genes in our RNA-seq dataset that had a significant match (p-value cut-off of 1.0×10^{-5}) to the known GLI1 binding motif. We identified 23 potential direct upregulated and 12 direct downregulated targets of GLI1 (Figure S5.3). Interestingly, *KRT17* was one of the potential direct targets of GLI1 (Figure S5.3, Table 1). Luciferase reporter assays demonstrated a dose-dependent increase in luciferase activity from a 1Kb KRT17 promoter region with increasing concentrations of the GLI1 cDNA (Figure 5.3F). These data indicate that KRT17 is likely a direct upregulated target of GLI1.

KRT17 is necessary for oncogenic transformation in vitro and in vivo

KRT17 is a cytoplasmic intermediate filament protein (39) that is overexpressed in several cancers (40-46). High KRT17 expression correlates with poor prognosis in breast, pancreatic and gastric adenocarcinomas (47-49). In basal cell carcinomas, which are associated with aberrant hedgehog signaling, KRT17 promotes tumor growth by modulating the immune response (40). However, it is unknown whether KRT17 plays a more direct role in oncogenic transformation.

To determine if KRT17 is involved in oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma, we performed knockdown/rescue of KRT17 in A673, EWS502 and SK-N-MC Ewing sarcoma cells. We found that knockdown of KRT17 had no effect on cell growth in tissue culture, but significantly reduced colony formation in soft agar (Figure 5.4A, 5.4B, 5.4C, 5.4D, S5.4A, and S5.4B). Furthermore, reexpression of KRT17 in knockdown cells restored their ability to form colonies in soft agar, demonstrating a specific function of KRT17 in maintaining the transformed phenotype of Ewing sarcoma cells (Figure 5.4D, 5.4E). Importantly, qRT-PCR analysis of endogenous KRT17 transcript levels demonstrated that the KRT17 knockdown was maintained even in the KRT17 cDNA rescue samples (Figure S5.4D), suggesting that rescue of oncogenic transformation was not merely due to loss of the KRT17-RNAi. KRT17 knockdown had no effect on oncogenic transformation in the non-Ewing sarcoma cell line HEK293 EBNA (human embryonic kidney cells) (Figure S5.4C), suggesting that KRT17 is specifically required for oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma.

We next used two *in vivo* tumor models, a subcutaneous model and an orthotopic intratibial model, to evaluate the role of KRT17 in tumor growth *in vivo*. We noted a significant improvement in overall survival of immunocompromised mice injected with KRT17 knockdown A673 cells when compared to those with control (ERG) knockdown cells in both *in vivo* models (Figure 5.4F). In the tumors that did form in mice injected with KRT17 knockdown cells, we noted that the knockdown effect was lost in tumors that grew actively, while the slow growing (indolent) tumors from the opposite flanks of

those mice still maintained the KRT17 knockdown (Figure 5.4G), indicating that KRT17 is necessary for aggressive tumor growth *in vivo*.

To evaluate if KRT17 was a critical target gene downstream of GL11, we performed anchorage-independent colony forming assays with A673 cells following control or GL11 knockdown and re-expressing an empty vector, GL11 or KRT17 cDNA constructs (Figure 5.4H). Surprisingly, expression of the KRT17 cDNA rescued GL11 knockdown mediated loss of transformation (Figure 5.4I). In cells harboring the GL11-RNAi and re-expressing the KRT17 cDNA, maintenance of GL11 knockdown and lack of rescue of GL11 target genes was demonstrated by qRT-PCR analysis (Figure S5.4E, S5.4F), indicating that rescue of oncogenic transformation was not due to reexpression of GL11 when KRT17 is expressed. Taken together these results demonstrate that KRT17 is necessary for maintaining the transformed phenotype of Ewing sarcoma cells both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and that *KRT17* is a critical target gene downstream of GL11 that contributes significantly to GL11 mediated maintenance of oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma.

KRT17 mediated activation of AKT signaling is necessary and sufficient to regulate cellular adhesion in Ewing sarcoma

KRT17 is known to regulate protein synthesis and epithelial cell growth by inducing phosphorylation and activation of the AKT protein (50). We therefore asked whether KRT17 regulated AKT phosphorylation downstream of GLI1, and if this genetic interaction was necessary for KRT17 function in Ewing sarcoma. GLI1 knockdown significantly reduced AKT phosphorylation levels in A673 cells, and this effect was rescued by GLI1 or KRT17 reexpression (Figure 5.5A), but not KRT17 S44A (Figure 5.5B), a previously described mutant that fails to induce phosphorylation of AKT (50, 51), demonstrating that KRT17 is the critical mediator of AKT phosphorylation downstream of GLI1.

To characterize the functional significance of KRT17 mediated activation of AKT signaling, we performed immunofluorescence studies on A673 cells expressing reduced levels of KRT17. Interestingly, we noted a significant decrease in staining for Paxillin protein, a marker of focal adhesions, in the cells expressing reduced KRT17 levels in comparison to control cells (Figure 5.5C). As a control, EWS/FLI knockdown cells expressed higher levels of Paxillin (Figure 5.5C) as noted previously (31). To test if KRT17 is directly involved in regulating cellular adhesion in Ewing sarcoma cells, we performed cellular adhesion assays with KRT17 knockdown cells re-expressing wild-type KRT17 or the S44A mutant. Interestingly, wild-type KRT17, but not the S44A mutant, rescued basal levels of cellular adhesion in Ewing sarcoma cells (Figure 5.5D).

To directly test the contribution of active AKT signaling in cellular adhesion mediated by KRT17, we took two complementary approaches: (i) a genetic approach by expressing a constitutively active form of AKT (myristoylated AKT) (27), and (ii) a pharmacological approach using a selective AKT inhibitor (Akti1/2; Millipore). We found that expression of the constitutively active AKT following knockdown of endogenous KRT17 (Figure 5.5E) phenocopied KRT17 mediated cellular adhesion (Figure 5.5F). We also found that selective inhibition of AKT by the pharmacological inhibitor significantly decreased the basal levels of cellular adhesion in Ewing sarcoma cells, similar to levels achieved with KRT17 knockdown (Figure 5.5G). These data

clearly define the genetic and functional interaction between GLI1, KRT17 and active AKT signaling in regulating cellular adhesion in Ewing sarcoma cells.

KRT17 mediated oncogenic transformation is independent of the

AKT pathway

AKT signaling is frequently activated in cancer (52). We therefore asked whether AKT phosphorylation was necessary for KRT17 mediated oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma. Interestingly, the KRT17 S44A mutant that failed to phosphorylate AKT (Figure 5.5B) retained the ability to rescue KRT17 knockdown mediated loss of transformation to an extent comparable to wild-type KRT17 (Figure 5.6A), suggesting that oncogenic transformation by KRT17 is independent of the AKT pathway.

To directly test the contribution of active AKT signaling in Ewing sarcoma oncogenesis, we used the constitutively active form of AKT (myristoylated AKT) (27), and the selective AKT inhibitor (Akti1/2; Millipore). The constitutively active form of AKT failed to rescue the loss of oncogenic transformation following KRT17 knockdown, even though high levels of AKT phosphorylation were achieved (Figure 5.6B, 5.5E). Pharmacological inhibition of AKT phosphorylation also had no effect on oncogenic transformation of Ewing sarcoma cells (Figure 5.6C). Maintenance of AKT inhibition in the anchorage-independent environment was ensured by assessing the phosphorylation status of AKT in the colonies that did form (Figure 5.6D). These results suggest that AKT signaling is completely dispensable to the anchorage-independent colony-forming phenotype of Ewing sarcoma cells. Taken together, our data highlight a central role for

KRT17 downstream of GLI1 in coordinating two important, but independent, phenotypes of cancer cells, oncogenic transformation and cellular adhesion.

Discussion

In this work we identified KRT17 as an upregulated target of EWS/FLI and GLI1 in Ewing sarcoma. Furthermore, we unraveled novel functional roles for KRT17 in regulating oncogenic transformation and cellular adhesion in Ewing sarcoma: KRT17 induces AKT signaling to mediate cellular adhesion, while KRT17 modulates oncogenic transformation (as measured by colony formation in anchorage-independent conditions and by xenograft tumor formation) independent of AKT signaling. To our knowledge, this is the first demonstration of such a coordinating function for an intermediate-filament protein for these cancer-relevant phenotypes.

Hyperactive AKT signaling is characteristic of several cancers (52). Interestingly, oncogenic transformation mediated by KRT17 is independent of the AKT signaling pathway in Ewing sarcoma. Consequently, inhibiting the AKT signaling pathway had no impact on growth or oncogenic transformation of Ewing sarcoma cells. These observations suggest that cooperating molecules or pathways necessary for AKT to mediate oncogenic transformation in other cancers may be absent in Ewing sarcoma cells. Indeed, polymerization of KRT17 with KRT5/ $6\alpha/6\beta$ is required to form stable cytoskeletal structures (39), and mutations in KRT17 or its partners KRT5, 6α or 6β result in human genetic diseases. We inspected our global transcriptional profiling datasets and found very low, if any, expression for KRT5, 6α or 6β in Ewing sarcoma cells, suggesting that KRT17 functions in a novel capacity to regulate oncogenic

transformation. This also indicates that in addition to regulating AKT signaling, KRT17 might impinge on multiple critical growth factor signaling pathways in the context of Ewing sarcoma cells - all of which together contribute to the transformed phenotype. Further studies are ongoing to identify the precise mechanism by which KRT17 regulates oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma.

Importantly, we demonstrate in this report that KRT17-mediated AKT phosphorylation is necessary and sufficient for regulating cellular adhesion. There is a growing body of evidence indicating that alterations in the adhesion properties of cells play a pivotal role in the development and progression of cancer (53). Expression of EWS/FLI has profound effects on adhesion and cytoskeletal architecture of Ewing sarcoma cells (31). In support of this are transcriptional profiling data for EWS/FLI in Ewing sarcoma cells that reveal significant downregulation of adhesion and cytoskeletal proteins, suggesting that Ewing sarcoma cells have low basal levels of cellular adhesion (10). In fact cellular adhesion is dramatically increased upon EWS/FLI knockdown in Ewing sarcoma cells (31). Ewing sarcoma is a highly metastatic tumor and in the absence of chemotherapy, the vast majority of patients die from metastatic disease, suggesting that most patients have micrometastases at presentation (54, 55). In support of this, circulating tumor cells can be identified in Ewing sarcoma patients (56). These observations suggest that, in contrast to epithelial cancers, which are thought to follow a multistep process for metastasis, a mesenchymal tumor like Ewing sarcoma may display metastatic dissemination of tumor cells early in the disease process (31). The ability of Ewing sarcoma tumor cells to readily disseminate clearly highlights the importance of regulating adhesion levels in these tumors. Although EWS/FLI largely inhibits cellular

adhesion proteins likely to promote metastatic dissemination in Ewing sarcoma, these tumor cells still need to maintain low basal levels of adhesion to be able to form tumors, and to adhere to and colonize secondary sites of metastasis. Our data suggests that KRT17 is one of the critical cytoskeletal proteins, downstream of EWS/FLI and GLI1 that is necessary to maintain basal levels of cellular adhesion in Ewing sarcoma by activating the AKT signaling pathway. Interestingly, the AKT signaling pathway has been previously shown to activate Focal Adhesion Kinase (FAK)-dependent adhesion in cancer (57) further supporting our finding that AKT signaling regulates cellular adhesion in Ewing sarcoma.

Our data in this study suggest that AKT-signaling uncouples KRT17-mediated cellular adhesion and oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma. A similar uncoupling of cellular adhesion and oncogenic transformation has previously been noted in activated Src kinase signaling. Src kinase expression/activity is frequently increased in various cancers where it affects oncogenic transformation by activating RAS, PI3K and STAT signaling pathways (58). Activated mutants of Src play a role in oncogenic transformation and affect morphological changes including cellular adhesion (59). Interestingly it has been shown that integrin α 5 β 3 signaling regulates Src-kinase mediated oncogenic transformation does not affect Src-mediated cellular adhesion (60). Our data suggest that signaling downstream of KRT17 may occur through multiple independent pathways, one of which is AKT signaling, that is necessary for cellular adhesion but dispensable for oncogenic transformation.

Based on our findings, we would hypothesize that inhibiting the AKT signaling pathway alone would be an ineffective therapy for Ewing sarcoma patients. In support of this are findings that Insulin-like Growth Factor 1 Receptor (IGF1R) antagonists that have shown efficacy in Phase I/II clinical trials for the treatment of Ewing sarcoma patients (61, 62) inhibit not only the PI3K-AKT signaling but also the RAS-MAPK and JAK-STAT pathways. Therefore, inhibiting multiple crucial signaling pathways may be necessary to inhibit growth and transformation of Ewing sarcoma cells. Also, targeting pathways downstream of IGF1R, with MEK/MAPK inhibitors (PD98059 and U0126) and the PI3K inhibitor (LY294002) decreases Ewing sarcoma cell survival and increases sensitivity to doxorubicin (63). Interestingly, blocking AKT activation alone did not have any effect on survival or proliferation of Ewing sarcoma cells (Sankar, unpublished observations). Our results demonstrate that active AKT signalling is not required for proliferation or oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma.

In conclusion, we have defined a new pathway downstream of GLI1 in Ewing sarcoma that highlights the central role of KRT17 in coordinating both oncogenic transformation and cellular adhesion in Ewing sarcoma. Future work will be required to identify the critical factors and pathways downstream of KRT17 that affect oncogenic transformation. These studies will be key to a better understanding of the biology of Ewing sarcoma, and may lead to more effective targeted therapies for patients with this devastating disease.

Acknowledgements

Savita Sankar acknowledges support from the HHMI Med into Grad program at the University of Utah (U2M2G). This work was supported by NIH/NCI grants R01 CA140394 (Dr. Lessnick) and P30 CA042014 (Huntsman Cancer Institute). We thank Dr. Alana Welm for discussions and critical reading of this manuscript,

Dr. R. Lor Randall and Dr. Michael Monument for providing the Ewing sarcoma patient tumor samples, and Dr. Wen Luo and members of the Lessnick and Beckerle laboratories for helpful discussions and reagents.

References

- 1. Arndt CA, Crist WM. Common musculoskeletal tumors of childhood and adolescence. *N Engl J Med* 1999; **341:** 342-352.
- 2. Delattre O, Zucman J, Plougastel B, Desmaze C, Melot T, Peter M *et al.* Gene fusion with an ETS DNA-binding domain caused by chromosome translocation in human tumours. *Nature* 1992; **359:** 162-165.
- 3. Smith R, Owen LA, Trem DJ, Wong JS, Whangbo JS, Golub TR *et al.* Expression profiling of EWS/FLI identifies NKX2.2 as a critical target gene in Ewing's sarcoma. *Cancer Cell* 2006; **9:** 405-416.
- 4. Kinsey M, Smith R, Lessnick SL. NR0B1 is required for the oncogenic phenotype mediated by EWS/FLI in Ewing's sarcoma. *Mol Cancer Res* 2006; **4:** 851-859.
- Prieur A, Tirode F, Cohen P, Delattre O. EWS/FLI-1 silencing and gene profiling of Ewing cells reveal downstream oncogenic pathways and a crucial role for repression of insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2004; 24: 7275-7283.
- 6. Shukla N, Ameur N, Yilmaz I, Nafa K, Lau CY, Marchetti A *et al.* Oncogene mutation profiling of pediatric solid tumors reveals significant subsets of embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma and neuroblastoma with mutated genes in growth signaling pathways. *Clinical Cancer Research: An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* 2012; **18**: 748-757.
- 7. Huang HY, Illei PB, Zhao Z, Mazumdar M, Huvos AG, Healey JH *et al.* Ewing sarcomas with p53 mutation or p16/p14ARF homozygous deletion: a highly lethal subset associated with poor chemoresponse. *J Clin Oncol* 2005; **23:** 548-558.
- 8. May WA, Lessnick SL, Braun BS, Klemsz M, Lewis BC, Lunsford LB *et al.* The Ewing's sarcoma EWS/FLI-1 fusion gene encodes a more potent transcriptional activator and is a more powerful transforming gene than FLI-1. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1993; **13**: 7393-7398.

- 9. May WA, Gishizky ML, Lessnick SL, Lunsford LB, Lewis BC, Delattre O *et al.* Ewing sarcoma 11;22 translocation produces a chimeric transcription factor that requires the DNA-binding domain encoded by FLI1 for transformation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1993; **90:** 5752-5756.
- Owen LA, Kowalewski AA, Lessnick SL. EWS/FLI mediates transcriptional repression via NKX2.2 during oncogenic transformation in Ewing's sarcoma. *PloS One* 2008; 3: e1965.
- 11. Kasper M, Regl G, Frischauf AM, Aberger F. GLI transcription factors: mediators of oncogenic Hedgehog signalling. *Eur J Cancer* 2006; **42:** 437-445.
- 12. Ingham PW, McMahon AP. Hedgehog signaling in animal development: paradigms and principles. *Genes & Development* 2001; **15:** 3059-3087.
- 13. Pietsch T, Waha A, Koch A, Kraus J, Albrecht S, Tonn J *et al.* Medulloblastomas of the desmoplastic variant carry mutations of the human homologue of Drosophila patched. *Cancer Research* 1997; **57:** 2085-2088.
- 14. Tostar U, Malm CJ, Meis-Kindblom JM, Kindblom LG, Toftgard R, Unden AB. Deregulation of the hedgehog signalling pathway: a possible role for the PTCH and SUFU genes in human rhabdomyoma and rhabdomyosarcoma development. *The Journal of Pathology* 2006; **208**: 17-25.
- 15. Hahn H, Wicking C, Zaphiropoulous PG, Gailani MR, Shanley S, Chidambaram A *et al.* Mutations of the human homolog of Drosophila patched in the nevoid basal cell carcinoma syndrome. *Cell* 1996; **85:** 841-851.
- 16. Sheng T, Li C, Zhang X, Chi S, He N, Chen K *et al.* Activation of the hedgehog pathway in advanced prostate cancer. *Molecular Cancer* 2004; **3:** 29.
- 17. Thayer SP, di Magliano MP, Heiser PW, Nielsen CM, Roberts DJ, Lauwers GY *et al.* Hedgehog is an early and late mediator of pancreatic cancer tumorigenesis. *Nature* 2003; **425**: 851-856.
- 18. Bian YH, Huang SH, Yang L, Ma XL, Xie JW, Zhang HW. Sonic hedgehog-Gli1 pathway in colorectal adenocarcinomas. *World Journal of Gastroenterology : WJG* 2007; **13:** 1659-1665.
- 19. Chi S, Huang S, Li C, Zhang X, He N, Bhutani MS *et al.* Activation of the hedgehog pathway in a subset of lung cancers. *Cancer Letters* 2006; **244:** 53-60.

- 20. Berman DM, Karhadkar SS, Maitra A, Montes De Oca R, Gerstenblith MR, Briggs K *et al.* Widespread requirement for Hedgehog ligand stimulation in growth of digestive tract tumours. *Nature* 2003; **425:** 846-851.
- 21. Ruiz i Altaba A, Sanchez P, Dahmane N. Gli and hedgehog in cancer: tumours, embryos and stem cells. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2002; **2:** 361-372.
- 22. Riobo NA, Lu K, Emerson CP, Jr. Hedgehog signal transduction: signal integration and cross talk in development and cancer. *Cell Cycle* 2006; **5:** 1612-1615.
- 23. Beauchamp E, Bulut G, Abaan O, Chen K, Merchant A, Matsui W *et al.* GLI1 is a direct transcriptional target of EWS-FLI1 oncoprotein. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2009; **284:** 9074-9082.
- Zwerner JP, Joo J, Warner KL, Christensen L, Hu-Lieskovan S, Triche TJ *et al.* The EWS/FLI1 oncogenic transcription factor deregulates GLI1. *Oncogene* 2008; 27: 3282-3291.
- 25. Joo J, Christensen L, Warner K, States L, Kang HG, Vo K *et al.* GLI1 is a central mediator of EWS/FLI1 signaling in Ewing tumors. *PloS One* 2009; **4:** e7608.
- Braunreiter CL, Hancock JD, Coffin CM, Boucher KM, Lessnick SL. Expression of EWS-ETS fusions in NIH3T3 cells reveals significant differences to Ewing's sarcoma. *Cell Cycle* 2006; 5: 2753-2759.
- Zhang J, Lodish HF. Constitutive activation of the MEK/ERK pathway mediates all effects of oncogenic H-ras expression in primary erythroid progenitors. *Blood* 2004; 104: 1679-1687.
- 28. Lessnick SL, Dacwag CS, Golub TR. The Ewing's sarcoma oncoprotein EWS/FLI induces a p53-dependent growth arrest in primary human fibroblasts. *Cancer Cell* 2002; **1**: 393-401.
- 29. Sankar S, Bell R, Stephens B, Zhuo R, Sharma S, Bearss DJ *et al.* Mechanism and relevance of EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional repression in Ewing sarcoma. *Oncogene* 2012.
- Gangwal K, Sankar S, Hollenhorst PC, Kinsey M, Haroldsen SC, Shah AA et al. Microsatellites as EWS/FLI response elements in Ewing's sarcoma. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2008; 105: 10149-10154.
- 31. Chaturvedi A, Hoffman LM, Welm AL, Lessnick SL, Beckerle MC. The EWS/FLI Oncogene Drives Changes in Cellular Morphology, Adhesion, and Migration in Ewing Sarcoma. *Genes & Cancer* 2012; **3:** 102-116.
- 32. Hui CC, Angers S. Gli proteins in development and disease. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* 2011; 27: 513-537.
- 33. Yoon JW, Kita Y, Frank DJ, Majewski RR, Konicek BA, Nobrega MA *et al.* Gene expression profiling leads to identification of GLI1-binding elements in target genes and a role for multiple downstream pathways in GLI1-induced cell transformation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2002; **277**: 5548-5555.
- Lipinski M, Hirsch MR, Deagostini-Bazin H, Yamada O, Tursz T, Goridis C. Characterization of neural cell adhesion molecules (NCAM) expressed by Ewing and neuroblastoma cell lines. *Int J Cancer* 1987; 40: 81-86.
- 35. Cavazzana AO, Miser JS, Jefferson J, Triche TJ. Experimental evidence for a neural origin of Ewing's sarcoma of bone. *The American Journal of Pathology* 1987; **127**: 507-518.
- 36. Hallikas O, Palin K, Sinjushina N, Rautiainen R, Partanen J, Ukkonen E *et al.* Genome-wide prediction of mammalian enhancers based on analysis of transcription-factor binding affinity. *Cell* 2006; **124:** 47-59.
- 37. Winklmayr M, Schmid C, Laner-Plamberger S, Kaser A, Aberger F, Eichberger T *et al.* Non-consensus GLI binding sites in Hedgehog target gene regulation. *BMC Molecular Biology* 2010; **11:** 2.
- Grant CE, Bailey TL, Noble WS. FIMO: scanning for occurrences of a given motif. *Bioinformatics* 2011; 27: 1017-1018.
- Coulombe PA, Tong X, Mazzalupo S, Wang Z, Wong P. Great promises yet to be fulfilled: defining keratin intermediate filament function in vivo. *European Journal of Cell Biology* 2004; 83: 735-746.
- 40. Depianto D, Kerns ML, Dlugosz AA, Coulombe PA. Keratin 17 promotes epithelial proliferation and tumor growth by polarizing the immune response in skin. *Nature Genetics* 2010; **42**: 910-914.
- 41. Turashvili G, Bouchal J, Baumforth K, Wei W, Dziechciarkova M, Ehrmann J *et al.* Novel markers for differentiation of lobular and ductal invasive breast carcinomas by laser microdissection and microarray analysis. *BMC Cancer* 2007; **7:** 55.
- 42. Smedts F, Ramaekers F, Troyanovsky S, Pruszczynski M, Link M, Lane B *et al.* Keratin expression in cervical cancer. *The American Journal of Pathology* 1992; **141:** 497-511.

- 43. Bournet B, Pointreau A, Souque A, Oumouhou N, Muscari F, Lepage B *et al.* Gene expression signature of advanced pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma using low density array on endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration samples. *Pancreatology* 2012; **12:** 27-34.
- 44. Zhang J, Wang K, Liu SS, Dai L, Zhang JY. Using proteomic approach to identify tumor-associated proteins as biomarkers in human esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Journal of Proteome Research* 2011; **10**: 2863-2872.
- 45. Shi I, Hashemi Sadraei N, Duan ZH, Shi T. Aberrant signaling pathways in squamous cell lung carcinoma. *Cancer Informatics* 2011; **10:** 273-285.
- 46. Ossandon FJ, Villarroel C, Aguayo F, Santibanez E, Oue N, Yasui W *et al.* In silico analysis of gastric carcinoma serial analysis of gene expression libraries reveals different profiles associated with ethnicity. *Molecular Cancer* 2008; **7:** 22.
- 47. van de Rijn M, Perou CM, Tibshirani R, Haas P, Kallioniemi O, Kononen J *et al.* Expression of cytokeratins 17 and 5 identifies a group of breast carcinomas with poor clinical outcome. *The American Journal of Pathology* 2002; **161**: 1991-1996.
- Ide M, Kato T, Ogata K, Mochiki E, Kuwano H, Oyama T. Keratin 17 expression correlates with tumor progression and poor prognosis in gastric adenocarcinoma. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 2012; 19: 3506-3514.
- 49. Sarbia M, Fritze F, Geddert H, von Weyhern C, Rosenberg R, Gellert K. Differentiation between pancreaticobiliary and upper gastrointestinal adenocarcinomas: is analysis of cytokeratin 17 expression helpful? *Am J Clin Pathol* 2007; **128**: 255-259.
- 50. Kim S, Wong P, Coulombe PA. A keratin cytoskeletal protein regulates protein synthesis and epithelial cell growth. *Nature* 2006; **441**: 362-365.
- 51. Pan X, Kane LA, Van Eyk JE, Coulombe PA. Type I keratin 17 protein is phosphorylated on serine 44 by p90 ribosomal protein S6 kinase 1 (RSK1) in a growth- and stress-dependent fashion. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2011; 286: 42403-42413.
- 52. Altomare DA, Testa JR. Perturbations of the AKT signaling pathway in human cancer. *Oncogene* 2005; 24: 7455-7464.
- 53. Okegawa T, Pong RC, Li Y, Hsieh JT. The role of cell adhesion molecule in cancer progression and its application in cancer therapy. *Acta Biochim Pol* 2004; **51:** 445-457.

- 54. Dahlin DC, Coventry MB, Scanlon PW. Ewing's sarcoma. A critical analysis of 165 cases. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 1961; **43-A:** 185-192.
- 55. Wang CC, Schulz MD. Ewing's sarcoma; a study of fifty cases treated at the Massachusetts General Hospital, 1930-1952 inclusive. *N Engl J Med* 1953; **248:** 571-576.
- Dubois SG, Epling CL, Teague J, Matthay KK, Sinclair E. Flow cytometric detection of Ewing sarcoma cells in peripheral blood and bone marrow. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* 2010; 54: 13-18.
- Wang S, Basson MD. Protein kinase B/AKT and focal adhesion kinase: two close signaling partners in cancer. *Anti-cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry* 2011; 11: 993-1002.
- 58. Irby RB, Yeatman TJ. Role of Src expression and activation in human cancer. *Oncogene* 2000; **19:** 5636-5642.
- 59. Yeatman TJ. A renaissance for SRC. Nat Rev Cancer 2004; 4: 470-480.
- 60. Huveneers S, Arslan S, van de Water B, Sonnenberg A, Danen EH. Integrins uncouple Src-induced morphological and oncogenic transformation. *J Biol Chem* 2008; **283**: 13243-13251.
- 61. Olmos D, Postel-Vinay S, Molife LR, Okuno SH, Schuetze SM, Paccagnella ML et al. Safety, pharmacokinetics, and preliminary activity of the anti-IGF-1R antibody figitumumab (CP-751,871) in patients with sarcoma and Ewing's sarcoma: a phase 1 expansion cohort study. *The Lancet Oncology* 2010; **11**: 129-135.
- 62. Kelleher FC, Thomas DM. Molecular pathogenesis and targeted therapeutics in Ewing sarcoma/primitive neuroectodermal tumours. *Clinical Sarcoma Research* 2012; **2**: 6.
- 63. Benini S, Manara MC, Cerisano V, Perdichizzi S, Strammiello R, Serra M *et al.* Contribution of MEK/MAPK and PI3-K signaling pathway to the malignant behavior of Ewing's sarcoma cells: therapeutic prospects. *International Journal of Cancer Journal International du Cancer* 2004; **108**: 358-366.



Figure 5.1 GLI1 is upregulated by EWS/FLI and is necessary for oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma cells. (A) Western blot analysis to demonstrate EWS/FLI mediated activation of GLI1. GLI1 and EWS/FLI levels were assessed in A673 cells infected with a control shRNA (Luc) or an shRNA targeting EWS/FLI followed by rescue with an empty vector or an RNAi-resistant EWS/FLI cDNA using anti-GLI1 and anti-FLI antibodies. Tubulin was used as a loading control. (*) indicates the 3x-FLAG tagged EWS/FLI cDNA that runs slightly higher than endogenous EWS/FLI. (B) Western blot analysis to demonstrate expression of the RNAi-resistant 3x-FLAG tagged EWS/FLI cDNA or 3x-FLAG tagged GLI1 cDNA constructs using an anti-FLAG antibody in A673 cells expressing a control shRNA (Luc) or an EWS/FLI shRNA. Tubulin was used as the loading control. (C) Quantification of colonies formed by A673 cells described in (B). Error bars indicate SD of duplicate assays. P-values were determined using a student's ttest comparing all conditions to the control knockdown/empty vector condition (*** for p≤0.001). (D) Western blot analysis of GLI1 levels in A673 cells infected with a control shRNA (Luc) or an shRNA targeting GLI1 followed by rescue with an empty vector or an RNAi-resistant GLI1 cDNA. Tubulin was used as a loading control. (*) indicates the 3x-FLAG tagged GLI1 cDNA that runs slightly higher than endogenous GLI1. (E) Growth assays (3T5) for A673 cells described in (D). Student's t-test showed no significant difference in growth curves. (F) Quantification of colonies formed in soft agar by A673 cells expressing a control shRNA (Luc) or a GLI1 shRNA, re-expressing an empty vector or an RNAi-resistant GLI1 or NKX2.2 cDNA constructs. Error bars indicate SD of duplicate assays. P-values were determined using a student's t-test comparing all conditions to the control knockdown/empty vector condition (** for p≤0.01).

Figure 5.2 GL11 regulates a significant portion of the EWS/FLI transcription profile in Ewing sarcoma cells. (A) Heat map representation of the rank-ordered expression profiling data from the GL11 RNA-seq. Genes were ranked by mean deviation of the log transformed FPKM (Fragments Per Kilobase per Million mapped reads). Each row represents a different gene. The top 15 upregulated (left) and downregulated (right) genes from the GL11 RNA-seq are shown. (B) Venn diagram representations of the overlap between the EWS/FLI and the GL11 transcription profiles, both generated by RNA-seq in A673 cells. The Chi square-determined p-values are indicated. (C) Gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) using the EWS/FLI regulated genes in A673 cells (RNA-seq) as the rank-ordered dataset and the 86 Gli1 upregulated and 55 GL11-downregulated genesets (RNA-seq). The positions of the 86 and 55 GL11 genes are indicated as black vertical lines in the center portion of the panel. The normalized enrichment scores (NES) and p-values are shown. (D) Top ten categories identified by DAVID functional analysis of the GL11 up and downregulated genesets. The log transformed enrichment scores for each category are indicated on the x-axis.



Figure 5.3 KRT17 is regulated by GLI1 in multiple Ewing sarcoma cell lines. (A) Validation of KRT17 being an EWS/FLI and GLI1 target gene. qRT-PCR analysis of KRT17 in A673 cells infected with a control shRNA (Luc), an EWS/FLI shRNA or a GLI1 shRNA, followed by rescue with an empty vector, an RNAi-resistant EWS/FLI cDNA or a GLI1 cDNA construct. Error bars indicate SD. P-values were determined using a student's t-test comparing all conditions to the control knockdown/empty vector condition (** for $p \le 0.01$; *** for $p \le 0.001$). (B) Western blot analysis of cells described in (A) using KRT17, EWS/FLI and GLI1 antibodies. Tubulin was used as the loading control. (*) indicates the 3x-FLAG tagged EWS/FLI and GLI1 cDNAs. (C) qRT-PCR validation of KRT17 being a GLI1 target gene in multiple patient-derived Ewing sarcoma cell lines (TC71, TC32, SK-N-MC and EWS502). Cells were infected with a control shRNA (Luc) or a GLI1 shRNA. GLI1 and KRT17 mRNA levels were analyzed. Error bars indicate SD. P-values were determined using a student's t-test comparing all conditions to the control knockdown (Luc-shRNA) (** for $p \le 0.01$; *** for $p \le 0.001$). (D) Western blot analysis of KRT17 expression in multiple patient-derived Ewing sarcoma cell lines (A673, TC71, TC32, SKNMC, SKES1 and EWS502). Tubulin was used as the loading control. (E) RT-PCR analysis of KRT17 transcript levels in five independent Ewing sarcoma patient tumor samples compared to KRT17 transcript levels in A673 cells infected with a control shRNA (Luc) or a KRT17 shRNA as well as a water negative control. (F) Luciferase reporter assay in HEK293 EBNA cells cotransfected with a 1 Kb. KRT17 promoter region upstream of luciferase or a control vector (that does not contain the KRT17 promoter) and an empty vector or increasing concentrations of the GLI1 cDNA. Relative luciferase activity is the ratio of firefly luciferase activity to Renilla luciferase activity (to control for transfection efficiency). Error bars indicate SD. P-values were determined using a student's t-test comparing all GLI1 cDNA transfected conditions to the vector transfected condition (** for $p \le 0.01$).



Figure 5.4 KRT17 is necessary for GLI1 mediated oncogenesis in Ewing sarcoma. (A) shRNA knock-down of KRT17 in A673 cells infected with a control shRNA (Luc) or two different shRNA constructs targeting KRT17, measured by qRT-PCR. Error bars indicate SD. P-values were determined using a student's t-test comparing all conditions to the control knockdown (Luc-shRNA) (** for $p \le 0.01$; *** for $p \le 0.001$). (B) Western blot analysis of KRT17 in cells described in (A). Tubulin was used as the loading control. (C) Growth assays (3T5) for A673 cells described in (A). Student's t-test showed no significant difference in growth curves. (D) Quantification of colonies formed in methylcellulose by A673 cells expressing a control shRNA (Luc) or two different KRT17 shRNAs, re-expressing an empty vector or an RNAi-resistant KRT17 cDNA construct. Error bars indicate SD of duplicate assays. P-values were determined using a student's ttest comparing all conditions to the control knockdown/empty vector condition (** for $p \le 0.01$). (E) Western blot analysis of cells described in (D). The KRT17 blot demonstrates maintenance of KRT17 knockdown in cells infected with two independent KRT17 shRNAs and re-expressing an empty vector control, compared to control cells. The FLAG blot demonstrates expression of the RNAi-resistant KRT17 cDNA construct. (F) Survival curves for immunodeficient mice subject to subcutaneous or intratibial injections with A673 cells expressing a control shRNA (ERG) or a KRT17 shRNA. Five mice were used per condition. For the subcutaneous model, both flanks of each mouse was injected subcutaneously. In the control condition one mouse died due to the anesthesia and was censored from the analysis. Therefore 8 and 10 tumors were measured for the control knockdown and KRT17 knockdown groups, respectively. For the intratibial model, the right tibia of each mouse was injected, and therefore, 5 tumors were measured for each group. The mice in each group in the subcutaneous model were sacrificed once their tumors reached a size limit of 2 cubic cm. The mice in each group in the intratibial model were sacrificed once their tumors reached a size limit of 1.5 cubic cm. Percent survival was plotted for both models as Kaplan-Meier survival curves using GraphPad Prism. The log-rank (Mantel-Cox Test) determined p-values using GraphPad Prism are indicated. (G) Western blot analysis of control (ERG) shRNA or KRT17 shRNA expressing tumors from the subcutaneous injection model described in (F). KRT17 levels in the tumors were compared to levels in the parental A673 cells expressing either the control shRNA or KRT17 shRNA, used to inject mice. Tubulin was used as the loading control. (H) Western blot analysis of A673 cells expressing a control shRNA (Luc) or a GLI1 shRNA and re-expressing an empty vector, 3x-FLAG tagged GLI1 or 3x-FLAG tagged KRT17 cDNA constructs using a FLAG antibody. Tubulin was used as the loading control. (I) Quantification of colonies formed in methylcellulose by A673 cells described in (H). Error bars indicate SD of duplicate assays. The P-value was determined using a student's t-test comparing the GLI1 knockdown/empty vector condition to the control knockdown/empty vector condition (*** for p<0.001).



Figure 5.5 KRT17 is necessary and sufficient for AKT phosphorylation mediated cellular adhesion in Ewing sarcoma cells. (A) Western blot analysis of A673 cells infected with a control shRNA (Luc) or the GLI1 shRNA and re-expressing an empty vector, GLI1 or KRT17 cDNA constructs. The protein lysate from these cells were probed with phosphorylated-AKT (S473), total AKT and FLAG antibodies. Tubulin was used as a loading control. (B) Western blot analysis of A673 cells infected with a control shRNA (Luc) or a KRT17 shRNA and re-expressing an empty vector, KRT17 wild-type or an S44A mutant KRT17 cDNA construct. The protein lysate from these cells were probed with phosphorylated-AKT (S473), total AKT and KRT17 antibodies. (*) indicates 3x-FLAG tagged KRT17 and 3x-FLAG tagged S44A KRT17 cDNA constructs, which run slightly higher than endogenous KRT17. Tubulin was used as a loading control. (C) Immunofluorescence images of A673 cells infected with a control shRNA (Luc). KRT17 shRNA or an EWS/FLI shRNA stained for focal adhesions (paxillin antibody) and for actin filaments (phalloidin). Arrow heads indicate paxillin-rich focal adhesions. (D) Adhesion assay with A673 cells infected with a control shRNA (Luc) or a KRT17 shRNA, re-expressing an empty vector, KRT17 wild-type or S44A mutant KRT17 cDNA constructs. Error bars indicate SD. P-values were determined using a student's t-test comparing all conditions to the control knockdown/empty vector condition (*** for p≤0.001). (E) Western blot analysis of A673 cells infected with a control shRNA (Luc) or a KRT17 shRNA and re-expressing an empty vector, KRT17 cDNA or a constitutively active (myristoylated) form of AKT. The protein lysate from these cells were probed with KRT17, phosphorylated-AKT (S473) and total AKT antibodies. Tubulin was used as a loading control. (F) Adhesion assay with A673 cells described in (E). Error bars indicate SD. The P-value was determined using a student's t-test comparing the KRT17 knockdown/empty vector condition to the control knockdown/empty vector condition (*** for p \leq 0.001). (G) Adhesion assay with A673 cells treated with the selective AKT inhibitor or vehicle control for 24 hours. Error bars indicate SD. The P-value was determined using a student's t-test comparing the inhibitor treated condition to the vehicle treated condition (*** for $p \le 0.001$).





Figure 5.6 KRT17 mediated oncogenic transformation is independent of AKT signaling. (A) Quantification of colonies formed in methylcellulose by A673 cells infected with a control shRNA (Luc) or a KRT17 shRNA and re-expressing an empty vector, KRT17 wild-type or the S44A mutant KRT17 cDNA construct. Error bars indicate SD of duplicate assays. The P-value was determined using a student's t-test comparing the KRT17 knockdown condition rescued with an empty vector to the control knockdown condition rescued with an empty vector (*** for $p \le 0.001$). (B) Quantification of colonies formed in methylcellulose by A673 cells infected with a control shRNA (Luc) or a KRT17 shRNA and re-expressing an empty vector, KRT17 cDNA or a constitutively active (myristoylated) form of AKT. Error bars indicate SD of duplicate assays. P-values were determined using a student's t-test comparing all conditions to the control knockdown/empty vector condition (*** for $p \le 0.001$). (C) Quantification of colonies formed in methylcellulose by A673 cells treated with a selective AKT inhibitor or a vehicle control for 24 hours. Error bars indicate SD of duplicate assays. (D) Western blot analysis of A673 cells described in (C). Protein lysates from treated cells and from 3D colonies at the end of the anchorage-independent colony forming assay, were probed with phosphorylated-AKT (S473) and total AKT antibodies. Tubulin was used as the loading control. The total amount of protein obtained from the 3D colonies was much less that that achieved from cells grown and treated on plastic.

CHAPTER 6

EWS AND RE1 SILENCING TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR INHIBIT NEURONAL PHENOTYPE DEVELOPMENT AND ONCOGENIC TRANSFORMATION IN EWING SARCOMA

This work is reprinted with the permission of SAGE publications. The manuscript was originally published in Genes and Cancer OnlineFirst on May 17, 2013 as doi: 10.1177/1947601913489569

Original Article

EWS and REI-Silencing Transcription Factor Inhibit Neuronal Phenotype Development and Oncogenic Transformation in Ewing Sarcoma

Genes & Cancer XX(X) I-11 © The Author(s) 2013 Reprints and permission: sagepub.com/journalsPermissions.nav DOI: 10.1177/1947601913489569 http://ganc.sagepub.com SAGE

Savita Sankar¹, Nicholas C. Gomez^{2,3}, Russell Bell⁴, Mukund Patel^{2,5}, Ian J. Davis^{2,5,6,7}, Stephen L. Lessnick^{1,4,8}, and Wen Luo^{1,4,*}

Submitted 14-Feb-2013; accepted 10-Apr-2013

Abstract

The gene encoding EWS (EWSR/) is involved in various chromosomal translocations that cause the production of oncoproteins responsible for multiple cancers including Ewing sarcoma, myxoid liposarcoma, soft tissue clear cell sarcoma, and desmoplastic small round cell sarcoma. It is well known that EWS fuses to FLI to create EWS/FLI, which is the abnormal transcription factor that drives tumor development in Ewing sarcoma. However, the role of wild-type EWS in Ewing sarcoma pathogenesis remains unclear. In the current study, we identified EWS-regulated genes and cellular processes through RNA interference combined with RNA sequencing and functional annotation analyses. Interestingly, we found that EWS and EWS/FLI co-regulate a significant cluster of genes, indicating an interplay between the 2 proteins in regulating cellular functions. We found that among the EWS-down-regulated genes are a subset of neuronal genes that contain binding sites for the REI-silencing transcription factor (REST or neuron-restrictive silencer factor [NRSF]), neuron-restrictive silencer element (NRSE), suggesting a cooperative interaction between REST and EWS in gene regulation. Co-immunoprecipitation analysis demonstrated that EWS interacts directly with REST. Genome-wide binding analysis showed that EWS binds chromatin at or near NRSE. Furthermore, functional studies revealed that both EWS and REST inhibit neuronal phenotype development and nocogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma cells. Our data implicate an important role of EWS in the development of Ewing sarcoma phenotype and highlight a potential value in modulating EWS function in the treatment of Ewing sarcoma and other EWS function in the treatment of Ewing sarcoma and other EWS function.

Keywords

EWS, REST, oncogenic transformation, neuronal phenotype, Ewing sarcoma

Introduction

Ewing sarcoma is a translocation-based pediatric bone and soft tissue tumor. In most Ewing sarcoma cases, translocation causes a fusion between the EWSR1 gene (encoding EWS) and the FLI1 gene (encoding FLI) and gives rise to the fusion protein EWS/FLI. It is well known that EWS/FLI functions as an aberrant transcription factor to deregulate the expression of target genes and promote tumor development.¹⁻³ In addition to the gain of function of EWS/FLI, translocation also results in the loss of 1 EWSR1 allele. In fact, a case of Ewing sarcoma with both copies of EWSR1 translocated, and therefore no wild-type EWS expression, has been reported,⁴ suggesting that EWS is dispensable for tumor growth. However, EWS function is disrupted or insufficient in several EWS translocation-based cancers, indicating that EWS may contribute to the suppression of cancer-related phenotypes. So far, little is known about the role of EWS, if any, in regulating cancer-related phenotypes.

In general, EWS is an RNA-binding protein and has been implicated in transcription regulation and RNA Supplementary material for this article is available on the Genes & Cancer website at http://ganc.sagepub.com/supplemental.

¹Department of Oncological Sciences, University of Utah School of Medicine, Salt Lake City, UT, USA

²Lineberger Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, USA

³Curriculum in Genetics and Molecular Biology, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, USA

⁴Center for Children's Cancer Research, Huntsman Cancer Institute, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, USA

⁵Department of Genetics, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, USA

⁶Department of Pediatrics, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, USA

⁷Carolina Center for Genome Sciences, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, USA

⁸Division of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology, University of Utah School of Medicine, Salt Lake City, UT, USA

*Current address: Department of Pediatrics and Department of Pathology, New York Medical College, Valhalla, NY, USA

Corresponding Author:

Wen Luo, Huntsman Cancer Institute, University of Utah, 2000 Circle of Hope, Salt Lake City, UT 84112 (Email: wen.luo@hci.utah.edu). processing.⁵ EWS interacts with RNA polymerase II and the TFIID transcription preinitiation complex. EWS cotranscriptionally binds to its target mRNA and regulates the alternative splicing or exon skipping of genes involved in DNA repair and related signaling upon cellular stress.^{6,7} In addition, EWS binds to noncoding RNA and inhibits the histone acetyltransferase (HAT) activity of CBP/p300 on a repressed gene target, CCND1, upon radiation.⁸ Recently, EWS was found to be associated with RNA granules under genotoxic stress.^{9,10} Most of the above known EWS functions are characterized under conditions of cellular stress in non-Ewing sarcoma settings. Notably in Ewing sarcoma, EWS co-exists with EWS/FLI, which has been shown to bind EWS and interfere with EWS-mediated transcription regulation and splicing in a dominant-negative manner.¹¹⁻¹³ However, neither the function of EWS nor the relationship between EWS and EWS/FLI in Ewing sarcoma is well defined.

Interesting neuronal features have been identified in Ewing sarcoma cells and tumors, such as the presence of Homer-Wright rosettes, neural processes, neurosecretory granules, and neural immunohistochemical markers.^{14,15} It has been suggested that the neural phenotype of Ewing sarcoma may be a consequence of the translocation and resultant expression of EWS/FLI because the introduction of EWS/FLI into NIH3T3 or rhabdomyosarcoma RD cells induces the features of neural differentiation.^{16,17} However, Ewing sarcoma and peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumor (pPNET), which contain the same t(11;22)(q24;q12)translocation¹⁸⁻²⁰ and represent the same disease, exhibit varying levels of neural differentiation. This suggests that other modulators may exist to regulate the neuronal phenotype in Ewing sarcoma.

RE1-silencing transcription factor (REST or neuronrestrictive silencer factor [NRSF]) is a transcription repressor that has diverse functions in a context-dependent manner through interactions with distinct co-factors.²¹⁻²³ REST was originally found to repress neuronal gene expression in nonneuronal cells.²¹ It is now widely recognized that REST also plays a role in tumorigenesis.²⁴⁻²⁷ REST was identified as a tumor suppressor in an RNA interference (RNAi)-based genetic screen in epithelial cells using an in vitro breast cancer precursor model.²⁴ Later studies revealed that REST is frequently deleted in colon and small cell lung cancers.^{24,25} supporting a role for this transcription repressor as a tumor suppressor. In breast cancer, a nonfunctional, truncated splice variant of REST was identified in some tumor subtypes, and expression of this truncated variant of REST was shown to correlate with poor prognosis.²⁸ Interestingly, these REST-deficient tumors acquire certain neuronal phenotypes such as the expression of neuronal genes that are normally not expressed outside the nervous system.^{24,25}

In this article, we sought to characterize the function of EWS in Ewing sarcoma and found that EWS contributes to cancer phenotypes in that EWS cooperates with REST to repress neuronal phenotype development and EWS and REST inhibit oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma cells.

Results

Identification of EWS-regulated genes and cellular processes in Ewing sarcoma. To characterize the function of EWS in Ewing sarcoma, we silenced EWS in A673 Ewing sarcoma cells (Fig. 1A) and performed high-throughput sequencing of RNA (RNA-seq) from control (luciferase) or EWS knockdown cells to identify EWS-regulated genes. Sequencing reads were mapped to Ensembl annotations (www.ensembl.org), and expression levels of genes based on the Ensembl annotation are shown in Supplementary File S1. Genes were ranked by the mean \pm standard deviation of log-transformed FPKM (fragments per kilobase per million mapped reads) and shown as a heat map in Figure 1B. To gain insight into the functional significance of the differentially expressed genes, we performed DAVID functional annotation analysis (david.abcc.ncifcrf.gov) of 99 genes that pass the filter of a 5% false discovery rate (FDR) and \log_{10} ratio >1 or <-1. We found that these genes are associated with diverse functions, including those that have previously been indicated for EWS in non-Ewing sarcoma cells, such as a response to various cellular stresses, as well as previously unidentified functions including cell signaling, secretion, blood vessel development, and neuronalrelated processes (Fig. 1C and Suppl. File S2). A subset of EWS-up-regulated and -down-regulated genes was randomly selected and validated by qRT-PCR) (Fig. 1D and 1E).

EWS-regulated genes are differentially regulated by EWS/FLI. Because EWS/FLI has previously been shown to interfere with EWS functions,^{12,13} we next sought to determine the relationship between EWS and EWS/FLI in regulating cellular processes in Ewing sarcoma. We performed RNA-seq following EWS/FLI silencing and compared the EWS/FLIregulated transcriptional profile (Suppl. File S3) with that of EWS. We used VennMaster analysis (informatik.uni-ulm. de/ni/staff/HKestler/vennm) to identify genes commonly regulated by EWS and EWS/FLI. Fifty-three of the 99 EWS-regulated genes were found to also be regulated by EWS/FLI (P = 3.86345E-30) (Fig. 2A). Of these 53 EWS and EWS/FLI commonly regulated genes, 14 genes were up-regulated by EWS and down-regulated by EWS/FLI (P = 4.30758E-9), and 13 genes were down-regulated by EWS and up-regulated by EWS/FLI (P = 4.62419E-8), suggesting that the 2 proteins inversely regulate a significant subset of target genes (Fig. 2B). Interestingly, we also identified 7 genes that were up-regulated (P = 0.00897) and 19 genes that were down-regulated (P = 4.19203E-14) by both EWS and EWS/FLI (Fig. 2B), indicating that the 2 proteins also regulate a significant subset of genes in the same



Figure 1. Identification of EWS-regulated genes and functions in Ewing sarcoma. (A) EWS knockdown by shRNA. gRT-PCR analysis shows that the EWS transcript level decreased about 80% by EWS knockdown. Normalized fold change was calculated by determining the fold change of the EWS-RNAi condition relative to the control Luc-RNAi condition, with the data in each condition normalized to an internal housekeeping control gene GAPDH. Columns indicate the mean of 3 independent replicate experiments, error bars indicate the standard deviation, and asterisks indicate P < 0.05. EWS and tubulin (loading control) protein levels after control or EWS shRNA treatment are shown in the bottom panel. (B) Expression profiles for all detected and rank-ordered Ensembl genes are represented as a heat map. The FPKM values were mean-centered and normalized, with each row representing a different gene. The top 20 genes that either increase (left) or decrease (right) with increased EWS are shown. (C) Top 10 categories identified by DAVID functional annotation analysis of EWS-regulated genes. (D, E) RT-PCR validation of randomly selected EWS-up-regulated (D) or -down-regulated (E) genes. Normalized fold change was calculated by determining the fold change of the EWS-RNAi condition relative to the control Luc-RNAi condition, with the data in each condition normalized to an internal housekeeping control gene GAPDH. Columns indicate the mean of 3 independent replicate experiments, error bars indicate the standard deviation, and asterisks indicate P < 0.05.

manner. We next performed Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) using the EWS/FLI-regulated genes as the ranked list and the EWS–up-regulated or –down-regulated targets as the gene sets and applied a 1^{2} test²⁹ to establish enrichment of

the EWS-regulated genes for both the EWS/FLI-up-regulated and -downregulated genes. We found that the EWS-up-regulated genes cluster significantly (P " 0.001) with both the EWS/FLI-up-regulated and -downregulated genes and vice versa (Fig. 2C), suggesting a correlated regulation of genes by EWS and EWS/ FLI in either the same or opposite directions. Notably, the correlation seemed to be stronger for the EWSdown-regulated genes as compared to the EWS-up-regulated genes. These results suggest that EWS and EWS/ FLI differentially regulate genes and cellular processes in Ewing sarcoma.

EWS inhibits a subset of REST target neuronal genes in Ewing sarcoma cells. Because Ewing sarcoma was found to display some neuronal features, we focused our study on the EWS-regulated genes in the category of neuronal-related processes. We noted a set of neuronal genes including chromogranin A (CHGA), cholinergic receptor nicotinic beta 2 (CHRNB2), pleckstrin and Sec7 domain containing (PSD), secretogranin III (SCG3), synaptotagmin IV (SYT4), and VGF nerve growth factor inducible (VGF). These 6 genes are involved in different aspects of neuronal functions³⁰⁻³⁵ and are all down-regulated by EWS. Interestingly, elevated CHGA is an indicator for pancreas and prostate cancers.³⁶ Detection of SCG3 and VGF transcripts is a prognostic biomarker for small cell lung cancer and large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma,^{37,38} respectively. More importantly, a putative REST response element (neuron-restrictive silencer element [NRSE]) is found in the regulatory regions such as the promoter or 5#untranslated region (5#UTR) of each of these genes (Suppl. File S4). Most of these genes are known to be repressed by REST as well.³⁹⁻⁴¹

To test if REST is involved in the repression of these neuronal genes in Ewing sarcoma, and to validate the RNA-seq data that EWS down-regulates the same subset of neuronal genes, we performed shRNA- and siRNA-mediated silencing of EWS or REST and analyzed



Figure 2. EWS/FLI differentially regulates EWS-regulated genes. (**A**) Venn diagram shows a significant overlap of the EWS- and EWS/FLI-regulated gene sets. (**B**) Venn diagrams showing significant overlapping gene sets between the EWS-up-regulated or -down-regulated and the EWS/FLI-up-regulated or -down-regulated gene sets. The *P* value was calculated by $!^2$ analysis. (**C**) GSEA using EWS/FLI-regulated genes in A673 Ewing sarcoma cells as the rank-ordered data set and the EWS-up-regulated or -down-regulated targets as the gene set. The $!^2$ test-derived enrichment scores and *P* values are shown for each end of the GSEA curve.

the expression of these genes by qRT-PCR (Fig. 3A and Suppl. Fig. S1). Stable knockdown of EWS or REST by shRNA significantly increased the expression of each of these neuronal genes in both A673 and TC71 cells (Fig. 3A and Suppl. Fig. S1A). Transient knockdown of EWS or REST using siRNA (Suppl. Fig. S1B) generated the same pattern of increased expression for each of these neuronal genes (Suppl. Fig. S1C). These findings demonstrate the repression of a subset of neuronal genes by REST in Ewing sarcoma, confirm the EWS RNA-seq results, and suggest a direct connection between EWS and REST in the regulation of neuronal gene expression.

Since knockdown of EWS increased the expression of the neuronal genes of interest, we next asked whether the overexpression of EWS would decrease the expression of these genes. There are 5 known alternative splice variants for EWS. We identified at least 3 variants during the process of cloning the EWS cDNA from A673 cells. Two variants, V2 and V3 (NM 005243.3 and NM 001163285.1), have previously been reported, and they differ only by 3 nucleotides in exon 11. The third variant, V6 (BankIt1574452 EWS JX977847), has not been identified previously. Variant V6 contains an alternative exon 9 (9b), which is 105 bases shorter than exon 9 (9a) that is found in V2 and V3 (Fig. 3B, upper panel). Following the enforced expression of each EWS isoform in A673 cells, we observed an overall repression of the neuronal genes tested to various extents (Fig. 3B, lower panel). It should be noted that the shRNA used to knock down EWS targets all 3 EWS variants and that EWS knockdown consistently increased the expression of the neuronal genes of interest (Fig. 3A). Taken together, these findings demonstrate that EWS indeed represses the set of neuronal genes tested in Ewing sarcoma cells.

EWS physically interacts with REST and binds to NRSE sites in the genome. Next, we examined the mechanism by which EWS and REST co-regulate these neuronal genes. One possibility is that EWS and REST regulate one

another. However, knockdown of REST failed to change EWS levels and *vice versa* (Fig. 3A). EWS has previouisly been shown to regulate transcription by binding to proteins in the transcriptional machinery or to other transcription factors.^{42,43} REST has also been shown to require co-factor interactions to mediate the repression of its target genes.^{8,44} Therefore, we hypothesized that EWS and REST interact with each other to regulate the subset of neuronal genes. To test this hypothesis, we first asked whether EWS and REST physically interact in Ewing sarcoma cells. We immunoprecipitated endogenous EWS proteins from A673 cell lysates and tested for the presence of REST in the



sarcoma cells. (A) qRT-PCR analysis showing that EWS and REST down-regulate the transcription of all 6 neural genes. Normalized fold enrichment was calculated by determining the fold change of each condition relative to the control Luc-RNAi condition, with the data in each condition normalized to GAPDH. Columns indicate the mean of the 3 independent replicate experiments, error bars indicate the standard deviation, and asterisks indicate P < 0.05. (B) Overexpression of EWS represses the neuronal genes of interest. Schematic representation of 3 EWS splice variants found in Ewing sarcoma (upper panel). Expression of indicated neuronal genes with the overexpression of each EWS variant was investigated by RT-PCR. Normalized fold enrichment was calculated by determining the fold change of each condition relative to the empty vector condition, with the data in each condition normalized to GAPDH. Columns indicate the mean of 3 independent replicate experiments, error bars indicate the standard deviation, and asterisks indicate P < .05. EWS protein expression was examined by Western blotting, shown in the lower panel.

immunoprecipitates and *vice versa*. We found that EWS and REST co-immunoprecipitate in the reciprocal pull-downs (Fig. 4A). Domain mapping was then carried out by overexpressing flag-tagged full-length EWS, full-length EWS/FLI, which contains only the N-terminal portion of EWS, or 22 (a deletion mutant of EWS/FLI in which almost the entire EWS portion is deleted) (Fig. 4B) in HEK293 cells. After performing co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP), we found that full-length EWS and EWS/FLI, but not 22, were able to interact with REST (Fig. 4B). This indicates that the N-terminal domain of EWS is required for REST binding.

We next reasoned that if EWS and REST regulate these neuronal genes by mutual interaction, they would closely bind to chromatin at the set of neuronal genes. To examine whether EWS contacts chromatin at the NRSE sites present in the set of neuronal genes or at NRSE sites in the genome in general, we expressed epitope-tagged EWS in Ewing sarcoma EWS502 cells in which endogenous EWS/FLI had been silenced. We performed ChIP-seq analysis⁴⁵ and observed EWS signals at regions 100 to 200 bp from the predicted NRSE sites at the neuronal genes of interest (Fig. 4C). We also observed EWS signals at other regions of some genes, which is consistent with previous findings that EWS regulates transcription and RNA splicing. We then examined EWS signals at computationally predicted NRSE sites (TTCAGCACCA/T/GC/ANGGACAGC /AG/AC/ GC, N = 3-9).⁴⁰ We found that the EWS signal was enriched and centered around NRSE sites (Fig. 4D, left panel) and that the signal intensity was even greater (Fig. 4D, right panel) when the analysis was limited to algorithmically selected EWS peaks (Zero-Inflated Negative Binomial Algorithm [ZINBA]⁴⁶). As a validation of the signal-based enrichment of EWS at NRSE, we performed a permutation analysis of EWS binding at NRSE sites (Fig. 4E) and observed a significant association between EWS and NRSE. We also observed this relationship with the highly conserved insulator element CTCF but not the binding sites of 2 neuronal transcription factors SOX2 or PAX6 (Fig. 4E). These results suggest that EWS preferentially binds chromatin at or near NRSE sites in Ewing sarcoma cells. Taken together, our data indicate that EWS and REST interact with each other and bind chromatin at or near NRSE sites to repress the expression of the target neuronal genes.

EWS and REST inhibit the neuronal phenotype and tumorigenesis in Ewing sarcoma cells. Next, we sought to determine the biological function of the co-regulation of neuronal genes by EWS and REST. Because the depletion of EWS increases expression of the neuronal genes, we reasoned that EWS knockdown may induce a neuronal phenotype in Ewing sarcoma cells. We therefore examined the protein levels of 3 neuronal markers, ! -III tubulin (TUBB3), neurofilament heavy polypeptide (NEFH), and microtubuleassociated protein 2 (MAP2), following the knockdown of EWS. These 3 proteins have been previously used to assess neural differentiation in Ewing sarcoma cells.^{17,47} We found that silencing of EWS in both A673 and TC71 cells resulted in an increased expression level of all 3 neuronal markers



Figure 4. EWS physically interacts with REST and binds to chromatin regions at or near NRSE sites. (**A**) Reciprocal co-IP of EWS and REST. (**B**) The N-terminus of EWS or EWS/FLI is responsible for binding to REST. Schematic representation of constructs used in the analysis is shown in the top panel. The number equals the numerical value of amino acid residues of the EWS protein. HEK293 cells were transfected with flag-tagged full-length EWS, full-length EWS/FLI, or EWS/FLI ! 22. Cell lysates were subject to immunoprecipitation with anti-REST antibody for endogenous REST. Normal mouse IgG was used as a negative control. Co-immunoprecipitates of flag-tagged proteins were detected by the anti-flag antibody.All co-IP experiments were performed 3 times. (**C**) EWS binds to the REST-repressed neural genes at or near their NRSE sites. ChIP-seq analyses were carried out as described previously.⁴⁵ UCSC Genome Browser screenshots of the EWS ChIP-seq signal at indicated genes are shown. NRSE sites are indicated by arrows. (**D**) Mean EWS ChIP signal across all NRSE elements ±1 kb (left panel) and EWS-bound NRSE elements ±1 kb (right panel). Tags have been normalized for sequencing depth. (**E**) Overlap of EWS-binding sites across NRSE, SOX2, PAX6, and CTCF sites (dark gray bars). For comparison, overlap was also performed using randomly permuted EWS peaks (light gray bars). Asterisks indicate P < 0.001.



Figure 5. EWS and REST repress the neuronal phenotype and oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma cells. (A) EWS or REST knockdown increases the expression of neuronal markers TUBB3, NEFH, and MAP2 in A673 and TC71 cells. (B) EWS or REST but not control knockdown cells display a neuronal phenotype when grown in media with 1% FBS and/or 20 ng/mL of nerve growth factor. (C) Growth curves of A673 cells with the overexpression of EWS V2, V3, or V6 or REST. (D) Soft agar assay with A673 cells overexpressing each of the 3 EWS splice isoforms or REST. Asterisks indicate P < 0.05.

(Fig. 5A). REST knockdown also caused an increase in expression of the 3 neuronal markers, which is consistent with its role in inhibiting neural differentiation. Furthermore, we observed a significant morphological change of EWS or REST knockdown cells, as demonstrated by the increase in neurite outgrowth when the cells were exposed to low-serum medium and/or nerve growth factor (20 ng/ mL) (Fig. 5B). In contrast, the control knockdown cells displayed only minor morphological changes when maintained under the same conditions of neuronal differentiation. These results suggest that both EWS and REST mediate repression of the neuronal phenotype in Ewing sarcoma.

Given that EWS is translocated in multiple cancers, and that REST has been implicated as a tumor suppressor in lung, breast, and colon cancers, we next tested whether EWS and REST inhibit tumorigenesis in Ewing sarcoma. We silenced EWS or REST by shRNA in A673 and TC71 cells and found that the cells grew similar in tissue culture and formed a similar number of colonies in soft agar as the control knockdown cells (Suppl. Fig. S2A-D). Because Ewing sarcoma cells are highly transformed at baseline, we reasoned that a decrease of the EWS or REST expression level may not result in a significant increase in colony formation. Therefore, we next enforced the expression of each of the 3 EWS isoforms or REST in A673 and TC71 cells. We also observed a similar growth rate of these cells in tissue culture compared to control cells (Fig. 5C and Suppl. Fig. S2E). However, expression of EWS V2 or V3 isoforms or REST resulted in a significant reduction in oncogenic transformation, as shown by diminished anchorage-independent growth in soft agar (Fig. 5D and Suppl. Fig. S2F). Interestingly, EWS V6 overexpression failed to inhibit colony formation in soft agar, suggesting that exon 9 in the V2 and V3 isoforms is necessary for EWS-mediated inhibition of anchorage-independent growth. These results indicate that EWS and REST inhibit the maintanence of oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma.

Discussion

In the current study, we identified EWS-regulated genes and cellular processes in Ewing sarcoma by combining

RNAi with RNA-seq and DAVID functional annotation analysis (Fig. 1). Interestingly, we found that the wild-type EWS and the fusion oncoprotein EWS/FLI have significantly overlapping profiles of transcriptional regulation and that they have opposite effects on some genes and similar effects on others (Fig. 2). Several previous reports have shown that EWS/FLI interferes with EWS functions in splicing, transcription, and maintanence of genomic stability^{12,48} via its interaction with EWS. However, functional regulation in the same manner by EWS and EWS/FLI has not previously been reported. Given the domain structure of the 2 proteins (Fig. 4B), it is tempting to speculate that the similar regulation of genes by EWS and EWS/FLI may be mediated by their identical N-terminal domains, which has been shown to display transcriptional activation as well as repression activity⁴⁹ and is able to bind to proteins in the transcriptional initiation complex.5

We focused on a subset of EWS-regulated neuronal genes in this report and found that EWS cooperates with REST to repress the neuronal phenotype (Figs. 3-5). Interestingly, in addition to Ewing sarcoma, 2 other EWS translocation-based tumors, desmoplastic small round cell tumor and extraskeletal myxoid chondrosarcoma, also show neuronal features such as the expression of neuronspecific enolase.^{50,51} This supports the notion that EWS represses the neuronal phenotype, and therefore, loss of EWS leads to acquiring neuronal features in these cancers. Further studies are required to fully understand the mechanism by which EWS and REST cooperatively regulate these neuronal genes. One candidate mechanism is epigenetic regulation of these genes by EWS and REST. EWS has previously been shown to inhibit the HAT activity of CBP/ p300 via its interaction with noncoding RNA.8 Interestingly, REST/coREST/LSD1 and the PRC2 complex (Polycomb Repressive Complex 2), 2 histone-modifying complexes, were found to simultaneously tether to the long, noncoding RNA, HOTAIR, to mediate coupled histone H3K27 methylation and K4 demethylation.⁵²

In addition to EWS and REST, EWS/FLI was also found to regulate the neuronal phenotype development in Ewing sarcoma. A previous report suggested that EWS/FLI induces neuronal features by up-regulation of an array of genes important for neural crest development, such as *EGR2*, *MSX1*, *CITED2*, *c-Myc*, *ID2*, *Cadherin 11*, *RUNX3*, and *Rho* family members.¹⁷ Although EWS and EWS/FLI may regulate the neuronal phenotype via different pathways, their opposite effects may explain how Ewing sarcoma family tumors exhibit varying levels of neural differentiation. Increased relative EWS/FLI levels would result in tumors with a more neuronal phenotype such as pPNET, whereas higher EWS expression would cause a reduced neuronal phenotype as observed for Ewing sarcoma.

Another important finding of this article is that both EWS and REST inhibit oncogenic transformation in Ewing 126

sarcoma. EWS has not previously been implicated in tumor suppression except that it has been shown to control cell proliferation via posttranscriptional regulation of the Akt substrate PRAS40.53 Dysfunction of REST is evident in several cancers and is achieved through diverse mechanisms. In prostate cancer, loss of REST results in the derepression of IB1/JIP1 (Islet-Brain1/c-Jun amino-terminal kinase interacting protein 1) to prevent JNK activation and apoptosis.⁵⁴ Impaired REST function in the breast cancer model stimulates the phosphorylation of Akt and leads to increased PI3-kinase signaling.²⁴ REST activity has also been shown to be affected by the changes in the availability of REST/co-factor complexes.⁵⁵ Based on our data, it is possible that the haploinsufficency of EWS in Ewing sarcoma decreases the abundance of the REST/EWS complex and abolishes REST activity on downstream effectors, leading eventually to tumorigenesis. Since EWS and EWS/FLI have been shown to interact, it is possible that EWS exerts a dominant-negative effect on EWS/FLI and therefore decreases colony formation in soft agar. The underlying mechanism of EWS- and/or REST-mediated inhibition of oncogenic transformation is under investigation.

Our findings that EWS and REST play roles in both repressing neuronal differentiation and inhibiting oncogenic transformation raise an interesting question of whether it is rational to see a neuronal phenotype in rapidly proliferating cancer cells. Indeed, both colon and breast cancers with REST deletion can display some neuroendocrine features.²⁶ Also, it is well documented that many neuroendocrine genes are aberrantly expressed in small cell lung cancer.²⁵ It has been postulated that when REST activity is lost in the precursor cells of these tumors, some neuronal genes are expressed outside their normal context. If the loss of REST activity is incomplete, such as the decrease in REST/co-factor abundance due to the haploinsufficiency of the co-factor, cancer cells may more closely resemble poised neural progenitor cells than mature neurons, remaining in the cell cycle but allowing the expression of some REST target genes. This transdifferentiation phase is very close to what we observe in Ewing sarcoma in which a highly undifferentiated phenotype coexists with neuronal features.

As indicated in our functional annotation analysis, EWS is also involved in the regulation of genes in other aspects of tumor development, such as angiogenesis and invasion. This suggests a more complex and broader impact of EWS on cancer development. A thorough study on EWS and its downstream effectors will benefit patients with Ewing sarcoma and other EWS translocation-based cancers.

Materials and Methods

Cell lines. Ewing sarcoma cell lines A673, TC71, and EWS502 were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas, VA) and grown as previously described.⁵⁶ Growth curve and soft agar colony formation assays were performed as previously described.²

Constructs. To clone the 3xFlag EWS construct, fulllength EWS was amplified by PCR using the cDNA library from A673 cells. EWS was then fused in-frame with the 3xFlag tag and cloned into the pQCXIN vector. Constructs for the 3 EWS isoforms were generated by the amplification of individual EWS cDNA for each isoform, followed by ligation into the pMSCV-neo vector. The pMSCV-hygro 3xFlag EWS/FLI and mutant 22 have been previously described.⁵⁷

RNAi. A human EWS-specific 19-mer oligonucleotide, 5!-gactctgacaacagtgcaa-3!, that maps to nucleotides 1083 to 1102 of the *EWS* gene was inserted into the pMKO.1-puro vector for stable knockdown of EWS. The nucleotide for REST knockdown is 5!-gaaactttgaacaaggttt-3!. Vectors for control (Luc-RNAi) knockdown and production of retrovirus-expressing shRNA have previously been described.¹ siRNA for transient knockdown of EWS or REST was purchased from Dharmacon (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL).

RT-PCR. RT-PCR was performed using the iScript SYBR green RT-PCR kit (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Primer sequences are available in Supplementary File S5.

RNA-seq and data analysis. Total RNA was extracted from Ewing sarcoma cells and treated with DNase using the Qiagen RNeasy kit (Germantown, MD). mRNA was enriched by oligo-dT magnetic beads and was used to construct Illumina (San Diego, CA) sequencing libraries. The libraries were single-end sequenced on Illumina Genome Analyzer IIx for 36 cycles (EWS) or HiSeq 2000 for 50 cycles (EWS/ FLI). Reads were mapped to the hg19 genome build with Casava (Illumina) for EWS or Novoalign (Novocraft, Petaling Jaya, Malaysia) for EWS/FLI. The RNA-seq analysis was carried out using USeq (useq.sourceforge.net) versions 8.1.5 for EWS and 8.3.9 for EWS/FLI. Sorted, mapped files were converted to PointData representation with the USeq Eland Parser application for EWS and SAM Parser for EWS/ FLI (useq.sourceforge.net). The knockdowns were compared with control using either Defined Region Scan Seqs (EWS) or Overdispersed Region Scan Seqs (EWS/FLI) applications with default parameters and a gene reference file derived from a merger of Ensembl and RefSeq (using a USeq Merge UCSC Gene table). Differential expression was defined as EWS: FDR " 0.05 and |log, fold change| # 1.3 and EWS/FLI: FDR " 1e-20 and |log, fold change| # 2.

GSEA and $\2 testing. EWS gene sets, both the upregulated and down-regulated, were divided according to

their corresponding log fold change in the EWS/FLI RNAseq experiment. Gene set enrichment was determined using GSEA.⁵⁸ To quantitatively establish enrichment of the EWS-regulated genes in the EWS/FLI–up-regulated and –down-regulated genes, we applied a $\2 test as described previously²⁹ and calculated the enrichment score separately for EWS/FLI–up-regulated and –down-regulated genes.

ChIP-seq and data analysis. ChIP-seq analysis was performed as described previously.⁴⁵ NRSE, SOX2, PAX6, and CTCF motif locations were derived from MotifMap (motifmap.ics.uci.edu).⁵⁹ EWS peaks were permuted 1,000 times over the mappable genome (hg19) and assayed for overlap with the NRSE, SOX2, PAX6, and CTCF sites.

Immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting. Immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting were carried out as described previously.² Anti-TUBB3 (MAB1195) and anti-NEFH (AF3108) were from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN), anti-MAP2 (Ab32454) was from Abcam (Cambridge, MA), and anti-REST (sc-374611), anti-EWS (sc-48404), and normal mouse IgG (sc-2025) were from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA).

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Brian Dalley and the microarray core facility for help in performing the RNA-seq, Brett Milash for suggestions in data presentation, Ken Boucher for help in statistical analysis, Lessnick laboratory members for helpful discussions, and Drs. Michael Engel and Michael Monument for critical reading of the article and helpful suggestions.

Declaration of Conflicting Interests

The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Funding

The author(s) received the following financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article: This work was supported by NIH/NCI grants R01 CA140394 (to S.L.L.) and P30 CA042014 (to Huntsman Cancer Institute). S.S. acknowledges support from the Howard Hughes Medical Institute's Med into Grad program at the University of Utah (U2M2G). I.J.D. gratefully acknowledges support from the NCI/NIH (K08CA100400), the V Foundation for Cancer Research, the Rita Allen Foundation, and the Corn-Hammond Fund for Pediatric Oncology.

Note

The EWS and EWS/FLI RNA-seq raw data can be accessed from the Sequence Read Archive (SRA) database (accession numbers PRJNA174537 and SAMN01163407 for EWS and SRA059239 for EWS/ FLI). The EWS V6 sequence is deposited in GenBank (BankIt1574452 EWS JX977847).

Genes & Cancer / vol XX no X (XXXX)

References

- Smith R, Owen LA, Trem DJ, et al. Expression profiling of EWS/FLI identifies NKX2.2 as a critical target gene in Ewing's sarcoma. Cancer Cell. 2006;9:405-16.
- Kinsey M, Smith R, Lessnick SL. NR0B1 is required for the oncogenic phenotype mediated by EWS/FLI in Ewing's sarcoma. Mol Cancer Res. 2006;4:851-9.
- Luo W, Gangwal K, Sankar S, Boucher KM, Thomas D, Lessnick SL. GSTM4 is a microsatellite-containing EWS/FLI target involved in Ewing's sarcoma oncogenesis and therapeutic resistance. Oncogene. 2009;28:4126-32.
- Kovar H, Jug G, Hattinger C, et al. The EWS protein is dispensable for Ewing tumor growth. Cancer Res. 2001;61:5992-7.
- Law WJ, Cann KL, Hicks GG. TLS, EWS and TAF15: a model for transcriptional integration of gene expression. Brief Funct Genomic Proteomic. 2006;5:8-14.
- Paronetto MP, Minana B, Valcarcel J. The Ewing sarcoma protein regulates DNA damage-induced alternative splicing. Mol Cell. 2011;43:353-68.
- Dutertre M, Sanchez G, De Cian MC, et al. Cotranscriptional exon skipping in the genotoxic stress response. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2010;17:1358-66.
- Wang X, Arai S, Song X, et al. Induced ncRNAs allosterically modify RNA-binding proteins in cis to inhibit transcription. Nature. 2008;454:126-30.
- Kato M, Han TW, Xie S, et al. Cell-free formation of RNA granules: low complexity sequence domains form dynamic fibers within hydrogels. Cell. 2012;149:753-67.
- Blechingberg J, Luo Y, Bolund L, Damgaard CK, Nielsen AL. Gene expression responses to FUS, EWS, and TAF15 reduction and stress granule sequestration analyses identifies FET-protein non-redundant functions. PLoS One. 2012;7:e46251.
- Spahn L, Siligan C, Bachmaier R, Schmid JA, Aryee DN, Kovar H. Homotypic and heterotypic interactions of EWS, FLI1 and their oncogenic fusion protein. Oncogene. 2003;22:6819-29.
- Embree LJ, Azuma M, Hickstein DD. Ewing sarcoma fusion protein EWSR1/FLI1 interacts with EWSR1 leading to mitotic defects in Zebrafish embryos and human cell lines. Cancer Res. 2009;69:4363-71.
- Yang L, Chansky HA, Hickstein DD. EWS.Fli-1 fusion protein interacts with hyperphosphorylated RNA polymerase II and interferes with serine-arginine protein-mediated RNA splicing. J Biol Chem. 2000;275:37612-8.
- Lipinski M, Hirsch MR, Deagostini-Bazin H, Yamada O, Tursz J, Goridis C. Characterization of neural cell adhesion molecules (NCAM) expressed by Ewing and neuroblastoma cell lines. Int J Cancer. 1987;40:81-6.
- Cavazzana AO, Miser JS, Jefferson J, Triche TJ. Experimental evidence for a neural origin of Ewing's sarcoma of bone. Am J Pathol. 1987;127:507-18.
- Teitell MA, Thompson AD, Sorensen PH, Shimada H, Triche TJ, Denny CT. EWS/ETS fusion genes induce epithelial and neuroectodermal differentiation in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts. Lab Invest. 1999;79:1535-43.

- 17. Hu-Lieskovan S, Zhang J, Wu L, Shimada H, Schofield DE, Triche TJ. EWS-FLI1 fusion protein up-regulates critical genes in neural crest development and is responsible for the observed phenotype of Ewing's family of tumors. Cancer Res. 2005;65:4633-44.
- Turc-Carel C, Philip I, Berger MP, Philip T, Lenoir GM. Chromosome study of Ewing's sarcoma (ES) cell lines: consistency of a reciprocal translocation t(11;22)(q24;q12). Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 1984;12: 1-19.
- Aurias A, Rimbaut C, Buffe D, Zucker JM, Mazabraud A. Translocation involving chromosome 22 in Ewing's sarcoma: a cytogenetic study of four fresh tumors. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 1984;12:21-5.
- Whang-Peng J, Triche TJ, Knutsen T, Miser J, Douglass EC, Israel MA. Chromosome translocation in peripheral neuroepithelioma. N Engl J Med. 1984;311:584-5.
- Jones FS, Meech R. Knockout of REST/NRSF shows that the protein is a potent repressor of neuronally expressed genes in non-neural tissues. BioEssays. 1999;21:372-6.
- Majumder S. REST in good times and bad: roles in tumor suppressor and oncogenic activities. Cell Cycle. 2006;5:1929-35.
- Qureshi IA, Mehler MF. Regulation of non-coding RNA networks in the nervous system: what's the REST of the story? Neurosci Lett. 2009;466:73-80.
- Westbrook TF, Martin ES, Schlabach MR, et al. A genetic screen for candidate tumor suppressors identifies REST. Cell. 2005;121: 837-48.
- 25. Coulson JM, Edgson JL, Woll PJ, Quinn JP. A splice variant of the neuron-restrictive silencer factor repressor is expressed in small cell lung cancer: a potential role in derepression of neuroendocrine genes and a useful clinical marker. Cancer Res. 2000;60:1840-4.
- Gurrola-Diaz C, Lacroix J, Dihlmann S, Becker CM, von Knebel Doeberitz M. Reduced expression of the neuron restrictive silencer factor permits transcription of glycine receptor alpha1 subunit in small-cell lung cancer cells. Oncogene. 2003;22:5636-45.
- Fuller GN, Su X, Price RE, et al. Many human medulloblastoma tumors overexpress repressor element-1 silencing transcription (REST)/neuron-restrictive silencer factor, which can be functionally countered by REST-VP16. Mol Cancer Ther. 2005;4:343-9.
- Wagoner MP, Gunsalus KT, Schoenike B, Richardson AL, Friedl A, Roopra A. The transcription factor REST is lost in aggressive breast cancer. PLoS Genet. 2010;6:e1000979.
- Irizarry RA, Wang C, Zhou Y, Speed TP. Gene set enrichment analysis made simple. Stat Methods Med Res. 2009;18:565-75.
- Khan MO, Ather MH. Chromogranin A: serum marker for prostate cancer. J Pak Med Assoc. 2011;61:108-11.
- Berton F, Iborra C, Boudier JA, Seagar MJ, Marqueze B. Developmental regulation of synaptotagmin I, II, III, and IV mRNAs in the rat CNS. J Neurosci. 1997;17:1206-16.
- 32. Hahm S, Mizuno TM, Wu TJ, et al. Targeted deletion of the Vgf gene indicates that the encoded secretory peptide precursor plays a novel role in the regulation of energy balance. Neuron. 1999;23:537-48.
- 33. Alder J, Thakker-Varia S, Bangasser DA, et al. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor-induced gene expression reveals novel actions of VGF in hippocampal synaptic plasticity. J Neurosci. 2003;23:10800-8.

- Li F, Tian X, Zhou Y, et al. Dysregulated expression of secretogranin III is involved in neurotoxin-induced dopaminergic neuron apoptosis. J Neurosci Res. 2012;90:2237-46.
- Perletti L, Talarico D, Trecca D, et al. Identification of a novel gene, PSD, adjacent to NFKB2/lyt-10, which contains Sec7 and pleckstrinhomology domains. Genomics. 1997;46:251-9.
- Wu JT, Erickson AJ, Tsao KC, Wu TL, Sun CF. Elevated serum chromogranin A is detectable in patients with carcinomas at advanced disease stages. Ann Clin Lab Sci. 2000;30:175-8.
- Moss AC, Jacobson GM, Walker LE, Blake NW, Marshall E, Coulson JM. SCG3 transcript in peripheral blood is a prognostic biomarker for REST-deficient small cell lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15: 274-83.
- Matsumoto T, Kawashima Y, Nagashio R, et al. A new possible lung cancer marker: VGF detection from the conditioned medium of pulmonary large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma-derived cells using secretome analysis. Int J Biol Markers. 2009;24:282-5.
- Schoenherr CJ, Paquette AJ, Anderson DJ. Identification of potential target genes for the neuron-restrictive silencer factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93:9881-6.
- Otto SJ, McCorkle SR, Hover J, et al. A new binding motif for the transcriptional repressor REST uncovers large gene networks devoted to neuronal functions. J Neurosci. 2007;27:6729-39.
- Jørgensen HF, Terry A, Beretta C, et al. REST selectively represses a subset of RE1-containing neuronal genes in mouse embryonic stem cells. Development. 2009;136:715-21.
- 42. Bertolotti A, Melot T, Acker J, Vigneron M, Delattre O, Tora L. EWS, but not EWS-FLI-1, is associated with both TFIID and RNA polymerase II: interactions between two members of the TET family, EWS and hTAFII68, and subunits of TFIID and RNA polymerase II complexes. Mol Cell Biol. 1998;18:1489-97.
- 43. Thomas GR, Latchman DS. The pro-oncoprotein EWS (Ewing's sarcoma protein) interacts with the Brn-3a POU transcription factor and inhibits its ability to activate transcription. Cancer Biol Ther. 2002;1:428-32.
- 44. Gao Z, Ure K, Ding P, et al. The master negative regulator REST/ NRSF controls adult neurogenesis by restraining the neurogenic program in quiescent stem cells. J Neurosci. 2011;31:9772-86.
- 45. Patel M, Simon JM, Iglesia MD, et al. Tumor-specific retargeting of an oncogenic transcription factor chimera results in dysregulation of chromatin and transcription. Genome Res. 2012;22:259-70.
- Rashid NU, Giresi PG, Ibrahim JG, Sun W, Lieb JD. ZINBA integrates local covariates with DNA-seq data to identify broad

and narrow regions of enrichment, even within amplified genomic regions. Genome Biol. 2011;12:R67.

- Rocchi A, Manara MC, Sciandra M, et al. CD99 inhibits neural differentiation of human Ewing sarcoma cells and thereby contributes to oncogenesis. J Clin Invest. 2010;120:668-80.
- Sanchez G, Bittencourt D, Laud K, et al. Alteration of cyclin D1 transcript elongation by a mutated transcription factor up-regulates the oncogenic D1b splice isoform in cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:6004-9.
- Sankar S, Bell R, Stephens B, et al. Mechanism and relevance of EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional repression in Ewing sarcoma. Oncogene. Epub 2012 Nov 26.
- Ordonez NG. Desmoplastic small round cell tumor, I: a histopathologic study of 39 cases with emphasis on unusual histological patterns. Am J Surg Pathol. 1998;22:1303-13.
- 51. Goh YW, Spagnolo DV, Platten M, et al. Extraskeletal myxoid chondrosarcoma: a light microscopic, immunohistochemical, ultrastructural and immuno-ultrastructural study indicating neuroendocrine differentiation. Histopathology. 2001;39:514-24.
- Tsai MC, Manor O, Wan Y, et al. Long noncoding RNA as modular scaffold of histone modification complexes. Science. 2010;329:689-93.
- Huang L, Nakai Y, Kuwahara I, Matsumoto K. PRAS40 is a functionally critical target for EWS repression in Ewing sarcoma. Cancer Res. 2012;72:1260-9.
- Tawadros T, Martin D, Abderrahmani A, Leisinger HJ, Waeber G, Haefliger JA. IB1/JIP-1 controls JNK activation and increased during prostatic LNCaP cells neuroendocrine differentiation. Cell Signal. 2005;17:929-39.
- Yeo M, Lee SK, Lee B, Ruiz EC, Pfaff SL, Gill GN. Small CTD phosphatases function in silencing neuronal gene expression. Science. 2005;307:596-600.
- Lessnick SL, Dacwag CS, Golub TR. The Ewing's sarcoma oncoprotein EWS/FLI induces a p53-dependent growth arrest in primary human fibroblasts. Cancer Cell. 2002;1:393-401.
- Lessnick SL, Braun BS, Denny CT, May WA. Multiple domains mediate transformation by the Ewing's sarcoma EWS/FLI-1 fusion gene. Oncogene. 1995;10:423-31.
- Subramanian A, Tamayo P, Mootha VK, et al. Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102:15545-50.
- Daily K, Patel VR, Rigor P, Xie X, Baldi P. MotifMap: integrative genome-wide maps of regulatory motif sites for model species. BMC Bioinformatics. 2011;12:495.

П

Supplementary Information

А



Supplementary Figure S6.1 Validation of EWS and REST coregulated genes. (A) Short-hairpin RNA (shRNA) mediated knockdown of EWS or REST in TC71 cells results in increased expression of tested neuronal genes. (B) Transient knockdown of EWS or REST by siRNA. (C) The expression of indicated neuronal genes were increased upon EWS or REST knockdown by siRNAs.



Supplementary Figure S6.2 Functional analysis of EWS and REST. (A) Growth curves of A673 cells with control or EWS or REST knockdown. (B) Anchorage-independent growth analyses of A673 cells with control or EWS or REST knockdown. (C) Tissue culture growth of TC71 cells with reduced control or EWS or REST level. D, Soft agar analyses of TC71 cells with reduced control or EWS or REST level. E, TC71 cells with enforced expression of EWS isoforms or REST grow similarly in tissue culture. F, Increased expression of EWS V2 or V3 or REST but not EWS V6 in TC71 cells decrease the number of colonies formed in soft agar.

CHAPTER 7

MECHANISM AND RELEVANCE OF EWS/FLI-MEDIATED

TRANSCRIPTIONAL REPRESSION IN

EWING SARCOMA

This work is reprinted with the permission of Oncogene. The manuscript was originally published in Oncogene 2012; 1-12 (epub ahead of print)

www.nature.com/onc

ORIGINAL ARTICLE Mechanism and relevance of EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional repression in Ewing sarcoma

S Sankar¹, R Bell², B Stephens^{1,3}, R Zhuo², S Sharma^{1,4}, DJ Bearss^{1,3} and SL Lessnick^{1,2,5}

Ewing sarcoma provides an important model for transcription-factor-mediated oncogenic transformation because of its reliance on the ETS-type fusion oncoprotein EWS/FLI. EWS/FLI functions as a transcriptional activator and transcriptional activation is required for its oncogenic activity. Here, we demonstrate that a previously less-well characterized transcriptional repressive function of the EWS/FLI fusion is also required for the transformed phenotype of Ewing sarcoma. Through comparison of EWS/FLI transcriptional profiling and genome-wide localization data, we define the complement of EWS/FLI direct downregulated target genes. We demonstrate that LOX is a previously undescribed EWS/FLI-repressed target that inhibits the transformed phenotype of Ewing sarcoma cells. Mechanistic studies demonstrate that the NuRD co-repressor complex interacts with EWS/FLI, and that its associated histone deacetylase and LSD1 activities contribute to the repressive function. Taken together, these data reveal a previously unknown molecular function for EWS/FLI, demonstrate a more highly coordinated oncogenic transcriptional hierarchy mediated by EWS/FLI than previously suspected, and implicate a new paradigm for therapeutic intervention aimed at controlling NuRD activity in Ewing sarcoma turnors.

Oncogene advance online publication, 26 November 2012; doi:10.1038/onc.2012.525

Keywords: Ewing sarcoma; EWS/FLI; NuRD; transcription; repression

INTRODUCTION

Ewing sarcoma provides an attractive model to understand the role of transcriptional regulation in tumor development because of its reliance on a single oncogenic transcription factor, EWS/FLI, created by the t(11;22)(q24;q12) chromosomal translocation.¹ Although the function of wild-type EWS is uncertain, the portion of EWS contained in the fusion contributes a strong transcriptional activation domain.² FLI is an ETS-family transcription factor, and contributes an ETS-type DNA-binding domain to the fusion.³

Early studies suggested that EWS/FLI functions as a transcriptional activator to mediate oncogenic transformation. In support of this model were data demonstrating that the EWS portion of the fusion functions as a strong activation domain relative to the amino-terminal portion of FLI lost in the fusion protein,² that EWS/FLI binds the RNA polymerase II core subunit, hsRBP7⁴ and co-activators CBP/ p300,⁵ and that replacement of the EWS portion of the fusion with strong transcriptional activation domains (such as the VP16 transcriptional activation domain) resulted in heterologous fusions that retained full oncogenic activity in NIH3T3 murine fibroblasts.⁶ Thus, in the NIH3T3 model, EWS/FLI functions mainly as a transcriptional activator, and transcriptional activation was thought to be solely required for its oncogenic function.²⁶

Subsequent analyses with patient-derived Ewing sarcoma cell lines suggested a possible role for transcriptional repression by EWS/FLI in oncogenic transformation. For example, gene expression profiling after modulation of EWS/FLI levels in Ewing sarcoma cells revealed that many more genes were downregulated by EWS/FLI than upregulated.^{7,8} A part of this downregulated signature is due to upregulation of transcriptional repressors, such as NKX2.2 and NR0B1, and is therefore indirectly regulated by EWS/FLI.^{9,10} However, other studies suggested that some targets, such as *TGFBR2* and *IGFBP3*, may be directly-repressed by EWS/FLI.^{8,11} These data suggested that the dogmatic model of EWS/FLI functioning as a transcriptional activator may be incomplete. However, the full complement of directly-repressed EWS/FLI target genes, the importance of transcriptional repression for the oncogenic function of EWS/FLI, and the mechanistic basis of this repression, remain unknown. We therefore performed experiments to address these questions.

RESULTS

Identification of directly-downregulated targets of EWS/FLI

To identify the complement of genes downregulated through direct binding of EWS/FLI, we compared previously published EWS/FLI gene expression data and genome-wide EWS/FLI chromatin immunoprecipitation on microarray (ChIP-Chip) data^{9,12} and found 100 genes that overlapped between the two data sets as potential EWS/FLI direct-downregulated target genes (Figure 1a; Supplementary Table 51). We validated a subset of these genes with quantitative reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (qRT–PCR) following knockdown of EWS/FLI using the EF-2-RNAi construct (Supplementary Figure S1A). This gene set included Lysyl Oxidase (LOX), which has been shown to function as a tumor suppressor in a number of cancers, and had not been previously studied in Ewing sarcoma. We therefore analyzed this gene in greater detail, and used transforming growth factor β receptor II (*TGFBR2*) as a positive control as it had been previously

¹Department of Oncological Sciences, Huntsman Cancer Institute, School of Medicine, Salt Lake City, UT, USA; ²Center for Children's Cancer Research, Huntsman Cancer Institute, Salt Lake City, UT, USA; ³Center for Investigational Therapeutics, Huntsman Cancer Institute, Salt Lake City, UT, USA; ⁴Division of Medical Oncology, School of Medicine, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, USA; ⁴Division of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology, School of Medicine, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, USA; Center for Children's Cancer Research, Huntsman Cancer Institute, 2000 Circle of Hope, Room 4242, Salt Lake City, UT 84112, USA. E-mail: stephen.lessnick@hcl.utah.edu

Received 24 May 2012; revised 25 September 2012; accepted 14 October 2012

npg



Figure 1. Identification of direct downregulated targets of EWS/FLI. (a) Venn diagram representation of the overlap between EWS/FLI downregulated genes (by transcriptional profiling) and EWS/FLI direct targets (by ChIP-chip) in A673 Ewing sarcoma cells. The χ^2 -determined *P*-value is indicated. (b) qRT–PCR validation of EWS/FLI direct targets (by ChIP-chip) in A673 Ewing sarcoma cells. The χ^2 -determined *P*-value is indicated. (b) qRT–PCR validation of EWS/FLI (EF-2-RNAi, versus the negative-control Luc-RNAi) and Tescue with an RNAi-resistant EWS/FLI cDNA (versus an empty vector control). Error bars indicate standard deviations. Normalized fold enrichment was calculated by determining the fold-change of each condition relative to the control Luc-RNAi condition, with the data in each condition normalized to an internal housekeeping control gene *GAPDH*. (c) Immunoprecipitation-western blot analysis of LOX protein from A673 cells expressing the indicated RNAi constructs (Luc-RNAi negative-control versus EWS/FLI knockdown with EF-2-RNAi), and the indicated expression vectors (empty vector negative control, EWS/FLI cDNA resistant to the RNAi construct or a LOX cDNA). The same antibody was used to perform the immunoprecipitation and the western blotting. The IgG band refers to the heavy chain. (d) ChIP of EWS/FLI at the *LOX* locus using antibodies against FLI (which recognizes only EWS/FLI) or ELK1 (negative control). The ChIP experiments were performed in A673 Ewing sarcoma cells which express EWS/FLI but do not have any detectable expression of wild-type FLI,⁷ and so the anti-FLI antibody used only detects the fusion protein. Thus, there is no competition between the two transcription factors for the same binding sites. The red asterisk indicates the ChIP-Chip identified EWS/FLI are plotted as fold enrichment to repare enrichment of EWS/FLI are plotted as fold enrichment to momoner experiments. EWS/FLI are plotted as an ormalization controls. Elk1 immunoprecipitation is used as a negative control for t

identified as a direct downregulated target of EWS/FLI.¹¹ Downregulation of *LOX* and *TGFBR2* were not off-target RNAi effects because the gene expression changes mediated by EWS/ FLI knockdown were reversed by re-expression of an RNAiresistant EWS/FLI cDNA in multiple Ewing sarcoma cell lines (Figure 1b; Supplementary Figure S1B). Changes in LOX mRNA levels were well correlated with LOX protein levels (Figure 1c). To determine if repression of *LOX* and *TGFBR2* are directly mediated by EWS/FLI, we performed chromatin immunoprecipitation experiments, and found that EWS/FLI bound both the *LOX* and *TGFBR2* promoters *in vivo* (Figure 1d; Supplementary Figure S1C). These data suggest that *LOX* is a directly-downregulated target of EWS/FLI in Ewing sarcoma and provide independent validation of *TGFBR2* as an appropriate control gene for our study.

LOX functions as a tumor suppressor in Ewing sarcoma

Since LOX was directly bound and downregulated by EWS/FLI, we asked whether it functions as a tumor suppressor in Ewing sarcoma. Forced expression of LOX (or TGFBR2) impaired colony growth in soft agar and in vivo xenograft tumor formation without affecting monolayer growth (Figures 2a-c; Supplementary Figures S2A-E). In the tumors that did form, LOX or TGFBR2 were still expressed, indicating that the tumors may have adapted to overcome the suppressive effect of each protein (Supplementary Figure S2F).

If LOX and TGFBR2 are indeed important EWS/FLI-repressed target genes, then their expression should be relatively low in primary Ewing sarcoma tumor samples. To test this, we analyzed the expression pattern of *LOX* and *TGFBR2* in a published microarray data set.¹³ This data set includes 37 Ewing sarcoma samples consisting of 27 primary tumors and 10 cell lines. Analysis of this data set revealed low levels of expression of both LOX and TGFBR2 in nearly all of the primary tumor samples analyzed (Figure 2d; Supplementary Figure S2G). We also evaluated a second published data set containing 59 Ewing sarcoma primary tumors and five different Ewing sarcoma cell lines (in which endogenous EWS/FLI was knocked-down using an RNAi approach), compared with mesenchymal progenitor cells as the reference tissue (a suggested cell-of-origin of Ewing sarcoma). This data set also demonstrated low levels of *LOX* and *TGFBR2* in primary Ewing sarcoma tumors (Figure 2e).¹⁴ These data sustain the assertion that repression of LOX and TGFBR2 is important for the development of Ewing sarcoma.

Mapping of the EWS/FLI transcriptional repressive domains

We next sought to identify the key domains required for transcriptional repression mediated by EWS/FLI by knocking-down endogenous EWS/FLI and re-introducing mutant forms of the protein (Supplementary Figures S3A-E), followed by evaluation of endogenous LOX and TGFBR2 expression. We found that the DNA-binding mutant R2L2¹⁵ failed to repress LOX or TGFBR2, but the mutant $\Delta 89$ -C, lacking the carboxyl-terminal 89 amino acids of EWS/FLI¹⁶ retained full repressive capability at these loci (Figures 3a and b; Supplementary Figures S3A-C). In contrast, the $\Delta 22$ mutant,¹⁷ lacking nearly all of the EWS portion of EWS/FLI, did not repress LOX or TGFBR2 when introduced in place of full-length EWS/FLI (Figures 3a and b; Supplementary Figures S3A-C). This indicates that the repressive activity is localized to the EWS portion of EWS/FLI and that DNA binding is required for transcriptional repression at these loci.

We then used a previously described panel of deletion mutants to further refine the location of the repression domain within EWS/ FLI (Figure 3b; Supplementary Figures S3C-E).⁶ Mutants 2, 3 and 9 retained full transcriptional repressive activity, but mutants 10 and 11 failed to repress target genes (Figures 3c and d). All deletion mutants tested were appropriately localized to the nucleus and bound DNA in vitro (Supplementary Figure S3F and data not shown).

These findings suggest the presence of two general regions in the EWS portion of EWS/FLI that mediate repression: an aminoterminal region (amino acids 1-82), and a distal region (amino acids 118-264). This underlying organization was reminiscent of the organization previously found for transcriptional activation in EWS/FLI.⁶ Consistent with this observation, EWS/FLI mutants that retained transcriptional repressive function also retained the ability to activate the critical EWS/FLI upregulated target genes NKX2.2 and NROB1, while mutants deficient in transcriptional repression also failed to transactivate these genes (Figures 3e and f). Importantly, the mutants that mediate both transcriptional repression and activation also rescue oncogenic transformation of Ewing sarcoma cells following EWS/FLI knockdown, while those that are inactive in repression and activation do not (Figure 3g).

EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional repression

We next wanted to test the contribution of transcriptional repression to EWS/FLI-mediated oncogenesis directly. However, we were unable to identify mutants that separate transcriptional repression and activation functions in the fusion protein. As an alternate approach, we replaced EWS/FLI with a previously described engineered construct, VP16/FLI, that contains two copies of the strong transcriptional activation domain of the VP16 protein fused to the carboxyl-terminal FLI protein⁶ (Supplementary Figure S4A). This construct was previously shown to effectively transactivate a reporter construct and induce oncogenic transformation of NIH3T3 cells.⁶ VP16/FLI rescued activation of *NKX2.2* and *NR0B1* nearly as well as EWS/FLI itself (Figure 4a), but was unable to transcriptionally repress LOX or TGFBR2 (Figure 4b). Thus, VP16/FLI functions as a transcriptional activator in Ewing sarcoma cells.

We found that Ewing sarcoma cells expressing VP16/FLI (in lieu of EWS/FLI) could not form in vitro colonies under anchorageindependent conditions, and that in vivo xenograft formation was also reduced, as compared with Ewing sarcoma cells expressing EWS/FLI (Figures 4c and d: Supplementary Figure S4B). Thus, transcriptional activation without transcriptional repression, in the context of a FLI-based DNA-binding domain, is insufficient to rescue oncogenic transformation of Ewing sarcoma cells. Thus, transcriptional repression is required for the oncogenic function of EWS/FLI.6,18-21

Transcriptional repression by EWS/FLI requires HDAC activity

Given the importance of EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional repression in Ewing sarcoma oncogenesis, we next sought to determine the mechanistic basis for this function. We previously demonstrated that two critical EWS/FLI target genes, NKX2.2 and NR0B1, act as transcriptional repressors in Ewing sarcoma.9,10 Neither of these are required for repression of LOX or TGFBR2 as shown by knockdown experiments (Supplementary Figure S5A).

Histone deacetylases (HDACs) play an important role in transcriptional repression mediated by NKX2.2 in Ewing sarcoma.⁵ To test if HDACs are also involved in EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional repression, we used gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) to compare the transcriptional profile of A673 cells treated with the HDAC inhibitor vorinostat⁹ to a gene set consisting of the 100 EWS/FLI-bound and downregulated genes (Figure 1a; Supplementary Table S1). We found that these 100 genes clustered strongly with those genes upregulated by vorinostat (NES = 2.08; P < 0.001; Figure 5a), demonstrating that the HDAC inhibitor reverses the EWS/FLI-mediated direct transcriptional repressive signature in Ewing sarcoma cells. Interestingly, LOX was most correlated with derepression by vorinostat. These data strongly suggest that HDACs are involved in direct transcriptional repression of LOX and TGFBR2 (and other genes) by EWS/FLI in Ewing sarcoma.

Ouantitative RT-PCR analysis demonstrated a dose-dependent increase in the expression of LOX and TGFBR2 following vorinostat treatment (Figure 5b). This effect was absolutely dependent on the expression of EWS/FLI, as the effect was lost following knockdown of EWS/FLI (Figures 5c and d), and neither LOX nor TGFBR2 was upregulated by vorinostat in HEK 293 cells (human embryonic kidney cells that do not express EWS/FLI; Supplementary Figure S5B). Taken together, these data demonstrate that full transcriptional repression by EWS/FLI requires HDAC activity.

These data also suggested a model in which EWS/FLI interacts with one or more HDACs (either directly, or through binding to an HDAC-containing complex) to mediate transcriptional repression. To test this model, we performed co-immunoprecipitation experiments in A673 cells expressing a $3 \times$ -FLAG tagged version of EWS/FLI in place of the wild-type fusion. We found that EWS/FLI co-immunoprecipitates with HDAC2 and HDAC3, but not HDAC1,

(npg



Figure 2. LOX functions as a tumor suppressor in Ewing sarcoma. (a) Quantification of colonies formed in soft agar by A673, TC71 and TC32 cells expressing a 3 × -FLAG LOX cDNA construct in comparison to an empty vector control. Error bars indicate standard deviations of duplicate assays. Representative images of soft agar colonies are included. (b) Growth assays (3T5) for A673, TC71 and TC32 cells described in (a). (c) Survival curves for immunodeficient mice injected with TC32 cells expressing 3 × -FLAG LOX or an empty vector construct. Five mice underwent bilateral subcutaneous injection for each condition, and each animal was sacrificed once one of their tumors reached a 2-cm endpoint. Percent survival was plotted as a Kaplan–Meier survival curve using GraphPad Prism. The log-rank (Mantel–Cox test) *P*-value is indicated. (d) Graphical representation of *LOX* expression levels in 27 primary Ewing sarcoma patient-derived tumors and 10 Ewing sarcoma cell lines in the Schaefer *et al.* data set. The EWS/FLI or EWS/ERG translocation fusion status of each this cell line may harbor a mutant *LOX* allele, or perhaps has activated an adaptive 'bypass' pathway that allows for growth in the presence of high levels of *LOX* expression (such as the effect seen in our own xenograft experiments with Ewing sarcoma cells expressing the LOX cDNA (c; Supplementary Figure S2F)). (e) Venn diagram overlaps of EWS/FLI downregulated-genes data sets with the Kauer *et al.* data set, a molecular function map of Ewing sarcoma was constructed based on an integrative analysis of gene expression profiling experiments construct based on regression function map of Ewing sarcoma was constructed based on an integrative analysis of gene expression profiling experiments cells (MPC, a suggested cell-of-origin of Ewing sarcoma all lines, and 59 primary Ewing sarcoma tumors using mesenchymal progenitor cells (MPC, a suggested cell-of-origin of Ewing sarcoma) as the reference tissue. The χ^2 -determined *P*-values are indicated.

Oncogene (2012), 1-12

4

© 2012 Macmillan Publishers Limited



Figure 3. Structure-function analysis of EWS/FLI-mediated repression. (a) qRT–PCR analysis of LOX and TGFBR2 expression in A673 cells following knockdown of EWS/FLI (with the EF-2-RNAi construct) and rescue with $3 \times$ -FLAG wild-type EWS/FLI, $3 \times$ -FLAG $\Delta 22$, $1 \times$ -FLAG R2L2, $3 \times$ -FLAG $\Delta 89C$ or an empty vector control. Luc-RNAi is a negative control vector. Normalized fold enrichment was calculated by determining the fold-change of each condition relative to the control Luc-RNAi condition, with the data in each condition normalized to an internal housekeeping control gene GAPDH. (b) Schematic representation of $3 \times$ -FLAG (3F) EWS/FLI wild-type and mutant constructs and $1 \times$ -FLAG (1F) R2L2 mutant construct. Amino acids deleted/mutated in the EWS and FLI1 domains are indicated. (c, d) Repression of LOX and TGFBR2, by wild-type EWS/FLI, or mutants, as analyzed by qRT–PCR. EWS/FLI was knocked-down in A673 cells and rescued with the indicated constructs. Error bars indicate standard deviations. (g) Quantification of 0.000 N A673 cells infected with the indicated RNAi and cDNA constructs. Error bars indicate standard deviations of duplicate assays.

© 2012 Macmillan Publishers Limited

Oncogene (2012), 1-12



Figure 4. EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional activation and transcriptional repression are required for oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma cells. (a, b) qRT-PCR analysis of *NKV2.2* and *NR0B1*, or *LOX* and *TGFBR2*, following knockdown of EWS/FLI (with the EF-2-RNAi construct) and rescue with the indicated cDNAs or an empty vector control. Luc-RNAi is a negative control. Error bars indicate standard deviations. Normalized fold enrichment was calculated by determining the fold-change of each condition relative to the control Luc-RNAi condition, with the data in each condition normalized to an internal housekeeping control gene *GAPDH*. (c) Quantification of colonies formed in methylcellulose by A673 cells infected with the indicated RNAi and cDNA constructs. Error bars indicate standard deviations of duplicate assays. (d) Survival curves for immunodeficient mice injected with control knockdown A673 cells re-expressing empty vector or EWS/FLI knockdown A673 cells re-expressing empty vector, EWS/FLI cDNA, $\Delta 22$ or 2 × VP16/FLI cDNA constructs. Five mice underwent bilateral subcutaneous injection for each condition, and each animal was sacrificed once one of their tumors reached a 2-cm end point. Percent survival was plotted as a Kaplan-Meier survival curve using GraphPad Prism. The log-rank (Mantel-Cox test) *P*-value is indicated.

in Ewing sarcoma cells (Figure 5e). These data were consistent with siRNA experiments that showed that knockdown of HDAC2 or HDAC3, but not HDAC1, derepressed both *LOX* and *TGFBR2* (Supplementary Figures S5C and D).

If HDAC2 and/or HDAC3 were truly involved in EWS/FLImediated transcriptional repression, we would predict that these proteins would interact with EWS/FLI mutants that mediate transcriptional repression, but not with inactive mutants. To test this, we knocked-down endogenous EWS/FLI in Ewing sarcoma cells and rescued with RNAi-resistant cDNAs encoding wild-type EWS/FLI, the $\Delta 22$ mutant (that does not mediate transcriptional repression), or mutant 9 (that retains transcriptional repression activity). We found that wild-type EWS/FLI and mutant 9 both bind HDAC2 and HDAC3, while the $\Delta 22$ mutant does not (Figure 5f). This correlation between transcriptional repression and HDAC binding suggests that repression may be mediated via EWS/FLI-bound HDACs at specific genomic loci. Of interest, we previously found that vorinostat-mediated HDAC blockade also disrupts the growth of Ewing sarcoma cells in tissue culture, and the ability of those cells to form colonies in softagar assays. 9

NuRD interacts with EWS/FLI to mediate transcriptional repression HDAC2 and HDAC3 are class I HDACs. Class I HDACs serve as catalytic subunits for various multiprotein transcriptional repressor complexes, including Sin3A, NuRD, NCoR/SMRT and CoREST (see Figure 7 for complex composition).²² To test if any of these complexes are involved in EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional repression, we asked whether depletion of any of these complexes (using RNAi) resulted in derepression of *LOX* and/or *TGFBR2*. Although we achieved good reduction of both RNA and protein levels for Sin3A, REST and NCoR/SMRT in A673 cells, there were no changes in *LOX* or *TGFBR2* expression with any of these manipulations (Supplementary Figures S6A–C). In contrast, ~50% knockdown of the NuRD complex component chromodomain helicase DNA-binding protein 4 (CHD4) resulted in significant upregulation of both *LOX* and *TGFBR2* (Figure 6a). These data



Hgure 5. Transcriptional repression by EWS/FLI is mediated by HDACs. (a) Gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) using vorinostat-regulated genes in A673 Ewing sarcoma cells as the rank-ordered data set and the 100 EWS/FLI direct downregulated targets as the geneset. The positions of the 100 genes are indicated as black vertical lines in the center portion of the panel. The normalized enrichment score (NES) and *P*-value are shown. (b) qRT-PCR analysis of *LOX* and *TGFBR2* in A673 cells treated with increasing concentrations of the HDAC-inhibitor vorinostat. Normalized fold enrichment was calculated by determining the fold-change of each condition relative to the control vehicle-treated condition, with the data in each condition normalized to an internal housekeeping control gene *GAPDH*. Error bars indicate standard deviations. (c, d) qRT-PCR analysis of *LOX* and *TGFBR2* in A673 cells expressing a control RNAi or EWS/FLI RNAi construct (EF-2-RNAi) treated with increasing concentrations of the HDAC inhibitor vorinostat. Error bars indicate standard deviations. (e, f) Co-immunoprecipitation of EWS/FLI and HDACs. Endogenous EWS/FLI was knocked-down in A673 cells (with the EF-2-RNAi) and replaced with 3 × -FLAG-tagged versions of the indicated cDNAs that were resistant to the RNAi construct. Luc-RNAi is a negative control. Relative band intensities were quantified using ImageQuant (GE Healthcare Biosciences, Pittsburgh, PA, USA).

suggest that the NuRD complex is involved in EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional repression.

The simplest model to explain these findings is that EWS/FLI binds the NuRD complex directly. We found that full-length EWS/ FLI and the repressive mutant 9 allele bind both CHD4 and MTA2 NuRD complex components in co-immunoprecipitation experiments, while the non-repressive $\Delta 22$ protein does not (Figure 6b). These data support the hypothesis that EWS/FLI interacts (directly or indirectly) with the NuRD complex to mediate transcriptional repression at loci such as LOX and TGFBR2.

The NuRD complex also contains the LSD1 histone demethylase.²³ To determine if LSD1 activity is required for transcriptional repression mediated by EWS/FLI, we used two recently-described small-molecule reversible inhibitors of LSD1 (HCI-2509 and HCI-2528) (Venkataswamy *et al.*, submitted for publication). Both of these inhibitors decreased the viability of A673 cells (IC₅₀ of 0.93



Figure 6. EWS/FLI interacts with the members of the NuRD co-repressor complex. (a) qRT–PCR analysis of *CHD4*, *LOX* and *TGFBR2* in A673 cells following knockdown of the NuRD component CHD4. Western blot analysis to demonstrate efficiency of CHD4 knockdown, Sin3A was used as the loading control. Error bars indicate standard deviations. Normalized fold enrichment was calculated by determining the fold-change of each condition relative to the control Luc-RNAi condition, with the data in each condition normalized to an internal housekeeping control gene *GAPDH*. (b) Co-immunoprecipitation of $3 \times$ -FLAG EWS/FLI, or the indicated mutants, and NuRD complex components CHD4 and MTA2. Relative band intensities were quantified using ImageQuant. (c) Relative cell viability of A673 cells treated with increasing concentrations of the LSD1 inhibitor (HCI-2509). The dose corresponding to the IC₅₀ is indicated. Error bars indicate standard deviations. (d) qRT–PCR analysis of *LOX* and *TGFBR2* following 72 h of treatment with increasing concentrations of the LSD1 inhibitor (HCI-2509). The dose corresponding to the IC₅₀ is indicated. Error bars indicate standard deviations. (et al. 2000) or EWS/FLI RNAi (EF-2-RNAi) following 72 h of treatment with increasing concentrations of the LSD1 inhibitor HCI-2509. The dose corresponding to the IC₅₀ is indicated. Error bars indicate standard deviations.

and 0.47 µm, respectively) and upregulated both LOX and TGFBR2 (Figures 6c and d; Supplementary Figures S6D and E). Similar results were observed in three other Ewing sarcoma cell lines (Supplementary Figures S6F–H). Derepression of LOX and TGFBR2 was absolutely dependent on the expression of EWS/FLI, as the effect was lost following knockdown of the fusion protein (Figures

Oncogene (2012), 1-12


Figure 7. Binary-switch model for EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional regulation. At directly-repressed genes, such as LOX and TGFBR2, EWS/FLI may preferentially recruit transcriptional repressor complexes, such as the NuRD complex with its associated HDACs and LSD1, to transcriptionally inhibit gene expression. At other repressed loci, other repressor complexes could be recruited. In contrast, at directly activated genes, such as NR081 and GSTM4, EWS/FLI may preferentially recruit (yet to be determined) activator complexes to transcriptionally upregulate gene expression. The mechanism by which preferential recruitment occurs is not yet known.

6e and f), and was not observed in the EWS/FLI-deficient cell line HEK 293 (Supplementary Figure S6I). Dose-dependent increases in expression of both LOX and TGFBR2 with siRNA knockdown of LSD1 in A673 cells confirmed the specificity of the effect observed with the small-molecule inhibitors (Supplementary Figure S6J). Taken together, these data highlight a central role for the NuRD complex in the development of Ewing sarcoma and indicate a possible therapeutic strategy for targeting a critical transcriptional function of EWS/FLI via NuRD/LSD1/HDAC blockade.

DISCUSSION

Early studies using heterologous systems suggested that EWS/FLI functions as a transcriptional activator to mediate oncogenic transformation. Later data from Ewing sarcoma patient-derived cell lines suggested that EWS/FLI might also function as a transcriptional repressor. However, the mechanism of transcriptional repression by EWS/FLI and the role of repression in oncogenesis have been uncertain. We have now demonstrated that EWS/FLI functions as both a transcriptional activator, and as a transcriptional repressor, in Ewing sarcoma. Importantly, we demonstrated that the repressive function of EWS/FLI is absolutely required for the oncogenic function of the fusion. Finally, we showed that transcriptional repression by EWS/FLI is mediated through direct binding of the NuRD complex, and that the NuRD-associated histone deacetylase and LSD1 functions are key components of this activity.

These data have important implications for our understanding of Ewing sarcoma development. First, these data once again indicate that the NIH3T3 model does not recapitulate critical features of Ewing sarcoma oncogenesis, because in that model, transcriptional activation by EWS/FLI was sufficient for oncogenic transformation.²⁶ A recent study indicated that some ETS-family members mimic the RAS/MAPK pathway by activating genes that are regulated by this oncogenic pathway.²⁴ It is possible that EWS/ FLI upregulates a similar set of genes in NIH3T3 cells, but a distinct set in Ewing sarcoma. Indeed, transcriptional profiling studies support the notion that EWS/FLI regulates different genes in each cell type.^{18,20}

The second important implication is that in addition to key upregulated genes, such as *NR0B1*, *NKX2.2*, *CAV1*, *GSTM4*, etc., the downregulated transcriptional signature is also of critical importance to the development of Ewing sarcoma. In support of this argument, we validated previous data suggesting an important role for inhibition of *TGFBR2* in Ewing sarcoma development, and extended these data by demonstrating a critical role for the inhibition of *LOX* expression as well. Interestingly, LOX has been suggested to function as a tumor suppressor, or as an oncogene, depending on the cellular context.²⁵ In Ewing sarcoma, our data indicate its tumor suppresive function dominates. The ability of EWS/FLI to inhibit the expression of tumor suppressors in Ewing sarcoma suggests that mutation of these genes may be unnecessary for the development of this tumor. Indeed, relatively few genes have been identified that are mutationally inactivated in Ewing sarcoma.²⁶ We speculate that direct

© 2012 Macmillan Publishers Limited

nps

a

10

transcriptional repression of tumor suppressors by EWS/FLI diminishes the need for mutational inactivation.

Third, binding of NuRD to EWS/FLI demonstrates that the transcriptional repressive function of EWS/FLI is both direct and active. We previously demonstrated that some EWS/FLI upregulated targets, such as NKX2.2 and NR0B1, function as transcriptional repressors in Ewing sarcoma.^{9,10} Transcriptional repression of some genetic loci is therefore 'indirect' (that is, EWS/FLI upregulates transcriptional repressors, and these repressors mediate inhibition at other loci). However, part of the transcriptional repressive signature of EWS/FLI is directly mediated by the fusion protein itself. Further work will be required to determine the relative contributions of direct versus indirect transcriptional repression.

Additionally, a direct contribution by NuRD and its associated HDACs and LSD1 indicate an 'active' transcriptional repressive mechanism mediated by EWS/FLI. Such a mechanism stands in contrast to 'passive' mechanisms of transcriptional repression, such as non-productive competition for ETS-family DNA-binding sites by EWS/FLI, or 'squelching' mechanisms (where EWS/FLI could compete for limiting transcriptional co-activators, thereby preventing these proteins and complexes from being recruited to some target loci). Furthermore, the finding that derepression of LOX and TGFBR2 with an HDAC inhibitor or the LSD1 inhibitor in Ewing sarcoma cells was completely dependent on EWS/FLI expression further supports the 'direct' repression model at these promoters. Identification of an 'active' transcriptional repressive mechanism for EWS/FLI does not negate the possibility for passive repression at some loci. Further work would be required to determine whether such passive mechanisms are operative, and if so, what their relative contributions are to EWS/FLI-mediated oncogenesis in Ewing sarcoma. It is also worth noting that even though the NuRD complex typically contains both HDAC1 and HDAC2, we instead found HDAC2 and HDAC3 associated with EWS/FLI and required for repression of LOX and TGFBR2. This suggests that there may be EWS/FLI-associated subcomplexes of the NuRD co-repressor in Ewing sarcoma cells that contains HDAC3 instead of HDAC1.

One question that arises from this work is how the choice between EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional activation versus transcriptional repression is made at specific genetic loci. Our finding that the activation and repressive functions of the fusion protein are currently inseparable suggests that a binary-switch model might be operative (Figure 7). For example, at some loci EWS/FLI would bind transcriptional activators (such as p300/CBP), while at other loci the fusion will bind NuRD (or even other repressors at other loci). This decision could be dictated by the specific EWS/FLI response element present, nearby bound transcriptional regulators, and/or the local chromatin environment. Interestingly, we previously demonstrated that EWS/FLI binds GGAA-microsatellite elements near genes that are transcriptionally activated by the oncoprotein, and that GGAA-microsatellites are enriched near EWS/FLI-upregulated genes, but are depleted near downregulated genes.¹² Thus, the GGAA-microsatellite appears to serve as an EWS/FLI-activating response element. Similarly, using an unbiased motif identification tool (MEME), we were unable to identify any significant enrichment of the consensus high-affinity ETS site at the EWS/FLI direct-repressed gene promoters (data not shown). Most members of the ETS family bind to DNA at sequences containing either a GGAA or GGAT core sequence.³ At the EWS/FLI direct-repressed gene promoters analyzed there were several such potential ETS core motifs with flanking sequences that resembled low-affinity binding sites for other transcription factors (composite sites). It is tempting to speculate that such composite sites function as in vivo EWS/FLI binding elements at direct-repressed genes. In support of this concept are genome-wide localization studies that have identified two classes of in vivo ETS-binding sites,¹ high-affinity binding sites and² lower-affinity binding sites found in close proximity to low affinity binding sites for other transcription factors, allowing for co-operative binding and regulation.²⁷ Our current data do not address whether a specific EWS/FLI-repressive response element exists in the promoter or enhancer regions of downregulated target genes. Additional studies will be required to characterize the EWS/FLI binding sites

at repressed genes. Finally, the importance of EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional repression to the oncogenic phenotype of Ewing sarcoma suggests that inhibition of the repressive function might be a therapeutic strategy for this disease. Indeed, the contribution of HDACs and LSD1 to the repressive function suggests an immediate avenue to exploit this strategy via the administration of HDAC and/or LSD1 inhibitors to patients with Ewing sarcoma. HDAC inhibition has already been shown to block Ewing sarcoma cell growth, transformation and survival in ex vivo settings.9 In vivo, HDAC inhibitors have shown efficacy in some preclinical xenograft models²⁸ but not in others.²⁹ Our data show that LSD1-specific inhibitors also block growth and survival of multiple Ewing sarcoma patient-derived cell lines. Of note, a recent report documented LSD1 expression in Ewing sarcoma tumors, and demonstrated that inhibition of LSD1 activity (with a monoamine oxidase inhibitor) blocked Ewing sarcoma cell growth in tissue culture.³⁰ LSD1 inhibition in xenograft models has yet to be reported. It is possible that combination approaches would be useful, such as a combination of HDAC and LSD1 inhibitors, or combinations of these inhibitors with other established therapeutic approaches (such as chemotherapy). Additional preclinical studies are warranted to test this hypothesis.

In summary, we have shown that EWS/FLI functions as a transcriptional repressor, and that this function is also critical for oncogenic transformation mediated by this fusion oncoprotein. This provides a mechanistic explanation for recent transcriptional profiling data and the occasional report of putative EWS/FLI direct-down-regulated genes. These data also provide a biochemical rationale for the evaluation of NuRD inhibitors (such as HDAC and LSD1 inhibitors) as a new therapeutic approach for Ewing sarcoma.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Constructs and retroviruses

The Luc-RNAI, EF-2-RNAI, EWS/FLI, $\Delta 22$, R2L2, mutants 2, 3 and 9 have been described previously.^{67,15} The mutants were 3 × -FLAG tagged, R2L2 was 1 × -FLAG tagged and subcloned into the Murine Stem Cell Virus (MSCV) retroviral system (Clontech, Mountain View, CA, USA). 3 × -FLAG mutants 10 and 11 were generated by PCR and subcloned into the MSCV vector. The 2 × -VP16/FLI construct in the SR α retroviral vector was previously described.⁶ 3 × -FLAG cDNAs of LOX and TGFBR2 were generated and cloned into the MSCV retroviral vector. REST shRNA was designed and cloned into the pMKO.1 retroviral vector. SMARTpool siRNAs targeting NcoR/SMRT, HDAC1, HDAC2, HDAC3 and LSD1 were purchased from Dharmacon (Lafayette, CO, USA).

Cell culture

HEK 293EBNA cells and Ewing sarcoma cell lines (A673, TC71, TC32 and SK-N-MC) were infected with retrovirus, and polycional populations were grown in the appropriate selection media, as previously described.^{31,32} Growth assays (3T5) were performed as previously described.³¹

Soft agar and methylcellulose assays

Soft agar assays were performed as described previously.³¹ Methylcellulose assays were performed by seeding 1×10^5 cells per 6-cm plate in the absence or presence of appropriate antibiotic selection media in 1% final concentration of methylcellulose.

Xenograft assay

TC32 cells infected and selected with an empty vector, LOX or TGFBR2 cDNA were injected into the flanks of nude mice at 1×10^6 cells per flank.

A673 cells Infected with a control or EWS/FLI RNAi and re-expressing an empty vector, RNAi-resistant EWS/FLI, $\Delta 22$ or $2 \times VP16/FLI$ cDNA constructs were selected and injected into the flanks of nude mice at 5×10^5 cells per flank. Five mice were used per condition. Tumors were measured using digital calipers and three-dimensional tumor volumes were calculated using the equation (length \times width \times depth)/2. Survival curve was plotted using GraphPad Prism (La Jolla, CA, USA). Animal experiments were performed following approval from the University of Utah Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

Quantitative reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction

Total RNA from cells was amplified and detected using SYBR green fluorescence for quantitative analysis.³¹ Normalized fold enrichment was calculated by determining the fold-change of each condition relative to the control condition (either Luc-RNAi or empty vector), with the data in each condition normalized to an internal housekeeping control gene *GAPDH*. Primer sequences used for qRT–PCR analysis for all target genes are included in the supplementary information (Supplementary Table S2).

Antibodies

The following antibodies were used for immunodetection: M2-anti-FLAG (HRP; Sigma, St Louis, MO, USA; A8592), anti-FLI-1 (Santa-Cruz, Santa Cruz, CA, USA; sc-356 ×.), anti-a-Tubulin (Calbiochem, Billerica, MA, USA; CPO6), anti-HDAC1 (Santa-Cruz sc-7872), anti-HDAC2 (Santa-Cruz sc-7899), anti-HDAC3 (Santa-Cruz sc-7872), anti-HDAC2 (Santa-Cruz sc-7899), anti-HDAC3 (Santa-Cruz sc-7804), anti-HDAC3 (Santa-Cruz sc-66947), anti-EWS (Santa-Cruz sc-48404), anti-EST (Santa-Cruz sc-374611), anti-NCR6 (Abcam ab80856), anti-LSD1 (Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA, USA; C69612), anti-NKX2.2 (Santa-Cruz sc-35015) and anti-NR0E1 (Abcam ab24552).

Directed ChIP

Directed ChIPs were performed as previously described²⁷ using anti-FLI-1 and anti-ELK-1 antibodies (sc-356X and sc-355 respectively; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc). Quantitative RT-PCR was performed with *LOX, TGFBR2* primers and with *ALB* and *BCL2L1* as normalization controls.¹² See Supplementary Table S2 for primer sequences.

Electrophoretic mobility shit assay

Nuclear extracts were prepared from 293EBNA cells transfected with $3 \times$ -FLAG wild-type EWS/FLI, $3 \times$ -FLAG deletion mutants of EWS/FLI, or empty vector control expression plasmids. Twenty milligrams of nuclear extract protein, $5 \text{ nm} (^{23}\text{P})$ -labeled probe called DNA duplex (I), containing a high-affinity EWS/FLI-binding site, called 'ETS2 probe',² 100-fold excess (500 nw) of specific unlabeled competitor DNA duplex (I) and 1 × Gel Shift Binding Buffer (Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, USA) were used in each reaction to determine specific binding. For details refer to Gangwal *et al.*¹²

Co-immunoprecipitation assays

A673 cells infected with the Luc-RNAi or EF-2-RNAi construct were transduced with an empty vector or $3 \times$ -FLAG EWS/FLI cDNA. Nuclear extracts were prepared. Co-immunoprecipitation experiments were conducted as previously described³³ using anti-FLAG-M2-Magnetic Beads (Sigma M8823).

Cell viability assay

ATPlite from Perkin-Elmer (Waltham, MA, USA) was used to determine cell viability. Ewing sarcoma cell lines were seeded in 384-well plates (1000 cells per well) and treated with different concentrations of the inhibitors (0.1% final dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) concentration). After 96-h of incubation, an equal volume of ATPlite was added directly to the culture well. Luminescence was read 5 min later on an Envision plate reader. Viability was calculated relative to untreated cells, and IC₅₀ values were calculated using GraphPad Prism.

Microarray and ChIP-Chip analysis

Overlaps between the different gene sets were performed using the Venn Master program (Universität Ulm, Helmholtzstr, Ulm, Germany; http://www.informatik.uni-ulm.de/ni/mitarbeiter/HKestler/vennm/doc.html).

© 2012 Macmillan Publishers Limited

Statistical significance of the overlaps was determined using Chi square analysis. Gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) was performed using GSEA2.07 program (Broad Institute, Cambridge, MA, USA; http:// www.broad.mit.edu/gsea/).³⁴ Analysis of the Schaefer sarcoma data set was done using ONCOMINE (Compendia Bioscience, Ann Arbor, MI, USA; https://www.oncomine.com/resource/login.html).

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Soma Venkataswamy, Hariprasad Vankayalapati, Steven L Warner, Sunil Sharma and David J Bearss filed United States patent application 61/523801 on 08/15/2011: Substituted (E)-N'-(1-Phenylethylidene)Benzohydrazide Analogs as Histone Demethylase Inhibitors.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Drs Cairns, Engel and Bhaskara for discussions and critical reading of this manuscript and members of the Lessnick laboratory, and Drs Denny and Ayer, for discussions and reagents. SS acknowledges support from the HHMI Med into Grad program at the University of Utah (U2M2G). This work was supported by NIH/NCI Grants R01 CA140394 (to SLL) and P30 CA042014 (to Huntsman Cancer Institute) and funding from Imaging Diagnostics and Therapeutics Program at Huntsman Cancer Institute (to Sunil Sharma).

REFERENCES

- Delattre O, Zucman J, Plougastel B, Desmaze C, Melot T, Peter M et al. Gene fusion with an ETS DNA-binding domain caused by chromosome translocation in human tumours. *Nature* 1992; 359: 162–165.
- 2 May WA, Lessnick SL, Braun BS, Klemsz M, Lewis BC, Lunsford LB et al. The Ewing's sarcoma EWS/FLI-1 fusion gene encodes a more potent transcriptional activator and is a more powerful transforming gene than FLI-1. *Mol Cell Biol* 1993; 13: 7393–7398.
- 3 Seth A, Watson DK. ETS transcription factors and their emerging roles in human cancer. Eur J Cancer 2005; 41: 2462–2478.
- 4 Petermann R, Mossier BM, Aryee DN, Khazak V, Golemis EA, Kovar H. Oncogenic EWS-Fil1 interacts with hsRPB7, a subunit of human RNA polymerase II. Oncogene 1998; 17: 603–610.
- 5 Ramakrishnan R, Fujimura Y, Zou JP, Liu F, Lee L, Rao VN et al. Role of proteinprotein interactions in the antiapoptotic function of EWS-Fii-1. Oncogene 2004; 23: 7087–7094.
- 6 Lessnick SL, Braun BS, Denny CT, May WA. Multiple domains mediate transformation by the Ewing's sarcoma EWS/FLI- 1 fusion gene. Oncogene 1995; 10: 423–431.
- 7 Smith R, Owen LA, Trem DJ, Wong JS, Whangbo JS, Golub TR et al. Expression profiling of EWS/FLI identifies NKX2.2 as a critical target gene in Ewing's sarcoma. *Cancer Cell* 2006; 9: 405–416.
- 8 Prieur A, Tirode F, Cohen P, Delattre O. EWS/FLI-1 silencing and gene profiling of Ewing cells reveal downstream oncogenic pathways and a crucial role for repression of insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3. Mol Cell Biol 2004; 24: 7275-7283.
- 9 Owen LA, Kowalewski AA, Lessnick SL. EWS/FLI mediates transcriptional repression via NKX2.2 during oncogenic transformation in Ewing's sarcoma. PLoS ONE 2008; 3: e1965.
- 10 Kinsey M, Smith R, Iyer AK, McCabe ER, Lessnick SL. EWS/FLI and its downstream target NR0B1 interact directly to modulate transcription and oncogenesis in Ewing's sarcoma. Cancer Res 2009; 69: 9047–9055.
- 11 Hahm KB, Cho K, Lee C, Im YH, Chang J, Choi SG et al. Repression of the gene encoding the TGF-beta type II receptor is a major target of the EWS-FLI1 oncoprotein. Nat Genet 1999; 23: 222–227.
- 12 Gangwal K, Sankar S, Hollenhorst PC, Kinsey M, Haroldsen SC, Shah AA et al. Microsatellites as EWS/FLI response elements in Ewing's sarcoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008; 105: 10149–10154.
- 13 Schaefer KL, Elsenacher M, Braun Y, Brachwitz K, Wai DH, Dirksen U et al. Microarray analysis of Ewing's sarcoma family of tumours reveals characteristic gene expression signatures associated with metastasis and resistance to chemotherapy. Eur J Cancer 2008; 44: 699–709.
- 14 Kauer M, Ban J, Kofler R, Walker B, Davis S, Meltzer P et al. A molecular function map of Ewing's sarcoma. PLoS ONE 2009; 4: e5415.
- 15 Bailly RA, Bosselut R, Zucman J, Cormier F, Delattre O, Roussel M et al. DNAbinding and transcriptional activation properties of the EWS-FLI-1 fusion protein resulting from the t(11;22) translocation in Ewing sarcoma. Mol Cell Biol 1994; 14: 3230-3241.

(npg

11

- 16 Arvand A, Welford SM, Teitell MA, Denny CT. The COOH-terminal domain of FLI-1 is necessary for full tumorigenesis and transcriptional modulation by EWS/FLI-1. *Cancer Res* 2001; 61: 5311–5317.
- 17 May WA, Gishizky ML, Lessnick SL, Lunsford LB, Lewis BC, Delattre O et al. Ewing sarcoma 11;22 translocation produces a chimeric transcription factor that requires the DNA-binding domain encoded by FL11 for transformation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 1993; 90: 5752–5756.
- 18 Braunreiter CL, Hancock JD, Coffin CM, Boucher KM, Lessnick SL. Expression of EWS-ETS fusions in NIH3T3 cells reveals significant differences to Ewing's sarcoma. *Cell Cycle* 2006; 5: 2753–2759.
- 19 Gangwal K, Lessnick SL, Microsatellites are EWS/FLI response elements: genomic "Junk" is EWS/FLI's treasure. *Cell Cycle* 2008; 7: 3127–3132.
- 20 Hancock JD, Lessnick SL. A transcriptional profiling meta-analysis reveals a core EWS-FLI gene expression signature. *Cell Cycle* 2008; 7: 250–256.
- 21 Owen LA, Lessnick SL. Identification of target genes in their native cellular context: an analysis of EWS/FLI in Ewing's Sarcoma. Cell Cycle 2006; 5: 2049-2053.
- 22 Perissi V, Jepsen K, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG. Deconstructing repression: evolving models of co-repressor action. Nat Rev Genet 2010; 11: 109–123.
- 23 Wang Y, Zhang H, Chen Y, Sun Y, Yang F, Yu W et al. LSD1 is a subunit of the NuRD complex and targets the metastasis programs in breast cancer. *Cell* 2009; 138: 660–672.
- 24 Hollenhorst PC, Ferris MW, Hull MA, Chae H, Kim S, Graves BJ. Oncogenic ETS proteins mimic activated RAS/MAPK signaling in prostate cells. *Genes Dev* 2011; 25: 2147–2157.
- 25 Barker HE, Cox TR, Erler JT. The rationale for targeting the LOX family in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2012; 12: 540–552.
- 26 Shukla N, Ameur N, Yilmaz I, Nafa K, Lau CY, Marchetti A et al. Oncogene mutation profiling of pediatric solid tumors reveals significant subsets of embryonal

rhabdomyosarcoma and neuroblastoma with mutated genes in growth signaling pathways. *Clin Cancer Res* 2012; **18**: 748–757.

- 27 Hollenhorst PC, Shah AA, Hopkins C, Graves BJ. Genome-wide analyses reveal properties of redundant and specific promoter occupancy within the ETS gene family. *Genes Dev* 2007; 21: 1882–1894.
- 28 Jaboin J, Wild J, Hamidi H, Khanna C, Kim CJ, Robey R et al. MS-27-275, an inhibitor of histone deacetylase, has marked in vitro and in vivo antitumor activity against pediatric solid tumors. *Cancer Res* 2002; 62: 6108–6115.
- 29 Keshelava N, Houghton PJ, Morton CL, Lock RB, Carol H, Keir ST et al. Initial testing (stage 1) of vorinostat (SAHA) by the pediatric preclinical testing program. *Pediatr* Blood Cancer 2009; 53: 505–508.
- 30 Bennani-Baiti IM, Machado I, Llombart-Bosch A, Kovar H. Lysine-specific demethylase 1 (LSD1/KDM1A/AOF2/BHC110) is expressed and is an epigenetic drug target in chondrosarcoma, Ewing's sarcoma, osteosarcoma, and rhabdomyosarcoma. *Hum Pathol* 2012: 43: 1300–1307.
- 31 Lessnick SL, Dacwag CS, Golub TR. The Ewing's sarcoma oncoprotein EWS/FLI induces a p53-dependent growth arrest in primary human fibroblasts. *Cancer Cell* 2002; 1: 393–401.
- 32 Kinsey M, Smith R, Lessnick SL. NR0B1 is required for the oncogenic phenotype mediated by EWS/FLI in Ewing's Sarcoma. *Mol Cancer Res* 2006; 4: 851–859.
- 33 Kim J, Cantor AB, Orkin SH, Wang J. Use of in vivo biotinylation to study proteinprotein and protein-DNA interactions in mouse embryonic stem cells. *Nat Protoc* 2009; 4: 506–517.
- 34 Subramanian A, Tamayo P, Mootha VK, Mukherjee S, Ebert BL, Gillette MA et al. Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005; 102: 15545-15550.

Supplementary Information accompanies the paper on the Oncogene website (http://www.nature.com/onc)

Supplemental Information

Supplementary Table S7.1 Primer sequences for qRT-PCR analysis of RNA and ChIP DNA.

Gene/Locus	Forward primer	Reverse Primer
GAPDH primer set	CC3AGCCACATCGCTCAGACA	GCCTTCTCCATGGTGGTGAAG
LOX primer set	GCGACGACCCTTACAACC	GGACGCCTGGATGTAGTAGG
TGFBR2 primer set	CATCTGTGAGAAGCCACAGG	TGCACTCATCAGAGCTACAGG
TGFBI primer set	ATGGCGCTCTTCGTGCGGCTG	TCATATCCAGGACAGCACTCGTAGC
SPARC primer set	AACCACCACTGCAAACACG	AGAAGTGGCAGGAAGAGTCG
PLAU primer set	GTCGCTCAAGGCTTAACTCC	GGTCTGTATAGTCCGGGATGG
POSTN primer set	CCATGTTTATGGCACTCTGG	TGCTCTCCAAACCTCTACGG
NT5E primer set	GTCCAGGCCTATGCTTTTGG	ATGATTGAGAGGAGCCATCC
CYR61 primer set	GTAAGGTCTGCGCCAAGC	CCCGTTTTGGTAGATTCTGG
SAT primer set	TACTGCGGCTGATCAAGGAG	GCAAAACCAACAATGCTGTG
CDK2AP2 primer set	ATGTCCTACAAACCCATCGCCCC	CCCATCTCCTCTATGACTGACAGC
IGFBP3 primer set	CATCTACACCGAGCGCTGTGGC	GGAACTTGGGATCAGACACCCG
PDLIM primer set	CGAGCAGCCTCTCGCCATTTCC	CCCTTCCTCCGTCACCAGAGG
PPARD primer set	AGCAGCCACAGGAGGAAGCCC	GTGGAAGCCCGATGCCTTGTCC
LOXChIP	CTGTGTGTAGGTAATTGAGAAATGGG	CCGGCATTTTGAAAAAGAGACAGG
LOX 5Kb Upstream ChIP	GAGTCTGGCTCTGTCACCCAG	GGAGAATGGGTCTTTGAAGTACAGG
LOX 5Kb Downstream ChIP	GAGACTGTTCTCAAAGAAAACTGTAG	GGATCATCAAGCCATCATTTGCC
TGFBR2 ChIP	GAAGCAAATGAACACTTAGAATGACAGG	CTTCTAGCAATTCATTTAATGAATTCCTTTACC

Supplementary Figure S7.1 Validation of EWS/FLI direct downregulated genes. (A) gRT-PCR validation of the EWS/FLI downregulated gene expression signature in A673 cells following knockdown of endogenous EWS/FLI with the EF-2-RNAi retroviral construct. Error bars indicate standard deviation (SD). GAPDH is shown as a control gene unaffected by the knock-down. (B) qRT-PCR validation of EWS/FLI mediated repression of TGFBR2 in A673, TC71 and TC32 Ewing sarcoma cells following knockdown of endogenous EWS/FLI (with EF-2-RNAi) and rescue with an EWS/FLI cDNA construct that is resistant to the RNAi effect. Luc-RNAi is a negative control. Error bars indicate SD. (C) ChIP of EWS/FLI at the TGFBR2 promoter in A673 cells using antibodies against FLI (which recognizes EWS/FLI) or ELK1 (negative control). Data are plotted as fold enrichment compared to the average enrichment of two negative control genes. The error bars indicate standard error of means of five independent experiments. We were unable to demonstrate loss of binding following knock-down of EWS/FLI, and restoration of binding following re-expression likely due to the efficacy of the RNAi effect. Even with ~80% EWS/FLI knockdown in RNA and protein expression the remaining 20% of protein likely still binds to relevant target sites, albeit at reduced levels overall. While this should be sufficient to observe reduced binding, the level of "background" binding to irrelevant sites in the genome is likely reduced by a similar level. Thus, normalizing gene-specific binding to background binding causes the ratio to remain consistent.



Supplementary Figure S7.2 TGF β R2 has tumor suppressive roles in Ewing sarcoma. (A) Western blot analysis of A673, TC71, and TC32 cells expressing 3X-FLAG LOX, 3X-FLAG TGFBR2 cDNA or an empty vector control. Expressed proteins were detected with an anti-FLAG antibody, and anti-Tubulin was used as a loading control. (B) Quantification of colonies formed in soft agar by A673, TC71 and TC32 cells expressing 3X-FLAG TGFBR2 cDNA as compared to cells expressing an empty vector control. Error bars indicate SD of duplicate assays. (C) Growth assays (3T5) for A673, TC71 and TC32 cells expressing 3X-FLAG TGFBR2 cDNA as compared to cells expressing an empty vector control. (D) Tumor volumes were measured using digital calipers and plotted for immunocompromised mice subcutaneously injected with TC32 Ewing sarcoma cells expressing an empty vector control or 3X-FLAG LOX cDNA. Tumor volumes are plotted at two time points, Day 12 and Day 16 postinjection. Five mice were used per group, both flanks of each mouse were injected, therefore, 10 total tumors were measured. The three TC32 clones with modulation of EWS/FLI used in Fig. 7.1 of the primary manuscript could have been a useful tool to address what fraction of EWS/FLI tumorigenicity is LOX-mediated. However, given that the survival curves comparing empty vector versus LOX cDNA expressing TC32 cells are only separated by a week (Fig. 7.2C), this would be a very challenging experiment to interpret. Furthermore, we have previously shown that xenograft experiments using EWS/FLI knockdown exhibit an "escapee" effect, whereby the RNAi knockdown effect is lost over time (7). Thus, comparisons between EWS/FLI knockdown and LOX expression would be confounded by this effect as well, making direct comparisons essentially uninterpretable. (E) Survival curves for immunodeficient mice injected with TC32 cells expressing 3X-FLAG TGFBR2 cDNA or an empty vector construct. The log-rank (Mantel-Cox Test) determined p-value using GraphPad Prism is indicated. (F) Western blot analysis of tumors excised from immunodeficient mice injected with TC32 cells expressing the indicated 3X-FLAG cDNAs. (G) Graphical representation of TGFBR2 expression levels in 27 primary Ewing sarcoma patient-derived tumors and ten Ewing sarcoma cell lines in the Schaefer et al. dataset. The EWS/FLI or EWS/ERG translocation fusion status for each sample is indicated. The Schaefer *et al.* dataset compared Ewing sarcoma specimens to analyze differential gene expression between metastatic and localized tumors. There was no normal tissue used as a baseline reference. Thus, the LOX and TGFBR2 levels were direct expression levels obtained on the Affymetrix microarray platform. However, we note that our own microarray datasets of EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional profiles (7, 9, 32) using Affymetrix microarray platforms, each demonstrated low LOX and TGFBR2 expression in the presence of EWS/FLI expression, and increased LOX and TGFBR2 expression following EWS/FLI knockdown. Thus, the low absolute expression levels observed by Schaefer et al. is well-correlated to our own published microarray data, supporting our assertion that primary Ewing sarcoma tumors also exhibit low-level expression of these two genes.



(Supplementary Figure S7.2 continued)





(Supplementary Figure S7.2 continued)

Supplementary Figure S7.3 Expression and DNA-binding of EWS/FLI deletion mutants. (A) Western blot analysis of A673 cells infected with an empty vector control retrovirus, or retroviruses expressing 3X-FLAG wild-type EWS/FLI, or the $\Delta 22$, R2L2 or Δ 89-C mutants. Tubulin was used as the loading control. (B) Western blot analysis of samples from Figure S3.A demonstrating the efficiency of the EWS/FLI RNAi. The 3X-FLAG tagged mutant constructs that are re-expressed are indicated with a red asterisk, while the band position of the endogenous EWS/FLI is indicated. Tubulin was used as the loading control. Because some of the EWS/FLI deletion mutants are approximately the same size as endogenous EWS/FLI, it can be difficult to evaluate the endogenous EWS/FLI band by Western blotting. Therefore, we have also included the qRT-PCR (Figure S7.3C) data for all the EWS/FLI knock-down/rescues to demonstrate efficiency and maintenance of the EWS/FLI RNAi effect. (C) Quantitative RT-PCR analysis to demonstrate efficiency and maintenance of EWS/FLI knock-down in A673 cells with the EF-2-RNAi construct, re-expressing an empty vector, 3X-FLAG tagged EWS/FLI or mutant constructs. Luc-RNAi is a negative control. (D) Western blot analysis of A673 cells infected with empty vector or 3X-FLAG EWS/FLI or the indicated mutants. Tubulin was used as the loading control. (E) Western blot analysis of samples from Figure S3.D to demonstrate the efficiency of the EWS/FLI RNAi. The 3X-FLAG tagged mutant constructs that are re-expressed are indicated with a red asterisk while the band position of endogenous EWS/FLI is indicated. Tubulin was used as the loading control. (F) EMSA with a DNA duplex (I) containing a high-affinity EWS/FLI-binding site, called "ETS2 probe." A specific EWS/FLI band indicated by a red asterisk is present when 3X-FLAG EWS/FLI or 3X-FLAG deletion mutants of EWS/FLI from nuclear extracts are included. The specific band in each case is supershifted with the anti-FLAG antibody and competed with an excess of unlabeled DNA duplex (I) A control nuclear extract that does not contain wild-type EWS/FLI or deletion mutants of EWS/FLI as well as the DNA binding mutant (R2L2) nuclear extract generate only nonspecific binding (indicated by "ns").





(Supplementary Figure S7.3 continued)





(Supplementary Figure S7.3 continued)





Supplementary Figure S7.4 Expression of EWS/FLI mutant constructs. (A) Western blot analysis of A673 cells infected with the indicated RNAi constructs and rescued with an empty vector or the indicated constructs. Protein expression was detected with an anti-FLI antibody, and the positions of endogenous EWS/FLI, $\Delta 22$, and 2xVP16/FLI are indicated. Note that re-expressed EWS/FLI is 3xFLAG tagged, and thus runs slightly slower than endogenous EWS/FLI. NS indicates nonspecific bands. Tubulin was used as the loading control. (B) Western blot analysis of A673 cells infected with the indicated constructs used for the *in vivo* xenograft tumor formation assay. Protein expression was detected with an anti-FLI antibody, and the positions of endogenous EWS/FLI, $\Delta 22$, and 2xVP16/FLI are indicated (with 3xFLAG EWS/FLI running slightly slower than endogenous EWS/FLI). NS indicates nonspecific bands. Tubulin was used as the loading control.





Supplementary Figure S7.5 Validation of the role of HDACs in EWS/FLI-mediated target gene repression. (A) qRT-PCR analysis of *LOX* and *TGFBR2* expression following retroviral knockdown of *NKX2.2* or *NR0B1* transcripts in A673 cells. Error bars indicate SD. Western blots indicate levels of NKX2.2 and NR0B1 knock-down in A673 cells. Tubulin was used as the loading control. (B) qRT-PCR analysis of *LOX* and *TGFBR2* expression following treatment of HEK293 cells with increasing doses of the HDAC inhibitor vorinostat. (C) qRT-PCR analysis of *LOX* and *TGFBR2* expression following siRNA-mediated knock-down of HDAC1, HDAC2 or HDAC3 in A673 cells compared to a control siRNA knock-down. Knock-down of HDAC1 and HDAC2 results in a significant increase in expression of *LOX* and *TGFBR2* indicated by the p-values, n.s. indicates nonsignificant p-value. (D) Western blot analysis of HDAC1, HDAC2 and HDAC3 levels in A673 cells following siRNA-mediated knock-down compared to a control siRNA sample. Tubulin was used as the loading control.







(Supplementary Figure S7.5 continued)

Supplementary Figure S7.6 Identifying corepressors involved in EWS/FLI-mediated gene repression; validating the role of LSD1 in transcriptional repression by EWS/FLI. (A-C) qRT-PCR of the indicated transcripts following knockdown of the Sin3A repressor complex, the REST repressor complex or the NCoR/SMRT repressor complex, respectively. Error bars indicate SD. Inset panels show Western blot analysis to demonstrate significant knock-down of the Sin3A, REST and NcoR/SMRT repressor complexes in A673 cells. Wild-type EWS protein and Tubulin were used as loading controls for the Western blot analysis. (D) Relative cell viability assay of A673 cells treated with the indicated concentrations of the LSD1 inhibitor HCI-2528. IC₅₀ (as determined by GraphPad Prism) was 0.47µM. Error bars indicate SD. (E) qRT-PCR analysis of LOX and TGFBR2 mRNA expression in A673 cells after 72 hours of treatment with the indicated concentrations of the LSD1 inhibitor HCI-2528. The dose corresponding to the IC₅₀ is indicated. Error bars indicate SD. (F-H) Cell viability assays performed on TC71, TC32 and SK-N-MC cell lines treated with the indicated concentrations of LSD1 inhibitors HCI-2509 and HCI-2528. The IC₅₀ for each inhibitor (as determined by GraphPad Prism) is shown. Error bars indicate SD. (I) qRT-PCR analysis of LOX and TGFBR2 expression following 72 hours of treatment of HEK 293 cells with increasing doses of the LSD1 inhibitor (HCI-2509). Error bars indicate SD. (J) qRT-PCR analysis of LOX and TGFBR2 expression at 72 hours following siRNAmediated knock-down of LSD1 in A673 cells. Increasing concentrations of the LSD1 siRNA resulted in a dose dependent increase in expression of LOX and TGFBR2. Western blot analysis demonstrating the efficiency of the LSD1 siRNA, although the dose dependent decrease in the LSD1 protein expression is less obvious in the scanned image (the Western blot film shows a slight dose dependent decrease in the LSD1 protein with increasing concentrations of the LSD1 siRNA). Error bars indicate SD.









(Supplementary Figure S7.6 continued)



(Supplementary Figure S7.6 continued)



(Supplementary Figure S7.6 continued)

CHAPTER 8

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

James Ewing first described the pediatric bone and soft tissue associated malignancy called Ewing sarcoma in 1921 (1). In the mid-1980s the identification and characterization of the reciprocal translocation, t(11;22)(q24;q12), in the majority of Ewing sarcoma tumors was the first big step in determining the molecular genetics underlying the disease (2). The chromosomal rearrangement was found to encode the fusion protein EWS/FLI, which functions as an aberrant oncogenic transcription factor (3, 4). Since then, several other EWS/ETS and TET/ETS based fusion proteins have been identified in Ewing sarcoma. Hence, Ewing sarcoma is predominantly a TET/ETS driven malignancy (5).

The Ewing sarcoma genome is relatively stable. Indeed, very few if any secondary mutations have been identified in Ewing sarcoma (6, 7). In addition, few copy number gains and losses have been reported in this disease (8), further highlighting that the EWS/FLI fusion (and other TET/ETS fusions) is the main gain-of-function mutation in Ewing sarcoma, and that transcriptional changes mediated by EWS/FLI are critical effectors of the disease process. The lack of secondary genetic changes, such as activating mutations in the PI3K, RAS pathways etc., or inactivating mutations in known tumor suppressors like RB etc., further highlight the central role of EWS/FLI, the

initiating oncogenic event, in Ewing sarcoma. Therefore, the working model is that EWS/FLI (and other TET/ETS fusions) is the major driver of Ewing sarcoma development, and it does so by functioning as a central mediator of a hierarchy of transcriptional networks, by activating and repressing critical target genes in Ewing sarcoma. The EWS/FLI target genes then contribute to various aspects of oncogenic transformation and maintenance, including anchorage-independent growth [e.g., *NKX2.2* (9), *NR0B1* (10), *GL11* (11), *LOX* (12)], selfsufficiency of growth signals [e.g., *IGF1* (13)], insensitivity to antigrowth signals [e.g., *TGFBR2* (12, 14)], resistance to chemotherapy [e.g., *GSTM4* (15)], tissue invasion and metastasis [e.g., *EZH2* (16)], evasion of apoptosis [e.g., *IGFP3* (17)], limitless replicative potential [e.g., *hTERT* (18)], sustained angiogenesis [e.g., *VEGF* (19)], thus, bypassing the need for accumulating secondary mutations to drive oncogenesis (20). This model is further supported by the fact that ongoing EWS/FLI protein expression is required for the transformed phenotype of Ewing sarcoma cells (9, 10, 21).

Much effort has been focused on deciphering the molecular targets of EWS/FLI and determining how these critical target genes contribute to the pathogenesis of Ewing sarcoma (22). However, the big unanswered question in the field was, mechanistically, how does the transcription factor EWS/FLI regulate its target genes? Furthermore, what are the EWS/FLI binding elements at target gene promoters? Also, how does the same fusion oncoprotein activate and repress target genes in Ewing sarcoma? The goal of this thesis was to understand the mechanisms by which EWS/FLI directly upregulates and downregulates critical target genes in Ewing sarcoma. It is hoped that an enhanced understanding of the mechanisms utilized by EWS/FLI to dysregulate gene expression, and insight as to the proteins it interacts with to achieve this function, will lead to the development of new and effective targeted therapies.

DNA binding by EWS/FLI

In the process of identifying direct EWS/FLI target genes in Ewing sarcoma we identified microsatellite repeats as novel EWS/FLI response elements (23). As detailed in Chapters 3 and 4, combining genome wide localization of EWS/FLI with transcription profiling data we determined that the mechanism of regulation of a subset of EWS/FLI target genes, including critical targets like *NR0B1* and *GSTM4* that are absolutely necessary for oncogenic transformation, is through GGAA-microsatellite repeats (15, 23). The identification of GGAA-microsatellites as EWS/FLI response elements was surprising given that these repeats were previously considered "genomic junk" with no biological function (24). These studies have since been independently validated by several research groups using more recent ChIP-sequencing techniques (25, 26). Interestingly, the *NR0B1* GGAA-microsatellite response element has recently been used as a tool to screen for drugs that inhibit EWS/FLI activity (27), further highlighting the wide-ranging applicability and significance of this research.

Among the EWS/FLI direct targets, only about 10% harbor GGAA microsatellites as the EWS/FLI response element (23). Of the remaining 90% of direct targets, a small but significant proportion harbors the high-affinity ETS consensus site as the EWS/FLI response element. Bioinformatics analysis revealed that both the microsatellites and the high-affinity ETS sites were only enriched in the promoters of EWS/FLI direct "activated" target genes. Using ChIP-sequencing approach, a recent study identified frequent occurrences of combinations of two ETS binding sites in several EWS/FLI direct-activated target genes (25). This data raises the possibility that EWS/FLI may activate transcription from some promoters as a homo- or heterodimer with other ETS transcription factors. In addition to microsatellites and high affinity ETS sites, composite sites for transcription factors including, E2F, NRF1 and NFY with ETS sites are also overrepresented in a subset of EWS-FLI direct activated targets (28), suggesting that cooperative interactions may occur between EWS-FLI and specific cognate transcription factors to regulate transcription from a subset of these promoters.

Interestingly, EWS/FLI direct "repressed" target genes lack both the GGAA microsatellites and the high-affinity ETS consensus sites. Therefore, EWS/FLI binding to GGAA microsatellites or the high-affinity ETS sites is associated solely with gene activation. Early inspection of the promoter regions of direct-repressed EWS/FLI targets both by ChIP-Chip (Sankar, unpublished observation) and later by ChIP-sequencing (26) revealed an enrichment of ETS/AP1 composite binding sites. EWS/FLI (and other EWS/ETS proteins) has previously been shown to interact with AP1 proteins (29). Additionally, this cooperative interaction was shown to be necessary for transformation by the EWS/ETS fusion proteins. These data suggest that ETS/AP1 motifs may act as functional sites for EWS/FLI binding at promoters of repressed genes. However, additional work is required to identify and characterize EWS/FLI binding motifs at direct repressed target genes. Also, future studies focused on more detailed analysis of the EWS/FLI binding sites at target gene promoters and enhancers, identified by increasing the number of sequencing reads for EWS/FLI in a ChIP-sequencing based approach, may reveal other new binding motifs for the fusion protein in the Ewing sarcoma genome.

Transcriptional activity of EWS/FLI

An important question raised by these studies is: what are the key determinants of transcriptional outcome following EWS/FLI binding? How does EWS/FLI decide between transcriptional activation versus transcriptional repression? Several models can explain this functional dichotomy in the EWS/FLI fusion protein and these models are not mutually exclusive. As alluded to previously, one model involves "the binding motif" and the "local protein concentration"; the presence of GGAA-microsatellite repeats or the consensus high-affinity ETS site at promoters of upregulated genes may allow for EWS/FLI binding and subsequent recruitment of coactivator proteins, to achieve higher local concentration at these sites, leading to gene activation. Conversely, the absence of these motifs may allow for EWS/FLI binding at variant low-affinity sites, subsequent recruitment of corepressor proteins, which may be abundant at these sites, leading to gene repression.

A second model which highlights a key determinant of transcriptional outcome is the "chromatin architecture and the histone modifications" present at target gene promoters. EWS/FLI bound GGAA-microsatellite repeat regions are nucleosome depleted, RNA polymerase II bound and harbor the chromatin signature of enhancer elements characterized by the enrichment of histone H3 lysine 4 mono- and dimethylation (H3K4me1/2) (26). Interestingly, silencing of EWS/FLI in Ewing sarcoma cells leads to increased nucleosome occupancy at the GGAA repeat elements and, conversely, ectopic expression of EWS/FLI in non-Ewing sarcoma cells like primary endothelial cells leads to nucleosome depletion at a subset of GGAA-microsatellite regions that are normally associated with repressive chromatin (26). These data suggest that the EWS/FLI fusion protein acquires chromatin-altering activity, leading to chromatin disruption and ultimately, transcriptional dysregulation. Furthermore, despite their identical DNA-binding domains, the tumor-specific genomic retargeting of the EWS/FLI fusion protein is achieved in comparison to the parental transcription factor, FLI1 in Ewing sarcoma cells (26). These data suggest that EWS/FLI may function as a "pioneer factor" capable of inducing and maintaining either open or closed chromatin architecture by virtue of its interactions with chromatin remodeling proteins.

In the process of identifying direct-repressed targets of EWS/FLI, and understanding the mechanism of EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional repression, we identified that EWS/FLI interacts with the NuRD (nucleosome remodeling and histone deacetylase) chromatin remodeling complex to directly repress a subset of critical target genes in Ewing sarcoma (refer to Chapter 7) (12). NuRD is a repressor complex, but interestingly, a recent study demonstrated that some of the NuRD complex members may be recycled into an activating complex called the NuRF complex (nucleosome remodeling factor) (30), thereby allowing for a "switch" between transcriptional activation and repression.

These new findings raise the possibility of a third "dynamic switch" model, whereby, in Ewing sarcoma a switch between the NuRD and NuRF complexes may exist. The NuRD complex may function as the "epigenetic reader" of chromatin modifications at target gene promoters, and through a coordinated effect of the local epigenetic architecture, and the DNA motif EWS/FLI is bound to, the NuRD complex may be stabilized to cause transcriptional repression or may be destabilized, allowing EWS/FLI to then interact with the NuRF complex leading to transcriptional activation. The same domains within EWS/FLI may be able to interact either with the NuRF (activator) or NuRD (repressor) complexes in Ewing sarcoma cells making these two functions inseparable on the EWS/FLI molecule and, suggesting that competition may occur for cofactor interaction with EWS/FLI. In support of this are data presented in Chapter 7 (12), demonstrating our inability to separate activation and repression functions, using deletion mapping analysis, on the EWS/FLI molecule. These data suggest that the same domains within the protein may interact with coactivators or corepressor proteins, depending on the promoter context. Importantly, both activation and repression by EWS/FLI are necessary for full oncogenic transformation in Ewing sarcoma (12).

Collectively, the work outlined in this dissertation is a step toward understanding the mechanisms of EWS/FLI mediated transcriptional regulation of target genes, and opens up several interesting questions as potential future directions. What is the epigenetic landscape of Ewing sarcoma cells and how does EWS/FLI affect the histone modifications and the chromatin signature at target gene promoters and enhancers? Since EWS/FLI has the ability to modulate nucleosome occupancy, which chromatin remodeler proteins does it interact with in Ewing sarcoma? Is the NuRD complex the predominant remodeler and repressor complex recruited by EWS/FLI? Is there a switch between the NuRD and the NuRF complexes that determine the transcriptional fate of the EWS/FLI bound target genes? LSD1 is part of the NuRD complex, and LSD1 has both transcriptional activation and repressive functions. Since LSD1 activity is important in Ewing sarcoma (Chapter 7), the next important question in this direction is: does LSD1 play a more central role in EWS/FLI-mediated transcription; does it affect EWS/FLImediated activation and repression? What fraction of EWS/FLI targets is affected by modulating LSD1 activity in Ewing sarcoma? Apart from the NuRD complex, identification of a functional interaction between the REST corepressor complex and EWS (refer to Chapter 6), also raises the possibility that EWS/FLI, by virtue of the N-terminal EWS domain, may also recruit the REST complex to repress a subset of its target genes in Ewing sarcoma.

The overarching goal in our lab is to identify new and more effective treatments for Ewing sarcoma patients through detailed molecular studies. Previous efforts in the lab were focused on understanding the function of individual target genes of EWS/FLI as a step towards this goal (9, 10). However, given that EWS/FLI dysregulates thousands of genes in Ewing sarcoma, blockade of EWS/FLI activity itself would be a more ideal approach for the treatment of Ewing sarcoma. In contrast to diseases like Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia (CML), where Gleevac was developed to target a single kinase dependent signaling pathway, the absence of a single aberrant signaling pathway driving Ewing sarcoma pathogenesis precludes the development of a "Gleevac-like" drug for this disease.

Therefore, taking a step back and understanding the mechanisms of gene regulation by EWS/FLI is necessary to develop new and effective targeted therapy for Ewing sarcoma. Based on my dissertation work, we have identified that EWS/FLI utilizes HDAC and LSD1 activities for repression of critical tumor suppressor genes. HDAC inhibitors are FDA approved for several cancers and offer promise for the treatment of Ewing sarcoma. Furthermore, LSD1 is a viable therapeutic target. We have demonstrated that two selective and targeted LSD1 inhibitors, HCI-2509 and HCI-2528, not only reverse the expression of candidate tumor suppressor genes but also lead to cell death of multiple patient-derived Ewing sarcoma cell lines (12). These studies highlight that LSD1 inhibitors also have the potential to be developed as effective therapeutic agents for patients afflicted with Ewing sarcoma. A clinically effective therapeutic strategy may necessitate administration of the HDAC and/or LSD1 inhibitors as a combination therapy with currently used chemotherapeutic agents for effective treatment of Ewing sarcoma.

References

- 1. Ewing J. Diffuse endothelioma of bone. *Proceedings of the New York Pathological Society* 1921; **21:** 17-24.
- 2. Delattre O, Zucman J, Plougastel B, Desmaze C, Melot T, Peter M *et al.* Gene fusion with an ETS DNA-binding domain caused by chromosome translocation in human tumours. *Nature* 1992; **359:** 162-165.
- 3. May WA, Lessnick SL, Braun BS, Klemsz M, Lewis BC, Lunsford LB *et al.* The Ewing's sarcoma EWS/FLI-1 fusion gene encodes a more potent transcriptional activator and is a more powerful transforming gene than FLI-1. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1993; **13**: 7393-7398.
- 4. May WA, Gishizky ML, Lessnick SL, Lunsford LB, Lewis BC, Delattre O *et al.* Ewing sarcoma 11;22 translocation produces a chimeric transcription factor that requires the DNA-binding domain encoded by FLI1 for transformation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1993; **90:** 5752-5756.
- 5. Sankar S, Lessnick SL. Promiscuous partnerships in Ewing's sarcoma. *Cancer Genetics* 2011; **204**: 351-365.
- 6. Shukla N, Ameur N, Yilmaz I, Nafa K, Lau CY, Marchetti A *et al.* Oncogene mutation profiling of pediatric solid tumors reveals significant subsets of embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma and neuroblastoma with mutated genes in growth signaling pathways. *Clinical Cancer Research: An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* 2012; **18**: 748-757.
- 7. Huang HY, Illei PB, Zhao Z, Mazumdar M, Huvos AG, Healey JH *et al.* Ewing sarcomas with p53 mutation or p16/p14ARF homozygous deletion: a highly lethal subset associated with poor chemoresponse. *J Clin Oncol* 2005; **23:** 548-558.

- 8. Toomey EC, Schiffman JD, Lessnick SL. Recent advances in the molecular pathogenesis of Ewing's sarcoma. *Oncogene* 2010; **29:** 4504-4516.
- 9. Smith R, Owen LA, Trem DJ, Wong JS, Whangbo JS, Golub TR *et al.* Expression profiling of EWS/FLI identifies NKX2.2 as a critical target gene in Ewing's sarcoma. *Cancer Cell* 2006; **9:** 405-416.
- 10. Kinsey M, Smith R, Lessnick SL. NR0B1 is required for the oncogenic phenotype mediated by EWS/FLI in Ewing's sarcoma. *Mol Cancer Res* 2006; **4:** 851-859.
- 11. Zwerner JP, Joo J, Warner KL, Christensen L, Hu-Lieskovan S, Triche TJ *et al.* The EWS/FLI1 oncogenic transcription factor deregulates GLI1. *Oncogene* 2008; **27**: 3282-3291.
- 12. Sankar S, Bell R, Stephens B, Zhuo R, Sharma S, Bearss DJ *et al.* Mechanism and relevance of EWS/FLI-mediated transcriptional repression in Ewing sarcoma. *Oncogene* 2012.
- 13. Cironi L, Riggi N, Provero P, Wolf N, Suva ML, Suva D *et al.* IGF1 is a common target gene of Ewing's sarcoma fusion proteins in mesenchymal progenitor cells. *PloS One* 2008; **3**: e2634.
- 14. Hahm KB, Cho K, Lee C, Im YH, Chang J, Choi SG *et al.* Repression of the gene encoding the TGF-beta type II receptor is a major target of the EWS-FLI1 oncoprotein. *Nature Genetics* 1999; **23:** 222-227.
- 15. Luo W, Gangwal K, Sankar S, Boucher KM, Thomas D, Lessnick SL. GSTM4 is a microsatellite-containing EWS/FLI target involved in Ewing's sarcoma oncogenesis and therapeutic resistance. *Oncogene* 2009; **28:** 4126-4132.
- 16. Richter GH, Plehm S, Fasan A, Rossler S, Unland R, Bennani-Baiti IM *et al.* EZH2 is a mediator of EWS/FLI1 driven tumor growth and metastasis blocking endothelial and neuro-ectodermal differentiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2009; **106**: 5324-5329.
- Prieur A, Tirode F, Cohen P, Delattre O. EWS/FLI-1 silencing and gene profiling of Ewing cells reveal downstream oncogenic pathways and a crucial role for repression of insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2004; 24: 7275-7283.
- 18. Takahashi A, Higashino F, Aoyagi M, Yoshida K, Itoh M, Kyo S et al. EWS/ETS fusions activate telomerase in Ewing's tumors. *Cancer Research* 2003; **63**: 8338-8344.

- 19. Nagano A, Ohno T, Shimizu K, Hara A, Yamamoto T, Kawai G *et al.* EWS/Fli-1 chimeric fusion gene upregulates vascular endothelial growth factor-A. *International Journal of Cancer Journal International du Cancer* 2010; **126**: 2790-2798.
- 20. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* 2011; **144:** 646-674.
- Braunreiter CL, Hancock JD, Coffin CM, Boucher KM, Lessnick SL. Expression of EWS-ETS fusions in NIH3T3 cells reveals significant differences to Ewing's sarcoma. *Cell Cycle* 2006; 5: 2753-2759.
- 22. Owen LA, Lessnick SL. Identification of target genes in their native cellular context: an analysis of EWS/FLI in Ewing's sarcoma. *Cell Cycle* 2006; **5**: 2049-2053.
- 23. Gangwal K, Sankar S, Hollenhorst PC, Kinsey M, Haroldsen SC, Shah AA et al. Microsatellites as EWS/FLI response elements in Ewing's sarcoma. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2008; 105: 10149-10154.
- 24. Gangwal K, Lessnick SL. Microsatellites are EWS/FLI response elements: genomic "junk" is EWS/FLI's treasure. *Cell Cycle* 2008; **7:** 3127-3132.
- 25. Guillon N, Tirode F, Boeva V, Zynovyev A, Barillot E, Delattre O. The oncogenic EWS-FLI1 protein binds in vivo GGAA microsatellite sequences with potential transcriptional activation function. *PloS One* 2009; **4:** e4932.
- 26. Patel M, Simon JM, Iglesia MD, Wu SB, McFadden AW, Lieb JD *et al.* Tumorspecific retargeting of an oncogenic transcription factor chimera results in dysregulation of chromatin and transcription. *Genome Research* 2012; **22**: 259-270.
- 27. Grohar PJ, Woldemichael GM, Griffin LB, Mendoza A, Chen QR, Yeung C *et al.* Identification of an inhibitor of the EWS-FLI1 oncogenic transcription factor by high-throughput screening. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2011; **103**: 962-978.
- 28. Kovar H. Downstream EWS/FLI1 upstream Ewing's sarcoma. *Genome Med* 2010;2: 8.
- Kim S, Denny CT, Wisdom R. Cooperative DNA binding with AP-1 proteins is required for transformation by EWS-Ets fusion proteins. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2006; 26: 2467-2478.
- 30. Nair SS, Li DQ, Kumar R. A core chromatin remodeling factor instructs global chromatin signaling through multivalent reading of nucleosome codes. *Molecular Cell* 2013; **49:** 704-718.